Journal of Southeast Asian Medical Research

www.jseamed.org

Vol.6, January–December 2022 ISSN 2586–8241

Introduction

The Journal of Southeast Asian Medical Research is a peer-reviewed journal with printing every 6 months. The main goal of this collaboration project is to distribute new knowledge in medical sciences to medical communities and scientists, as well as encouraging scientific collaborations within Southeast Asia and also other nations around the world. The journal publishes original research in the medical sciences: clinical and basic. We welcome original articles from across the world. The editorial board consists of international experts in various fields of medicine, ranging from internal medicine to a variety of surgeries. The full text of the journal is available online at http://www.jseamed.org

It is our aim to publish the most up-to-date and useful research information in medical sciences. In Southeast Asia, there are some unique problems in health care and diseases, such as tropical diseases, and it is crucial that health professionals can access, share and exchange knowledge promptly. In this region, there is still a gap of knowledge in health sciences that needs to be closed by scientific research, which we are hoping to close after this collaboration project. We hope that the journal will fulfill the objectives and will provide benefit to all, both medical practitioners and researchers alike.

Editorial board

Editor-in-Chief

Thanainit Chotanaphuti, M.D.

Professor in Orthopaedic Surgery, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Phyathai Orthopedic Institute

Editorial Board

Saovanee Leelayoova, Ph.D.	(Parasitology and Tropical Medicine Association of Thailand) Thailand
Ouppatham Supasyndh, M.D.	(Phramongkutklao Hospital) Thailand
Bancha Satirapoj, M.D.	(Phramongkutklao College of Medicine) Thailand
Veerachai Wathnaveeradij, M.D.	. (Phramongkutklao College of Medicine) Thailand
Chanchai Traivaree, M.D.	(Phramongkutklao Hospital) Thailand
Sahaphol Anannamcharoen, M.L	D. (Phramongkutklao College of Medicine) Thailand
Chantrapa Sriswasdi, M.D.	(Phramongkutklao College of Medicine) Thailand
Nobihiko Sugano, M.D., Ph.D.	(OSAKA University) Japan
Shinro Takai, M.D.	(Teikyo University) Japan
Christopher S. Mow, M.D.	(Stanford University) USA
Kang-il Kim, M.D.	(Kyung Hee University) Korea
David S.K. Choon, M.D.	(University Malaya) Malaysia
Yeo Seng Jin, M.D.	(Singapore General Hospital) Singapore
Lo Ngai Nung, M.D.	(Singapore General Hospital) Singapore

Editorial Secretary

Mathirut Mungthin, M.D. Professor Phramongkutklao College of Medicine Bangkok, Thailand mathirut@hotmail.com

JOURNAL OF SOUTHEAST ASIAN MEDICAL RESEARCH

www.jseamed.org

Table of Contents

A.Original Article	
Effect of Pulmonary Hypertension on Intradialytic Hypotension among Patients	
with End Stage Renal Disease	e098
Sukrisd Koowattanatiancha, Akaphol Kaladee, Patchara Kochaiyapatana, Thammaporn Kajornsin,	
Raweewan Witoon	
Use of Tension Band Wiring Technique in Proximal Ulnar	
Fractures: A Finite Element Biomechanical Analysis	e099
Woraphon Jaroenporn, Vajarin Phiphobmongkol, Jaruwat Vechasilp, Thanupat Kulsinsap	
Cut Off Value of Good Pronostic Factor Outcomes in Large	
Territory Ischemic Stroke Undergoing Early Decompressive	
Craniectomy	e102
Panu Boontoterm, Siraruj Sakoolnamarka, Pusit Feungfoo, Chesda Udommongkol	
Zero-Profile Device Implantation in Anterior Cervical Discectomy	
And Fusion: A Single Institute Experience	e104
Nattawut Niljianskul	
Outcome of Using Platelet, Plasma And Growth Factors as An	
Orthobiologic Derivative to Avoid Invasive Surgical Procedures for	
Treating Knee Osteoarthritis Among Elderly Patiens	e105
Thana Turajane, Pamok Saengsirinavin, Chaivat Sriratanavudhi, Vorasilp Cheeva-akrapan,	
Wanpen Lappaiwong, Jongjate Aojanepong	
Psychological Impact and Coping Among Medical Students in	
Phramongkutklao College of Medicine During th COVID-19 Pandemic	e0106
Poomwit Puttakiaw, Thiraporn Tangjittiporn, Boonsub Sakboonyarat,	
Nawaporn Hirunviwatgul, Wantipa Wittayasai	

Frequencies of Predicted Mia Antigen Among Southern Thai Blood Donors <i>Warunrat Khosidworachet, Supattra Mitundee, Kamphon Intharanut, Sasitorn Bejrachandra,</i> <i>Oytip Nathalang</i>	e0107
Prevalence and Risk Factors of Vitamin D Inadequacy Among Thai Elderly Patients with Osteoporotic Hip Fracture Tanawat Amphansap, Pipat Wongthanakitcharoen, Nitirat Stitkitti , Worawut Chaiyosburana, Atiporn Therdyothin	e0110
Application of Artificial Intelligence to Assist Hip Fracture Diagnosis Using Plain Radiographs Phichai Udombuathong, Ruthasiri Srisawasdi, Waravut Kesornsukhon, San Ratanasanya	e0111
Correlation between Clinical and Pathologic Features of Diabetic Nephropathy Paramat Thimachai, Nichamon Suttitossatam, Naowanit Nata, Ouppatham Supasyndh, Bancha Satirapoj	e0113
Radiologic Characteristics of Computerized Tomography Attenuation in Renal Cell Carcinoma Satit Siriboonrid, Waraporn Pongmorakot, Chatwadee Limpaiboon, Nattapong Binsri, Sarayut Kanjanatarayon, Weerayut Wiriyabanditkul, Vittaya Jiraanankul	e0117
Correlation between Reticulocyte Hemoglobin Equivalent and Iron Status in Pediatric Chronic Kidney Disease <i>Pacharin Mungklarat, Chantida Subun</i>	e0118
Pulmonary Tuberculosis Mortality and Its Risk Factors among Patiens with Type 2 Diabetes and Pulmonary Tuberculosis in Four Community Hospitals, Central THAILAND Sethapong Lertsakulbunlue, Passawith Kunsuwan, Ram Rangsin, Boonsub Sakboonyarat	e0120
Prevalence of Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus and Other Staphylococcal Nasal Carriages among Healthcare Workers, Phramongkutklao Hospital Sudaluck Thunyaharn, Tanit Boonsiri, Unchalee Visawapoka, Wichai Santimaleeworagun,	e0122

Differentiation between Allergic and Non-Allergic Rhinitis in Children with Chronic Rhinitis, Allergy Clinic, Phramongkutklao Hospital Tanuntorn Songchitsomboon, Anupong Sirisungreung, Yiwa Suksawat	e0125
Diagnosis of Iron Deficiency Anemia in Thai Female Adolescents Using Reticulocyte Hemoglobin Equivalent Natthawadi Thimthong, Apichat Photi-a, Chanchai Traivaree, Dollapak Apipongrat, Oytip Nathalang	e0126
Effect of Agomelatine and Sertraline on Patients with Major Depressive Disorders and Chronic Kidney Disease: A Randomized Controlled Trial Fadhil A-Hamad Saleh-Arong, Nattaphon Chokemaitree, Naowanit Nata, Pamila Tasanavipas, Narittaya Varothai, Bancha Satirapoj	e0127
Determining Stress and Associated Factors in A Rural Community During COVID-19 Pandemic Using THE COVID Stress Scale Kavinthra Teerakathiti, Arin Jaisin, Phasittha Pongsapan, Nattapas Wanaporn, Phakhajee Rattanalertpaiboon, Supisa Chantanawanichwong, Sopittar Kittipavara, Supicha Sroythong, Nutchaphon Kanchan, Phasit Hongpromyati, Yotsakorn Chuaychoo, Raweeroj Uengpitugpun, Poopan Kiraniponpan, Witchakorn Trisukon, Mathirut Mungthin, Sakarn Charoensakulchai	e0133
Proposal for A Mandatory Healthcare Program for Surrogates in Surrogacy Arrangments	e0134

Jutharat Attawet

EFFECT OF PULMONARY HYPERTENSION ON INTRADIALYTIC HYPO-TENSION AMONG PATIENTS WITH END STAGE RENAL DISEASE

Sukrisd Koowattanatiancha*, Akaphol Kaladee**, Patchara Kochaiyapatana*, Thammaporn Kajornsin*, Raweewan Witoon***

*Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, Burapha Hospital, Burapha University, Chonburi, Thailand

** School of Health Science, Sukhothai Thammathirat Open University, Nonthaburi, Thailand *** Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, Burapha Hospital, Burapha University, Chonburi, Thailand

ABSTRACT

Background: Intradialytic hypotension (IDH) is an important problem in end stage renal disease (ESRD). Therefore, this study aimed to assess the effect of pulmonary hypertension (PHT) on IDH among patients with ESRD using transthoracic echocardiography.

Methods: In this prospective etiognostic study, transthoracic echocardiography was performed among patients with ESRD in Burapha University Hospital, Thailand. The hemodialytic flow chart data of patients in the hemodialysis unit was collected to ascertain whether these patients presented IDH. The baseline clinical hemodialysis profiles and echocardiographic findings were analyzed using univariate predictors of IDH. Multivariate risk regression was used to identify independent predictors of IDH.

Results: A total of 35 patients with ESRD were enrolled between June 2020 and March 2021. Of these, 16 had PHT (45.7%). The incidence of IDH was 48.5%. All patients exhibited a normal left ventricular ejection fraction. No significant difference was observed of RVSP between frequent-IDH group and occasional-IDH group (45.33 \pm 11.62 mmHg and 41.06 \pm 13.78 mmHg, respectively, *p*=0.401). Using univariate analysis, being female, left ventricular mass index, left ventricular ejection fraction and PHT were significantly associated with IDH. No factors were indicated related to IDH occurrence using multivariate analysis. Nevertheless, female patients with ESRD presenting PHT illustrated a tendency to have IDH. This was evidenced by the risk ratio of being female and patients with PHT being 3.13 (95% CI: 0.74-13.30) and 2.18 (95% CI: 0.34-7.06), respectively.

Conclusion: Patients with ESRD presenting PHT showed a higher tendency of developing IDH during hemodialysis than patients with ESRD without PHT. The difference however was statistically insignificant.

Keywords: End stage renal disease, Intradialytic hypotension, Pulmonary hypertension

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022; 6: e0098 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.98

Correspondence to: Koowattanatiancha S, Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, Burapha Hospital, Burapha University, Chonburi, Thailand E-mail: sukrisd.ko@buu.ac.th

Received: 4 August 2021 Revised: 29 November 2021 Accepted: 3 December 2021

Introduction

Intradialytic hypotension (IDH) is one of the complications associated with dialysis procedures, occurring at about 20 to 48%⁽¹⁻³⁾ of patients with end stage renal disease (ESRD). The condition is important in clinical settings because it could lead to even more serious complications such as an increase of mortality rate^(4, 5) and myocardial ischemia from decreasing coronary blood flow.⁽⁶⁾

IDH condition has been hypothesized to cause a lower cardiac output. In fact, both left-sided and right-sided cardiac outputs are closely related. When the right-sided cardiac output is lower, whatever the cause, low blood pressure will occur. Therefore, hemodialytic sessions involving a removal of body fluid from blood vessels, resulting in a decreasing preload in the right ventricle, should be particularly cautioned because it may reduce the right-sided cardiac output. Special attention should be paid to the occurrence of associated conditions such as pulmonary hypertension (PHT).

Approximately 26 to 66% of patients with ESRD(7-11) already being treated by hemodialysis present PHT and are correlated with cardiovascular deaths.⁽⁹⁾ Also, PHT is a strong independent predictor of mortality among patients undergoing hemodialysis.⁽¹²⁾

No related studies have significantly documented the relationship between PHT and IDH. Therefore, this study aimed to assess the effect of PHT on IDH among patients with ESRD using transthoracic echocardiography.

Methods

Study design and population

This constituted a prospective etiognostic study that performed echocardiography among patients with ESRD in Burapha University Hospital, Thailand between June 2020 and December 2020. After that, the hemodialysis flow chart data of patients in the hemodialysis unit was collected to ascertain whether these patients presented IDH. The protocol was approved for ethics considerations by the BUU Ethics Institutional Review Board (HS021/2563). All patients provided written informed consent.

The sample size was calculated by comparing the mean of two independent groups. A related study⁽¹³⁾ indicated that on average, patients with ESRD receiving hemodialysis exhibited pulmonary artery systolic pressure about 33.9±10.6 mmHg. Moreover, experts suggested that patients with ESRD and IDH should have higher pulmonary artery systolic pressure than patients with ESRD without IDH. The difference was expected to be about 10 mmHg, which is a value predicting the emergence of poor long term survival.⁽¹³⁾ Thus, patients with ESRD and IDH are expected to have pulmonary artery systolic pressure equal to 43.9 mmHg. The sample size was calculated to include 48 patients with ESRD in the study (24 patients in each group).

Patients with IDH under the condition that systolic blood pressure decreased by 20 mmHg or more, the mean arterial pressure decreased by more than 10 mmHg or blood pressure was lower than 100/60 with associated symptoms of hypotension including yawning, cramps, nausea, vomiting, tweaking and dizziness.⁽¹⁴⁾ Patients in the frequent-IDH group needed to be particularly treated during the hemodialysis sessions. Examples of treatments included temporarily stopping an ultrafiltration (UF) operation, providing inotropic agents or saline.⁽¹⁵⁾ Patients with frequent-IDH in this study exhibited the aforementioned condition more than three times during a three-month study, whereas patients with occasional-IDH showed the condition less than three times or none during the same timeframe. The hemodialysis chart of patients was reviewed to collect data about 1) general information including age, sex, body mass index (BMI), underlying diseases, causes of chronic renal failure, medicines used, and laboratory results and 2) cardiovascular disease-related information including previous HF hospitalization, coronary artery disease, history of pulmonary hypertension and history of syncope and 3) kidney dialysis related information including weekly frequency of kidney dialysis, length of time of each kidney dialysis, mean net UF weekly, position of catheter, pre/post HD weight, and pre/post blood pressure and heart rate. The inclusion criteria included patients (1) aged more than 18 years (2) having

treatment of hemodialysis for six months or more, (3) receiving hemodialysis at least twice weekly and at least four hours each session, (4) without history of catheter related infection and (5) without history of abnormal bleeding in the last month. The exclusion criteria included (1) BMI of 40 kg/m2 or more, (2) catheter-related infection in the last month, (3) bleeding disorder in the last month, (4) inadequate hemodialysis defined by losing HD twice in the last month, (5) significant left sided valvular heart disease (any aortic/ mitral stenosis), (6) HIV positive status and (7) pregnancy.

Hemodialysis

All patients with ESRD received dialysis two to three times weekly for four hours each session.

Transthoracic echocardiography

Echocardiography was performed before hemodialysis to collect important parameters including left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), left ventricular mass index (LVMi), pattern of left ventricular geometry, LA volume index, diastolic function, E/e', right atrial pressure, tricuspid regurgitation velocity, right ventricular systolic pressure (RVSP), mean pulmonary arterial pressure (mean PAP) using Abbas's formula and right ventricular systolic function (tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion and peak velocity of tricuspid annulus). Echocardiogram was performed by a cardiologist in Burapha Hospital. We used the American Society of Echocardiography guidelines and recommendations to assess and measure these parameters. The cardiologist performed all examinations using a diagnostic ultrasound system (Philips EPIQ CVx with a Philips X5-1 MHz Phased Array Probe).

Statistical Analysis

Subject characteristics were described using descriptive statistics, including frequency and

percentage for categorical variables. Continuous variables were reported as means, standard deviation of normally distributed variables and median, minimum and maximum of normally distributed variables. Factors to predict IDH used the independent t-test for continuous variables and categorical variables used the Fisher exact test. Variables found to be significant in the univariate analysis, were entered in a multivariate risk regression analysis (backward elimination). For all tests performed, a two-tailed p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

The data of 40 patients with ESRD were collected. Three patients were excluded from the study because parameter values using an echocardiogram were unable to be collected. Two patients with severe valvular heart disease were excluded. Finally, a total of 35 patients with ESRD were analyzed. Of these, 16 had PHT (45.7%), and incidence of IDH was 48.6%. General information of patients in both groups are shown in **Table 1** and hemodialysis profiles are shown in **Table 2**.

All patients exhibited normal LVEF and right ventricular systolic function (tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion and peak velocity of tricuspid annulus). Most patients presented Grade I diastolic function and concentric hypertrophy of the left ventricular geometric pattern. The echocardiographic data are shown in **Table 3**.

The primary research outcome was that a relationship between PHT and IDH was insignificant. When the dataset was subjected to univariate analysis, variables with a significant correlation with IDH were being female, LVMi, LVEF and PHT. The RVSP of the frequent-IDH group and the occasional-IDH group appeared to be $45.33 \pm 11.6224.86 \pm 8.16$ mmHg, respectively (*p*=0.234).

Characteristic	Frequent-IDH	Occasional-IDH		
Characteristic	(n=17)	(n=18)	<i>p</i> -value	
Female, n (%)	14 (73.7)	5 (26.3)	0.002	
Age (years, mean \pm sd)	68.82 ± 12.51	66.11 ± 16.35	0.567	
Body weight (kg, mean \pm sd)	59.18 ± 16.14	60.78 ± 12.94	0.747	
Body mass index (kg/m ² , mean \pm sd)	24.32 ± 5.8	23.61 ± 4.74	0.691	
Underlying disease, n (%)				
Hypertension	11 (45.8)	13 (54.2)	0.725	
Coronary artery disease	2 (28.6)	5 (71.4)	0.402	
Stroke	2 (66.7)	1 (33.3)	0.603	
Diabetes mellitus	4 (43.8)	9 (56.2)	0.738	
Dyslipidemia	15 (60.0)	10 (40.0)	0.06	
Previous heart failure	1 (20.0)	4 (80.0)	0.338	
Etiology of ESRD, n (%)			0.49	
Diabetes mellitus	8 (44.4)	10 (55.6)		
HTN (HT nephrosclerosis)	5 (62.5)	3 (37.5)		
Glomerulonephritis	0	1 (100.0)		
Unknown	4 (50.0)	4 (50.0)		
Number of Anti HTN drugs	1.88 ± 1.22	2.23 ± 1.31	0 422	
$(\text{mean} \pm \text{SD})$	1.00 ± 1.22	2.23 ± 1.31	0.433	
Nitrate, n (%)	0	2 (100.0)	0.486	
Beta blocker, n (%)	4 (33.3)	8 (66.7)	0.289	
CCB, n (%)	10 (47.6)	11 (52.4)	0.582	
ACEI, n (%)	1 (50.0)	1 (50.0)	0.743	
ARB, n (%)	5 (50.0)	5 (50.0)	0.604	
Diuretic, n (%)	11 (47.8)	12 (52.2)	0.592	
Hydralazine, n (%)	1 (25.0)	3 (75.0)	0.603	
Laboratory investigation				
Hb (mg/dL, mean \pm SD)	9.45 ± 1.54	9.76 ± 1.39	0.545	
Albumin (mg/dL, mean \pm SD)	3.8 ± 0.36	3.77 ± 0.31	0.77	
Total calcium (mg/dL, mean \pm SD)	8.85 ± 0.98	8.92 ± 0.8	0.813	
Phosphate (mg/dL, mean \pm SD)	4.68 ± 1.51	4.32 ± 0.93	0.415	
PTH level (pg/mL, mean \pm SD)	262.11 ± 242.11	284.73 ± 287.04	0.811	

Table 1. Clinical characteristics of frequent-IDH and occasional-IDH groups

Values presented as mean±SD or n (%), *p*-values corresponded to independent-t test and Fisher's exact test. ESRD: end stage renal disease, anti HTN drugs: antihypertensive drugs, ACEI: angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, ARB: angiotensin II receptor blockers, CCB: calcium channel blockers, Hb: hemoglobin, PTH: parathyroid hormone

Hamadialusis mofile	Frequent-IDH group	Occasional-IDH group		
Hemodialysis profile	(n=17)	(n=18)	<i>p</i> -value	
IDH symptoms, n (%)			0.198	
None	7 (31.8)	15 (68.2)		
Fainting	4(66.6)	2 (34.4)		
Dyspnea	1 (100.0)	0		
chest pain	1 (100.0)	0		
abdominal pain	1 (100.0)	0		
muscle cramping	2 (66.7)	1 (33.3)		
back pain	1 (100.0)	0		
Frequency of dialysis, n (%)			0.315	
2 sessions/week	9 (42.9)	12 (57.1)		
3 sessions/week	8 (57.1)	6 (42.9)		
Mean Net UF, (ml, mean \pm sd)	2535.29 ± 829.11	2742.22 ± 1283.69	0.577	
BFR, (ml/min, mean \pm sd)	329.41 ± 25.36	327.78 ± 30.78	0.865	
Dialysis membrane			0.591	
HDF 80	9 (60.0)	6 (40.0)		
HDF 100	2 (25.0)	6 (75.0)		
Elisio 170	3 (42.9)	4 (57.1)		
Elisio 190	1 (50.0)	1 (50.0)		
Elisio 210	2 (66.7)	1 (33.3)		
PreHD SBP, (mmHg, mean \pm SD)	141.06 ± 27.88	131.28 ± 24.48	0.274	
PreHD DBP, (mmHg, mean ± SD)	64.24 ± 17.49	61.89 ± 15.13	0.673	
PreHD HR, (bpm mean \pm SD)	76.76 ± 15.83	78.06 ± 17.13	0.819	
Position of catheters, n (%)			0.67	
AVF	10 (47.6)	11 (52.4)		
AVG	1 (33.3)	2 (66.7)		
Perm cath	4 (44.4)	5 (55.6)		
DLC	2 (100.0)	0		

Table 2. Hemodialysis profiles of frequent-IDH and occasional-IDH groups

Values presented as mean±SD or n (%), p-values corresponded to independent-t test and Fisher's exact test.

Mean net UF: mean net ultrafiltration, BFR: blood flow rate, PreHD SBP: prehemodialysis systolic blood pressure, PreHD DBP: prehemodialysis diastolic blood pressure, PreHD HR: prehemodialysis heart rate, AVF: arteriovenous fistula, AVG: arteriovenous graft, DLC: double lumen catheter.

These variables and other variables that were likely to be related to the occurrence of IDH including diabetes, coronary artery disease, albumin level, presystolic blood pressure, prediastolic blood pressure, LVMi and LVEF were then analyzed using multivariable analysis. Results showed that no factors were related to IDH occurrence. Nevertheless, female patients and patients with PHT illustrated a tendency to have IDH. This was evidenced by the risk ratio of being female and patients with PHT at 3.13 (95%)CI= 0.74-13.30) and 2.18 (95% CI= 0.34-7.06), respectively. multivariate risk regression analysis to determine factors associated with IDH is shown in **Table 4**.

	Frequent-IDH	Occasional-IDH	
	group (n=17)	group (n=18)	<i>p</i> -value
Echocardiographic findings	(mean \pm SD)	$(\text{mean} \pm \text{SD})$	1
LVDd (mm)	44.07 ± 5.8	41.47 ± 5.77	0.193
LV mass index (g/m^2)	128.48 ± 26.52	110.22 ± 21.69	0.032
RWT	0.62 ± 0.14	0.69 ± 0.14	0.173
LV geometry, n (%)			0.125
concentric remodeling	2 (22.2)	7 (77.8)	
concentric hypertrophy	14 (56.0)	11 (44.0)	
LVEF (%)	64.08 ± 11.19	72.87 ± 5.89	0.006
Diastolic function, n (%)			0.429
normal	1 (25.0)	3 (75.0)	
grade I	13 (54.8)	11 (45.8)	
grade II	2 (33.3)	4 (66.7)	
grade III	1 (100.0)	0	
E/e'	17.83 ± 7.01	15.15 ± 6.32	0.243
LA volume index (mL/sqm)	47.38 ± 13.85	50.12 ± 14.92	0.579
TAPSE (mm)	25.42 ± 3.86	25.29 ± 4.78	0.931
Peak velocity of tricuspid annulus (cm/sec)	12.7 ± 2.51	11.99 ± 1.62	0.326
mean PAP (mmHg)	28.28 ± 6.94	24.86 ± 8.16	0.234
RVSP (mmHg)	45.33 ± 11.62	41.06 ± 13.78	0.401
PHT, n (%)	11 (68.8)	5 (31.3)	0.044
RAP (mmHg)	8.54 ± 1.82	8.71 ± 2.12	0.788
CO (mL/min)	5.31 ± 2.25	4.32 ± 0.98	0.100

Table 3. Echocardiographic	data between fre	quent-IDH and	occasional-IDH groups

Values presented as mean±SD or n (%), p-values corresponded to independent-t test and Fisher's exact test.

LVDd: left ventricular dimension in diastole, LV mass index: left ventricular mass index, RWT: relative wall thickness, LV geometry: left ventricular geometry, LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction, LA volume index: left atrial volume index, TAPSE: tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion, Mean PAP: mean pulmonary arterial pressure RVSP: right ventricular systolic pressure, PHT: pulmonary hypertension, RAP: right atrial pressure, CO: cardiac output.

Discussion

IDH is a serious and frequent complication of chronic hemodialysis. IDH is the end result of the interaction between ultrafiltration rates, cardiac output and arteriolar tone.⁽¹⁶⁾ As mentioned previously, we hypothesized that the occurrence of IDH among patients undergoing chronic hemodialysis was related to reduced cardiac output and PHT. When developing IDH, the human body exhibits the following adapted mechanisms.⁽¹⁷⁾ First, interstitial fluid moves to blood vessels to refill the blood volume. Second, increased sympathetic outflow to arteriolar vasoconstriction and increased peripheral vascular resistance, helps to maintain BP. Finally, the heart contracts more, causing the rising heart rate to increase cardiac output and raise BP. When all of these mechanisms fail, IDH eventually strikes. Decreased cardiac output plays a key role in the pathophysiology of IDH. Cardiac output depends on preload, afterload, heart rate and contractility. Changes in preload, determined mainly by

Prognostic factor	Frequent-IDH (n=17)	Occasional- IDH (n=18)	Risk Ratio	Adjusted Risk Ratio (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value
PHT, n (%)	11 (68.8)	5 (31.3)	2.18	1.56 (0.34-7.06)	0.565
Sex, n (%)					
male	4 (23.5)	13 (76.5)	1		0.120
female	14 (73.7)	5 (26.3)	3.13	3.14 (0.74-13.30)	
DM, n (%)	8 (47.1)	9 (52.9)	0.89	0.49 (0.13-1.92)	0.308
CAD, n (%)	3 (37.5)	5 (62.5)	0.70	0.81 (0.16-4.18)	0.799
Albumin, (mean±SD)	3.85±0.41	3.77±0.31	1.39	0.53(0.06-4.30)	0.528
PreSBP (mean± SD)	75.0±21.97	114.5±20.63	1.0	0.98 (0.94-1.04)	0.666
PreDBP (mean± SD)	42.17±13.36	59.67±13.91	1.0	0.98 (0.94-1.04)	0.538
LVMi, (mean± SD)	128.48 ± 26.52	110.22±21.69	1.01	1.0 (0.97-1.03)	0.798
LVEF, (mean± SD)	64.08±11.19	72.87±5.89	0.96	0.97 (0.91-1.04)	0.427

Table 4. Multivariate regression analysis to determine factors associated with intradialytic hypotension

PHT: pulmonary hypertension, DM: diabetes mellitus, CAD: coronary artery disease, PreSBP: presystolic blood pressure, PreDBP: prediastolic blood pressure, LVMi: left ventricular mass index, LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction

intravascular volume, seem to play a major role in the development of IDH.⁽¹⁶⁾ Therefore during our hemodialysis sessions, intravascular fluid has to be removed. Patients presenting pulmonary hypertension may experience induced IDH due to decreasing cardiac output.

multivariate risk regression revealed that such a relationship does not exist. However, the chance that patients with ESRD and PHT condition (indicated by their RVSP being equal or greater than >50 mmHg or their mean PAP by Abbas's formula being equal or greater than >25 mmHg) will develop IDH 2.18 times that of patients without PHT. The pathogenesis of PHT in this population remains poorly understood. Reported associations include arteriovenous fistulae, cardiac dysfunction, fluid overload, bone mineral disorder and non-biocompatible dialysis membranes.⁽¹⁸⁾

This study also illustrated that female patients had a higher chance of developing IDH than male patients. In particular, our multivariate risk regression analysis indicated that the chance of female patients with IDH was 3.13 times than that of male patients. This finding was consistent with several studies. For example, Andras Tisler et al.⁽¹⁹⁾ found that being female was a statistically significant factor of IDH occurrence. Similarly, Johanna et al.⁽²⁰⁾ examining the prevalence of IDH among patients with conventional hemodialysis, found that four determining factors of IDH included diabetes, high interdialytic weight gain, being female, and low body weight. Studies of Johanna Kuipers et al.⁽²¹⁾ and Orofino L et al.⁽²²⁾ also found similar results, that female patients with low body weight increases the chance of having IDH even further. This could be explained in that females in general have lower body weight and, consequently, have a higher UF rate (mL/h/kg body weight) during hemodialysis for a similar interdialytic weight gain than males.⁽²⁰⁾

Patients with frequent IDH exhibit higher LVMi than patients with occasional IDH indicating that these patients have left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH). For patients with chronic renal failure, the prevalence of LVH increases progressively as renal function deteriorates. The development of LVH results from coronary hypoperfusion, myocardial stunning and renin-angiotensinaldosterone system dysregulation. Finally, LVH actively contributes to IDH occurrence, through the induction of LV stiffening, myocardial ischemia and arrhythmia.⁽²³⁾

Barberato et al.⁽²⁴⁾ observed that patients experiencing ESRD with LVEF less than 50% and LA volume index greater than 35 mL/m2 indicated diastolic dysfunction, which is a factor that can significantly predict the occurrence of IDH. This study found that both groups of patients (frequent-IDH and occasional-IDH) exhibit normal LVEF, i.e., greater than 60%, and normal cardiac output measured by an echocardiogram. Therefore, high LA volume index will not necessarily cause IDH during chronic hemodialysis.

Apart from patients with ESRD, patients with PHT must be treated with noncardiac operations. This patient group represented an important risk factor for increased perioperative morbidity and mortality. In other words, these patients illustrated a significantly increased risk for hemodynamic instability.⁽²⁵⁾Thus, physicians have to give special attention to these patients by monitoring closely, optimizing systemic BP, oxygenating and ventilating, avoiding exacerbating factors, and using vasopressors and pulmonary vasodilators whenever necessary as essential elements of management.⁽²⁶⁾

One limitation of our study was the small sample size; only 40 patients could be enrolled during the study period. This restriction affected the multivariate risk regression analysis in that its revealed risk of IDH factors was unclear. Although female patients and patients with PHT showed a higher chance of IDH occurrence than their counterparts, the difference was not statistically significant.

Conclusion

Patients with ESRD and PHT measured by RVSP or mean PAP during echocardiography showed a higher tendency of developing IDH during hemodialysis than patients with ESRD without PHT. Therefore, patients with ESRD who were diagnosed having PHT showed clinical significance so that physicians had to closely monitor the possible occurrence of hypotension during hemodialysis.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare they have no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Henrich WL. Hemodynamic instability during hemodialysis. Kidney Int 1986; 30: 605-12.
- Zucchelli P, Santoro A. Dialysis-induced hypotension: a fresh look at pathophysiology. Blood Purif 1993; 11: 85-98.
- Tisler A, Akocsi K, Harshegyi I, Varga G, Ferenczi S, Grosz M, et al. Comparison of dialysis and clinical characteristics of patients with frequent and occasional hemodialysisassociated hypotension. Kidney Blood Press Res 2002; 25: 97-102.
- 4. Shoji T, Tsubakihara Y, Fujii M, Imai E. Hemodialysis-associated hypotension as an independent risk factor for two-year mortality in hemodialysis patients. Kidney Inter 2004; 66: 1212-20.
- Flythe JE, Xue H, Lynch KE, Curhan GC, Brunelli SM. Association of mortality risk with various definitions of intradialytic hypotension. J Am Soc Nephrol 2015; 26: 724-34.
- Burton JO, Jefferies HJ, Selby NM, McIntyre CW. Hemodialysis-induced cardiac injury: determinants and associated outcomes. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2009; 4: 914-20.
- Tarrass F, Benjelloun M, Medkouri G, Hachim K, Benghanem MG, Ramdani B. Doppler echocardiograph evaluation of pulmonary hypertension in patients undergoing hemodialysis. Hemodial Inter 2006; 10: 356-9.
- Yigla M, Abassi Z, Reisner S, Nakhoul F.Pulmonary hypertension in hemodialysis patients: an unrecognized threat. Semin Dial 2006; 9: 353–57.
- Li Z, Liu S, Liang X, Wang W, Fei H, Hu P, et al. Pulmonary hypertension as an independent predictor of cardiovascular mortality and events in hemodialysis patients. Inter Urol Nephrol 2014; 46: 141-9.
- Fabbian F, Cantelli S, Molino C, Pala M, Longhini C, Portaluppi F. Pulmonary hypertension in dialysis patients: a cross-sectional Italian study. Int J Nephrol 2010; 2011: 283475.

- Ramasubbu K, Deswal A, Herdejurgen C, Aguilar D, Frost AE. A prospective echocardiographic evaluation of pulmonary hyper tension in chronic hemodialysis patients in the United States: prevalence and clinical significance. Int J Gen Med 2010; 3: 279–86.
- Yigla M, Fruchter O, Aharonson D, Yanay N, Reisner SA, Lewin M, et al. Pulmonary hypertension is an independent predictor of mortality in hemodialysis patients. Kidney Inter 2009; 75: 969–75.
- Agarwal R. Prevalence, determinants and prognosis of pulmonary hypertension among hemodialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2012; 27: 3908-14.
- K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for cardiovascular disease in dialysis patients. Am J Kidney Dis 2005 ;45
- 15. Poldermans D, Man in 't Veld AJ, Rambaldi R, Van Den Meiracker AH, Van Den Dorpel MA, Rocchi G, et al. Cardiac evaluation in hypotension-prone and hypotension-resistant hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int 1999; 56: 1905-11.
- 16. Kanbay M, Ertuglu LA, Afsar B, Ozdogan E, Siriopol D, Covic A, et al. An update review of intradialytic hypotension:concept, risk factors, clinical implications and management. Clin Kidney J 2020; 13: 981–93.
- Patrick B. Reeves, Finnian R. Mc Causland. Mechanisms, Clinical Implications, and Treatment of Intradialytic Hypotension. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2018; 13: 1297–303.
- Kawar B, Ellam T, Jackson C, Kiely DG. Pulmonary hypertension in renal disease: epidemiology, potential mechanisms and implications. Am J Nephrol 2013; 37: 281-90.
- 19. Tisler A, Akocsi K, Harshegyi I, Varga G, Ferenczi S, Grosz M, et al. Comparison of dialysis and clinical characteristics of

patients with frequent and occasional hemodialysis associated hypotension. Kidney Blood Press Res 2002; 25: 97-102.

- 20. Kuipers J, Verboom LM, Ipema KJR, Paans W, Krijnen WP, Gaillard CAJM, et al. The prevalence of intradialytic hypotension in patients on conventional hemodialysis: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Am J Nephrol 2019; 49: 497-506.
- 21. Kuipers J, Oosterhuis JK, Krijnen WP, Dasselaar JJ, Gaillard CAJM, Westerhuis R, et al. Prevalence of intradialytic hypotension, clinical symptoms and nursing interventionsa three-months, prospective study of 3818 haemodialysis sessions. BMC Nephrol 2016; 17: 1-11.
- 22. Orofino L, Marcén R, Quereda C, Villafruela JJ, Sabater J, Matesanz R, et al. Epidemiology of symptomatic hypotension in hemodialysis is cool dialysate beneficial for all patients? Am J Nephrol 1990; 10: 177–80.
- 23. Chao CT, Huang JW, Yen CJ. Intradialytic hypotension and cardiac remodeling: a vicious cycle. Biomed Res Int 2015: 724147.
- 24. Barberato SH, Misocami M, Pecoits-Filho R. Association between left atrium enlargement and intradialytic hypotension: role of diastolic dysfunction in the hemodynamic complications during hemodialysis. Echocardiography 2009; 26: 767-71.
- 25. Gille J, Seyfarth HJ, Gerlach S, Malcharek M, Czeslick E, Sablotzki A. Perioperative anesthesiological management of patients with pulmonary hypertension. Anesthesiol Res Pract 2012; 2012: 356982.
- 26. Minai OA, Yared JP, Kaw R, Subramaniam K, Hill NS. Perioperative risk and management in patients with pulmonary hypertension. Chest 2013; 144: 329-40.

USE OF TENSION BAND WIRING TECHNIQUE IN PROXIMAL ULNAR FRACTURES: A FINITE ELEMENT BIOMECHANICAL ANALYSIS

Woraphon Jaroenporn*, Vajarin Phiphobmongkol, Jaruwat Vechasilp, Thanupat Kulsinsap

Department of Orthopaedics, Police General Hospital, Pathumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

Abstract

Background: Tension band wiring is considered the standard treatment for olecranon fracture. A recent study proved that it can be used for the fracture as distal to the coronoid process.

Objective: The study aimed to investigate whether tension band wiring can be used in proximal ulnar fracture fixation up to and distal to the coronoid process.

Methods: Models of simple proximal ulnar fracture including 4 intraarticular and 2 extraarticular fractures were created. Fixation was completed using tension band wiring technique, and biomechanical responses were evaluated using finite element analysis. After a physiologic load was applied, the fracture displacement, von Mises stress, and stiffness were recorded.

Results: All fracture models were able to withstand the load of daily activities with a maximum displacement of 50% of the articular surface. In addition, the von Mises stress was the highest in the middle articular fracture. The mean transcortical K-wire tension band wiring stiffness of the intra-articular and extra-articular fractures was 1144.89 N/mm and 1231.45 N/mm, respectively.

Conclusion: Tension band wiring is another option to treat proximal ulnar fractures with the ability to withstand immediate postoperative load.

Keywords: Tension band wiring, Olecranon fracture, Proximal ulnar fracture, Biomechanical study, Finite element analysis

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6:e0099 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.99

Correspondence to: *Jaroenporn W, Department of Orthopaedics, Police General Hospital, Pathumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand E-mail: dr.woraphon@yahoo.com

Received: 26 August 2021 Revised: 1 December 2021 Accepted: 1 January 2022

Introduction

Proximal ulnar fracture is one of the most common upper extremity fractures, for which many surgical options have been proposed. To date, even though many studies have concluded no evidence of any perfect surgical treatment option exists for this fracture. ⁽¹⁻³⁾

A simple displaced olecranon fracture, Mayo classification type IIa (AO/OTA 2U1B1), is the most common fracture reported among olecranon fractures. (4-8) Plate fixation is increasingly used for olecranon and proximal ulnar fracture fixation. It provides greater compressive force across the fracture site, more stable fixation, lower second operation rate compared with tension band wiring (TBW), and good clinical outcomes. Nevertheless, several drawbacks exist, namely, a higher rate of infection than in TBW, and a cost as high as twice that of TBW.^(7, 9-12)

Currently, TBW is still considered the surgical technique of choice for simple olecranon fractures. It possesses the benefits of being reproducible, less invasive and yields good clinical results. The most important problem is implant migration and loosening, leading to a second operation.^{(4,} ¹³⁻¹⁵⁾ TBW was once believed to create dynamic compression across the fracture site from the distraction force of the triceps muscle. Hence, TBW has been suggested to be used in cases with no more than 50% of articular involvement. Recently, many biomechanical studies have shown results against this principle, and authors have concluded that with the static component of the stabilization, TBW can be used for the fixation of simple olecranon fractures regardless of articular involvement.^(1, 4, 16)

Although TBW has been shown to have many advantages, to our knowledge, no study has been conducted to determine the biomechanical response distal to the coronoid processes TBW can be used. Thus, this study was designed to investigate the biomechanical response of TBW using finite element analysis under physiological conditions in fractures up to and distal to the coronoid process. We hypothesized that TBW could be an effective technique for the treatment of such fractures.

Methods

This study was conducted under the Police General Hospital Ethics Committee (No. 15/2563). Informed consent was obtained from the subjects involved in the study.

Finite element modeling

The ulnar bone model was created using computed tomography (CT) of the right forearm of a healthy 40-year-old man after obtaining informed consent. The CT images from Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine (DICOM) were imported into Mimics 10.01 (Materialize, Leuven, Belgium) to create a 3D ulnar bone geometry. The file was then transferred to PowerSHAPE 2016 (Delcam Plc, Birmingham, UK) to create a computer-aided design (CAD) model suitable for meshing. After creating the complete ulnar model, the fractures were reproduced in six models designed by dividing the olecranon in four parts with equal ranges (from the coronoid tip to the tip of the olecranon). The other two were made once and twice of the same range distal to the tip of the olecranon. All fractures were reproduced in the true axial plane (Figure 1).

The TBW was created using two 1.6 mm K-wires and 1 mm cerclage wire (18-gauge) as models, reflecting the surgical recommendations of the AO Foundation (Figure 2).⁽¹⁷⁾ As for the interaction of the K-wire system, the frictional values between the K-wire and cortical bone, cortical bone and cancellous bone were 0.5 and 0.3, respectively.^(18, 19)

Convergence test and model validation

The Ulnar finite element models were meshed with 1, 2, and 3 mm element sizes using quadratic tetrahedral elements (Solid 92) in ANSYS 15.0 (Ansys Inc., Canonsburg, PN, USA). The cancellous and cortical bones were considered isotropic, linear and elastic, with elastic moduli of 1.3 GPa and 17 GPa, respectively. The Poisson's ratio was set to 0.3. ^(20, 21) A surface-to-surface gluing contact parameter was inserted at the interface of the cortical and cancellous bones, to prevent movement between the meshes of these regions at the interface. The elastic



Figure 1. Fracture locations: purple, blue, green and yellow lines were simulated as intra-articular fractures, and orange and red lines were simulated as extra-articular fractures. The olecranon process to the coronoid process represents 100% articular surface. Intra-articular fracture patterns were divided in four parts [25% (purple), 50% (blue), 75% (green) and 100% (yellow) articular surfaces]. For extra-articular fracture, we measured the 25% articular surface (orange) and 50% of articular surfaces (red) distal to the coronoid process.



Figure 2. The tension band wiring was created using two 1.6 mm K-wires and an 18-gauge cerclage wire as recommended by AO Foundation's surgical guidelines.⁽¹⁷⁾

modulus and Poisson's ratio of stainless steel were 210 GPa and 0.3, respectively. ^(20, 22, 23) The figure-of-eight loop was placed close to the bone, as the TBW became more stable while turning over the adjacent bone surface.⁽²⁴⁾ For extra-articular fracture, the entry and the exit points of the K-wire were located at the tip of the olecranon and 2.7 cm distal to the fracture site, respectively.

The distal end of the ulnar model was fixed, and the traction force of 150 N was applied at the tip of the olecranon in all fracture patterns. The maximum displacement, maximum strain and maximum von Mises stress value at the fracture gap were evaluated for convergence in all models. The tolerance level was set within 5%.

The model was validated by comparison with the results from a cadaveric study. The authors found that a mean force of 490 N created a displacement of 2 mm.⁽¹³⁾ To simulate the setting, the model of the olecranon fracture with 50% articular involvement was fixed with TBW under the boundary condition and the material properties used in the convergence test. These studies applied the force of 484 N to create a displacement of 2 mm indicating that the ulnar model had a response similar to that of the human ulnar bone under the same conditions.

Finite element analysis

To investigate the biomechanical responses from the TBW in simple olecranon fractures under the simulation of the magnitudes and directions of physiologic loads during active elbow joint movement of daily activities, six finite element models with different fracture locations (four intra-articular and two extra-articular) were fixed with TBW. An axial force of 150 N to imitate the triceps tendon was applied at the tip of the olecranon at one movement cycle.(13) The biomechanical properties of the implants, the von Mises stress value and displacement of the fracture gap were recorded.





Figure 3. The displacement of the fracture gap after physiologic loading

Figure 4. The distribution of the von Mises stress of 50% articular surface fracture pattern



Fracture location

- 1 = 25% articular surface
- 2 = 50% articular surface
- 3 = 75% articular surface
- 4 = 100% articular surface
- 5 = Extra-articular A
- 6 = Extra-articular B

Figure 5. The von Mises stress of each model after physiologic loading



Fracture location

- 1 = 25% articular surface
- 2 = 50% articular surface
- 3 = 75% articular surface
- 4 = 100% articular surface
- 5 = Extra-articular A
- 6 = Extra-articular B

Figure 6. Stiffness of each model after physiologic loading

Results

Displacement

All fracture models, either intra- or extraarticular locations, were able to tolerate the load with insignificant displacement (Figure 3).

Von-Mises stress

The maximum stress was found in the model with a fracture located in the middle of the olecranon (Figures 4 and 5). The mean von Mises stress of intra-articular fracture fixation was 213.99 MPa, while that of extra-articular fixation was 74.55 MPa (Figure 5).

Stiffness

The mean stiffness of the intra-articular and extra-articular fracture fixation was 1144.89 N/ mm and 1231.45 N/mm, respectively (Figure 6).

Discussion

In proximal (extra-articular) ulnar fractures, plate and screw fixation is the mainstay for operative treatment.⁽²⁵⁾ It provides stability that can withstand the force of daily life activities and allows early motion. However, some drawbacks result, including high implant costs and implant prominence. TBW is the most commonly performed procedure for simple olecranon fracture fixation, being reproducible, cost-effective, exhibiting a low implant prominence, and good clinical outcomes. Currently, the only known drawback is that a second operation is frequently required.⁽¹⁰⁻¹²⁾ However, this statement might be questionable because a multicenter study indicated that the implant removal rate in proximal ulnar fractures did not differ between plate fixation and TBW (64.5% vs. 63.6%).⁽²⁶⁾ TBW was originally thought to rely on dynamic compression from active movement of the elbow, but a biomechanical study proved that TBW only possesses static properties and can be used for simple olecranon fractures as distal as the coronoid tip with the same stability. (13) To our knowledge, no related study has evaluated the use of TBW in simple proximal ulnar fractures distal from the tip of the coronoid.

This study was designed using finite element analysis to evaluate the biomechanical responses of TBW fixation of intra-articular to extra-articular proximal ulnar fractures from the force of daily activities; finite element analysis is commonly used as an analytic tool to study biomechanical responses. Its cost effective and variable parameters can be adjusted in a more controllable manner. ^(27, 28)

Our results showed that the fracture displacement and von Mises stress had the maximum value in the 50% articular model. This result was similar to that of the study by Hammond et al.13) This could be explained by the position of the fracture that was directly aligned under the humerus, which acted as a wedge when the force from the triceps was applied. Nevertheless, the maximum displacement was 0.026 mm indicated that the TBW system was able to withstand the load of daily life activities immediately after the surgery. Thus, encouraging patients to start early range of motion to prevent stiffness is reasonable, especially in extra-articular fractures where the acceptable alignment is much greater than in intra-articular fractures. (29) The current results showed that the more distal the location of the fracture, created less stress of the implant. This could be explained by the increase in the working distance between the fixation point and the fracture site, decreasing construct stiffness and stress and allowing more motion at the fracture gap.⁽³⁰⁻³³⁾

The results of this study suggest that TBW is not only useful in treating simple olecranon fractures regardless of location, but also feasible in treating simple isolated extra-articular proximal ulnar fractures without any associated injuries such as radial head or ligamentous injuries. Results also suggest that patients with fractures managed by TBW should be encouraged to perform early motion because TBW has sufficient strength to withstand the immediate load of daily motion.

This study encountered several limitations. Although finite element analysis is considered one of the most widely used methods in biomechanical studies, it still lacks a physiological environment and body reaction. We did not perform endurance tests, which may cause problems such as pin loosening during clinical use. Further studies are needed to validate and extend our results for practical and clinical use.

Conclusion

TBW is a reproducible procedure. This agrees with the use of TBW for simple olecranon fractures at any fracture location. Our finite element study's results suggest that TBW is able to withstand the immediate force required for daily life activities, even distal to the coronoid level. In addition, results suggest that caution must be taken when the fracture is located in the middle of the olecranon. Further studies are needed to evaluate the clinical use of TBW.

Acknowledgment

We sincerely thank the volunteers for providing the ulnar model from their CT scans.

Data Availability Statement: No new data were created or analyzed in this study. Data sharing is not applicable to this article.

Conflicts of interest: The authors declare they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Wilson J, Bajwa A, Kamath V, Rangan A. Biomechanical comparison of interfragmentary compression in transverse fractures of the olecranon. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2011; 93: 245-50.
- Baecher N, Edwards S. Olecranon fractures. J Hand Surg Am 2013; 38: 593-604.

- Kuru T, Mutlu İ. Suture anchor fixation may be an alternative to tension band wiring in olecranon fractures: Finite element analysis. Jt Dis Relat Surg 2020; 31: 238-45.
- Brink PR, Windolf M, de Boer P, Braunstein V, Schwieger K. Tension band wiring of the olecranon: Is it really a dynamic principle of osteosynthesis? Injury 2013; 44: 518-22.
- Buijze G, Kloen P. Clinical evaluation of locking compression plate fixation for comminuted olecranon fractures. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2009; 91: 2416-20.
- Morrey BF. The elbow and Its disorders. 3rd Edition. Philadelphia: W B Saunders, 2000.
- Macko D, Szabo RM. Complications of tension-band wiring of olecranon fractures. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1985; 67: 1396-401.
- Powell AJ, Farhan-Alanie OM, Bryceland JK, Nunn T. The treatment of olecranon fractures in adults. Musculoskelet Surg 2017; 101: 1-9.
- Bosman WPF, Emmink BL, Bhashyam AR, Houwert RM, Keizer J. Intramedullary screw fixation for simple displaced olecranon fractures. Eur J Trauma Emerg Surg. 2020; 46: 83-9.
- Bailey CS, MacDermid J, Patterson SD, King GJW. Outcome of plate fixation of olecranon fractures. J Orthop Trauma 2001; 15: 542-48.
- Newman SD, Mauffrey C, Krikler S. Olecranon fractures. Injury 2009; 40: 575-81.
- 12. Tarallo L, Mugnai R, Adani R, Capra F, Zambianchi F, Catani F. Simple and comminuted displaced olecranon fractures: A clinical comparison between tension band wiring and plate fixation techniques. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2014; 134: 1107-14.
- Hammond J, Ruland R, Hogan C, Rose D, Belkoff S. Biomechanical analysis of a transverse olecranon fracture model using tension band wiring. J Hand Surg Am 2012; 37: 2506-11.
- 14. Schliemann B, Raschke MJ, Groene P, Weimann A, Wähnert D, Lenschow S, et al. Comparison of tension band wiring and precontoured locking compression plate fixation in Mayo type IIA olecranon fractures. Acta Orthop Belg 2014; 80: 106-11.

- 15. Duckworth AD, Clement ND, White TO, Court-Brown CM, McQueen MM. Plate versustension-bandwirefixation for olecranon fractures: A prospective randomized trial. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2017; 99: 1261-73.
- Hutchinson DT, Horwitz DS, Ha G, Thomas CW., Bachus KN. Cyclic loading of olecranon fracture fixation constructs. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2003; 85: 831-37.
- 17. AO Foundation. Tension band wiring. Available from https://surgeryreference. aofoundation.org/orthopedic-trauma/adulttrauma/proximal-forearm/ulna-articularolecranon/tension-band-wiring#tensionband-principles. Accessed April 1, 2021
- Renee D. Rogge, PhD, Brian D. Adams. An analysis of bone stresses and fixation stability using a finite element model of simulated distal radius fractures. J Hand Surg 2002; 27: 86–92.
- Lin Y, Sun MT, Chen AC, Sun MT, Chen ACY. Biomechanical analysis of volar and dorsal double locking plates for fixation in comminuted extra-articular distal radius fractures: A 3D finite element study. J Med Biol Eng 2012; 32: 349–56.
- 20. Schuett DJ, Hake ME, Mauffrey C, Hammerberg EM, Philip F Stahel PF, Hak DJ Current treatment strategies for patella fractures. Orthopedics 2015; 38: 377-84.
- 21. Kakazu R, Archdeacon MT. Surgical Management of Patellar Fractures. Orthop Clin North Am 2016; 47: 77-83.
- 22. Benjamin J, Bried J, Dohm M, McMurtry M. Biomechanical evaluation of various forms of fixation of transverse patellar fractures. J Orthop Trauma 1987; 1: 219-22
- 23. Petrie J, Sassoon A, Langford J. Complications of patellar fracture repair: treatment and results. J Knee Surg 2013; 26: 309-12.
- Baran O, Manisali M, Cecen B. Anatomical and biomechanical evaluation of the tension band technique in patellar fractures. Int Orthop 2009; 33: 1113-17.

- 25. Kibar B, Kurtulmuş T. Treatment of adult isolated ulnar diaphyseal fractures: A comparison of new-generation locked intramedullary nail and plate fixation. Eklem Hastalik Cerrahisi 2019; 30: 246-51.
- 26. Edwards SG, Cohen MS, Lattanza LL, Iorio ML, Daniels C, Lodha S. et al. Surgeon perceptions and patient outcomes regarding proximal ulna fixation: a multicenter experience. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2012; 21: 1637-43.
- 27. Lin CL, Lin YH, Chen AC. Buttressing angle of the double-plating fixation of a distal radius fracture: A finite element study. Med Biol Eng Comput 2006; 44: 665-73.
- 28. Cheng HY, Lin CL, Lin YH, Chen ACY. Biomechanical evaluation of the modified double-plating fixation for the distal radius fracture. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon) 2007; 22: 510-17.
- 29. Crozier-Shaw G, Mahon J, Bayer TC. The use of bioabsorbable compression screws &

polyethylene tension band for fixation of displaced olecranon fractures. J Orthop 2020; 22: 525-29.

- 30. Chao P, Conrad BP, Lewis DD, Horodyski M, Pozzi A. Effect of plate working length on plate stiffness and cyclic fatigue life in a cadaveric femoral fracture gap model stabilized with a 12-hole 2.4 mm locking compression plate. BMC Vet Res 2013; 9: 125.
- 31. Gautier E, Sommer C. Guidelines for the clinical application of the LCP. Injury 2003; 34 (Suppl 2): B63-B76.
- Kubiak EN, Fulkerson E, Strauss E, Egol KA. The evolution of locked plates. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2006; 88 (Suppl 4): 189-200.
- 33. Lill H, Hepp P, Korner J, Kassi JP, verheyden AP, Josten C, et al. Proximal humeral fractures: how stiff should an implant be? A comparative mechanical study with new implants in human specimens. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2003;123: 74-81.

CUT OFF VALUE OF GOOD PRONOSTIC FACTOR OUTCOMES IN LARGE TERRITORY ISCHEMIC STROKE UNDERGOING EARLY DECOMPRES-SIVE CRANIECTOMY

Panu Boontoterm*, Siraruj Sakoolnamarka**, Pusit Feungfoo**, Chesda Udommongkol***

*Neurosurgery Unit, Department of Surgery and Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Department of Medicine, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand **Department of Surgery, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Phayathai, Bangkok, Thailand ***Neurology Unit, Department of Medicine, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Ratchawithi Road, Phayathai, Bangkok, Thailand

ABSTRACT

Background: Decompressive craniectomy (DC) significantly reduces mortality in large territory ischemic strokes that develop intractable cerebral edema. However, evidence for functional benefit remains sparse and contradictory.

Objective: This study aimed to assess cut-off value for predictor outcomes of early DC.

Methods: We conducted a prospective, observational cohort study from December 2016 to June 2021. Patients were screened for ischemic stroke involving the middle cerebral, internal carotid artery or both using the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale score. All patients underwent DC. Multivariate analysis was performed for an array of clinical variables in relation to functional outcomes according to the modified Rankin Scale (mRS) and Pearson's correlation coefficient analysis. Clinical outcome was assessed after 3- and 6-month follow-up.

Results: In total, 243 patients were included in this study. Age \leq 71 years (AUC=0.955, p <0.001 accuracy 89.7%), onset to DC \leq 9 hours (AUC=0.824, p <0.001 accuracy 78.8%), volume of infarction \leq 155 cm³ (AUC=0.939, p <0.001 accuracy 93.6%) and the Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score or ASPECT score \geq 6 (AUC = 1, p <0.001 accuracy 100%) were significantly associated with good clinical outcomes in early DC (mRS 0 to 3).

Conclusion: Among patients with large territory ischemic strokes undergoing early DC, age \leq 71 years, onset to DC \leq 9 hours, volume of infarction \leq 155 cm³ and ASPECT score \geq 6 was significantly associated with good clinical outcomes. All prognostic factors in early DC correlated well with functional outcomes at 6 months which could be used to predict outcome, and consider clinical indications and informed post-

operative complications among patients with large territory ischemic stroke.

Keywords: Intractable cerebral edema, Large-territory ischemic strokes, Decompressive craniectomy, Modified Rankin Scale, Outcome predictor

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6:e0102 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.102

Correspondence to:

Boontoterm P, Neurosurgery Unit, Department of Surgery and Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Department of Medicine, Phramongkutklao Hospital, 315 Ratchawithi Road, Phayathai, Bangkok, Thailand 10400 Email: sapiens panu@hotmail.com

Received: 15 October 2021 Revised: 19 January 2022 Accepted: 27 January 2022

Introduction

Patients presenting large-territory ischemic strokes may develop intractable cerebral edema putting them at risk of herniation and death. Patients may have severe neurological deficits, with hemiplegia, head and gaze deviation towards the side of the infarction and deterioration of consciousness. Brain edema may subsequently be associated with transtentorial brain herniation and death. In a number of clinical trials survival rates of 67 to 84% have been reported among patients with malignant middle cerebral artery (MCA) infarction treated with decompressive craniectomy (DC) compared with 20 to 30% among conservatively treated patients. Related described series have observed fatality rates of about 80%, and most survivors were left severely disabled.^(1,2) Unfortunately, medical management for malignant MCA infarction is generally ineffective, necessitating a surgical approach for its relief.⁽³⁾ A pooled analysis of individual patient data of the three randomized controlled trials showed that surgical decompression reduced the risk of death or disability, defined as modified Rankin Score (mRS) $\geq 3.^{(4)}$ Although DC was shown to significantly reduce mortality among patients compared with medical therapy alone, concern has been expressed that life is preserved at the potentially unacceptable cost of marked functional disability.⁽⁵⁾

Large territory ischemic stroke refers to a cerebral infarction involving more than one half to two thirds of MCA territory.^(7,8) Among large territory ischemic stroke cases, those with early clinical deterioration or involvement of complete MCA territory were frequently tagged as malignant large infarction (MLI).⁽⁹⁾ DC for MLI was scarcely performed before 2000 mainly because it might just increase survival with overwhelming neurological impairment and handicap. However, increased interest in DC has been shown since the early 21st century as a result of mortality reduction as well as a chance of outcome improvement.⁽¹⁰⁻¹⁶⁾ Although various prognostic factors affecting the outcome after DC have been identified, the strength of association has not been well-established. Most published data has been obtained from western populations where

long-term stroke rehabilitation facilities exist and stroke units are well-established.

Another crucial factor for DC in MLI is timing of surgery, performed within 24 to 48 hours that presents a benefit associated with early DC. Early DC markedly reduced mortality and the volume of infarcted brain tissue. This study aimed to assess cut off value of good prognostic factor outcomes in large territory ischemic strokes undergoing early DC.

Methods

A prospective, observational cohort study was conducted between December 2016 and June 2021 at the Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Phramongkutklao Hospital. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board, Royal Thai Army Medical Department (approval no. R102h/59). Research followed Council for International Organization of Medical Science Guidelines 2012 and Good Clinical Practice of International Conference on Harmonization statement no. IRBRTA 1731/2559.

The sample size estimation revealed at least 243 patients were required for this study. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients. Patients with life-threatening malignant MCA infarction indicated to undergo DC on the basis of clinical assessment using National Institute of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS), Glasgow coma scale (GCS) and neuroimaging using computed tomography (CT) were prospectively enrolled. Patients who died within 24 hours of presentation, those with dilated and fixed pupils at presentation, GCS <6, mRS \geq 3 before the current stroke and known metabolic cause for altered sensorium were excluded to reduce the risk of bias.

The diagnosis of stroke was clinically established and confirmed by neuroimaging [noncontrast CT head]. Details of demographics including age, sex, address, contact number, body mass index (BMI, kg/m²), detailed history of event, presenting symptoms and signs, risk factors for stroke, blood pressure, GCS and NIHSS score, laboratory parameters, imaging findings (type of stroke, arterial territory involved, the Alberta Stroke Program Early CT Score (ASPECT score), volume of infarction (cm³) and midline shift), onset to DC (hour), intracranial pressure (ICP) at operative field and postoperative events such as surgical site infection and hydrocephalus were noted. The Western Aphasia Battery was used to record the severity of aphasia. Aphasia quotient was calculated by kerrtesz formula; a score \leq 93.8 was taken as cut-off for defining aphasia.⁽⁶⁾ DC in our patients consisted of creating a large fronto-parieto-temporal free bone flap (at least 12 cm) and duraplasty. No intervention on brain tissue was performed. Details of DC including time of onset of symptoms to DC, duration of surgery, blood loss, postoperative complications and intensive care unit (ICU) stay were recorded. Course of hospital stay including stroke recurrence, death and status at discharge was noted. Clinical status at the time of discharge was measured using GCS, Glasgow Coma Outcome Scale (GCOS), NIHSS, modified Barthel Index and mRS score. Outcome on follow-up was assessed using mRS during Out-patient Department visits in the stroke clinic at 3 and 6 months. Aphasia, using the Western Aphasia Battery, was tested on follow-up visits at the Stroke Clinic. The mRS of ≤ 3 was taken as a good outcome. We also analyzed the results using mRS of ≤ 3 as a good outcome.

Participants

A total of 243 patients admitted in the Medical Stroke Unit and Surgical ICU, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand from December 2016 to June 2021 was monitored for invasive arterial blood pressure, peripheral O₂ saturation, and electrocardiogram. All patients were measured for oxygenation, arterial blood pressure and glucose. The inclusion criteria were age >18 years, diagnosis of large territory ischemic stroke involving ≥two thirds of the MCA territory on cranial CT or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) within 48 hours after symptoms onset (the score of NIHSS item 1a reflecting consciousness needed to be ≥ 1), DC was operated within 48 hours of onset. The exclusion criteria were large volume hemorrhagic transformation, malignant herniation, severe coagulopathy, severe infection, patient refusal of treatment, patients who died within 24 hours of presentation, dilated and fixed pupils at presentation, GCS < 6, mRS \geq 3 before the current stroke and known metabolic cause for altered sensorium.

Standard medical therapy

All patients were admitted to a Stroke Unit or ICU, Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery. The patient's head was kept elevated at 30°. All patients were kept in a mild fluid restriction state with 1800 mL of daily fluid in the first week. Intravenous antihypertensive agents were administered when blood pressure was higher than 220/120 mmHg. Body temperature was kept below 38°C and blood glucose level was maintained <180 mg/dL. Endotracheal intubation was performed to maintain adequate tissue oxygenation among patients with clinical deterioration or signs of respiratory insufficiency. Hyperventilation was used only in an emergency with the target level of PaCO₂ of 30 to 35 mmHg. Osmotherapy with mannitol or glycerol launched when evidence of mass effect was observed. Mannitol was administered at the dosage of 0.25 to 0.5 g/kg body weight bolus. During osmotherapy, blood osmolarity was maintained at approximately 300 to 320 mOsm/L. Oxygenation, blood pressure and glucose level was sustained at appropriate levels. Early enteral nutrition was provided. Pneumonia and deep venous thrombosis were monitored and well treated.

Surgical treatment

Early DC was carried out within 48 hours of onset. This consisted of a craniectomy with dimensions of at least 12 cm in the anteroposterior and 10 cm in the superoinferior direction which was sufficiently large to match the infarcted area. Additional temporal bone removal was performed so that the floor of the middle cerebral fossa could be fully explored and decompressed. The dura was opened and an augmented patch was inserted to further relieve the high intracranial pressure. Those surgical survivors received a secondary operation of cranioplasty three months after DC.

Outcome assessment

Outcome was assessed with mRS at 3 and 6 months follow-up and was first dichotomized as good (mRS 0 to 3) and poor (mRS 4 to 6) to compare and contrast survivors' functional outcome in early DC.

Hemodynamic monitoring

Radial arterial and central venous catheters were linked to a bedside monitor on one side and to a specific transducer (Philips Intellivue Philips MX600, USA) for blood pressure and central venous pressure monitoring. When patients had unstable hemodynamic values of cardiac output and stroke volume were estimated using pulse contour analysis (EV1000 clinical platform, Edwards advanced hemodynamic monitoring tools for an integrated Edwards Critical Care System, USA).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS, Version 23.0. The primary outcome was the cut off value of good prognostic factors in large territory ischemic stroke undergoing early DC while the secondary outcome was clinical variables in relationship to functional outcomes according to mRS. Results were expressed as mean \pm SD when data were normally distributed or median and interquartile range (IQR) if not. A p-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Multivariate analysis was performed using an array of the cut off values in relationship to functional outcomes according to the mRS and Pearson's correlation coefficient analysis. Clinical outcomes were assessed at 3and 6-month follow-up. For the cut off value of good prognostic factor, the Area Under the Curve (AUC) or Receiver Operating Characteristics (ROC) curve were used representing the degree or separable measurement, then a graphic plot was drawn to illustrate the diagnostic ability of a binary classifier system as its discrimination threshold varied in these predictive factors. The higher the AUC, the better the model was at distinguishing between patients presenting good and poor outcomes. The value of AUC near 1



Figure 1. Flow chart of patient enrollment and analysis

showed a good separable measurement while AUC near 0 showed the worst separable measurement.

Results

Patients' characteristics

During the study period, 243 patients with large territory ischemic stroke undergoing early DC were included in data analysis. Most patients were male (80.7%) with average age of 65 years. The most frequent coexisting disease was hypertension (88%). Of these, 153 (63%) patients had left territory stroke while 90 (37%) patients had right territory stroke. Among these, mean range of NIHSS was 21 and GCS at the time of admission was 9 (9.5 \pm 3). Mean onset to DC from time of onset of symptoms was 10 hours (10.41 \pm 5.96). Mean ICP at the operative field was 19 mmHg (19.32 \pm 8.6). Mean volume of infarction was 135 cm3 (135.19 \pm 51.1), and mean ASPECT score was 5 (5.77 \pm 2.41). Six patients (2.5%) had postoperative surgical site infections while 23 (9.5%) patients revealed postoperative hydrocephalus (Table 1). Outcome was assessed using GCOS, NIHSS, Modified Barthel Index at 3- and 6-month follow-up as shown in **Table 2**.

Table 1. Demographic data of 243 patients with large territory ischemic strokes undergoing early DC

Variables	N = 243
Male, n (%)	196 (80.7%)
Age (yr)	64.82 ± 14.81
Body mass index, BMI (kg/m ²)	29.14 ± 6.2
Diabetes mellitus	186 (76.5%)
Hypertension	214 (88.1%)
Tobacco use	126 (51.9%)
Old cerebrovascular accident	87 (35.8%)
History of ipsilateral TIA	22 (9.1%)
Hypercholesteralemia	167 (68.7%)
History of angina pectoris	87 (35.8%)
Coronary artery disease	116 (47.7%)
Atrial fibrillation	116 (47.7%)
Peripheral arterial occlusive disease	48 (19.8%)
Position of large-territory infarction	
left	153 (63%)
Right	90 (37%)
bilateral	0 (0%)
Onset to DC (hr)	10.41 ± 5.96
GCS at admission	9.5 ± 3
NIHSS at admission	21.44 ± 9.64
ICP at operative field	19.32 ± 8.6
Volume of infarction(cm ³⁾	135.19 ± 51.1
ASPECT score	5.77 ± 2.41
Post-operative surgical site infection	6 (2.5%)
Post-operative hydrocephalus	23 (9.5%)

Value presented as mean \pm SD

Variables	Baseline	3 Month	6 Month
GCOS			
Death	7 (2.9%)	7 (2.9%)	7 (2.9%)
Persistent vegetative state	90 (37%)	52 (21.4%)	52 (21.4%)
Severe disability	85 (35%)	54 (22.2%)	54 (22.2%)
Moderate disability	61 (25.1%)	110 (45.3%)	13 (5.3%)
Good recovery	0	20 (8.2%)	117 (48.1%)
NIHSS	21.95 ± 8.89	19.51 ± 9.46	18.47 ± 9.58
Modified Barthel Index	20 (0, 60)	61 (20, 90)	90 (30, 95)
No symptoms	0	0	0
No significant disability	0	0	0
Slight disability	0	60 (24.7%)	113 (46.5%)
Moderate disability	4 (1.6%)	68 (28%)	16 (6.6%)
Moderate to severe disability	85 (35%)	4 (1.6%)	1 (0.4%)
Severe disability	147 (60.5%)	104 (42.8%)	94 (38.7%)
Death	7 (2.9%)	7 (2.9%)	19 (7.8%)

Table 2. Outcome was assessed with GCOS, NIHSS, Modified Barthel Index at 3- and 6-month follow-up in early DC

Values presented as frequency (%), interquartile range (IQR) and mean \pm SD

Table 3. Correlation between postoperative hydrocephalus and clinical outcome (mRS 0 to 3) at 6-month follow-up in early DC

	Good outcome (n=156)	Poor outcome (n=87)	p-value
Hydrocephalus	12 (9.6%)	11 (9.3%)	0.941
No Hydrocephalus	113 (90.4%)	107 (90.7%)	

Values presented as frequency (%), *p-value* corresponds to Pearson's correlation or chi-square test

Clinical outcomes

Correlation between postoperative hydrocephalus and clinical outcome (mRS 0 to 3) at 6-month follow-up showed no significant differences between good and poor outcomes. Postoperative hydrocephalus did not affect clinical outcomes (**Table 3**).

Cut off value for good clinical outcomes in early DC (mRS 0 to 3) (Figure 2)

This study showed that age \leq 71 year was significantly associated with good clinical outcome in early DC (mRS 0 to 3) (AUC = 0.955, *p* <0.001 accuracy 89.7%) (**Figure 2A**). Onset to DC \leq 9 hours was also significantly associated with good clinical outcome in early DC (mRS 0

to 3) (AUC = 0.824, p < 0.001 accuracy 78.8% (Figure 2B). Volume of infarction ≤ 155 cm³ was significantly associated with good clinical outcome in early DC (mRS 0 to 3) AUC = 0.939, p < 0.001 accuracy 93.6%. (Figure 2C). Additionally, ASPECT score ≥ 6 was significantly associated with good clinical outcome in early DC (mRS 0 to 3) (AUC = 1, p < 0.001 accuracy 100%) (Figure 2D).

Discussion

In this study, management of patients with large territory ischemic stroke remained a challenge. DC could relieve the mass effect resulting from infarcted brain tissue, preventing brain herniation and death. Postoperative hydrocephalus did not

Figure 2. Cut off value for good clinical outcome in early DC (mRS 0 to 3)



Figure 2A. Age cut off value for good clinical outcome in early DC (mRS 0 to 3)

Figure 2B. Onset to DC (hr) cut off value for good clinical outcome in early DC (mRS 0 to 3) (set accuracy more than 70%)

Figure 2C. Volume of infarction (cm³) cut off value for good clinical outcome in early DC (mRS 0 to 3) **Figure 2D.** ASPECT score cut off value for good clinical outcome in early DC (mRS 0 to 3)

Table 4. Multivariate analysis cut off value in relationship to functional outcome at 6-month follow-up (mRS 0 to 6)

	Beta coefficient	Standard Error (95%CI)	p-value
(Constant)	1.425	0.265	< 0.001*
Onset to DC (hr) \leq 9 hrs	-0.068	0.13	0.6
ASPECT score ≥ 6	3.766	0.236	< 0.001*
Volume of infarction $\leq 155 \text{ cm}^3$	0.718	0.198	< 0.001*
$Age \le 71 \text{ yrs}$	0.274	0.159	0.086

Value presented as mean \pm SD or n (%), *p*-value corresponds to Pearson's correlation. Multivariate analyses were performed for an array of clinical variables in relation to functional outcome at 6-month follow-up. Linear regression was performed for an array of clinical variables in relation to functional outcomes.

affect clinical outcome. Age \leq 71 years, onset to DC ≤ 9 hours, volume of infarction ≤ 155 cm³ and ASPECT score ≥ 6 were significantly associated with good clinical outcome in early DC (mRS 0 to 3). Three randomized controlled trials; HAMLET⁽¹⁷⁾ DECIMAL⁽¹⁴⁾ and DESTINY⁽¹²⁾ compared decompressive surgery plus medical treatment with medical treatment alone among patients with large territory ischemic stroke. The present study showed similar mortality benefits and better functional outcomes (mRS \leq 3) at the end of one year when compared with those studies mentioned earlier. Inclusion of patients with less severe stroke to the study when compared with related studies could have resulted in better functional outcomes. A recent Cochrane review concluded that surgical decompression lowered the risk of death or severe disability (defined as mRS \geq 4) in selected patients at 60 years or younger with a large territory ischemic stroke and cerebral edema. (18) This meta-analysis involving 134 patients, 60 years or younger suggested that surgical decompression reduced the risk of death at the end of follow-up (OR = 0.19, 95% CI = 0.09-0.37) and the risk of death or disability defined as mRS \geq 4 at 12 months (OR = 0.26, 95% CI = 0.13-0.51). Death or disability defined as mRS >3 at the end of follow-up did not differ between the treatment arms (OR = 0.56, 95% CI = 0.27-1.15). Because all trials had to stop early, the possibility of an overestimation of the effect size was expressed. A review of 13 uncontrolled studies of 138 patients, older than 50 years constituted a strong predictor of poor functional outcome after surgical decompression. However, timing of the operation, side of the infarction and involvement of other vascular territories did not affect the outcome.⁽¹⁹⁾ In one recent uncontrolled study, only 6 (8%) of 72 patients older than 60 years had a favorable outcome after surgery when compared with 77 (54%) of 143 younger patients.(20)

In this study, we used high accuracy for each cut off value of prognostic factors affecting good outcome in early DC and also calculated the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, accuracy. Then, the AUC or ROC was plotted representing the degree or

separable measurement. Our results showed that age ≤ 71 years was a cut off value as a predictor of surgery outcome. The impact of age on outcome has not been well studied in malignant MCA infarction. Poor functional outcome and increased mortality were observed among older patients undergoing hemicraniectomy.⁽²¹⁻²⁴⁾ Moreover, the potential for recovery of function after stroke generally declines steeply after the age of 60 years. ⁽²⁵⁾ Foerch et al. reported that age was the only factor affecting functional outcomes.⁽²⁶⁾ Walz et al. agreed that the outcome was related to age.⁽²³⁾ Uhl et al. evaluated 188 patients undergoing decompressive craniectomy and found that those older than 50 years had higher mortality and poorer outcomes.⁽²⁷⁾ Age was the most important pretreatment prognostic factor. Thus, age could be the most important factor in deciding which patients should undergo DC.

Timing of surgery could be another crucial factor for DC among patients with malignant MCA infarction. Animal and clinical studies have provided evidence that a benefit was associated with early DC. In a rat MCA occlusion model, early DC markedly reduced mortality and reduced the volume of infarcted brain tissue.⁽²⁸⁾ Schwab et al. found that decompression within 24 hours of ictus (early DC) was associated with a lower mortality rate (16%) and a mean Modified Barthel Index (BI) score of 68.8.⁽²⁹⁾ In their series, 26 of 31 (84%) patients had a BI \geq 60. Similar results were also reported in a related study.⁽³⁰⁾ Decompression within 6 hours of ictus was associated with a 8.3% mortality rate and a mean modified BI score of 70.0, compared with a 36.7% mortality rate. Further, a mean BI score of 52.8 was reported among patients in whom decompression was carried out after 6 hours of ictus. Our study as well as others showed that onset to DC \leq 9 hours was significantly associated with good clinical outcomes in early DC.

Although some studies have found that clinical signs of herniation were not associated with functional outcome among patients with malignant MCA infarction undergoing hemicraniectomy,^(26, 28) anisocoria indicating herniation leads to mesencephalic ischemia and links to a worse prognosis. Better outcomes can be expected from early treatment before the clinical signs of herniation appear. In our study, poor functional outcome was associated with the presence of clinical signs of herniation before treatment. Thus, we excluded patients who had signs of herniation from the study. Our suggestion for DC was to be performed within 6 hours of ictus, and before the clinical signs of herniation appeared among patients with malignant MCA infarction. This means that time of operation rather than early operation was likely more important to obtain a better outcome. Theoretically, when strong evidence supports the very high risk of subsequent clinical deterioration, early surgery before clinical worsening would be the ideal surgical timing. Several clinical studies have shown several promising parameters in the early prediction of malignant MCA infarction, i.e., lesion volume >145 cm³ in diffusion weighted imaging of MRI and a complete MCA territory perfusion deficit shown on MR angiography. (31, 32) In this study, we found that volume of infarction ≤155 cm³ was significantly associated with good clinical outcomes in early DC. Involvement of more than one vascular territory (internal carotid artery infarction) and hemispheric infarction of the dominant hemisphere are often cited as prognostic indicators of poor function outcome and contraindications to decompression. In this study, ASPECT score ≥ 6 was significantly associated with good clinical outcome in early DC (mRS 0 to 3).

This study encountered several limitations. First, outcome assessment at 3 and 6 months might be insufficient to understand the true benefit of early DC that constituted a lifesaving surgery. At least one year follow-up is recommended to assess functional benefits. Second, the study was conducted at a single center. Finally, many patients undergoing early DC were excluded from the study.

Availability of data and materials:

The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Conflict of interests:

No potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Mrs Dollapas Panpanich for her assistance working on data analysis and also extend our appreciation to the staff of the Stroke Unit, Surgical and Medical ICU, Phramongkutklao Hospital for their help and offering resources for the study.

References

- Berrouschot J, Sterker M, Bettin S, Köster J, Schneider D. Mortality of space-occupying ('malignant') middle cerebral artery infarction under conservative intensive care. Intensive Care Med 1998; 24: 620-3.
- Hacke W, Schwab S, Horn M, Spranger M, De Georgia M, von Kummer R. 'Malignant' middle cerebral artery territory infarction: Clinical course and prognostic signs. Arch Neurol 1996; 53: 309-15.
- Hofmeijer J, van der Worp HB, Kappelle LJ. Treatment of space-occupying cerebral infarction. Crit Care Med 2003; 31: 617-25.
- 4. Vahedi K, Hofmeijer J, Juettler E, Vicaut E, George B, Algra A, et al.Early decompressive surgery in malignant infarction of the middle cerebral artery: A pooled analysis of three randomised controlled trials. Lancet Neurol 2007; 6: 215-22.
- Puetz V, Campos CR, Eliasziw M, Hill MD, Demchuk AM, Calgary Stroke Program. Assessing the benefits of hemicraniectomy: What is a favourable outcome? Lancet Neurol 2007; 6: 580.
- 6. Kerrtesz A. Western Aphasia Battery. New York: Grune and Stratton;1982.
- Heinsius T, Bogousslavsky J, Van Melle G. Large infarcts in the middle cerebral artery territory. Etiology and outcome patterns. Neurology1998; 50: 341-50.
- Krieger DW, Demchuk AM, Kasner SE, Jauss M, Hantson L. Early clinical and radiological predictors of fatal brain swelling in ischemic stroke. Stroke 1999; 30: 287-92.

- Hacke W, Schwab S, Horn M, Spranger M, De Georgia M, von Kummer R.'Malignant' middle cerebral artery territory infarction: Clinical course and prognostic signs. Arch Neurol 1996; 53: 309-15.
- Koh MS, Goh KY, Tung MY, Chan C. Is decompressive craniectomy for acute cerebral infarction of any benefit? Surg Neurol 2000; 53: 225-30.
- 11. Mori K, Nakao Y, Yamamoto T, Maeda M. Early external decompressive craniectomy with duroplasty improves functional recovery in patients with massive hemispheric embolic infarction: Timing and indication of decompressive surgery for malignant cerebral infarction. Surg Neurol 2004; 62: 420-29.
- Juttler E, Schwab S, Schmiedek P, Unterberg A, Hennerici M, Woitzik J, et al. Decompressive surgery for the treatment of malignant infarction of the middle cerebral artery (destiny): A randomized, controlled trial. Stroke 2007; 38: 2518-25.
- 13. Vahedi K, Hofmeijer J, Juettler E, Vicaut E, George B, Algra A, et al. Early decompressive surgery in malignant infarction of the middle cerebral artery: A pooled analysis of three randomised controlled trials. Lancet Neurol 2007; 6: 215-22.
- 14. Vahedi K, Vicaut E, Mateo J, Kurtz A, Orabi M, Guichard JP, et al. Sequentialdesign, multicenter, randomized, controlled trial of early decompressive craniectomy in malignant middle cerebral artery infarction (decimal trial).Stroke 2007; 38: 2506-17.
- 15. Rahmanian A, Seifzadeh B, Razmkon A, Petramfar P, Kivelev J, Alibai EA, et al. Outcome of decompressive craniectomy in comparison to nonsurgical treatment in patients with malignant mca infarction. Springerplus 2014; 3: 115.
- 16. van Middelaar T, Nederkoorn P, van der Worp HB, Stam J, Richard E. Quality of life after surgical decompression for space-occupying middle cerebral artery infarction: Systematic review. Int J Stroke 2015; 10: 170-76.
- Hofmeijer J, Kappelle LJ, Algra A, Amelink GJ, van Gijn J, vander Worp HB, et al. Surgical decompression for space-occupying

cerebral infarction (the Hemicraniectomy After Middle Cerebral Artery infarction with Life-threatening Edema Trial [HAMLET]): A multicentre, open, randomised trial. Lancet Neurol 2009; 8: 326-33.

- Cruz-Flores S, Berge E, Whittle IR. Surgical decompression for cerebral oedema in acute ischaemic stroke. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012; 1: CD003435.
- 19. Gupta R, Connolly ES, Mayer S, Elkind MS. Hemicraniectomy for massive middle cerebral artery territory infarction: A systematic review. Stroke 2004; 35: 539-43.
- 20. Arac A, Blanchard V, Lee M, Steinberg GK. Assessment of outcome following decompressive craniectomy for malignant middle cerebral artery infarction in patients older than 60 years of age. Neurosurg Focus 2009; 26: E3.
- 21. Carter BS, Ogilvy CS, Candia GJ, Rosas HD, Buonanno F. One-year outcome after decompressive surgery for massive nondominant hemispheric infarction. Neurosurgery 1997; 40: 1168-76.
- 22. Holtkamp M, Buchheim K, Unterberg A, Hoffmann O, Schielke E, Weber JR, et al. Hemicraniectomy in elderly patients with space occupying media infarction: improved survival but poor functional outcome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2001; 70: 226-8.
- Walz B, Zimmemann C, Bottger S, Haberl RL. Prognosis of patients after hemicraniectomy in malignant middle cerebral artery infarction. J Neurol 2002; 249: 1183-90.
- 24. Koh M, Goh K, Tung MYY, Chan C. Is decompressive craniectomy for acute cerebral infarction of any benefit? Surg Neurol 2000; 53: 225-30.
- Nakayama H, Jorgensen HS, Raaschou HO, Olsen TS. The influence of age on stroke outcome. The Copenhagen Stroke Study. Stroke 1994; 25: 808-13.
- 26. Foerch C, Lang JM, Jochen K, Raabe A, Sitzer M, Seifert V, et al. Functional impairment, disability, and quality of life outcome after decompressive hemicraniectomy in malignant middle cerebral artery infarction. J Neurosurg 2004; 101: 248-54.

- 27. Uhl E, Kreth FW, Elias B, Goldammer A, Hempelmann RG, Liefner M, et al. Outcome and prognostic factors of hemicraniectomy for space occupying cerebral infarction. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2004; 75: 270-4.
- 28. Forsting M, Reith W, Schabitz WR, Heiland S, Kummer R, Hacke W, et al. Decompressive craniectomy for cerebral infarction: an experimental study in rats. Stroke 1995; 26: 259-64.
- 29. Schwab S, Steiner T, Aschoff A, Schwarz S, Steiner HH, Jansen O, et al. Early hemicraniectomy in patients with complete middle cerebral artery infarction. Stroke 1998; 29: 1888–93.

- Cho DY, Chen TC, Lee HC. Ultra-early decompressive craniectomy for malignant middle cerebral artery infarction. Surg Neurol 2003; 60: 227-32.
- 31. Barber PA, Davis SM, Darby DG, Desmond PM, Gerraty RP, Yang Q, et al. Absent middle cerebral artery flow predicts the presence and evolution of the ischemic penumbra. Neurology 1999; 52: 1125-32.
- 32. Oppenheim C, Samson Y, Manai R, Lalam T, Vandamme X, Crozier S, et al. Prediction of malignant middle cerebral artery infarction by diffusion weighted imaging. Stroke 2000; 31: 2175-81.
ZERO-PROFILE DEVICE IMPLANTATION IN ANTERIOR CERVICAL DIS-CECTOMY AND FUSION: A SINGLE INSTITUTE EXPERIENCE

Nattawut Niljianskul

Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine Vajira Hospital, Navamindradhiraj University, Dusit, Bangkok 10300, Thailand

Abstract

Background: A surgical procedure, anterior cervical discectomy and fusion (ACDF), is used for neural decompression in degenerative cervical disk disease and cervical spondylosis. A new type of cervical interbody cage, the Zero-profile device (ZPD), has been developed which could reduce postoperative complications among patients.

Objectives: The study aimed to examine the effect of ZPD on clinical outcomes and cervical spine alignment of enrolled patients at 1-year follow-up in the management of ADCF.

Methods: This study retrospectively evaluated the clinical and radiographic outcomes using the Zero-profile device (ZPD) in the anterior cervical discectomy and fusion (ACDF). All patients who underwent ACDF at Vajira Hospital between May 2017 and June 2021 were included in this study. Radiographic images obtained from picture archiving and communication systems (PACS) were used to evaluate the device-level Cobb angle (DLCA), segmental Cobb angle (SCA), global Cobb angle (GCA), sagittal vertical axis (SVA), and intervertebral disk height. The Japanese Orthopaedic Association (JOA) scores and visual analog scale (VAS) were obtained from the patients' medical records. The preoperative DLCA, SCA, GCA, SVA, and intervertebral disk height measurements were compared with the postoperative measurements at 1 year.

Results: A total of 31 patients (45 disks) who underwent ACDF with the ZPD were included in this study. A significant improvement was found in JOA, VAS, DLCA, SCA, GCA, SVA, and intervertebral disk height after ACDF with ZPD (p<0.001). Immediate postoperative dysphagia occurred in two patients (6.5%), which resolved after 3 months. No subsidence was reported at 1-year follow-up. Age, BMI as well as the preoperative cervical alignment did not affect outcomes in this study.

Conclusion: The use of the ZPD in ACDF improved clinical and radiographic outcomes in the correction of cervical spine alignment, and minimized postoperative complications of dysphagia. No device-related failure occurred, and favorable outcomes persisted at 1-year follow-up.

Keywords: Alignment, Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion, Zero-profile device

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022; 6: e0104 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.104

Correspondence to:

Niljianskul N, Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine Vajira Hospital, Navamindradhiraj University, Dusit, Bangkok 10300, Thailand E-mail: nattawut@nmu.ac.th

Received: 1 September 2021 Revised: 22 November 2021 Accepted: 3 December 2021

Introduction

Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion (ACDF) is a surgical procedure for neural decompression in degenerative cervical disk disease and cervical spondylosis and is performed using an anterior approach. After the discectomy, the surgeon inserts an autologous bone graft or traditional interbody cage and plate structure to restore the height of the intervertebral space, reconstructs the cervical spine curvature and maintains cervical spine stability. Reported complications of this procedure include dysphagia, odynophagia and hoarseness. Further, cage subsidence can lead to implant failure or adjacent segment pathology. A new type of cervical interbody cage, the Zero-profile device (ZPD), has been developed. The ZPD comprises an interbody polyetheretherketone (PEEK) cage and an internal implant with locking screws. The characteristics of PEEK are well suited to ACDF because it has elastic properties that closely match cortical bone.⁽¹⁾ The ZPD cervical interbody cage is held with screws inserted into the adjacent vertebral bodies, fixing the implant in the intervertebral disc space after discectomy. No cervical plate is attached between the anterior surface of the vertebral body and esophagus or any prevertebral soft tissue with the ZPD, which may lead to a reduction in postoperative dysphagia.⁽²⁾

Furthermore, the shape of the ZPD is lordotic and is similar to the normal anatomical alignment of the cervical spine. Many studies have indicated that cervical kyphosis alone without cord compression increases longitudinal cord tension and intramedullary pressure. This has been shown to cause neuronal loss and demyelination in animal models.^(3, 4) The loss of lordosis and the development of kyphosis can cause neurological deterioration and should be avoided.⁽⁵⁾ Koeppen et al. reported a study of 102 patients with cervical spondylosis myelopathy involving 219 fused levels with a traditional lordotic PEEK cage. They demonstrated that kyphosis was associated with pre- and postoperative neck pain.⁽⁶⁾ The hypothesis of this study constituted whether the ZPD may improve cervical sagittal alignment. Thus, this study aimed to examine the

effect of the ZPD on clinical outcomes and cervical spine alignment of enrolled patients at 1-year follow-up in the management of ADCF.

Methods

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Vajira Hospital (045/64). All patients who undergoing ACDF at the Neurosurgical Department of Vajira Hospital between May 2017 and June 2021 were enrolled. The indications for ACDF were cervical spine injuries, cervical spondylosis, cervical spondylodiscitis, and ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament of the cervical spine. Patients with no record of the cage type in the operation notes, with no pre- or postoperative imaging, or incomplete follow-up data were excluded. A total of 31 patients undergoing ACDF with the ZPD implantation in 45 disk levels were included in this study.

The pre-operative visual analog scale (VAS) for neck pain and Japanese Orthopaedic Association (JOA) score were assessed, and a cervical spine X-ray and spine MRI were performed. General anesthesia was performed without neuromuscular blockers or agents that affected neuromuscular monitoring. Intra-operative neuromuscular monitoring was performed to evaluate somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs) and transcranial motor-evoked potentials (tcMEP). Electromyography (EMG) was also performed. A train of four twitches was used at the common peroneal nerve, and a response rate \geq 75% was required before recording the EMG.

Among all patients, surgery was performed by an anterior cervical approach using the Smith-Robinson technique. The surgeons comprised two experienced spinal neurosurgeons with more than five years' experience and a cervical retractor was applied for distraction. Discectomy, removal of osteophytes with a high speed drill and Kerrison rongeurs and opening of the posterior longitudinal ligament was performed in all cases under a microscope. After preparation of the fusion bed, interbody fusion was performed with the ZPD. All the ZPDs, filled with bone graft substitute, were 17 mm wide, 14 mm long, and exhibited a 7°lordotic taper. Multiple implant heights accommodated the varied patient anatomy. Robust implants with 3 screws, 4 mm in diameter, were inserted using a freehand technique. The angled instruments were designed to work perpendicular to the spine. The correct screw angle and trajectory were automatically achieved when the screwdrivers were seated properly within the screw hole. The length of the screws was measured from the anterior portion of the implant to the total distance reached posteriorly. The trajectory of the screws was at about a 40-degree angle to the superior and inferior surfaces of the ZPD. A soft collar was applied for six weeks after surgery among all patients.

Postoperative evaluation and radiographic outcomes

All patients underwent a physical examination and radiography of the cervical spine at 1, 3, 6 and 12 months after surgery. The X-rays were reviewed, and the operator and another neurosurgeon measured the parameters using a single measurement before and after surgery at 12 months using picture archiving and communication systems (PACS) measurement features. The sagittal alignment was assessed using a device-level Cobb angle (DLCA) at each operative level, segmental Cobb angle (SCA), global Cobb angle (GCA) and C2 to 7 sagittal vertical axis (SVA). Pre- and postoperative imaging at one year were compared. DLCA was measured by drawing lines parallel to the inferior endplate of the upper operative vertebral level and the inferior endplate of the lower operative vertebral level. SCA was measured by drawing lines parallel to the inferior endplate of the uppermost operative vertebral level and the inferior endplate of the lowermost operative vertebral level. Perpendicular lines were then drawn from each of the above two lines, and the angle of intersection constituted the SCA (Figure 1). GCA was measured by drawing lines parallel to the inferior endplate of C2 and the inferior endplate of C7. Perpendicular lines were drawn from each of the lines, and the angle of intersection was the GCA (Figure 2). C2 to 7 SVA comprised the distance in mm measured between a plumb line dropped from the centroid of C2, and another plumb line dropped from the posterosuperior aspect of the C7 vertebral body (Figure 3). Pre- and postoperative (at one-year follow-up) ventral and reduced dorsal segmental height were measured and compared. A height reduction of more than 3 mm ventrally or dorsally was defined as subsidence.⁽⁷⁾ Fusion was primarily assessed using cervical X-rays and bridging trabecular bone between the endplates. The absence of a radiolucent gap between the endplate and graft was evidence for osseous union. When it remained unclear, flexion and extension cervical views showing <1 mm of motion between the spinous processes confirmed fusion. Operative time, blood loss, and complications were recorded. Dysphagia was evaluated according to the Bazaz grading system.⁽⁸⁾



Figure 1. Segmental Cobb angle (SCA) was measured by drawing lines parallel to the inferior endplate of the uppermost operative vertebral level and the inferior endplate of the lowermost operative vertebral level. Perpendicular lines were then drawn from each of the above two lines, and the angle of intersection constituted the SCA. Pre- and postoperative imaging at one year were compared.



Figure 2. GCA was measured by drawing lines parallel to the inferior endplate of C2 and the inferior endplate of C7. Perpendicular lines were drawn from each of the lines, and the angle of intersection comprised the GCA. Pre- and postoperative imaging at one year were compared.



Figure 3. C2 to 7 SVA is the distance in mm measured between a plumb line dropped from the center of C2, and another plumb line dropped from the posterosuperior aspect of the C7 vertebral body. Pre- and postoperative imaging at one year were compared.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences Software, Version 22 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The t-test was used to analyze continuous quantitative variables. Pre-and postoperative cervical parameters were compared by ANOVA and to calculate the p-value. A *p*-value <0.050 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Patient and treatment characteristics

In total, 31 patients were initially included, and 45 fused intervertebral discs were analyzed.

The demographic data of the patients are presented in **Table 1.** Of these, 17 males and 14 females had a median age of 57 (25 to 84) years. The most common indications for ACDF were spondylosis (64.5%) and trauma (32.3%). The preoperative curvature of the cervical spine was kyphosis among 12 patients (38.7%) and lordosis among 19 patients (61.3%). Most patients underwent single level ACDF (61.3%), and the most common fused level was C5/6 (67.7%). The mean operative time was 202 minutes, and the mean operative blood loss was 96 mL. No patients had pre-existing dysphagia or gastro-esophageal reflux disease before surgery. No postoperative neurological deficits, infections, or hematomas were observed. Immediate postoperative dysphagia occurred in two patients (6.5%), which resolved within three months. None of the patients presented postoperative dysphagia beyond three months. The two cases that had immediate postoperative dysphagia had been operated on at level C5/6 and C6/7 and had a BMI >27.5 kg/m2. No cage subsidence was found at one-year follow-up.

Table 1. Patient and treatment characteristic

Characteristic	Patients (n=31)
Sex	
Male	17 (54.8)
Female	14 (45.2)
Age, years	57 (26.0-84.0)
Diagnosis	
Trauma	10 (32.3)
Spondylosis	20 (64.5)
Infection	1 (3.2)
Curvature of cervical spine	
Lordosis	19 (61.3)
Kyphosis	12 (38.7)
Operation time (minutes)	202 (95.0-480.0)
Blood loss (milliliter)	96 (10.0-680.0)
Length of stay (day)	8 (3.0-25.0)
Fused level	
C3/4	6 (19.4)
C4/5	8 (25.8)
C5/6	21 (67.7)
C6/7	10 (32.3)
Number of fused level	
1	19 (61.3)
2	10 (32.3)
3	2 (6.5)
Post-operative complications	
Dysphagia	2 (6.5)
Hoarseness	2 (6.5)
None	27 (87.1)

Values are presented as number (%) or median (range)

Variable	Pre- operative	Post- operative	Change	<i>p</i> -value
VAS neck	5.8 (1.5)	0 (0.3)	5.7 (1.5)	< 0.001
JOA	3.7 (2.6)	8.8 (4.4)	5.1 (4.2)	< 0.001
DLCA, degree	12.6 (3.6)	15.1 (3.3)	2.5 (1.3)	< 0.001
SCA, degree	4.8 (3.4)	10.9 (4.8)	6.1 (4.3)	< 0.001
GCA, degree	11.8 (7.6)	18.1 (6.8)	6.3 (7.1)	< 0.001
C2-7 SVA, cm	1.8 (1.1)	2.7 (1.1)	0.9 (1.3)	< 0.001
Intervertebral disc height, cm	4.0 (1.4)	4.9 (1.7)	0.9 (0.7)	< 0.001

Table 2. Comparison of clinical and radiographic features

Values are presented as mean (SD)

VAS=Visual analogue scale for neck pain, JOA=the Japanese Orthopaedic Association score, DLCA=device level Cobb angle, SCA=segmental Cobb angle, GCA=global Cobb angle, SVA=sagittal vertical axis, cm=centimeter

Table 3. Subgroup analysis by change of pre-operative alignment

Variable	Initial lordo	osis	Initial kyph	osis	n valua
variable	Means (SD)	No.	Means (SD)	No.	<i>p</i> -value
Δ DLCA, degree	5.8 (4.1)	15	4.7 (4.1)	30	0.424
Δ SCA, degree	6.0 (4.3)	11	6.1 (4.3)	20	0.911
Δ GCA, degree	3.0 (5.8)	11	8.1 (7.3)	20	0.055
Δ C2-7 SVA, cm	2.6 (1.4)	11	0.8 (1.2)	20	0.430
Δ Intervertebral disc height, cm	0.9 (0.6)	11	1.0 (0.7)	20	0.637

Values are presented as mean (SD).

Abbreviations: Δ =change in, DLCA=device level Cobb angle, SCA=segmental Cobb angle, GCA=global Cobb angle, SVA=sagittal vertical axis, cm=centimeter

Comparison of clinical and radiographic features

The mean changes for patients undergoing ACDF with the ZPD were documented. The mean VAS for neck pain across the cohort was $5.8 (\pm 1.5)$ pre-operatively and 0 (± 0.3) postoperatively, improving by a mean of 5.7 (± 1.5), which was considered statistically significant. The mean JOA across the cohort was 12.6 (± 3.6) pre-operatively and 15.1 (± 3.3) postoperatively, improving by a statistically significant mean of 2.5 (± 1.3).

The mean parameters including DLCA, SGA GCA and SVA improved toward lordosis after surgery, which were considered statistically significant. The mean fused level intervertebral disk height was 4.0 (\pm 1.4 mm) pre-operatively and 4.9 (\pm 1.7 mm) at one-year follow-up, demonstrating a significant increase between pre-operative and postoperative measurements (Table 2).

Variable	Age ≤ 60	1	Age>60		n valua
Variable	Means (SD)	No.	Means (SD)	No.	<i>p</i> -value
Δ DLCA, degree	5.4 (4.6)	27	4.7 (3.7)	19	0.543
Δ SCA, degree	5.7 (4.5)	20	6.8 (3.8)	11	0.429
Δ GCA, degree	6.7 (8.1)	20	5.7 (8.1)	11	0.984
Δ C2-7 SVA, cm	0.7 (1.0)	20	1.1 (1.6)	11	0.598
Δ Intervertebral disc height, cm	0.9 (0.7)	20	1.0 (0.7)	11	0.329

Table 4. Subgroup analysis by change of age

Values are presented as mean (SD).

Abbreviations: ∆=change in, DLCA=device level Cobb angle, SCA=segmental Cobb angle, GCA=global Cobb angle, SVA=sagittal vertical axis, cm=centimeter

Table 5. Subgroup analysis by change BMI

Variable	BMI (< 27	BMI (< 27.5)		BMI (> 27.5)	
variable	Change	No.	Change	No.	<i>p</i> -value
Δ DLCA, degree	5.2 (4.2)	34	4.1 (3.6)	11	0.439
Δ SCA, degree	6.2 (4.4)	23	6.6 (3.8)	8	0.839
Δ GCA, degree	7.2 (6.4)	23	5.4 (5.5)	8	0.119
Δ C2-7 SVA, cm	1.0 (1.3)	23	0.8 (1.2)	8	0.718
Δ Intervertebral disc height, cm	0.9 (0.7)	23	1.1 (0.8)	8	0.390

Values are presented as mean (SD).

Abbreviations: ∆=change in, DLCA=device level Cobb angle, SCA=segmental Cobb angle, GCA=global Cobb angle, SVA=sagittal vertical axis, cm=centimeter

Table 6. Subgroup analysis by change of level of discectomy

Variable	1	1		More than 1	
variable	Change	No.	Change	No.	<i>p</i> -value
Δ DLCA, degree	4.6 (2.2)	19	3.2 (2.7)	26	0.391
Δ SCA, degree	5.7 (4.6)	19	6.6 (3.8)	12	0.429
Δ GCA, degree	6.9 (8.1)	19	5.4 (5.5)	12	0.984
Δ C2-7 SVA, cm	1.0 (1.3)	19	0.8 (1.2)	12	0.598
Δ Intervertebral disc height, cm	0.8 (0.6)	19	1.1 (0.8)	12	0.329

Values are presented as mean (SD).

Abbreviations: Δ =change in, DLCA=device level Cobb angle, SCA=segmental Cobb angle, GCA=global Cobb angle, SVA=sagittal vertical axis, cm=centimeter

The results were analyzed based on preoperative alignment in which 11 patients had cervical lordosis, and 20 had cervical kyphosis. In patients with any cervical alignment, the SA parameters were improved toward lordosis, but was not statistically significant (Table 3). In Table 4, the JOA score and the changes in DLCA, SCA, GCA, SVA, and fused level intervertebral disk height were compared between patients older than 60 years and those 60 years and younger. No statistically significant differences were found between the two age groups regarding the clinical outcome, cervical alignment parameters, and fused level intervertebral disk height for patients undergoing ACDF with lordotic PEEK cages.

Table 5 shows the subgroup analysis by BMI. Every subgroup of BMI exhibited improving JOA score, changes in DLCA, SCA, GCA, SVA, and fused level intervertebral disk height but they were not statistically significance. Single or multilevel ACDF indicated no statistically significant difference in clinical or radiographic outcomes **(Table 6)**.

Discussion

According to in vitro biomechanical studies, the ZPD provides comparable biomechanical stability to that of the traditional interbody cage and plate structure.^(9, 10) Clinical studies have also indicated that the ZPD is safe and efficient, even in multilevel cases.^(11, 12) Cervical spine alignment is one of the most important influences on clinical outcomes. According to a meta-analysis, ACDF with ZPD significantly improved postoperative GCA and curvature of the cervical spine. It has been reported that a single-level ACDF might not substantially impact cervical sagittal alignment.⁽¹³⁾ This study found no statistically significant differences between clinical or radiographic outcomes for single or multilevel ACDF (Table 6). Patients presenting single-level ACDF may increase lordosis due to lordotic PEEK cage and obtain better posture after surgery. For multilevel ACDF, even more than one cage has been implanted; however, postoperative lordosis changes are likely to decrease due to stiffness of neck in a long term.

In contrast, with previous cohorts, the author found that ACDF with ZPD, regardless of the number of discectomy levels, could significantly improve sagittal alignment. This study also found that ACDF with ZPD improved the JOA score and demonstrated a statistically significant restoration of cervical lordosis alignment. Furthermore, among patients with pre-operative cervical kyphosis or lordosis, the use of a ZPD significantly increased the sagittal alignment parameters in both groups. The author considers that patients who had any alignment of the preoperative cervical curve were likely to benefit from using the ZPD during ADCF. The shape of the ZPD is 7° lordotic, which may restore the lordotic neck curvature of these patients. In our study, all parameters of sagittal alignment were improved toward lordosis after surgery.

ACDF is a common operative treatment for cervical disk pathology. It has been generally accepted that using an anterior cervical plate construct after interbody cage implantation promotes successful fusion.(14-16) However, this procedure can result in various complications. The overall reported incidence of dysphagia after anterior cervical spine surgery varied from 2 to 60%.⁽¹⁷⁻¹⁹⁾ Furthermore, according to many studies, ACDF with an anterior cervical plate can lead to postoperative dysphagia in 2.0 to 67.0% of patients in the early postoperative period.⁽⁸⁾ Most of these symptoms disappear within three months of surgery. The incidence of chronic dysphagia after ACDF is between 3.0 and 21.0%. (20) The pathologic mechanism of postoperative dysphagia remains unknown, but may be associated with direct impingement of the implant on the posterior esophagus.⁽²¹⁾ Only two patients (6.5%) reported postoperative dysphagia in this cohort, which resolved within three months. The author considers that ACDF with ZPD could minimize the postoperative dysphagia. The ZPD has advantages in this regard because it can be implanted completely inside the decompressed intervertebral disc space and fixed with integrated screws without an anterior cervical plate which could irritate the esophagus.

According to many studies, the age and BMI of patients may affect the outcome of ACDF. Di Capua et al. retrospectively investigated 20,563 patients between 2010 and 2014. They found that elderly patients 61 years old and over had an increased risk of pulmonary and cardiac complications, venous thromboembolism, infection, and unplanned readmission.⁽²²⁾ Omidi et al. demonstrated that ACDF is more effective at improving disability among patients over 45 years of age.⁽²³⁾ Chotai et al. reported that patients older than 65 years have a slightly higher cost use ratio than younger patient groups, and surgery in the older cohort had significantly improved pain, disability, and quality of life outcomes.⁽²⁴⁾ Obesity is an increasing global public health issue. The prevalence of obesity (BMI $\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$) among adults in Thailand increased from 13.0% among men and 23.2% among women in 1991 to 22.4 and 34.3%, respectively, in 2004. ⁽²⁵⁾ Obese patients had a greater potential for complications such as intra-operative durotomy, dysphagia, neurological, cardiopulmonary, and hematologic complications following ACDF procedures.⁽²⁶⁾ Basques et al. reported that obesity did not impact clinical outcomes but affected cervical sagittal alignment and adjacent segment degeneration in a short term follow-up after ACDF.⁽²⁷⁾ In the current study, although the two cases with postoperative dysphagia were classified as obese, after multivariate analysis, the author found the relationship without statistical significance. Furthermore, the current study found no age-related effects in the clinical outcomes, complications, cervical sagittal alignment parameters, or the fused level intervertebral disk height in ACDF with the ZPD. This indicated that patients can benefit from the ZPD regardless of age and BMI. Age is a nonmodifiable risk factor; and therefore, presents a fixed source of postoperative risk following elective ACDF. The author considers that the outcome of ACDF may be improved by intraoperative neuromonitoring, the use of a microscope during surgery, and the influence of experienced surgeons. This issue may be worth further study.

Cage subsidence is common after ACDF and can lead to deterioration of long term function. It causes loss of the correction of the segmental angle and the Cobb angle from C2–7. Criteria for evaluating subsidence remain insufficient. The most common method is to measure the postoperative reduction in the heights of the ventral and dorsal segments between the two fused vertebral bodies. A decrease in total intervertebral disc height of 2 mm or more is significant subsi dence. Subsidence of less than 2 mm is acceptable. The incidence of cage subsidence with interbody PEEK cages ranges from 0.0 to 18.0% in the literature.^(5, 28) Lee et al. reported that the subsidence rate of a ZPD (58.6%) was higher than that of an interbody PEEK cage with plate (38.5%), indicating that plate fixation can prevent subsidence by supporting the anterior disk height.⁽²⁹⁾ In contrast, Scholz et al. reported that cage subsidence was not observed in cases with a ZPD, although their follow-up was only six months. ⁽³⁰⁾ In this cohort, no subsidence was reported at one-year follow-up. The reason for this difference may be that performing ACDF with a plate involves flattening the anterior vertebral surface of the cervical spine by resecting osteophytes to enable the plate to fit closely. Inserting the ZPD does not require this, and in addition to a secure and rigid screw fixation, it probably contributes to preserving the anterior bony support and reducing subsidence. The author considers that using the ZPD in ACDF may not result in subsidence after surgery; however, a larger sample size and longer follow-up period are needed to confirm this. The occurrence of cage subsidence may be related to several factors, including the size and position of the cage, bone density, and the contact surface ratio of the cage.

Several limitations, encountered in this study, need to be acknowledged. It constituted a retrospective study that did not compare the ZPD with other types of cervical cage. Furthermore, the length of follow-up was short so that the incidence of late complications such as subsidence, adjacent segment pathology, or device-related failure could not be assessed. In addition, the variation of diseases in this study was quite diverse. The vertebral body might not have responded best regarding the trauma and infection and could have affected the result analysis. Moreover, only a small number of available patients from a single institute were included.

Conclusion

The use of the ZPD in ACDF surgery improved both clinical and radiographic outcomes by correcting cervical spine alignment and minimizing the postoperative complication of dysphagia. No device-related failure was observed, and favorable outcomes persisted at one-year follow-up. Age, BMI, and pre-operative cervical alignment did not affect outcomes in this study.

Conflicts of Interest

The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- 1. Boakye M, Mummaneni PV, Garrett M, Rodts G, Haid R. Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion involving a polyetheretherketone spacer and bone morphogenetic protein. J Neurosurg Spine 2005; 2: 521-5.
- Vanek P, Bradac O, Delacy P, Lacman J, Benes V. Anterior interbody fusion of the cervical spine with Zero-P spacer: prospective comparative study-clinical and radiological results at a minimum 2 years after surgery. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2013; 38: E792-7.
- Farley CW, Curt BA, Pettigrew DB, Holtz JR, Dollin N, Kuntz C 4th. Spinal cord intramedullary pressure in thoracic kyphotic deformity: a cadaveric study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2012; 37: E224-30.
- 4. Shimizu K, Nakamura M, Nishikawa Y, Hijikata S, Chiba K, Toyama Y. Spinal kyphosis causes demyelination and neuronal loss in the spinal cord: a new model of kyphotic deformity using juvenile Japanese small game fowls. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2005; 30: 2388-92.
- Cabraja M, Abbushi A, Kroppenstedt S, Woiciechowsky C. Cages with fixation wings versus cages plus plating for cervical reconstruction after corpectomy-is there any difference? Cent Eur Neurosurg 2010; 71: 59–63.
- Koeppen D, Piepenbrock C, Kroppenstedt S, Čabraja M. The influence of sagittal profile alteration and final lordosis on the clinical outcome of cervical spondylotic myelopathy. A Delta-Omega-analysis. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0174527.

- Gercek E, Arlet V, Delisle J, Marchesi D. Subsidence of stand-alone cervical cages in anterior interbody fusion: warning. Eur Spine J 2003; 12: 513–6.
- Bazaz R, Lee MJ, Yoo JU. Incidence of dysphagia after anterior cervical spine surgery: a prospective study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2002; 27: 2453–8.
- Stein MI, Nayak AN, Gaskins RB 3rd, Cabezas AF, Santoni BG, Castellvi AE. Biomechanics of an integrated interbody device versus ACDF anterior locking plate in a single-level cervical spine fusion construct. Spine J 2014; 14: 128-36.
- Scholz M, Schleicher P, Pabst S, Kandziora F. A zero-profile anchored spacer in multilevel cervical anterior interbody fusion: biomechanical comparison to established fixation techniques. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2015 1;40: E375-80.
- 11. Nemoto O, Kitada A, Naitou S, Tachibana A, Ito Y, Fujikawa A. Stand-alone anchored cage versus cage with plating for single-level anterior cervical discectomy and fusion: a prospective, randomized, controlled study with a 2-year follow-up. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 2015; 25(Suppl 1): S127-34.
- 12. Barbagallo GM, Romano D, Certo F, Milone P, Albanese V. Zero-P: a new zero-profile cage-plate device for single and multilevel ACDF. A single institution series with four years maximum follow-up and review of the literature on zero-profile devices. Eur Spine J 2013; 22 (Suppl 6): S868-78.
- Sun Z, Liu Z, Hu W, Yang Y, Xiao X, Wang X. Zero-profile versus cage and plate in anterior cervical discectomy and fusion with a minimum 2 years of follow-up: A meta-analysis. World Neurosurg 2018; 120: e551-61.
- 14. Song KJ, Yoon SJ, Lee KB. Three- and four-level anterior cervical discectomy and fusion with a PEEK cage and plate construct. Eur Spine J 2012; 21: 2492-7.
- 15. Xiao SW, Jiang H, Yang LJ, Xiao ZM. Anterior cervical discectomy versus corpectomy for multilevel cervical spondylotic myelopathy: a meta-analysis. Eur Spine J 2015; 24: 31-9.

- 16. Song KJ, Taghavi CE, Hsu MS, Lee KB, Kim GH, Song JH. Plate augmentation in anterior cervical discectomy and fusion with cage for degenerative cervical spinal disorders. Eur Spine J 2010; 19: 1677-83.
- 17. Bose B. Anterior cervical fusion using Caspar plating: Analysis of results and review of the literature. Surg Neurol 1998; 49: 25-31.
- Stewart M, Johnston RA, Stewart I, et al. Swallowing performance following anterior cervical spine surgery. Br J Neurosurg 1995; 9: 605-9.
- 19. Winslow CP, Winslow TJ, Wax MK. Dysphonia and dysphagia following the anterior approach to the cervical spine. Arch Otolaryngol Head Surgery 2001; 127:51-5.
- 20. Riley LH 3rd, Skolasky RL, Albert TJ, Vaccaro AR, Heller JG. Dysphagia after anterior cervical decompression and fusion: prevalence and risk factors from a longitudinal cohort study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2005; 30: 2564-9.
- Fountas KN, Kapsalaki EZ, Nikolakakos LG, SmissonHF, JohnstonKW, GrigorianAA, etal.. Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion associated complications. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2007; 32: 2310-7.
- 22. Di Capua J, Somani S, Kim JS, Phan K, Lee NJ, Kothari P, et al. Elderly age as a risk factor for 30-day postoperative outcomes following elective anterior cervical discectomy and fusion. Global Spine J 2017; 7: 425-31.
- 23. Omidi KF, Ghayem HE, Ghandehari R. Impact of age and duration of symptoms on surgical outcome of single-level microscopic anterior cervical discectomy and fusion in the patients with cervical spondylotic radiculopathy. Neurosci J 2014; 2014: 808596.

- 24. Chotai S, Parker SL, Sielatycki JA, Sivaganesan A, Kay HF, Wick JB, et al. Impact of old age on patient-report outcomes and cost utility for anterior cervical discectomy and fusion surgery for degenerative spine disease. Eur Spine J 2017; 26: 1236–45.
- 25. Aekplakorn W, Mo-Suwan L. Prevalence of obesity in Thailand. Obes Rev 2009; 10: 589-92.
- 26. Perez-Roman RJ, McCarthy D, Luther EM, Lugo-Pico JG, Leon-Correa R, Gaztanaga W, et al. Effects of body mass index on perioperative outcomes in patients undergoing anterior cervical discectomy and fusion surgery. Neurospine 2021; 18: 79-86.
- 27. Basques BA, Khan JM, Louie PK, Mormol J, Heidt S, Varthi A, et al. Obesity does not impact clinical outcome but affects cervical sagittal alignment and adjacent segment degeneration in short term follow-up after an anterior cervical decompression and fusion. Spine J 2019; 19: 1146-53.
- 28. Cabraja M, Oezdemir S, Koeppen D, Kroppenstedt S. Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion: comparison of titanium and polyetheretherketone cages. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2012; 13: 172.
- 29. Lee CH, Hyun SJ, Kim MJ, Yeom JS, Kim WH, Kim KJ, et al. Comparative analysis of 3 different construct systems for single-level anterior cervical discectomy and fusion: stand-alone cage, iliac graft plus plate augmentation, and cage plus plating. J Spinal Disord Tech 2013; 26: 112-8.
- Scholz M, Schnake KJ, Pingel A, Hoffmann R, Kandziora F. A new zero-profile implant for stand-alone anterior cervical interbody fusion. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2011; 469: 666-73.

OUTCOME OF USING PLATELET, PLASMA AND GROWTH FACTORS AS AN ORTHOBIOLOGIC DERIVATIVE TO AVOID INVASIVE SURGICAL PROCEDURES FOR TREATING KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS AMONG ELDERLY PATIENTS

Thana Turajane*, Pamok Saengsirinavin*, Chaivat Sriratanavudhi*, Vorasilp Cheeva-akrapan*, Wanpen Lappaiwong*, Jongjate Aojanepong**

* Biomedical Technology Research and Development Center, Police General Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand

**THAI StemLife, Bangkok, Thailand

Abstract

Background: The application of platelet, plasma and growth factors (PP&GF) is an intra-articular orthobiologic intervention that has been proven to be safe, having less systemic complications compared with conventional treatments and could constitute an option for treating elderly patients with knee osteoarthritis (OA). However, an intermediate result of using PP&GF has yet to be well established. **Objectives:** This study aimed to report the survival analysis of 24-month follow-up treatment using PP&GF among elderly patients with knee OA as primary outcome. The secondary outcomes were functional improvement in terms of international knee documentation committee (IKDC) score, Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis index (WOMAC) score and visual analog scale (VAS) pain score.

Methods: A prospective cohort study was performed among patients with knee OA (Kellgren and Lawrence (KL) grade I-IV), aged more than 65 years who did not respond to conservative treatments. All patients received intra-articular PP&GF treatment and were followed up to 24 months. Primary outcome was recorded as any surgical treatment at any time point post-PP&GF injection. Secondary outcomes including IKDC, WOMAC and VAS pain score were also assessed.

Results: A total of 184 participants were enrolled in this study. The overall survival rate of patients not undergoing any surgical procedures during 24-month follow-up was $87.50\%\pm2.44\%$. The mean IKDC, WOMAC and VAS pain scores were 39.59 ± 0.58 , 55.9 ± 1.09 and 6.63 ± 0.13 , respectively at baseline while those at 24-month follow-up were 46.77 ± 0.81 , 38.32 ± 1.33 and 4.92 ± 0.13 , respectively. The mean platelet concentrations before and after centrifugation were 1.85×10^5 cells/µL ($1.20-3.36\times10^5$ cells/µL) and 1.4×10^6 cells/µL ($5.80\times10^5-3.5\times10^6$) cells/µL, respectively, which showed final PP&GF products contained 6-10 times higher platelet concentration than those in the peripheral blood.

Conclusion: Intra-articular injection of PP&GF is a potential treatment for severe knee OA especially among elderly patients. This method provided 87.50% survivorship from surgical intervention at 24-month follow-up. Most patients improved both pain and functional outcomes. We propose that the optimal preparation technique for PP&GF is the key step for improving patients' clinical outcomes and regaining their quality of lives.

Keywords: Orthobiologics, Plasma, Platelet, Growth factor, Knee osteoarthritis

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6:e0105 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.105

Correspondence to: Cheeva-akrapan V, Biomedical Technology Research and Development Center, Police General Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand E-mail: vorasilp.c@gmail.com

Received: 13 September 2021 Revised: 27 January 2022 Accepted: 22 February 2022

Introduction

Knee osteoarthritis (OA) is a degenerative health condition impacting nationwide health care systems and health socioeconomic costs and affecting daily life activities of individuals.⁽¹⁾ Patients with knee OA are usually treated in a stepwise pattern starting from patient education, oral medication, physical therapy, intra-articular injection of anti-inflammatory drugs or viscosupplementation agents and surgery. However, conventional modalities have been proven to produce some disadvantages. Oral glucosamine supplement was proven to have insufficient evidence of effectiveness.⁽²⁾ Bruyere et al. found that 6.3% of patients receiving glucosamine supplement underwent total knee replacement after 8-year follow-up, compared with 14.5% in the placebo group.⁽³⁾ Intra-articular steroid injection may have short term effect and negatively affects the cartilage.^(2, 4) Regarding injecting viscosupplementation agents, Boutefnouchet et al. reported a 67% survival rate at 5 years for patients treated with viscosupplement for knee OA.⁽⁵⁾ Patients undergoing total knee arthroplasty (TKA) may need revision surgery due to infection or mechanical loosening over time.⁽⁶⁾

Studies showed that the number of TKAs is rising. One study estimated the amount of TKA in the US alone was predicted to be 1,272,000, 1,921,000 and 3,416,000 in 2025, 2030 and 2040 compared with 688,000 TKAs in 2009.⁽⁷⁾ These high number of operations would become problematic considering socio-economic costs.

One of the most vulnerable groups to develop knee OA is advanced age patients. Most have multiple co-morbidities and take multiple medications. For these people, receiving nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) for pain relief significantly increased the risk of gastro-intestinal and cardiovascular events and drug interactions including anticoagulants which in turn might affect coagulation cascades.⁽⁸⁾ Moreover, some patients might also be categorized as high risk to develop peri-operative myocardial infection or death. Undergoing surgical operation would be a major concern. Treating elderly patients with these modalities might be unsuitable.

Recently, orthobiologic agents including platelet-rich products have gained popularity for treating patients with knee OA due to their biosafety, simplicity and clinical effectiveness. The component of platelets, plasma and growth factors (PP&GF) constitute one of the platelet-rich products adjusted for platelet and fibrin concentrations, leukocyte population and proper activator status. PP&GF initiates the repair processes, modulates inflammation, transports growth factors and attracts medical signaling cells (MSCs).^(4, 9) PP&GF differs from platelet rich plasma (PRP) in terms of reproducing substantial amounts of platelet concentration. The PP&GF system provides an average of 6 times higher platelet concentration than baseline value.⁽¹⁰⁾ With this high concentration of platelets in platelet-rich derivative products, large amount of proteins and growth factors are released from platelet alpha granules and act directly to create great healing potential. Up until today, no major adverse events have been reported from PP&GF use.^(2, 10) However, the intermediate outcome of PP&GF use in knee OA has not been established. This study aimed to report primary outcome in terms of survival analysis of 24-month follow-up treatment using PP&GF especially among elderly patients with knee OA. Secondary outcomes aimed to assess functional outcomes in terms of international knee documentation committee (IKDC) score, Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC) score as well as visual analog scale (VAS) pain score.

Methods

From February 2018 to June 2019, a prospective cohort study was conducted after the internal review board and hospital ethics committee approval at the Biomedical Technology Research and Development Centre, Police General Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand. Calculation of sample size was performed based on a related study⁽¹¹⁾ with an alpha of 0.05 and a power of 80%. The required sample size was 524 knees divided to 424 knees in Kellgren and Lawrence (KL) grade I to III and 100 knees in KL grade IV groups. Patients with knee pain visiting the outpatient Orthopaedic Clinic were evaluated clinically and radiographically for their eligibility. Those meeting the following criteria were included in the study: patients aged more than 65 years diagnosed with knee OA classified as KL grade I to IV, those who failed conservative treatments including no response to oral medications for at least six months, physiotherapy for at least three sessions, intra-articular injection of steroid or hyaluronic acid at least one dose, hemoglobin (Hb) levels >11 g/dL, and platelet count >80,000 cells/µL.

The exclusion criteria included patients receiving a diagnosis of meniscal or knee ligament injury, inflammatory arthritis including uncontrolled bleeding disorder, those presenting radiographic deformity of the tibiofemoral angle more than 5 degrees and those having history of using NSAIDs within 5 days of blood drawn or taking anticoagulant or anti-aggregate drugs.

In this study, a total number of 186 patients met the criteria. Patients were informed about the study protocol and signed written consent forms (**Figure 1**).

PP&GF preparation

A 30-ml peripheral blood sample for single knee injection (60 mL for bilateral knees) was collected from each patient. The first 20 mL of blood was separated in 2 centrifuge tubes (red) (PP&GF, Bangkok, Thailand) with 10 mL for each tube to mix with acid citrate dextrose anticoagulant. The blood was centrifuged using the ALPAS centrifugation machine (Bangkok, Thailand) at 250g for 6 minutes. After the first spin, the blood was separated in three components: red blood cells on the bottom layer, a buffy coat in the middle layer and platelet-containing plasma at the top layer. The upper two layers were gently aspirated and transferred to a new tube (yellow) and centrifuged again at 1000g for 10 minutes. After the second spin, the platelet-poor supernatant plasma was gently aspirated for removal. One milliliter of residual leukocyte-rich PP&GF was collected for complete blood count. The remaining PP&GF was aspirated using a 5-mL sterile injection syringe for intra-articular injection. The remaining 10 mL of peripheral blood was transferred to the last tube (green) and was centrifuged once with 250g for 6 min to produce platelet-rich fibrin and used as a natural activator (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Flow chart of patient enrollment



Figure 2. Platelet, plasma and growth factors (PP&GF) tubes: the red tube is used for the first spinning process. The yellow tube is used for the second spinning process. The green tube is used for platelet-rich fibrin preparation.

Injection protocol

All injections were administered by a well-trained team of orthopedic staff and residents. The patient was placed in the supine position with knee flexed 90 degrees. The injection site was marked at the anteromedial joint space, and an antiseptic agent was applied to the skin. The analgesic agent infiltrated the skin and subcutaneous tissues surrounding the injection site using a 25G needle. Air-test was performed with a 18G needle to confirm the intra-articular placement of the needle. PP&GF biologic agents were delivered to the joint space using a 18G needle. The knee was immediately extended after the biologic agent was delivered, and the patient was allowed to walk in full weight bearing after injection.

Rehabilitation protocol

The patient was instructed to perform fixed arc quadriceps exercise two days after injection. The patient sat on a chair with their legs extended forward for 100 seconds on each side. This exercise was recommended to perform three to five times daily.

Follow-up assessment

Patients were assessed at 2, 4, 6, 12, 18 and

24-month posttreatment follow-up. Primary outcome was recorded as any surgical treatment performed by any surgeon encountered by participants (either arthroscopic knee surgery, unicondylar arthroplasty or TKA) at any time point post PP&GF injection. Secondary outcomes, including IKDC, WOMAC and VAS pain scores, were also assessed.

Statistical analysis

Continuous data were elaborated in mean and standard deviation, and discrete data were elaborated in percentage and proportion. A box plot was used to demonstrate the tendency of collected data. Survival analysis, using monthly interval units, determined the event rate. The time at risk comprised the number of months that the participants were followed up with an end point of 24 months. Right truncation, left truncation, right censoring and left censoring protocol were used. Kaplan-Meier curve was used to evaluate the primary outcome as the percentage of survival at each time point. The difference of survival function was determined using the log-rank test for equality of survivor function. A *p*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Stata Software, Version 16.0 (Stata Corp, TX, USA) was used for statistical analysis.

	KL I	KL II	KL III	KL IV	Total
Amount (knees)	3	67	41	73	184
Age (Mean±SD)	66.67±1.2	73.36±0.66	72.15±0.8	73.5±0.66	73.03 ± 5.45
Sex (Female:Male)	1:2	38:29	31:10	62:11	132:52
BMI (Mean±SD)	27.33±3.53	26.06 ± 0.65	25.05 ± 0.77	25.95 ± 0.6	25.8±5.17
Site (Left:Right)	2:1	33:34	18:23	31:42	84:100

Table 1. Characteristics of patients categorized based on KL classification



Figure 3. Kaplan-Meier curve showing overall and subgroup analysis of survival estimate rate of participants with different severity of knee OA not undergoing any surgical intervention after intra-articular PP&GF treatment. The red dot line represents overall samples. The yellow line represents KL grade I subgroup. The green line represents KL grade II subgroup. Blue line represents the KL grade III subgroup. Purple line represents the KL grade IV subgroup.

Results

A total number of 186 participants were included. Of these, 2 participants were lost to follow up, leaving 184 participants completing the study. Characteristics of patients are demonstrated in **Table 1**.

The overall survival rate of knees not undergoing any surgical procedures during the 24-month follow-up was $87.50 \pm 2.44\%$. Subgroup analysis for survival rate was performed according to severity grading (KL classification) (**Figure 3**). The log rank test was used to analyze the difference of survival rates between subgroups. The survival rates at 24-month follow-up revealed significant differences between knees with KL I to III and KL grade IV, i.e., $94.59\% \pm 2.15$ and $76.71\% \pm 4.95$, respectively (p = 0.0003). The survival rates at 24-month follow-up also significant differed between knees without subluxation and knees with subluxation, i.e., $90.12\% \pm 2.34$ and $68.18\% \pm 9.93$, respectively (p = 0.0028). The survival rates at 24-month follow-up of knees with KL-IV statistically differed; however, no significance was found between knees without







Figure 5. Box plot showing total IKDC score at different follow-up times. The asterisk (*) represents *p*-value of the test of difference between mean score at each follow-up time. The blue box represents score at baseline. The red box represents score at 2-month follow-up. The green box represents score at 4-month follow-up. The orange box represents score at 12-month follow-up. The pink box represents score at 18-month follow-up. The purple box represents score at 24-month follow-up.



Figure 6. Box plot showing total WOMAC score at different follow-up times. The asterisk (*) represents *p*-value of the test of difference between mean score at each follow-up time. The blue box represents score at baseline. The red box represents score at 2-month follow-up. The green box represents score at 4-month follow-up. The orange box represents score at 6-month follow-up. The mint-green box represents score at 12-month follow-up. The pink box represents score at 18-month



Figure 7. Box plot showing VAS pain scores at different follow-up times. The X axis represents time while the Y axis represents VAS pain scores in point unit. The asterisk (*) represents *p*-value of the test of difference between the mean scores at each follow-up time. The blue box represents the baseline score. The red box represents score at 2-month follow-up. The green box represents score at 4-month follow-up. The orange box represents score at 6-month follow-up. The mint-green box represents score at 12-month follow-up. The pink box represents score at 18-month follow-up. The purple box represents score at 24-month follow-up.

subluxation and knees with subluxation, i.e., $80.39\% \pm 5.56$ and $68.18\% \pm 9.93$, respectively (*p*= 0.2762) (**Figure 4**).

Regarding total IKDC score, mean IKDC score at 24-month follow-up was 46.77 \pm 0.81 compared with 39.59 \pm 0.58 at baseline. Significant differences were observed between the mean score at baseline and 2-month follow-up, between 2- and 4-month follow-up and between 18- and 24-month follow-up (p < 0.05, 0.04, 0.01, respectively). No significant difference of mean scores was observed between each period from 4- to 18-month follow-up (**Figure 5**). IKDC scores, recorded among different follow-up periods were also categorized using KL classification as shown in **Table 2**.

Regarding total WOMAC score, mean WOMAC score at 24-month follow-up was 38.32 ± 1.33 compared with 55.9 ± 1.09 at baseline. A significant difference of mean score was observed between baseline and 2-month follow-up (p < 0.05). No significant difference of mean score

was observed between each period from 2- to 24-month follow-up (**Figure 6**). WOMAC scores among different follow-ups were also categorized using KL classification shown in **Table 3**.

Regarding VAS pain score, mean VAS pain score was 4.92 ± 0.13 at 24-month follow-up compared with 6.63 ± 0.13 at baseline. Significant differences were noted of mean score between the baseline and at 2-month follow-up (p < 0.05) and between 18- and 24-month follow-up (p < 0.05). No significant difference was found of the mean score between each period from 4- to 18-month follow-up (**Figure 7**). VAS pain scores during different follow-ups were also categorized using KL classification as shown in **Table 4**.

The mean platelet concentrations before and after centrifugation were 1.85×10^5 cells/µL $(1.20-3.36 \times 10^5$ cells/µL) and 1.4×10^6 cells/µL $(5.80 \times 10^5-3.5 \times 10^6)$ cells/µL, respectively, showing that final PP&GF product increased platelet concentration 6 to 10 times higher than those in peripheral blood samples.

Table 2. Mean IKDC scores recorded among different follow-up periods categorized using KL classification

	KL I	KL II	KL III	KL IV	Total
Baseline	48.28±8.07	40.30±0.94	40.26±1.22	38.58 ± 0.92	39.59±0.58
2-month follow-up	55.56±7.75	48.70±1.00	49.40±1.25	49.02 ± 1.05	49.00±0.63
24-month follow-up	47.24±9.10	45.21±1.22	43.06±1.70	50.34±1.29	46.77±0.81

Table 3. Mean WOMAC score at different follow-ups categorized by KL classification

	KL I	KL II	KL III	KL IV	Total
Baseline	44.85±16.24	53.17±1.81	56.26±2.24	58.47±1.64	55.90±1.09
2-month follow-up	29.39±12.71	41.97±1.95	39.94±2.33	41.24±1.98	41.22±1.18
24-month follow-up	26.52±13.21	41.95±2.10	42.74±2.62	32.42±2.11	38.32±1.33

Table 4. Mean VAS pain scores recorded among different follow-ups categorized using KL classification

	KL I	KL II	KL III	KL IV	Total
Baseline	5.33±2.33	6.19±0.23	6.82±0.28	6.93±0.19	6.63±0.13
2-month follow-up	3±1.53	3.45±0.20	3.97 ± 0.30	3.88±0.22	3.74±0.13
24-month follow-up	5.67±1.45	5.05±0.22	5.53±0.26	4.43±0.19	4.92±0.13

Discussion

In this study, the results showed significantly different survival rates between those with the knee in KL I to III including KL IV with PP&GF treatment. These findings imply an advantage of early intervention in OA knee treatment contributing to reduced surgical interventions. We also found that the non-subluxated knee had a significantly higher survival rate when compared with the knee with subluxation; this implied that mechanical parameters should also be considered along with biologic profiles of knee pathology to select appropriate treatment options. Thus, we proposed that severity of knee OA and subluxation profile are two identifiable negative predictive factors for failure of biologic intervention. However, due to using a small sample size in this study, significant differences of survival rate were not found between the knee with and without subluxation in the KL IV group.

Platelet-rich products entered the spotlight of orthopedic surgeons due to their potential in wound healing and tissue regeneration processes. Once properly activated, alpha granules in platelets released large pool of proteins and growth factors. These growth factors included platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) promoting mitogen for connective tissue cells, transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) stimulating osteoprogenitor cells to proliferate and halting the process at later stage of cell differentiation and mineralization. Moreover, insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) promotes the late stage differentiation and activity of osteoblasts, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) induces endothelial cell proliferation and migration.⁽¹²⁾ These molecular findings explained why PP&GF is suitable to treat knee OA. In this study, the authors chose PP&GF to treat knee OA because it exerts an action on OA at the accurate sites of pathology including chondrocyte, synovium and synovial fluid via its chondrogenic effects, stem cell migration and healing cascade while other traditional treatments mainly focused on eliminating pain. Gobbi et al. studied the effectiveness of intra-articular platelet-rich product injections among patients with symptomatic knee OA and revealed significant improvement in decreasing pain, improving quality of life and returning to their daily life activities after 6 and 12 months.⁽¹³⁾ In 2013, Turajane et al. combined intra-articular autologous activated peripheral blood stem cells (AAPBSC) with growth factor addition/preservation (GFAP) along with hyaluronic acid (HA) together with arthroscopic micro-drilling mesenchymal cell stimulation (MSC)^(14, 15); this pilot study highlighted future research to focus on combining different orthobiologics products to maximize the effective use of autologous biomaterials.

Regarding pain reducing mechanisms of platelet-rich derivatives, Lee et al. investigated cannabinoid receptor gene expression in PRPcontaining hydrogels used for articular cartilage defects. Cannabinoid receptors CB1 and CB2 have been reported to directly correlate with analgesic effects in animal arthritis models. The result showed that PRP-containing hydrogels produced an increased expression of cannabinoid receptors compared with PRP-free hydrogels.⁽¹⁶⁾ Sundman et al. also found that PRP decreased the concentration of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α in synovium and cartilage culture medium. TNF- α is recognized as a pro-inflammatory cytokine initiating neuropathic pain pathways in human disease states.⁽¹⁷⁾

Regarding functional improvement among patients with OA treated with PRP, Sundman et al. also reported that PRP significantly decreased matrix metalloproteinase-13 (MMP-13) expression in synoviocyte culture media. MMP-13 has been recognized as the cartilage matrix degradation of the synovial membrane contributing to disruption of nutrition, removal of waste products, shock absorption, lubrication mechanisms of the synovial membrane which in turn are responsible for functional outcome of patients.⁽¹⁷⁾

According to the results of secondary outcomes, a remarkable trend in outcome was observed. The scores were significantly improved at 2-month follow-up after treatment. Comparing the scores at each subsequent follow-up, most were not significantly changed. However, scores once again dropped statistically at 18- and 24-month follow-up. The difference in tendency of outcomes between the 18- and 24-month follow-up was also observed by Filardo et al. ⁽¹⁸⁾ With these trends, we could imply that PP&GF exerted its highest function at 2 to 18 months lasting until 24 months. Thereby, we suggested that a single dose of PP&GF was sufficient to treat knee OA and patients initially responding to intra-articular PP&GF treatment should receive a repeated dose between 12 and 18 months after the first injection to maintain high efficacy of the treatment. Vilchez-Cavazos et al. also performed a meta-analysis to compare the clinical effectiveness of single and multiple injections of platelet-rich derivatives to treat patients with knee OA. The results showed that a single injection was as effective as multiple injections in reducing pain. Multiple injections were more effective in joint functionality than a single injection at 6 months.⁽¹⁹⁾

Regarding safety issues, in our recent study, after 24-month follow-up of intra-articular PP&GF injections, neither local nor systemic adverse effects were reported. The data correlated with a systematic review of 29 articles by Laver et al.⁽²⁰⁾ studying platelet-rich product use for OA revealing no adverse effects of intra-articular PRP injections. This emphasized the intermediate term safety profile of intra-articular PP&GF injections and supported the results of our related study on short term safety profiles.⁽¹¹⁾

Until now, different preparation techniques and components of platelet-rich products have yielded different patient's outcome. (21) The strength of this study was the protocol for intra-articular PP&GF injection including strict patient selection criteria, reproducible PP&GF preparation technique and using an accurate biologic treatment delivery method. This study comprised a unique and precise method that minimized the heterogeneity of the treatment and uniformly intervened with patients. In this study, the PP&GF preparation technique provided 6 to 10 times higher platelet concentration when compared with those in peripheral blood. We adopted the air-test technique when performing intra-articular injection among all patients receiving PP&GF treatment to ensure that the biologic product was delivered to a correct position in the knee joint.

This study encountered several limitations. First, a small sample size affected the process to prove significant differences among subgroup analysis of the knee with KL IV. Second, the placebo effect of an intra-articular injection could have contributed to positive responses of patients. Nonetheless, Vannabouathong et al. performed a meta-analysis and found that intra-articular PRP had the greatest effect estimates among many treatment modalities when accounting for the intra-articular placebo effect. (22) Third, no information of treatment with repeated dose of the intra-articular PP&GF was reported in this study because we found the trend of secondary outcome after the study ended. Fourth, the primary outcome as decisions of patients to received surgery involved confounders which could have led to bias in this study. Fifth, exploring biochemical profiles of growth factors and protein components of PP&GF was not performed in this study. Lastly, analysis of blood samples other than platelet concentration before and after centrifugation was not performed. Thus, future research focusing on biochemical profiles of leukocyte and red blood cell components is recommended.

Conclusion

An intra-articular injection of PP&GF is a potential treatment for the severe knee OA especially among elderly patients, providing survivorship from surgical intervention at 24 months for 87.50% of patients. Most patients improved in pain and functional outcomes. We propose that the optimal preparation technique for PP&GF is the key step for improving clinical outcomes and quality of life.

Funding

The study was financially supported by the "Police General Hospital Foundation under the Royal Patronage".

References

 Safiri S, Kolahi A- A, Smith E, Hill C, Bettampadi D, Mansournia MA. Global, regional and national burden of osteoarthritis 1990-2017: a systematic analysis of the global burden of disease study 2017. Ann Rheum Dis 2020; 79: 819-28.

- Eilik H, Dogu B, Yilmaz F, Begoglu FA, Kuran B. The efficiency of platelet-rich plasma treatment in patients with knee osteoarthritis. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil 2020; 33: 127-38.
- Bruyere O, Paveka K, Rovati LC, Gatterova J, Giacovelli G, Olejarova M, et al. Total joint replacement after glucosamine sulphate treatment in knee osteoarthritis: results of a mean 8-year observation of patients from two previous 3-year, randomized, placebocontrolled trials. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2008; 16: 254-60.
- 4. Robinson DM, Eng C, Makovitch S, Rothenberg JB, DeLuca S, Douglas S. Non-operative orthobiologic use for rotator cuff disorders and glenohumeral osteoarthritis: a systematic review. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil 2021; 34: 17-32.
- 5. Boutefnouchet T, Puranik G, Holmes E, Bell KM. Hylan GF-20 Viscosupplementation in the treatment of symptomatic osteoarthritis of the knee: Clinical effect survivorship at 5 years. Knee Surg Relat Res 2017; 29: 129-36.
- Delanois RE, Mistry JB, Gwam CU, Mohamed NS, Choksi US, Mont MA. Current epidermiology of revision total knee arthrtoplasty in the United States. J Arthroplasty 2017; 32: 2563-8.
- Singh JA, Yu S, Chen L, Cleveland JD. Rates of total joint replacement in the United States: future projections to 2020-2040 using the national inpatient sample. J Rheumatol 2019; 46: 1134-40.
- 8. Turajane T, Wongbunnak R, Patchratrakul T, Ratansumawong K, Poigampetch Y, Songpatanasilp T. Gastrointestinal and cardiovascular risk of non-selective NSAIDs and Cox-2 inhibitors in elderly patients with knee osteoarthritis. J Med Assoc Thai 2009; 92.
- 9. Carr II JB, Rodeo SA. The role of biologic agents in the management of common shoulder pathologies: current state and future directions. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2019; 28: 2041-52.
- 10. Turajane T, Saengsirinavin P, Sriratanavudhi C, Larpaiwong W, Aojanepong J. A prospective, randomized, controlled trial comparing clinical

outcomes of intraarticular platelet plasma concentrate and growth factors versus corticosteroid injections in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis. Bank Med J 2021; 17.

- 11. Turajane T, Sriratanavudhi C, Saengsirinavin P, Chaweewannakorn U, Larpaiwong W, Aojanepong J. Safety and clinical efficacy of platelet rich growth factors (PRGF) in managing knee osteoarthritis after failed conservative treatment: evidence from real practices. J Southeast Asian Med Res 2019; 1: 1-7.
- 12. Anitua E, Sanchez M, Orive G, Andia I. The potential impact of the preparation rich in growth factors (PRGF) in different medical fields. Biomaterials 2007; 28: 4551-60.
- 13. Gobbi A, Karmatzikoz G, Mahajan V, Malchira S. Platelet-rich plasma treatment in symptomatic patients with knee osteoarthritis: preliminary results in a group of active patients. Sports Health 2012; 4: 162-72.
- 14. Turajane T, Chaweewannakorn U, Larbpai boonpong V, Aojanepong J, Thitiset T, Honsawek S et al. Combination of intraarticular autologous activated peripheral blood stem cells with growth factor addition/ preservation and hyaluronic acid in conjunction with arthroscopic microdrilling mesenchymal cell stimulation improves quality of life and regenerates articular cartilage in early osteoarthritic knee disease. J Med Assoc Thai 2012; 96.
- 15. Turajane T, Thitiset T, Honsawek S, Chaweewannakorn U, Aojanepong J, Papadopoulos KI. Assessment of chrondrogenic differentiation potential of autologous activated peripheral blood stem cells on human early osteoarthritic cancellous tibial bone scaffold. Musculoskelet 2014; 98: 35-43.
- 16. Lee H, Park KM, Joung YK, Park KD, Do SH. Platelet-rich plasma loaded hydrogel scaffold enhances chondrogenic differentiation and maturation with up-regulation of CB1 and CB2. J Control Release 2012; 159: 332-7
- 17. Sundman EA, Cole BJ, Karas V, Valle CD, Tetreault MW, Mohammed HO, et al. The anti-inflammatory and matrix restorative

mechanisms of platelet-rich plasma in osteoarthritis. Am J Sports Med 2014; 42: 35-41.

- 18. Filardo G, Kon E, Buda R, Timoncini A, Martino AD, Cenacchi A et al. Platelet-rich plasma intra-articular knee injections for the treatment of degenerative cartilage lesions and osteoarthritis. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2011; 19: 528-35.
- 19. Vilchez-Cavazos F, Millan-Alanis JM, Blazquez-Saldana J, Alvarez-Villalobos NA, Pena-Martinez VM, Acosta-Olivo CA, et al. Comparison of the clinical effectiveness of single versus multiple injections of plateletrich plasma in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis. Ortho J Sports Med 2019; 7: 2325967119887116.
- Laver L, Maron N, Dnyanesh L, Mei-Dan O, Espregueira-Mendes J, Gobbi A. PRP for degenerative cartilage disease: a systematic review of clinical studies. Cartilage 2017; 4: 341-64.
- Dhurat R, Sukesh M. Principles and methods of preparation of platelet-rich plasma: a review and author's perspective. J Cutan Aesthet Surg 2014; 7: 189-97.
- 22. Vannabouathong C, Bhandari M, Bedi A, Khanna V, Yung P, Shetty V et al. Nonoperative treatments for knee osteoarthritis: an evaluation of treatment characteristics and the intra-articular placebo effect. J Bone Joint Surg 2018; 7: 1-11.

PSYCHOLOGICAL IMPACT AND COPING AMONG MEDICAL STUDENTS IN PHRAMONGKUTKLAO COLLEGE OF MEDICINE DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

Poomwit Puttakiaw^{*,**}, Thiraporn Tangjittiporn^{*}, Boonsub Sakboonyarat^{***}, Nawaporn Hirunviwatgul^{**}, Wantipa Wittayasai^{**}

*Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Queen Sirikit National Institute of Child Health, Bangkok, Thailand

Department of Psychiatry and Neurology, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand *Department of Military and Community Medicine, Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand

Abstract

Background: The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted on medical education and other areas of life causing psychological distress.

Objectives: The study aimed to assess psychological impact and coping and to identify factors associated psychological impact among medical students.

Methods: An online cross-sectional study was conducted at Phramongkutklao College of Medicine (PCM) in April 2021. All medical students were invited to complete a standardized online questionnaire for demographics data, impact of COVID-19, coping, fear of illness and virus evaluation (FIVE). The Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21) Thai version was used to assess the psychological impact. The factors associated with depression, anxiety and stress were analyzed using logistic regression analysis.

Results: In total, 256 medical students completed the questionnaire. Of these, 54.7% reported having psychological impact, 43.4% depression, 36.7% anxiety and 29.7% stress. Depression was associated with preclinical students (adjusted OR(AOR) =3.03, 95% confidence interval (95% CI) =1.54-5.97), sleep problem (AOR =2.20, 95% CI=1.16-4.16) and extreme deterioration of family income (AOR =7.27, 95% CI=1.81-29.29). Anxiety was associated with preclinical students (AOR =3.20, 95% CI=1.52-6.72), COVID-19 like symptoms (AOR =2.93, 95% CI=1.26-6.83), slight problems adjusting to new learning methods (AOR =6.11, 95% CI=1.54-24.24) and extreme deterioration of family income (AOR =8.29, 95% CI=1.44-47.59). Stress was associated with preclinical students (AOR =3.84, 95% CI=1.75-8.40), COVID-19-like symptoms (AOR =3.54, 95% CI=1.53-8.19), and no confidence in COVID-19 policy of PCM (AOR =2.3, 95% CI=1.06-4.98). A positive correlation between Fear of Illness and Virus Evaluation (FIVE) and psychological impact was observed (r=0.449; p<0.001). Common coping activities were the use of social media, video chats and exercise.

Conclusion: A high prevalence of psychological impact was observed among medical students during the COVID-19 pandemic. To establish psychological support and resilience, training is needed to improve mental wellbeing and prepare medical students to cope with unprecedented situations.

Keywords: Psychological impact, Covid-19, Coping, Medical students, Phramongklao College of medicine (PCM)

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6:e0106 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.106

Correspondence to: Puttakiaw P, Queen Sirikit National Institute of Child Health, 420/8 Rajavithi Rd, Rajathevee, Bangkok 10400 Thailand E-mail: pp.poomwit@gmail.com

Received: 28 September 2021 Revised: 5 February 2022 Accepted: 10 February 2022

Introduction

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic started in December 2019 in China and then spread rapidly worldwide. ⁽¹⁾ Since May 2021, 153,738,171 cases of COVID-19 have been confirmed globally, including 3,217,281 deaths, as reported by the World Health Organization (WHO).⁽²⁾ In Thailand at that time, 74,900 cases of COVID-19 including 318 deaths were confirmed. ⁽³⁾

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused public panic and deterioration in mental wellbeing. Medical healthcare workers are particularly at risk of psychological distress.⁽⁴⁾ Moreover, medical students have higher rates of mental illness, such as anxiety and depression than the general population⁽⁵⁻⁷⁾ due to social isolation, lack of vaccinations at the beginning, having sudden transition to synchronized online/virtual learning as well as impacts to other areas of life.⁽⁸⁻⁹⁾

Many global medical educational studies have been conducted to assess the psychological impact among medical students during the COVID-19 pandemic.⁽¹⁰⁻¹³⁾ A study from China reported 24.9% of medical students experienced anxiety symptoms due to the impact of daily living, having relatives or acquaintances infected with COVID-19 and delays in academic activities.(10) In Pakistan, 75.8% of medical students were afraid of becoming infected during rotations while 73.9% did not believe that their institutions could handle the situation.⁽¹¹⁾ Final year medical students in the UK experienced stress about the OSCE examination and the transition from being students to doctors.⁽¹²⁾ In Australia, 68% of Australian medical students reported deterioration in mental wellbeing. The common coping activities were the use of video chats, social media, exercise and hobbies.⁽¹³⁾

In Thailand, from 1996 to 1997, mental health surveys of medical students were conducted at Srinakharinwirot University where 24.63% reported severe stress resulting in mental health problems. Associated factors related to mental problems included the academic year of students; second year students had the highest number of stress episodes due to financial issues, accommodation problems, extra-curricular activities and relationships with parents, teachers and friends.⁽¹⁴⁾ Studies concerning the mental health of the medical students at Prince of Songkla University used a questionnaire (Thai GHQ-12) indicating that 29.1% were at risk for mental health problems.⁽¹⁵⁾ In 2008, a study focused on the prevalence and sources of stress among medical students. Phramongkutklao College of Medicine reported that 31.94% had stress condition; 20.60% of the respondents had mild stress while 11.34% had significant stress levels affecting their daily lives.⁽¹⁶⁾

Even though research has been published about assessing the psychological impact of medical students during the COVID-19 pandemic in many countries, studies regarding this topic in Thailand remain limited. This study aimed to assess the psychological impact, investigate activities that medical students used to cope during the COVID-19 pandemic and identify factors associated with psychological impacts among medical students at Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, the only military medical school in Thailand providing a unique curriculum for military medicine expertise.

Methods

Study designs and setting

The protocol of this study was reviewed and approved by the Royal Thai Army Medical Department Institutional Review Board (approval number R008q/64 Ex). The sample size calculation required for this study was 181 participants. An online cross-sectional study was conducted at Phramongkutklao College of Medicine from 1 to 14 April 2021 during the first two weeks of the third wave of the COVID 19 outbreak in Thailand. An electronic survey was conducted including informed consent in Google forms and the survey link was distributed through Line and Facebook applications. During the survey, medical curriculum was modified and shifted to a combination of face-to-face and online/ virtual learning activities.

Participants

Participants were enrolled from 490 second to sixth year medical students, Phramongkutklao

College of Medicine, agreeing to participate to the study and able to respond to online questionnaire. Answers could only be taken and submitted once to avoid replicated responses. Participants with severe medical or psychiatric illness, diagnosed with Covid-19 were excluded.

Measures

General information questionnaire

The general information questionnaire consisted of 30 items that the researcher created to collect demographic data, determine health status and learning platforms, information related to COVID-19, i.e., its impact, level of exposure to the disease and relevant coping activities. The questionnaire was examined by three psychiatrists who were experts in child and adolescent health including an investigator who pilot-tested 30 people to examine the reliability of the questionnaire having a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.86.

Fear of Illness and Virus Evaluation (FIVE)-Adult Report Form

The FIVE form was created by Prof. Jill Ehrenreich-May from Miami University.⁽¹⁷⁻¹⁸⁾ The scale consisting of 35 items also includes child, parent, and adult forms. The adult form was used in this study. Participants rated the scores from 1 to 4 based on the frequency of each item. The scale consisted of 4 parts: fear about contamination and illness (9 items), fear about social distancing (10 items), behaviors related to illness and fear of virus (14 items) and impact of illness and fear of virus (2 items). Permission was obtained and the survey was translated to Thai by three psychiatrists of whom two were experts in child and adolescent health. The investigator tested for reliability by pretesting 30 people using the questionnaire for which a Cronbach's alpha coefficient was obtained at 0.90.

Depression anxiety stress scale (DASS-21)

The DASS-21 is a set of three self-reported scales designed to measure the emotional states of depression, anxiety, and stress. The scale consists of 21 items. Participants rated each item starting from 0 to 3. The depression scale

assesses dysphoria, hopelessness, devaluation of life, self-deprecation, and lack of interest/ involvement as well as anhedonia and inertia. The anxiety scale assesses autonomic arousal, skeletal muscle effects, situational anxiety and subjective experience of anxious affect. The stress scale is sensitive to levels of chronic nonspecific arousal. The DASS-21 Thai obtained an acceptable internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.75$).⁽¹⁹⁾ In this study, permission was obtained from those who prepared the Thai forms.

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 23.0 (Armonk, NY: IBM Corp., released 2015). Demographic data were determined using descriptive statistics. Categorical data were presented as numbers and percentages, while continuous data were presented as mean and standard deviation (SD). The prevalence of psychological impact was determined using descriptive statistics and reported as a percentage with a 95% confidence interval (95% CI). The chi-square test was used to compare categorical data. Multivariable regression analysis was performed to identify factors associated with psychological impact (depression, anxiety and stress). Adjusted odds ratio (AOR) from the multivariate analysis was presented with corresponding 95% CI, and statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. Pearson's (r) correlation analysis was used to evaluate the linear relation between Fear of Illness and Virus Evaluation (FIVE) and psychological impact (DASS-21).

Results

Demographic data

A total of 256 medical students participated in the study with a 52.24% response rate. Of these, 142 (55.5%) were males and 128 (50%) were preclinical students. More than one half of the participants (55.1%) reported sleep problems. Most participants were at no risk of exposure to virus infection (86.3%), 19.1% had COVID-19like symptoms, and 67.6% did not believe that the institution could handle the situation (**Table1**).

22 (8.6)

22 (8.6)

104 (40.6)

Mean 5.4 ±1.20

35 (13.7)

76 (30.2)

49 (19.1)

8 (3.1)

SD)

Characteristic	Frequency N (%)
Sex	
Male	142 (55.5)
Female	114 (44.5)
Age	Mean 22 (±1.57 SD
Year of Course	
Clinical students (MD 4-6)	128 (50.0)
Preclinical students (MD 2-3)	128 (50.0)
Underlying medical diseases	50 (19.5)

A visit to psychiatric clinic/ psychiatrist/ psychologist

Have a relative or close acquaintance with Covid-19

Table 1. General	l characteristics	of medical	students
------------------	-------------------	------------	----------

Family history of psychiatric illness

Average hours of sleep per day

Have Covid-19-like symptoms

The family lives in a high risk area

Risk of Covid-19 exposure

Sleep problems



📃 greatly impact 📃 slightly impact 📃 no impact

Figure 1. Impact of Covid-19 pandemic

For impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, medical students had been affected by both academic and personal issues; 97.3% reported a significant lack of practical skills, 89.1% were affected by unstable learning methods and promotion to the upper class, 83.2% had greatly decreased confidence in practicing medicine in the future and 73.4% had greatly affected family economic status (Figure 1).

Psychological impact on medical students

Using the DASS-21 form, 140 (54.7%) reported psychological impact. The second to sixth year medical students were affected by mental health issues at 70.7, 55.6, 44.2, 44.6 and 37.9%, respectively. The subscale and severity are shown in Table 2.

	MD 2	MD 3	MD 4	MD 5	MD 6
	n (%)				
Psychological impact (at least 1 symptom)	65 (70.7)	20 (55.6)	19 (44.2)	25 (44.6)	11 (37.9)
Depression					
normal	35 (38.0)	25 (69.4)	30 (69.8)	35 (62.5)	20 (69.0)
mild	20 (21.7)	3 (8.3)	3 (7.0)	3 (5.4)	2 (6.9)
moderate	25 (27.2)	4 (11.1)	5 (11.6)	10 (17.9)	7 (24.1)
severe	7 (7.6)	4 (11.1)	2 (4.7)	3 (5.4)	0 (0.0)
extremely severe	5 (5.4)	0 (0.0)	3 (7.0)	5 (8.9)	0 (0.0)
Anxiety					
normal	47 (51.1)	23 (63.9)	30 (69.8)	39 (69.6)	23 (79.3)
mild	15 (16.3)	6 (16.7)	6 (14.0)	8 (14.3)	2 (6.9)
moderate	17 (18.5)	3 (8.3)	2 (4.7)	3 (5.4)	3 (10.3)
severe	7 (7.6)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	4 (7.1)	1 (3.4)
extremely severe	6 (6.5)	4 (11.1)	5 (11.6)	2 (3.6)	0 (0.0)
Stress					
normal	52 (56.5)	27 (75.0)	34 (79.1)	40 (71.4)	27 (93.1)
mild	9 (9.8)	2 (5.6)	0 (0.0)	7 (12.5)	1 (3.4)
moderate	19 (20.7)	3 (8.3)	5 (11.6)	4 (7.1)	1 (3.4)
severe	8 (8.7)	4 (11.1)	4 (9.3)	4 (7.1)	0 (0.0)
extremely severe	4 (4.3)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (1.8)	0 (0.0)

Table 2. Psychological	impact among medical students
------------------------	-------------------------------

Clinical students (MD 4-6), Preclinical students (MD 2-3)

Fear of Illness and Virus Evaluation (FIVE)

Regarding the evaluation of all participants, a positive correlation was observed between FIVE scale scores and the psychological impact (DASS-21 scale) (r=0.449; p<0.001). Using the FIVE adult report form, the results showed that the fear about virus and illness subscale were as followed: 12.9% of students were always afraid of family members might get sick or die, and 11.3% were constantly afraid that they might do something to cause someone getting illness or infection. About the fear of social distancing subscale, 22.3% were unable to enjoy good things and 13.7% had a difficult time to do things they liked. About their behaviors related to illness and virus fear subscale, 57.4% wore masks over their faces or used other protective gear all the time and 38.3% used social media to continue connecting to their friends. About the impact of illness and virus fear subscale, 2.3% were afraid that an illness or virus infection would cause them to experience stress emotion and 1.2% were afraid that an illness or virus infection would involve the way of enjoying their lives (Figures 2-5).

Coping activities that were used to help with mental wellbeing

Common coping activities comprised the use of social media, video chats and exercise. Comparing coping strategies between preclinical and clinical students, a significant difference in using social media applications, consulting with friends/senior and joining activities/club of the college was observed (**Table 3**).

Coping activity	Total (%)	Preclinical students (%)	Clinical students (%)	p-value
Social media applications	241 (94.1)	125(97.6)	116(90.6)	0.017*
Video call/Chat	211 (82.4)	109(85.1)	102(79.6)	0.250
Exercises	207 (80.9)	107(83.1)	100(78.1)	0.266
Search for more information to be prepared and protect oneself	145 (56.6)	72(56.2)	73(57.0)	0.900
Consult with friends/seniors	144 (56.3)	84(65.6)	64(50.0)	0.002*
Join activities/clubs of the college	92 (35.9)	54(42.1)	38(29.6)	0.037*
Do meditation or study religious teachings	69 (27)	38(29.6)	31(24.2)	0.324
Consult with advisors	60 (23.4)	35(27.3)	25(19.5)	0.140
Use drugs, alcohol, and/or cigarettes	23 (9)	13(10.1)	10(7.8)	0.512
Consult a psychologist/ psychiatrist	20 (7.8)	9(7.0)	11(8.5)	0.641
Consult via online mental health/telephone	19 (7.4)	9(7.0)	10(7.8)	0.812
Others	40 (15.6)	25(19.5)	15(11.7)	0.085

 Table 3. Coping activities used among medical students

*Significance at *p*< 0.05

Factors associated with the psychological impact

The results of ordinal multivariate analysis of factors associated with the psychological impact of medical cadets and medical students during the COVID-19 pandemic are presented in **Table 4**. Depression was associated with preclinical students, sleep problems and extreme deterioration in family economic status. Anxiety was associated with preclinical students, COVID-19-like symptoms, slight problems in adapting to a new learning method and extreme deterioration in family economic status. Stress was associated with preclinical students, COVID-19-like symptoms and no confidence in prevention or control of COVID-19 due to the college's policy.

Discussion

This study revealed that one half of students had psychological effects: depression, anxiety or stress. The findings on the effects on mental health were similar to those reported in other countries.^(13, 20, 21) During unprecedented situations, improving medical students' mental health has become a higher priority to reduce psychological effects. Both males and females experienced similar effects on their mental health status;⁽⁸⁾ thus, sex was not a determinant factor in developing psychological impact among medical students in Phramongkutklao College of Medicine. The results of this study did not agree with the findings reported from Australia and Turkey where being female had a significant psychological influence. (13, 22) Our study revealed that medical students studying in the preclinical year experienced increased depression, anxiety and stress during the Covid-19 pandemic. This was consistent with other studies reporting that preclinical medical students experienced greater psychological impact because of their lack of expertise in patient care and comprehension of the disease pandemic.^(9, 23, 24) Because preclinical students were less resilient, they struggled more



Figure 2. Fears about Contamination and Illness



Figure 3. Fears about Social Distancing



Figure 4. Behaviors Related to Illness and Virus Fears





	Depression				Anxiety		Stress		
	AOR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	AOR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	AOR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Class									
clinic	1			1			1		
preclinical	3.03	1.54-5.97	0.001*	3.20	1.52-6.72	0.002*	3.84	1.75-8.40	0.001*
Sleep proble	em								
No	1			1			1		
Yes	2.20	1.16-4.16	0.015*	1.40	0.70-2.80	0.345	1.32	0.65-2.68	0.445
Covid-19 lik	e sympt	toms							
No	1			1			1		
Yes	1.52	0.68-3.43	0.309	2.93	1.26-6.83	0.012*	3.54	1.53-8.19	0.003*
	in Covi	d-19 policy of	of PCM						
Yes	1			1			1		
No	1.41	0.74-2.70	0.298	1.93	0.95-3.93	0.070	2.3	1.06-4.98	0.035*
Problems wi	•	otation to a n	iew learnii	ng metho	d				
1	1			1			1		
Slight problem	1.6	0.46-5.54	0.461	6.11	1.54-24.24	0.010*	1.29	0.32-5.23	0.719
Significant problem	1.53	0.66-3.54	0.323	1.08	0.43-2.74	0.872	0.54	0.20-1.43	0.215
Family financial status									
No problem	1			1			1		
Slight problem	3.11	0.67- 14.34	0.146	2.31	0.33-16.2	0.401	3.05	0.48-19.61	0.240
Great problem	7.27	1.81- 29.29	0.005*	8.29	1.44-47.59	0.018*	4.47	0.84-23.76	0.079

Table 4. Factors associated with the psychological impact

AOR= adjusted odds ratio, *Significance at *p*-value < 0.05

with self-adaptation to new learning patterns than clinical students. ⁽²⁵⁻²⁶⁾ According to a 26-year retrospective study in Thailand, preclinical students used counseling services at a higher rate than those of clinical students, and second year medical students were the most likely to use mental health services.⁽²⁷⁾ Besides the stress of studying medicine in PCM, the stress of the military training was added, especially in preclinical classes that had more intense military training than those of clinical classes.⁽²⁸⁾ In our study, preclinical students were more likely than clinical students to use social media applications, consult with friends/seniors and participate in college activities/clubs. The suitable techniques to promote their mental wellbeing were online therapy or online extracurricular activities.

During the Covid-19 outbreak, medical students with Covid-19-like symptoms were more likely to experience mental health issues.^(10,11) The fear of Covid-19 was positively correlated with anxiety among US college students.⁽²⁹⁾ In Vietnam, medical students who reported having greater fear of the COVID-19 scales had lower health literacy and mental health deterioration.⁽²⁴⁾ Similarly, our study indicated that students with Covid-19like symptoms experienced significantly higher levels of anxiety and stress. Furthermore, using Pearson's correlation analysis, a correlation between the fear of illness/virus evaluation and the psychological impact was observed.

To avoid putting themselves at risk of developing COVID-19, it became critical to remain healthy throughout this time. Moreover, medical students' sleep hygiene should not be disregarded, as sleep problems constitute physical and mental health hazards. (20-21) Jianping et al. reported that 33.2% of medical students reported poor sleep quality during the Covid-19 pandemic.⁽³⁰⁾ A meta-analysis showed a higher prevalence of sleep problems among healthcare professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic.⁽³¹⁾ According to the SLEEP-50 questionnaire, a related study showed two thirds of medical students were at risk of at least one sleep disorder. Furthermore, all sleep disorders were associated with low academic performance.⁽³²⁾ In Mexico, depression symptoms among medical students were associated with academic stress and sleep problems.⁽³³⁾ Our findings also revealed that 40.6% of students experienced sleep issues, with sleep issues being associated with depression among medical students. Depression is linked to a functional decrease in serotoninergic neurotransmission as well as specific sleep disturbances, particularly insomnia.⁽³⁴⁾ However, specific details defining the sleep disorder were not clarified in this study. From this study, medical students obtained an average of 5.4 hours of sleep nightly. According to a study conducted at Srinakharinwirot University, sleeping for less than six hours resulted in poor academic performance as well as increased stress.⁽³⁵⁾

The learning platform for medical students was shifted to online according to the social distancing policy. This study found that students who had difficulties adapting to a new learning technique experienced anxiety. The majority of students reported lacking practical skills and had low confidence in their abilities to practice medicine in the future. As a result, developing a curriculum to improve the medical educational process during the COVID-19 pandemic remains a top goal. Our findings revealed that two thirds of medical students lacked trust in the institution's policies which was significantly associated with stress. During the pandemic, educational institutions and hospitals must have robust and immediate safeguards in place to decrease the danger of infection while also mitigating stress and anxiety.⁽²³⁾In Pakistan, 73.9% of medical students had little faith in their institutions' policies since more time had to be spent on epidemic prevention.⁽⁹⁾ Thus, the curriculum had to be expanded to include emergency responses, i.e., disasters, outbreaks and other emergencies.⁽³⁶⁾ Aside from the effects on learning and the likelihood of infection with Covid-19, the effects on the family in terms of economic stability and harmful relationship within the family had a direct association with the effects on mental health.⁽¹⁰⁾ Our findings revealed that medical students encountering a significant impact on their family's socioeconomic situation were more likely to experience depression and anxiety. During the epidemic, most medical students relied on social networking applications, video chats and exercise to unwind. When they experienced troubles, only 23% had to meet their advisors, and only 7.8% had to see psychiatrists or psychologists. Medical students have used a variety of techniques to cope with their COVID-19-induced mental health difficulties in reported studies. Spending time outside, having physical activities and exercise, using video calls plus social media applications as well as being mindfulness and meditation retreat were some of the tactics used to increase mental wellbeing.⁽³⁷⁾ Following the COVID-19 outbreak, physical activities and exercise have been proven to be particularly useful tools in aiding mental health of English medical students.⁽³⁸⁾

Problem-adaptive coping and resilience training should be included in mental health treatment for medical students, especially at the preclinical level to improve the abilities needed for improved health care, sleep quality and mental health. Teaching and learning plans should include defined evaluation criteria. Furthermore, topic teachers should be available for online consultations to facilitate learning support. To enhance the impact of comprehensive mental health care, an online adviser, psychiatrist and psychologist should be available. Because this study employed a cross-sectional survey of the Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, the results should be interpreted with caution when applied to other medical institutions. Self-reported data collection has a limitation in terms of data dependability and is susceptible to recall bias. As a result, a study using molecular biomarkers tests, such as salivary cortisol levels⁽³⁹⁾ and salivary amylase, is required.⁽⁴⁰⁾

Following up the mental health condition to evaluate any changes is also necessary. The lack of clarity regarding sleep problems, the severity of the underlying mental or medical diagnosis and health literacy may all be key factors in the psychological impact involving this study.

Conclusion

Medical students represent a vulnerable group that is prone to high levels of stress as a result of their studies, particularly during the COVID-19 epidemic, which could disrupt their education, family and other areas of life. During the COVID-19 epidemic, a high prevalence of psychological effects was observed among medical students. It remains critical to address the consequences of COVID-19 on medical students' mental health to provide psychological support and resilience training to promote mental wellbeing.

References

- World Health Organization. Coronavirus Disease (COVID-2019) Situation Reports; WHO: Geneva, Switzerland,2020; Available online: https://www.who.int/emergencies/ diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/situationreports/(accessed on 4 May 2020)
- WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard [Internet]. Covid19.who.int 2021 [cited 5 May 2021]. Available from: https://covid19. who.int/
- COVID-19 situation reports [Internet]. Covid19.ddc.moph.go.th 2021 [cited 5 May 2021]. Available from: https://covid19.ddc. moph.go.th/
- 4. Bao Y, Sun Y, Meng S, Shi J, Lu L. 2019-nCoV epidemic: address mental health care to empower society. Lancet 2020; 395: e37-e38.

- 5. Hope V, Henderson M. Medical student depression, anxiety and distress outside North America: a systematic review. Med Ed 2014; 48: 963-79.
- 6. Dyrbye L, Thomas M, Shanafelt T. Systematic review of epression, anxiety, and other indicators of psychological distress among U.S. and Canadian medical students. Acad Med 2006; 81: 354-73.
- Rotenstein L, Ramos M, Torre M, Segal J, Peluso M, Guille C et al. Prevalence of depression, depressive symptoms, and suicidal ideation among medical students. JAMA 2016; 316: 2214.
- Monfared A, Akhondzadeh L, Soleimani R, Maroufizadeh S, Pouy S, Asgari F. Psychological distress and coping strategies among clinicians and medical students during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A crosssectional study in Guilan, Iran. Shiraz E-Med J 2021; 22: 228-35
- 9. Al-Balas M, Al-Balas H, Jaber H, Obeidat K, Al-Balas H, Aborajooh E et al. Correction to Distance learning in clinical medical education amid COVID-19 pandemic in Jordan: current situation, challenges, and perspectives. BMC Med Ed 2020; 20: 1-7.
- Cao W, Fang Z, Hou G, Han M, Xu X, Dong J, et al. The psychological impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on college students in China. Psychiatry Res 2020; 287: 112934: 1-5.
- Ahmed N, Khan A, Naveed HA, Moizuddin SM, Khan J. Concerns of undergraduate medical students towards an outbreak of COVID-19. Inter J Cur Med Pharm Res 2020; 6: 5055–62.
- 12. Choi B, Jegatheeswaran L, Minocha A, Alhilani M, Nakhoul M, Mutengesa E. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on final year medical students in the United Kingdom: a national survey. BMC Medical Ed 2020; 20: 1–11.
- Lyons, Z., Wilcox, H., Leung, L. and Dearsley, O., 2020. COVID-19 and the mental well-being of Australian medical students: impact, concerns and coping strategies used. Australas Psychiatry 2020; 28: 649-52.

e0106

- Turakitwanakan V. Mental health of Srinakharinwirot University medical students. J Psychiatr Assoc Thailand 1997; 42: 88-100.
- Kunadison W, Pitanupong J. Mental health and associated factors in Prince of Songkla University medical students. Songkla Med J 2010; 28: 139-44.
- Suritikamol L, Hirunviwatgul N, Ratanawilai A. Prevalence and source of stress among the medical cadets and the medical students in Phramongkutklao College of Medicine. J Psychiatr Assoc Thailand 2010; 55: 329-36.
- 17. Fear of illness and virus evaluation (FIVE) scales for child-, parent- and adult-report.
 | Anxiety and Depression Association of America, ADAA [Internet]. Adaa.org. 2021
 [cited 25 August 2021]. Available from: https://adaa.org/node/5168
- 18. Çölkesen F, Kılınçel O, Sözen M, Yıldız E, Beyaz Ş, Çölkesen F et al. The Impact of SARS-CoV-2 Transmission fear and the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of patients with primary immunodeficiency disorders and severe asthma, and other highrisk groups. Asthma Allergy Immunol 2021; 19: 84-91
- Oei T, Sawang S, Goh Y, Mukhtar F. Using the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 21 (DASS-21) across cultures. Int J Psychol 2013;48: 1018-1029.
- 20. Saraswathi I, Saikarthik J, Senthil Kumar K, Madhan Srinivasan K, Ardhanaari M, Gunapriya R. Impact of COVID-19 outbreak on the mental health status of undergraduate medical students in a COVID-19 treating medical college: a prospective longitudinal study. Peer J 2020; 8: e10164.
- Nakhostin-Ansari A, Sherafati A, Aghajani F, Khonji M, Aghajani R, Shahmansouri N. Depression and anxiety among Iranian medical students during COVID-19 pandemic. Iran J Psychiatry 2020; 15: 228-35.
- 22. Torun F, Torun S. The psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on medical students in Turkey. Pak J Med Sci 2020; 36:1355-59
- 23. Koh D, Lim M, Chia S, Ko S, Qian F, Ng V, et al. Risk perception and impact of severe

acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) on work and personal lives of healthcare workers in Singapore. Med Care 2005; 43: 676-82.

- 24. Nguyen H, Do B, Pham K, Kim G, Dam H, Nguyen T, et al. Fear of COVID-19 scaleassociations of its scores with health literacy and health-related behaviors among medical students. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17: 4164.
- 25. Van der Merwe L, Botha A, Joubert G. Resilience and coping strategies of undergraduate medical students at the University of the Free State. S Afr J Psychiatr 2020; 26: 1-8.
- 26. Alsoufi A, Alsuyihili A, Msherghi A, Elhadi A, Atiyah H, Ashini A, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on medical education: medical students' knowledge, attitudes, and practices regarding electronic learning. PLOS ONE 2020; 15: e0242905.
- 27. Ketumarn P, Sitdhiraksa N, Sittironnarit G, Limsricharoen K, Pukrittayakamee P, Wannarit K. Psychiatric disorders and personality problems in medical students at Faculty of Medicine, Siriraj Hospital, Years 1982-2007. J Psychiatr Assoc Thailand 2013; 57: 427-38.
- 28. Suritikamol L, Ratanawilai A, Hirunviwatgul N. Prevalence and source of stress among the medical cadets and the medical students in Phramongkutklao College of Medicine. J Psychiatr Assoc Thailand. 2010; 55: 329-36.
- 29. Perz C, Lang B, Harrington R. Validation of the fear of COVID-19 scale in a US college sample. Int J Ment Health Addict 2020; 20: 273-83.
- 30. Xie J, Li X, Luo H, He L, Bai Y, Zheng F, et al. Depressive symptoms, sleep quality and diet during the 2019 novel coronavirus epidemic in China: a survey of medical students. Front Public Health 2021; 8:588578.
- 31. da Silva F, Neto M. Psychiatric symptomatology associated with depression, anxiety, distress, and insomnia in health professionals working in patients affected by COVID-19: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2021; 104: 110057.
- 32. Yassin A, Al-Mistarehi A, Beni Yonis O, Aleshawi A, Momany S, Khassawneh B. Prevalence of sleep disorders among medical students and their association with poor academic performance: a cross-sectional study. Ann Med Surg 2020; 58: 124-29.
- 33. Romo-Nava, F, Tafoya, S, Gutiérrez-Soriano, J, Osorio, Y, Carriedo, P, Ocampo, B, et al. The association between chronotype and perceived academic stress to depression in medical students. Chronobiol Int 2016; 33: 1359-68.
- 34. Adrien J. Neurobiological bases for the relation between sleep and depression. Sleep Med Rev 2002; 6: 341-51.
- 35. Kongsomboon K. Academic achievement correlated to stress, depression, and sleep deprivation in medical students. Srinagarind Med J 2013: 25: 109-14.
- 36. Xiang Y, Yang Y, Li W, Zhang L, Zhang Q, Cheung T et al. Timely mental health care for the 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak is

urgently needed. Lancet Psychiatry 2020; 7: 228-29.

- 37. Mittal R, Su L, Jain R. COVID-19 mental health consequences on medical students worldwide. J Community Hosp Intern Med Perspect 2021; 11: 296-8.
- 38. Coyle C, Ghazi H, Georgiou I. The mental health and well-being benefits of exercise during the COVID-19 pandemic: a crosssectional study of medical students and newly qualified doctors in the UK. Ir J Med Sci 2020; 190: 925-6.
- 39. Aardal-Eriksson E, Eriksson T, Holm A, Lundin T. Salivary cortisol and serum prolactin in relation to stress rating scales in a group of rescue workers. Biol Psychiatry 1999; 46: 850-55.
- 40. Rai B, Kaur J, Foing B. Salivary amylase and stress during stressful environment: Three Mars analog mission crews study. Neurosci Lett 2012; 518: 23-6.

FREQUENCIES OF PREDICTED MIA ANTIGEN AMONG SOUTHERN THAI BLOOD DONORS

Warunrat Khosidworachet, Supattra Mitundee**, Kamphon Intharanut*, Sasitorn Bejrachandra***, Oytip Nathalang**

*Graduate Program, Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Thammasat University, Pathumtani, Thailand

Regional Blood Centre 12th Songkhla, Thai Red Cross Society, Songkhla, Thailand *National Blood Centre, Thai Red Cross Society, Bangkok, Thailand

Abstract

Background: The Mi^a antigen (MNS7) of the MNS blood group system is clinically important in Asian populations. Anti-Mi^a has been implicated in hemolytic transfusion reactions and hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn in Thai populations. However, data of this antigen frequency among southern Thais remains unknown.

Objective: This study aimed to determine and predict Mi^a antigen frequencies among southern Thai blood donors and to estimate the risk of alloimmunization among Thais.

Methods: A cross-sectional study was conducted. Altogether, 400 southern and 500 central Thai blood samples were genotyped for GYP(B-A-B) and GYP(A-B-A) MNS hybrids using polymerase chain reaction with sequence-specific primer (PCR-SSP).

Results: Among them, 19 of 400 (4.45%), and 28 of 500 (9.33%) were positive with the set of GP. Hut, GP.HF, GP.Mur, GP.Hop, and GP.Bun. No GP.Vw phenotype was found among southern and central Thais. The predicted Mi(a+)frequency among southern Thais was significantly lower than among central and northern Thais (p<0.05). Its frequency was similar to Vietnamese, Taiwanese, and Southern Han Chinese populations (p>0.05) but significantly differed from Indonesian, Filipino, and Chinese (Guangzhou) populations (p<0.05). The risk of Mi^a alloimmunization among southern Thais was significantly lower than among both Thai groups (p<0.05).

Conclusion: This constitutes the first study to report Mi(a+) frequencies among southern Thais, supporting the estimation risk of alloimmunization and providing transfusion safety among Thai populations.

Keywords: Genotyping, MNS blood group system, Predicted Mi(a+) frequency, Southern Thais

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022; 6: e0107 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.107

Correspondence to: Nathalang O, Graduate Program, Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Thammasat University, Pathumtani 12120 Thailand, E-mail: oytipntl@hotmail.com

Received: 1 October 2021 Revised: 3 December 2021 Accepted: 6 December 2021

Introduction

The Miltenberger (Mi) subsystem was formally classified by Cleghorn in 1966.⁽¹⁾ The antigens carried on glycophorin A (GPA), and GPB and encoded by the glycophorin genes consisted of GYPA, GYPB, and GYPE genes of the MNS blood group system.^(2, 3) The formation of GYP(A-B-A) and GYP(B-A-B) hybrid genes encode various GP hybrid molecules expressed on the red cell membranes, and these hybrid GPs display an implicit phenotype profile of Mi^a antigens currently established as MNS7. Mi^a is an antigen illustrated in 7 hybrid GPs consisting of GP.Vw, GP.Hut, GP.HF, GP.Mur, GP.Hop, GP.Bun, and GP.Kip.⁽⁴⁾ These antigen frequencies are rare in Caucasians (0.012%), African Americans (0%) and Indian (0.2%) populations; however, higher frequencies are reported in Thai (9.7%) and Chinese (7.3%) populations.^(2, 5-7) Anti-Mi^a has been implicated in hemolytic transfusion reactions (HTRs),^(8, 9) hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn (HDFN),^(10, 11) and a case of hydrops fetalis.⁽¹²⁾ Hence, including Mi(a+) cells in reagent red cells would noteworthy for antibody detection in Asian populations. Southern Thai Muslim populations are concentrated mainly in three provinces: Pattani, Yala and Narathiwat near the border with Malaysia, and have different ethnic origins compared with other regions of Thailand. Concerning a related study, the frequency of Mi^a antigen varies among Malaysian blood donors in three ethnic groups consisting of Malay (2.08%), Chinese (4.9%), and Indian (3.0%). ⁽¹³⁾ The prevalence of this antigen may involve alloantibody formation among patients regularly transfused in different ethnic groups. To date, the data of Mi^a antigen frequency among southern Thai blood donors remains unknown. This study aimed to determine and predict Mi^a antigen frequency among southern Thai blood donors to estimate the risk of alloimmunization in Thai populations.

Methods

This study was approved by the Committee on Human Rights Related to Research Involving Human Subjects, Thammasat University, Pathumtani, Thailand COE No. 013/2564). Informed consent was signed by all study participants. The study included EDTA-anticoagulated blood from 900 unrelated healthy Thai blood donors. In all, 400 and 500 samples were obtained from the Regional Blood Centre 12th Songkhla, Thai Red Cross Society, Songkhla, and the National Blood Centre, Thai Red Cross Society (NBC-TRC), Bangkok, Thailand. All 400 samples were from Thai-Muslim donors living in the three southern border provinces of Pattani, Yala and Narathiwat.

Genomic DNA was extracted from peripheral blood samples using the DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit according to manufacturer instructions (QIAGEN GmbH, Valencia, CA, USA), then stored at -20°C until used for genotyping. A PCR-SSP technique to detect two MNS hybrid GPs; GYP(B-A-B) and GYP(A-B-A) were performed using two sets of primers, according to a relatedstudy.^(14, 15) Control DNA of known Mi(a+) positive phenotypes was from our in house collections and GP.Vw DNA controls were provided by Dr. Genghis H. Lopez, Research and Development Laboratory, Clinical Services and Research Division, Australian Red Cross Blood Service, Brisbane, Australia. In the PCR, 1 μ L of genomic DNA (50 ng/ μ L) was amplified using 0.5 µL of 10 µM F2 primer

(5'-CCCTTTCTCAACTTCTCTTATATGC AGATAA-3') and 0.5 µL of 10 µM Rccgg primer (5'-GAGCAACTATTTAAAACTAAGAACA TACCGG-3') for the first set of GYP(B-A-B)detection. For the second set of GYP(A-B-A) detection, 0.5 µL of 10 µM F1 primer (5'-CAG-CATTTCTCTAAAGGCTAAATAAGAAGATG-TA-3') and 0.5 µL of 10 µM RIN primer (5'-CA TATGTGTCCCGTTTGTGCA-3'). Moreover, 0.5 µL of 6 µ MHGH-434-F primer (5'-TGC CTTCCCAACCATTCCCTT A-3') and 0.5 µL, 6 μM of HGH-434-R(5'-CCACTCACGGATT TCTGTTGTGTGTTTC-3') primer were included in both sets of GYP(B-A-B) and GYP(A-B-A) detections. PCR of each MNS hybrid GP detection was performed using 5 µL of 2X PCR reaction mixture (Green Hot Start PCR Master Mix, Biotechrabbit GmbH, Hennigsdorf, Germany), and 2 μ L of distilled water added to a final volume of 10 µL.

PCR amplification of two sets was performed in a T100 Thermal cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., USA). For the first set of GYP(B-A-B) detection, the cycling parameters for the PCR program consisted of 1 cycle at 95°C for 5 min, followed by 30 cycles at 95°C for 30 sec, 62°C for 40 sec 72°C for 30 sec, with a final extension at 72°C for 5 min. For the second set of GYP(A-B-A)detection, the cycling parameters for the PCR program consisted of 10 cycles at 95°C for 30 sec, followed by 10 cycles at 95°C for 10 sec, 64°C for 1 min, 30 cycles at 95°C for 10 sec, 61°C for 50 sec, 72°C for 30 sec, with a final extension at 72°C for 5 min. PCR products were electrophoresed at 100 V with a 1.5% agarose gel containing 10,000X fluorescent DNA gel stain (SYBR Safe DNA gel stain) using 1X TBE buffer. Products were visualized under a blue-light transilluminator.

Altogether, 900 samples of Thai blood donors including 400 and 500 from southern and central Thais were employed for *GYP (A-B-A)* and *GYP (B-A-B)* hybrid detections using PCR-SSP.

Statistical analysis

(a)

bp

1,000

500

400 300 200

100

bp

(b)

The frequencies of predicted Mi(a+) were calculated using the gene counting method.

М

M

1

2

3

4

5

6

NTC

bp

2

3

5

6

NTC

bp

434, (HGH)

The differences in $Mi(a^+)$ frequencies between southern Thai and other populations were compared using a chi-square test of homogeneity. In addition, the risk estimation of Mi^a alloimmunization was obtained by multiplying the probability of having a predicted Mi(a-) phenotype frequency by the probability of having a predicted Mi(a+) phenotype frequency. All statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS, Version 16.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). A *p*-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

The PCR-SSP results of MNS hybrid GP detections are shown in **Figure 1**. The GYP(B-A-B) hybrids of GYP*Hut, GYP*Mur; GYP*Hop, GYP*Bun, and GYP*HF were amplified with the first set of primers (the product size of 148 or 151 bp), whereas GYP*Vw of the GYP(A-B-A) hybrids was amplified using the second set of primers (the product size of 296 bp). The DNA controls were also tested using these two sets of primers, and the results agreed.

148 or 151, (*GYP*Hut*, *GYP*Mur*, *GYP*Hop*, *GYP*Bun*, and *GYP*HF*)



		<i>GYP(B-A-B)</i> hybrids			
Population	Number	Mi(a+)	Mi(a-)	χ^2	<i>p</i> -value
Southern Thai (This study)	400	19	381		
Central Thai (This study)	500	51	449	9.202	0.002
Northern Thai ⁽¹⁵⁾	300	67	233	49.183	< 0.001
Vietnamese (16)	160	10	150	0.524	0.469
Taiwanese ⁽¹⁶⁾	167	7	160	0.084	0.772
Indonesian ⁽¹⁶⁾	285	5	280	4.417	0.035
Filipino ⁽¹⁶⁾	262	20	242	179.851	< 0.001
Southern Han Chinese ⁽¹⁷⁾	3,104	201	2,903	1.792	0.181
Chinese (Guangzhou) ⁽¹⁸⁾	528	51	477	7.864	0.005

Table 1. Occurrence of *GYP(B-A-B)* hybrids in Asian populations determined by PCR-based assays

Table 2. Estimations of risk for Mi^a alloimmunization in Thai populations

		The freq	uencies of	Risk of Mi ^a	
Population	Number	predicted Mi ^a phenotype		alloimmunization	
	-	Negative	Positive	anonnnunization	
Southern Thai	400	0.953	0.047	0.045	
Central Thai	500	0.898	0.102	0.092^{*}	
Northern Thai ⁽¹⁵⁾	300	0.777	0.223	0.173*	

**p*<0.05

Among 400 southern and 500 central Thai blood donors, 19 (4.45%), and 28 (9.33%) were positive only with the set of primers specific for GP.Hut, GP.HF, GP.Mur, GP.Hop, and GP.Bun. No GP.Vw phenotype was identified by PCR-SSP technique among southern and central Thais. Regarding the positive results of the MNS hybrid GPs by PCR-SSP, the predicted Mi(a+) frequency among southern Thais was significantly lower than that among central (p=0.002) and northern Thais (p < 0.001).⁽¹⁵⁾ The Mi(a+) frequency between southern Thais and other populations was compared. The frequencies were similar to Vietnamese, Taiwanese, and Southern Han Chinese populations (p>0.05).^(16, 17) On the contrary, its frequency significantly differed from Indonesian, Filipino, and Chinese (Guangzhou) populations (p < 0.05).^(16,18), as shown in **Table 1**. In addition, the risk of Mi^a alloimmunization among southern Thais was significantly lower than those among central and northern Thais (p<0.05), as shown in **Table 2**.

Discussion

In Thailand, blood group allele frequencies have been studied among central, northern and southern Thais. The DI^*A allele (predicted Di^a antigen) was significantly lower among southern Thais, while the JK^*01 allele (predicted Jk^a antigen) and *KEL*01* allele (predicted K antigen) were significantly higher among southern Thais than among central and northern Thais.⁽¹⁹⁾ However, the Mi^a frequencies have not yet been reported in southern Thailand. This study constitutes the first to identify the predicted Mi^a frequencies in Thai Muslim populations, which have their own religion, culture and sustainable lifestyle.

Regarding the genotyping of MNS hybrid GP results using PCR-SSP among the four types; GP.Mur, GP.Hop, GP.Bun, and GP.HF of *GYP*

e0107

(B-A-B) hybrids, GP.Mur is commonly found in Asian and Australian populations.^(4, 14, 16-18) Notably, GP.Vw of the GYP(A-B-A) hybrids was not found among southern and central Thais, similar to related studies in Thai and other Asian populations.^(14, 16-18) The predicted Mi(a+) phenotype among southern Thais (4.8%) is closely related to Chinese-Malaysians (4.9%) but unrelated to Malay and Indian Malaysians (2.08% and 3.0%, respectively).⁽¹³⁾ Even though the probability of finding the Mi(a+) phenotype among southern Thais is lower than among central and northern Thais, anti-E and anti-Mi^a are frequently found among southern Thai patients requiring repeated transfusions.^(20, 21) Hence, the use of PCR-based assay to predict Mi^a antigen in blood donors and chronically transfused patients would be helpful to reduce alloimmunization risks and the above-mentioned adverse events. This study confirmed that it would pose no difficulty to find Mi^a antigen-negative donors for Thai patients with anti-Mi^a except among chronically transfused patients with multiple antibodies including anti-Mi^a. The possibility of finding compatible donor blood in complex cases caused by multiple alloantibodies may be more difficult concerning potential donors with a compatible blood type. Concerning patients requiring repeated transfusions such as thalassemia, cancer, and chronic renal diseases, performing Mi^a antigen typing is suggested before transfusion therapy and Mi^a-compatible donor (s) should be provided to patients. In concordance with the Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis and management of thalassemia, the antigen typing of Rh (C, c, E, e) and MNS7 (Mi^a) is minimally required before the first transfusion. ⁽²²⁾ This particular blood group antigen frequency could support not only determining genetic variation but also enhancing the characterization of Thai populations, especially in blood transfusion therapy.

Conclusion

This study is the first to report Mi (a+) frequencies among southern Thai blood donors. This finding is helpful to estimate the risk of alloimmunization and to provide transfusion safety in Thai populations.

Disclosures

The authors declare they have no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgement

The authors gratefully acknowledge the financial support provided by the National Research Council of Thailand.

References

- Cleghorn TE. A memorandum on the Miltenberger blood groups. Vox Sang 1966; 1: 219-22.
- Daniels G. Human blood groups, 3rd ed. Malden, MA, Blackwell Science, 2013.
- Reid ME, Lomas-Francis C, Olsson M. The blood group antigen factsbook, 3rd ed. New York, Academic Press, 2012.
- Lopez GH, Wilson B, Turner RM, Millard GM, Roots NM, Liew YW, et al. Frequency of Mi^a (MNS7) and classification of Mi^a-positive hybrid glycophorins in an Australian blood donor population. Transfus Med Hemother 2020; 47: 279-86.
- Makroo RN, Bhatia A, Chowdhry M, Rosamma NL, Karna P. Frequency of Mi(a) antigen: A pilot study among blood donors. Indian J Med Res 2016; 143: 63-5.
- Chandanyingyong D, Pejrachandra S. Studies on the Miltenberger complex frequency in Thailand and family studies. Vox Sang 1965; 28: 152-5.
- Chen V, Halverson G, Wasniowska K, Lisowska E, Chen J, Moulds M, Reid ME. Direct evidence for the existence of Miltenberger antigen. Vox Sang 2001; 80: 230-3.
- Chiewsilp P, Yodpornpin W, Cherdchai S. Delayed hemolytic transfusion reaction due to anti-Mi^a [in Thai]. Thai J Hematol Transfus 1996; 6: 289-90.
- Lin M, Broadberry RE. An intravascular hemolytic transfusion reaction due to anti-'Mi(a)' in Taiwan. Vox Sang 1994; 67: 320.
- Cheng G, Hui CH, Lam CK, Hal SY, Wong L, Mak KH, Lin CK. Haemolytic transfusion reactions due to Mi-antibodies; need to include MiltenbergerIII positive cells in pre-transfusion antibody screening in Hong Kong. Clin Lab Haematol 1995; 17: 183-4.

- Lin CK, Mak KH, Szeto SC, Poon KH, Yuen CMY, Chan NK, et al. First case of haemolytic disease of the newborn due to anti-Mur in Hong Kong. Clin Lab Haematol 1996; 18: 19-22.
- 12. Wu KH, Chang JG, Lin M, Shih MC, Lin HC, Lee CC, et al. Hydrops foetalis caused by anti-Mur in first pregnancy--a case report. Transfus Med 2002; 12: 325-7.
- 13. Prathiba R, Lopez CG, Usin FM. The prevalence of GP Mur and anti- "Mia" in a tertiary hospital in Peninsula Malaysia. Malays J Pathol 2002; 24: 95-8.
- 14. Palacajornsuk P, Nathalang O, Tantimavanich S, Bejrachandra S, Reid ME. Detection of MNS hybrid molecules in the Thai population using PCR-SSP technique. Transfus Med 2007; 17: 169-74.
- 15. Intharanut K, Bejrachandra S, Nathalang S, Leetrakool N, Nathalang O. Red cell genotyping by multiplex PCR identifies antigen-matched blood units for transfusion-dependent Thai patients. Transfus Med Hemother 2017; 44: 358-64.
- 16. K, Lin YC, Chao HP, Lee TY, Lin M, Chan YS. Assessing the frequencies of GP.Mur (Mi.III) in several Southeast Asian populations by PCR typing. Transfus Apher Sci 2013; 49: 370-1.
- 17. Wei L, Lopez GH, Zhang Y, Wen J, Wang Z, Fu Y, et al. Genotyping analysis of MNS

blood group GP(B-A-B) hybrid glycophorins in the Chinese Southern Han population using a high-resolution melting assay. Transfusion 2018; 58: 1763-71.

- 18. Wei L, Shan ZG, Flower RL, Wang Z, Wen JZ, Luo GP, et al. The distribution of MNS hybrid glycophorins with Mur antigen expression in Chinese donors including identification of a novel GYP.Bun allele. Vox Sang 2016; 111: 308-14.
- 19. Nathalang O. Red cell genotyping in Thailand: trends for blood transfusion in Asian populations. VOXS 2020; 15: 310-4.
- 20. Promwong C, Siammai S, Hassarin S, Buakaew J, Yeela T, Soisangwan P, et al. Frequencies and specificities of red cell alloantibodies in the Southern Thai population. Asian J Transfus Sci 2013; 7: 16-20.
- 21. Kupatawintu P, Emthip M, Sungnoon D, O-vataga P, Manakul V, Limtamaporn S, et al. Unexpected antibodies of patients, blood samples sent for testing at NBC. TRCS [in Thai]. J Hematol Transfus Med 2010; 20: 255-62.
- 22. Fucharoen S, Tanphaichitr VS, Torcharus K, Viprakasit V, Mekaewkunchorn A: Clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis and management of thalassemia syndromes. 1sted, (in Thai) Bangkok, P.A. Living, 2014.

PREVALENCE AND RISK FACTORS OF VITAMIN D INADEQUACY AMONG THAI ELDERLY PATIENTS WITH OSTEOPOROTIC HIP FRACTURE

Tanawat Amphansap *, Pipat Wongthanakitcharoen **, Nitirat Stitkitti *, Worawut Chaiyosburana*, Atiporn Therdyothin*

* Department of Orthopaedics, Police General Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand ** Department of Orthopaedics, Bangkok Ratchasima Hospital, Nakhonratchasima, Thailand

Abstract

Background: Vitamin D deficiency directly impacts bone biology, eventually resulting in elevated risk of fragility fracture. Despite its global abundance, data concerning its prevalence and risk factors among Thai patients with osteoporotic hip fractures remains lacking.

Objectives: This study aimed to evaluate the average level of serum vitamin D, prevalence of hypovitaminosis D and its risk factor among Thai elderly patients with fragility hip fractures.

Methods: A cross-sectional study was conducted among Thai patients with fragility hip fractures aged 60 years or older in a single center from April 2016-April 2020. The patients were divided according to serum 25-hydroxy vitamin D (25-(OH)D) levels. Demographic data were compared to identify risk factors of vitamin D inadequacy.

Results: Of 258 patients, 74.81% were females with mean age of 78.76 years. The average serum 25(OH)D level was 19.64 ng/mL. Prevalences of vitamin D inadequacy, vitamin D insufficiency and vitamin D deficiency were 86.05, 28.69 and 57.36%, respectively. When compared with the vitamin D sufficiency group, the vitamin D inadequacy group had a history of frequent falls, higher body mass index (BMI) as well as high parathyroid hormone (PTH) levels. Risk factors associated with vitamin D inadequacy were BMI >23 kg/m2 (AOR= 4.67, 95%CI=1.24-17.73), and two or more falls within a year (AOR= 3.96, 95%CI=1.38-11.33). Moreover, risk factors associated with vitamin D deficiency were being female (AOR= 2.87, 95%CI=1.06-7.78), BMI >23 kg/m (AOR=7.20, 95%CI=1.67-31.02), two or more falls within one year (AOR=7.32, 95%CI=2.17-24.69) and elevated PTH level (AOR= 3.38, 95%CI=1.17-0.74).

Conclusion: Most elderly patients with fragility hip fractures had hypovitaminosis D. Risk factors included high BMI, frequent falls for vitamin D inadequacy, being female and high PTH levels for vitamin D deficiency. Serum 25(OH)D assessment and appropriate supplement are recommended, especially for patients with fragility hip fractures and aforementioned risk factors.

Keywords: Vitamin D inadequacy, Vitamin D deficiency, Risk factor, Fragility hip fracture

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6:e0110 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.110

Correspondence to:

Therdyothin A, Department of Orthopaedics, Police General Hospital 492/1 Rama I Rd, Pathum Wan, Pathum Wan District, Bangkok 10330, Thailand Email: atiporn.the@gmail.com

Received: 13 October 2021 Revised: 5 January 2022 Accepted: 20 January 2022

Introduction

Fragility hip fracture is a common osteoporotic fracture with significant morbidity, leading to loss of independence, mortality and financial burden.^(1, 2) As the society ages, incidence of fragility fracture increases. The adjusted incidence rate of hip fractures in Thailand has increased more than 31% from 1997 to 2006.⁽³⁾ Despite advances in medical care, one-year mortality after hip fracture has increased from 18% in 1999 to 21% in 2007.⁽⁴⁾

Vitamin D deficiency is common among the elderly, especially among housebound and geriatric patients.⁽⁵⁾ It directly impacts bone biology, causing secondary hyperparathyroidism, high bone turnover, bone loss, mineralization defects and result in a decrease in bone mineral density, and ultimately, fragility fractures.⁽⁶⁾ While vitamin D inadequacy is abundant, it remains one of the modifiable risk factors of fragility hip fractures where physicians can easily fix to lessen osteoporotic fracture risk. A related study in Thai population estimated the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency of 78% among patients with fragility hip fractures ⁽⁷⁾ corresponding to a 2014 study in Singapore showing an even higher number of 92%. (8)

Apart from the aforementioned investigations, data on vitamin D sufficiency among patients with osteoporotic fragility hip fractures remain limited, particularly in Asian populations.⁽⁹⁾ Moreover, no research in Thailand has published risk factors of vitamin D inadequacy among patients with fragility hip fracture from osteoporosis. Therefore, in this study, we aimed to investigate the prevalence of vitamin D inadequacy and to identify risk factors associated with vitamin D inadequacy among Thai patients with fragility hip fractures.

Methods

Participants

Upon approval of the institutional ethics committee (COA No.89/2018), a cross-sectional study was conducted among patients admitted to the Police General Hospital, Thailand between April 1, 2016 and April 30, 2020. The inclusion criteria were patients aged 60 years or more with fragility hip fractures from a low energy trauma defined as a fall from standing height or less. The exclusion criteria were patients with pathologic fractures from skeletal tumor or malignancy, bone metastasis, metabolic bone diseases, long term use of oral steroid or other medical conditions that would affect bone quality, as well as patients whose serum 25-hydroxy vitamin D (25(OH)D) levels were unavailable for the study.

According to a study on hypovitaminosis D among patients with fragility hip fractures in Singapore (8), the percentage of vitamin D inadequacy was 92%. The proportion (p) of 0.92 was used to calculate, resulting in a required sample size of at least 114 for this study.

Using serum 25(OH)D level, patients were divided in three groups according to the Endocrine Society's definition. (10) Vitamin D sufficiency was defined as having serum 25(OH) D of 30 ng/mL or higher. Values of serum 25(OH) D below 30 ng/mL were defined as vitamin D inadequacy which was subdivided in vitamin D insufficiency with 25(OH)D level of 20 to less than 30 ng/mL and vitamin D deficiency with 25(OH)D level below 20 ng/mL. Demographic data were compared across groups to identify risk factors for each level of hypovitaminosis D.

Data acquisition

Patient demographic data and laboratory results were collected from the electronic database, including age, sex, body mass index (BMI), underlying diseases, previous fractures, pre-injury status, previous osteoporotic medications and any possible causes of secondary osteoporosis. Laboratory investigations included serum levels of 25(OH)D, parathyroid hormone (PTH), calcium, phosphate, albumin, creatinine and alkaline phosphatase including estimated glomerular filtration rate. Blood collection was performed within two days after admission. Serum 25(OH) D level was measured using electrochemiluminescence binding assay (ECLIA) on a Cobas e601 Analyzer (Roche Diagnostics Germany). All other laboratory investigations were performed at the central lab center, Police General Hospital using the same standardized machine and technique.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis was performed using STATA, Version 15 and statistical significance was set at p < 0.05 with 95% confidence interval (95%CI). Chi-square test and Fisher's exact test were used to compare categorical variables. Student's t-test was applied for continuous data. Multivariate logistic regression analysis was also performed to assess independent risk factors associated with hypovitaminosis D.

Results

A total of 274 patients with hip fractures were admitted at the Police General Hospital during the study period. Twelve were excluded due to the lack of sufficient data of serum 25(OH) D levels. Another four were excluded because the fractures proved to have pathologic evidence. The remaining 258 patients were enrolled in this study. The majority of patients (74.81%) were females. The study population flow diagram is demonstrated in **Figure 1.** The mean age was 78.76 years and mean BMI was 21.52 kg/m². The mean serum 25(OH)D level was 19.64 \pm 10.55 ng/mL.

The patients were divided in two groups according to their vitamin D status, 36 (13.95%) had sufficient 25(OH)D levels while the remaining

222 (86.05%) had vitamin D inadequacy. They were further classified in 74 (28.69%) with vitamin D insufficiency and 148 (57.36%) with vitamin D deficiency. The prevalence of each category is shown in **Figure 2**.

Of 193 women, 170 (88.09%) had vitamin D inadequacy. Fifty-two of 65 (80%) men had vitamin D inadequacy. A numerically higher percentage of women were found in the vitamin D inadequacy group, but without statistical significance. Comparing among age groups (60 to 69, 70 to 79 and \geq 80 years old), no difference was observed in the proportion of vitamin D inadequacy to vitamin D sufficiency. The average BMI in the vitamin D inadequacy group was significantly greater than that of the vitamin D sufficiency group $(21.73 \pm 3.84 \text{ kg/m2 vs. } 20.19 \text{ sufficiency group})$ \pm 2.72 kg/m2, p=0.022) with a significant tendency towards being overweight. Serum PTH level was significantly lower in the vitamin D sufficiency group $(67.00 \pm 43.09 \text{ pg/mL vs. } 48.94 \pm 30.31$ pg/mL, p=0.012). Patients in the vitamin D inadequacy group fell more often than those observed in the vitamin D sufficiency group (two or more falls within one year 39.64% vs. 16.67%, p = 0.016). The characteristics of the patients comparing between the vitamin D sufficiency and inadequacy groups are shown in Table 1.



Figure 1. Flow diagram of study population



Figure 2. Prevalence of vitamin D sufficiency, vitamin D inadequacy (insufficiency and deficiency) among patients with fragility hip fractures 25(OH)D = 25-hydroxy vitamin D

Table 1. Characteristics of the cohort of patients with fragility hip fractures, patients with vitamin D inadequacy and vitamin D sufficiency. The variables were compared between vitamin D inadequacy and vitamin D sufficiency groups.

Characteristics	Total (n=258)	Vitamin D inadequacy (n=222)	Vitamin D sufficiency (n=36)	<i>p</i> -value
Gender				
Female	193 (74.81%)	170 (76.58%)	23 (63.89%)	
Male	65 (25.19%)	52 (23.42%)	13 (36.11%)	0.104
Age (year)				
Mean \pm SD	78.76 ± 8.86	79 ± 8.71	77.28 ± 9.71	0.281
60-69	36 (13.95%)	32 (14.41%)	4 (11.11%)	
70-79	93 (36.05%)	77 (34.68%)	16 (44.44%)	
≥ 80	129 (50%)	113 (50.90%)	16 (44.44%)	0.564
BMI (kg/m^2)				
Mean \pm SD	21.52 ± 3.74	21.73 ± 3.84	20.19 ± 2.72	0.022*
<18.5	48 (18.61%)	39 (17.57%)	9 (25%)	0.040*
18.5-22.9	136 (52.71%)	113 (50.90%)	23 (63.89%)	
≥23	74 (28.68%)	70 (31.53%)	4 (11.11%)	
Underlying disease				
Hypertension	187 (72.48%)	165 (74.32%)	22 (61.11%)	0.100
Type 2 diabetes mellitus	99 (38.37%)	88 (39.64%)	11 (30.56%)	0.298
Previous fracture	28 (10.85%)	24 (10.81%)	4 (1.55%)	0.957
Pre-injury ambulation with gait aid	97 (37.60%)	83 (37.39%)	14 (38.89%)	0.863
Two or more falls within a year	94 (36.43%)	88 (39.64%)	6 (16.67%)	0.008*

Table 1.	(continued)
----------	-------------

Characteristics	Total (n=258)	Vitamin D inadequacy (n=222)	Vitamin D sufficiency (n=36)	<i>p</i> -value
Previous vitamin D supplement	32 (12.40%)	26 (11.71%)	6 (16.67%)	0.403
PTH level (pg/mL)	65.20 ± 42.01	67 ± 43.09	48.94 ± 30.31	0.016*
Albumin (g/dL)	3.83 ± 0.45	3.82 ± 0.46	3.91 ± 0.41	0.270
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²)	66.44 ± 24.08	66.25 ± 24.74	67.60 ± 19.77	0.756

Values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation or number (%)

BMI = body mass index; PTH = parathyroid hormone; eGFR = estimated glomerular filtration rate. *p < 0.05 is statistically significant.

Table 2. Characteristics of the cohort of patients with fragility hip fractures, patients with vitamin D deficiency, and vitamin D sufficiency. The variables were compared between vitamin D deficiency and vitamin D sufficiency groups.

Characteristics	Total (n=184)	Vitamin D deficiency (n=148)	Vitamin D sufficiency (n=36)	<i>p</i> -value
Sex				
Female	145 (78.80%)	122 (82.43%)	23 (63.89%)	
Male	39 (21.20%)	26 (17.57%)	13 (36.11%)	0.015*
Age (year)				
Mean \pm SD	78.30 ± 9.22	78.55 ± 9.12	77.28 ± 9.71	0.460
60-69	29 (15.76%)	25 (16.89%)	4 (11.11%)	
70-79	68 (36.96%)	52 (35.14%)	16 (44.44%)	
≥80	87 (47.28%)	71 (47.97%)	16 (44.44%)	0.555
BMI (kg/m ²)				
Mean \pm SD	21.70 ± 3.98	22.07 ± 4.16	20.19 ± 2.72	0.011*
<18.5	33 (17.93%)	24 (16.22%)	9 (25%)	0.01*
18.5-22.9	94 (51.09%)	71 (47.97%)	23 (63.89%)	
≥23	57 (30.98%)	53 (35.81%)	4 (11.11%)	
Underlying disease				
Hypertension	132 (71.74%)	110 (74.32%)	22 (61.11%)	0.114
Type 2 diabetes mellitus	75 (40.76%)	64 (43.24%)	11 (30.56%)	0.165
Previous fracture	19 (10.33%)	15 (10.14%)	4 (11.11%)	0.863
Pre-injury ambulation with gait aid	77 (41.85%)	63 (42.57%)	14 (38.89%)	0.688
Two or more falls within a year	75 (40.76%)	69 (46.62%)	6 (16.67%)	0.001*
Previous vitamin D supplement	26 (14.13%)	20 (13.51%)	6 (16.67%)	0.626
PTH level (pg/mL)	67.77 ± 45.51	72.35 ± 47.46	48.94 ± 30.31	0.005*
Albumin (g/dL)	3.80 ± 0.46	3.77 ± 0.47	3.91 ± 0.41	0.103
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²)	66.59 ± 25.17	66.35 ± 26.37	67.60 ± 19.77	0.790

BMI = body mass index; PTH = parathyroid hormone; eGFR = estimated glomerular filtration rate. *p < 0.05 is statistically significant.

Table 2 demonstrates characteristics of patients with fragility hip fractures having vitamin D deficiency and vitamin D sufficiency. No difference was observed in the proportion of vitamin D deficiency to vitamin D deficiency among age group. The mean BMI was higher in the deficiency group (22.07 \pm 4.16 kg/m² vs. 20.19 ± 2.72 kg/m², p=0.011). Patients reported two or more falls within one year in the vitamin D deficiency compared with the vitamin D sufficiency groups (46.62% vs. 16.67%, *p*=0.001). History of a previous fractures, previous injury ambulatory status, and previous vitamin D prescription did not differ between groups. The mean level of PTH in the vitamin D deficiency group was 72.35 pg/mL which was significantly higher than that found in the sufficiency group (48.94 pg/mL, p=0.005). Other laboratory results

did not significantly differ.

Multivariate analysis showed that factors differentiating between vitamin D inadequacy and vitamin D sufficiency were higher BMI (23 kg/m2 or more) [adjusted odd ratio (AOR)= 4.67, 95% CI=1.24-17.63] and history of frequent falls (AOR=3.96, 95% CI=1.38-11.33), respectively. When analyzing the vitamin D deficiency group against the vitamin D sufficiency group, associated risks for vitamin D deficiency were being female (AOR= 2.87, 95%CI=1.06-7.78)), BMI ≥23 kg/m2 (AOR=7.20, 95% CI=1.67-31.02), two or more falls within one year (AOR= 7.32, 95%CI=2.17-24.69) and PTH levels more than 65 pg/mL (AOR= 3.38, 95%CI=1.17-9.74). Table 3 shows multivariable analysis logistic regression of factors associated with vitamin D inadequacy and deficiency.

Table 3. Multivariable	analysis of factor	rs associated with	Vitamin D	inadequacy and	vitamin D
deficiency					

Variable	In	adequacy vs Suf	ficiency	Deficiency vs Sufficiency		
variable	AOR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	AOR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Age ≥ 80 years	1.45	(0.61-3.45)	0.395	1.14	(0.42-3.10)	0.800
Sex (female)	1.82	(0.78-4.24)	0.165	2.87	(1.06-7.78)	0.039*
BMI (kg/m ²)						
<18.5	1.00			1.00		
18.5-22.9	1.29	(0.50-3.34)	0.599	2.03	(0.67-6.13)	0.210
≥23	4.67	(1.24-17.63)	0.023*	7.20	(1.67-31.02)	0.008*
Fall \geq 2 times	3.96	(1.38-11.33)	0.010*	7.32	(2.17-24.69)	0.001*
Hypertension	0.98	(0.40-2.42)	0.962	0.76	(0.27-2.14)	0.608
Diabetes	1.69	(0.70-4.11)	0.244	2.29	(0.87-6.06)	0.094
Previous fracture	0.51	(0.14-1.87)	0.311	0.45	(0.10-1.99)	0.294
Pre-injury status (without gait aids)	1.50	(0.66-3.41)	0.333	1.21	(0.48-3.07)	0.688
No Vitamin D supplement	2.23	(0.74-6.71)	0.154	2.85	(0.81-9.99)	0.101
PTH > 65 pg/mL	2.39	(0.92-6.19)	0.073	3.38	(1.17-9.74)	0.024*
Albumin $< 3.4 \text{ g/dL}$	1.60	(0.52-4.86)	0.411	2.19	(0.65-7.43)	0.207
eGFR < 45	0.78	(0.24-2.57)	0.687	0.67	(0.19-2.39)	0.535

AOR =Adjusted odds ratio, CI = Confident Interval, BMI = body mass index, PTH = parathyroid hormone, eGFR = estimated glomerular filtration rate $\frac{1}{2}$ = 0.05 is statistically significant.

*p < 0.05 is statistically significant.

Discussion

Vitamin D deficiency has many negative effects on bone quality including a defect in mineralization, leading to rickets and osteomalacia. It also leads to secondary hyperparathyroidism with concomitant increase in bone turnover, leading to osteoporosis. Moreover, it affects muscle strength and balances increasing the risk of fall.⁽¹¹⁾ Together with diminished bone quantity and quality, they lead to increased risk of fracture.

Our study showed a mean level of serum 25(OH)D of 19.64 ± 10.55 ng/mL among Thai elderly patients with fragility hip fractures. The result was similar to a related study among patients with osteoporotic hip fractures at Siriraj Hospital, Thailand⁽⁷⁾ and in Singapore.⁽⁸⁾ As expected, among these elderly patients, serum 25(OH)D level was much lower than an average level of 30.08 ng/mL among general Thai premenopausal women reported in 2009 (12) and 31.80 ng/mL among Thai adults with an average age of 40.3 years.⁽¹³⁾ Considering the prevalence of vitamin D inadequacy, our study reported the prevalence of 86.05%, which was slightly higher than that of the study among patients with osteoporotic hip fracture at Siriraj Hospital, Thailand which was 78.4%. (7) Predictably, the figures were obviously higher than in a normal Thai population in which the rate of vitamin D inadequacy was found to be 50.9%. (13)

Aging has been proposed to affect vitamin D metabolism in many ways, magnifying the effect of vitamin D inadequacy among the elderly.⁽¹⁴⁾ Aging skin has a lower concentration of 7-dehydrocholesterol, resulting in less conversion to inactive vitamin D3. Renal function also decreases with age, hindering the capability of the kidney to synthesize 25-hydroxylase required in the final step of vitamin D activation. The elderly are also at higher risk of being housebound and exposed to less sunlight. However, comparing among elderly themselves, age at 80 or above is not a predictor of vitamin D inadequacy.

In this study, the proportion of vitamin D inadequacy was about the same among women (88.09%) and men (80.0%). On the other hand, a related study among Thai healthy adults showed

that vitamin D inadequacy was 3.1-fold more frequent among women than among men.⁽¹⁵⁾ The prevalence of vitamin D inadequacy was only 13.9% among men, which was far lower than that of our study, indicating that patients with hip fractures were at higher risk of hypovitaminosis D, especially among men. However, the study was conducted among healthy adults with a mean age about 40 years old whose vitamin D metabolism would differ from the elderly.

The results of this study showed that BMI of 23 kg/m2 or more was associated with vitamin D inadequacy and deficiency. This relationship was consistent with another study which showed a significantly higher BMI in a vitamin D deficiency group, compared with vitamin D insufficiency and vitamin D sufficient groups. ⁽¹⁶⁾ Obesity-associated vitamin D insufficiency is likely to be related to decreased bioavailability of cholecalciferol synthesized from subcutaneous tissue when exposed to ultraviolet light, and ergocalciferol or cholecalciferol from dietary sources because of increased vitamin D deposition in body fat compartment. ⁽¹⁷⁾

Loss of muscle strength affects functional ability and mobility putting an elderly individual at increased risk of falls and fractures. (18, 19) Vitamin D has direct impact on muscle strength by acting on vitamin D receptors present on muscle cells which becomes fewer with aging.⁽²⁰⁾ Hypovitaminosis D may sometimes present myopathy, which can be reversed with prescription of vitamin D.(21) A meta-analysis of eight randomized controlled trials recommended an optimal serum 25(OH)D level of 24 mg/mL (60 nmol/L) to achieve 23% reduced falls.⁽²²⁾ Similarly, supplemental high dose vitamin D could reduce all by 19%. Correspondingly, in our finding, patients with vitamin D inadequacy and vitamin D deficiency experienced more frequent falls than individuals with optimal vitamin D status.

Production of active vitamin D is under a tight control by serum calcium, phosphate and PTH. A decrease in serum 25(OH)D leads to a minute decrease in serum calcium.^(6, 23) This in turns trigger a release of PTH, referred to as, "secondary hyperparathyroidism" and a normalization of calcium level. As expected, the mean PTH level was higher in vitamin D deficiency compared with vitamin D sufficiency groups (72.35 ± 47.46 vs. 48.94 ± 30.31 pg/mL, p=0.005). However, serum calcium level was normal in all groups of participants.

Suboptimal vitamin D status is commonly observed among elderly people as the result of various risk factors and interacting physiologic changes in this population.⁽¹⁴⁾ However, this condition is treatable and also preventable. Vitamin D and calcium supplementation in osteoporotic patients is also decidedly reasonable and cost-effective from an economic point of view.⁽²⁴⁾ Therefore, we highly recommend evaluating vitamin D level among patients with fragility hip fracture and supplementing with vitamin D according to their vitamin D status, especially among patients with risk factors of vitamin D inadequacy and deficiency.

This constitutes the first study to evaluate the risk factors of hypovitaminosis D among Thai patients with fragility hip fractures. Moreover, our study also showed a high prevalence of vitamin D inadequacy among Thai elderly men raising awareness of assessing vitamin D level and optimization not only among women but also men. However, several limitations were addressed in this study. First, the study constituted a cross-sectional design which could not directly explain causation. Secondly, the study was conducted at a single institution with limited representation as nationwide data. Furthermore, not all risk factors were included in the study, i.e., daily dietary consumption of calcium and vitamin D, exposure to sunlight, and dose of previous over-the-counter vitamin D supplementation due to inability to accurately assess such information and potential risk of confounders.

Conclusion

The majority of elderly patients with fragility hip fractures had suboptimal vitamin D status. Risk factors of vitamin D inadequacy included BMI >23 kg/m2, and two or more episodes of falls. Being female and high PTH levels were also associated with vitamin D deficiency. Serum 25(OH)D assessment as well as vitamin D supplement was recommended in this patient group, especially among those with risk factors including being female, presenting obesity, high risk for fallings and elevated PTH levels.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Dr. Lertkong Nitiwarangkul, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Police General Hospital for his assistance in data analysis. We also thank Ms. Pranida Tammasa and Thannicha Kaewwangpa for their contributions in graphic design and table illustration.

Disclosure

No benefits in any form have been received or will be received from a commercial party related directly or indirectly to the subject of this article.

References

- 1. Songpatanasilp T, Sritara C, Kittisomprayoonkul W, Chaiumnuay S, Nimitphong H, Charatcharoenwitthaya N, et al. Thai Osteoporosis Foundation (TOPF) position statements on management of osteoporosis. Osteoporos Sarcopenia 2016; 2: 191-207.
- Schattner A. The burden of hip fractures why aren't we better at prevention? QJM: An Int J Med 2018; 111: 765-7.
- Wongtriratanachai P, Luevitoonvechkij S, Songpatanasilp T, Sribunditkul S, Leerapun T, Phadungkiat S, et al. Increasing incidence of hip fracture in Chiang Mai, Thailand. J Clin Densitom 2013; 16: 347-52.
- Chaysri R, Leerapun T, Klunklin K, Chiewchantanakit S, Luevitoonvechkij S, Rojanasthien S. Factors related to mortality after osteoporotic hip fracture treatment at Chiang Mai University Hospital, Thailand, during 2006 and 2007. J Med Assoc Thai 2015; 98: 59-64.
- Wyskida M, Wieczorowska-Tobis K, Chudek J. Prevalence and factors promoting the occurrence of vitamin D deficiency in the elderly. Postepy Hig Med Dosw 2017; 71: 198-204.

- Lips P. Vitamin D deficiency and secondary hyperparathyroidism in the elderly: consequences for bone loss and fractures and therapeutic implications. Endocr Rev 2001; 22: 477-501.
- Phusunti S, Suthutvoravut W, Unnanuntana A, Chotiyarnwong P. The prevalence of hypovitaminosis D in patients with fragility hip fracture at a single institution in Thailand. J Med Assoc Thai 2016; 99: 1233-8.
- Ramason R, Selvaganapathi N, Ismail NH, Wong WC, Rajamoney GN, Chong MS. Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in patients with hip fracture seen in an orthogeriatric service in sunny singapore. Geriatr Orthop Surg Rehabil 2014; 5: 82-6.
- Niikura T, Oe K, Sakai Y, Iwakura T, Fukui T, Nishimoto H, et al. Insufficiency and deficiency of vitamin D in elderly patients with fragility fractures of the hip in the Japanese population. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong) 2019; 27: 2309499019877517.
- Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, et al. Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011; 96: 1911-30.
- 11. Halfon M, Phan O, Teta D. Vitamin D: a review on its effects on muscle strength, the risk of fall, and frailty. Biomed Res Int 2015; 2015: 953241.
- Soontrapa S, Soontrapa S, Bunyaratavej N, Rojanasthien S, Kittimanon N, Lektrakul S. Vitamin D status of Thai premenopausal women. J Med Assoc Thai 2009; 92 (Suppl5): S17-20.
- Chailurkit LO, Aekplakorn W, Ongphiphadhanakul B. Regional variation and determinants of vitamin D status in sunshine-abundant Thailand. BMC Public Health 2011; 11: 853.
- 14. Gallagher JC. Vitamin D and aging. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2013; 42: 319-32.

- Nimitphong H, Chailurkit LO, Chanprasertyothin S, Sritara P, Ongphiphadhanakul B. The association of vitamin D status and fasting glucose according to body fat mass in young healthy Thais. BMC Endocr Disord 2013; 13: 60.
- 16. Unnanuntana A CP. The Use of Stratified Vitamin D2 Supplementation regimen for restoring and maintaining sufficient vitamin D level. J Med Assoc Thai 2017; 100: 1095.
- Wortsman J, Matsuoka LY, Chen TC, Lu Z, Holick MF. Decreased bioavailability of vitamin D in obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 2000; 72: 690-3.
- Janssen HC, Samson MM, Verhaar HJ. Vitamin D deficiency, muscle function, and falls in elderly people. Am J Clin Nutr 2002; 75: 611-5.
- Mowé M, Haug E, Bøhmer T. Low serum calcidiol concentration in older adults with reduced muscular function. J Am Geriatr Soc 1999; 47: 220-6.
- Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Borchers M, Gudat F, Dürmüller U, Stähelin HB, Dick W. Vitamin D receptor expression in human muscle tissue decreases with age. J Bone Miner Res 2004; 19: 265-9.
- 21. Glerup H, Mikkelsen K, Poulsen L, Hass E, Overbeck S, Andersen H, et al. Hypovitaminosis D myopathy without biochemical signs of osteomalacic bone involvement. Calcif Tissue Int 2000; 66: 419-24.
- 22. Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Staehelin HB, Orav JE, Stuck AE, Theiler R, et al. Fall prevention with supplemental and active forms of vitamin D: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2009; 339: b3692.
- 23. Goltzman D. Physiology of parathyroid hormone. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2018; 47: 743-58.
- 24. Weaver CM, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Shanahan CJ. Cost-benefit analysis of calcium and vitamin D supplements. Arch Osteoporos 2019; 14: 50.

APPLICATION OF ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE TO ASSIST HIP FRACTURE DIAGNOSIS USING PLAIN RADIOGRAPHS

Phichai Udombuathong*, Ruthasiri Srisawasdi *, Waravut Kesornsukhon**, San Ratanasanya**

*Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Ananthamahidol Hospital, Lopburi, Thailand **Department of Computer and Information Science, Faculty of Applied Science, King Mongkut's University of Technology North Bangkok, Bangkok, Thailand

Abstract

Background: Most hip fractures occur among elderly people. They are usually treated in the emergency room where orthopedic surgeons may not be readily available. The problem of delayed diagnosis and treatment results increase risks of further complications and mortality rate. Thus, applying artificial intelligence (AI) can assist physicians having limited experience to rapidly and confidently diagnose hip fractures using radiographs.

Objective: This study aimed to validate AI programs to assist diagnosing of hip fractures on plain radiographs.

Methods: This study employed a retrospective diagnostic study design. From 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2019, compiled ortho pelvis, anterior-posterior (AP) films from the diagnosis of hip fractures at Ananthamahidol Hospital were performed. The performance of the AI program was compared with one orthopedic surgeon who reviewed the same images. The accuracy, sensitivity and specificity of the diagnosis of hip fractures between the orthopedic surgeon and AI program were analyzed.

Results: In total, 217 patients were enrolled in this study. Of these, 56 (28.5%) were male and 161 (74.2%) female. Areas of hip fractures were as follow: intertrochanteric (108, 49.8%), femoral neck (102, 47.0%), subtrochanteric (6, 2.7%) and femoral head (1, 0.5%). The orthopedic surgeon and AI program revealed an accuracy of 93.59% (95%CI 90.8-95.73) vs. 81.24% (95% CI 77.17-84.85), sensitivity of 90.30% (95% CI 85.60-93.90) vs. 89.40% (95% CI 84.50-93.20) and specificity of 97.10% (95% CI 93.60-98.90) vs. 72.5% (95% CI 65.90-78.50), respectively.

Conclusion: Our results showed that the AI model (VGG16) showed a sensitivity of 89.40% vs. 90.30% obtained from the orthopedic surgeon. Thus, improvement in the sensitivity and specificity of AI software is further required. In the future, AI models have the potential as useful tools for emergent screening and evaluation of patients with hip fractures using plain radiographs, especially in the Emergency Department where orthopedic surgeons may not be readily available.

Keywords: Artificial intelligence, Hip fracture

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6 (1):e0111 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.111

Correspondence to:

Udombuathong P, Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Ananthamahidol Hospital, Lopburi, Thailand E-mail: phichai856@gmail.com

Received: 5 December 2021 Revised: 14 February 2022 Accepted: 24 February 2022

Introduction

The incidence of hip fractures is expected to increase due to rising elderly populations worldwide. In 2000, approximately 1.6 million hip fractures were reported ⁽¹⁾ which is expected to increase to 4.5 to 6.3 million cases in 2050 according to the International Osteoporosis Foundation.⁽²⁾ Hip fractures are a common problem impacting socioeconomic status. The cumulative mortality after one year of hip fractures among patients occurs 20 to 40%.^(3, 6, 10) Thus, the mortality rate among patients with hip fractures greatly increases to 28.7% compared with that in the general population.⁽⁵⁾ A systematic review of 229,851 patients with hip fractures from 36 countries from 2013 to 2017 revealed that mean overall one year mortality after hip fractures was 22.0%.⁽⁶⁾ Risk factors that increased mortality rate included higher American Society of Anesthesiology (ASA) score. Odds ratio of 2.3 for every ASA point added, being male⁽⁴⁾, age and type of hip fracture⁽⁷⁾ were associated risk factors. Intertrochanteric fracture had a higher mortality rate than that of femoral neck fracture (17.40% vs. 9.83%). One year mortality after hip fractures among patients receiving nonoperative treatment was more than those receiving operative treatment.⁽⁸⁾ Seung-Ju Kim, et al. also showed that one year mortality after hip fractures among patients receiving nonoperative treatment was 48.5% while among those receiving surgical treatments was 19.9%.⁽⁹⁾

The definition of delayed surgical treatment of hip fractures varied in several studies. The optimal time for surgical treatment is 48 hours⁽¹¹⁻¹⁵⁾ starting from admission to the time of operation. From 25 studies, 21% of patients undergoing surgery after 48 hours died within one year, while one year mortality of those undergoing operations within 48 hours was less than 20%. Factors of delayed surgical treatment included patients' medical conditions, i.e., using an anticoagulant drug, having unstable medical conditions etc. The problem of diagnosing hip fractures, especially that of occult hip fracture constituted a number of both false positive and false negative diagnoses found based on radiography findings alone. Additionally, the experience of physicians working in the Emergency Department proved very crucial. Poor sensitivity and specificity of radiographs of the proximal femur and pelvis among patients with pain or suspected trauma around these structures were recorded.⁽¹⁶⁾ Dominquez et al. reported that 4.40% of patients who were suspicious of hip fractures at the Emergency Department received a subsequent diagnosis as having fractures. The incidence of occult hip fracture was 3 to 10%.(18, 19) Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) and Computerized Tomography Scan (CT) are useful tools to help diagnose occult hip fractures. MRI, an investigation of choice to diagnose occult hip fractures, is highly accurate with 100% sensitivity and specificity. MRI can be helpful for patients to receive an operation within the optimal time.⁽²⁰⁻²²⁾ CT scan⁽²¹⁻²³⁾ is also a second line of choice when results obtained from MRI were contraindicated or could not be obtained within 24 hours. However, MRI and CT scans are costly and require more time to prepare patients.

Artificial Intelligence (AI), a useful tool for assisting the diagnosis of hip fractures using plain radiographs can reduce delayed diagnosis resulting in delayed surgical treatment when orthopedic surgeons or radiologists may not be available at the Emergency Department. At present, in general hospitals, all radiographs are recorded to digital files that can be analyzed and interpreted using Picture Archiving Communication Systems (PACS). AI is a field of Computer Science that has a competence of helping diagnosis close to human performances especially deep learning and supervised learning for training AI. The input data provided specific results. After training the AI, it can predict results from all input datasets. AI can prove and continue to predict the results until obtaining the correct results. Urakawa et al.(24) detected fractures from radiographs using Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs). Visual Geometry Group 16 layer (VGG16) is CNN-selected to detect intertrochanteric hip fractures compared with the performance to detect intertrochanteric hip fractures between VGG16 and orthopedic surgeons. The accuracy of VGG16 and orthopedic surgeons was 95.5% vs. 92.2%, sensitivity 93.3%

vs. 88.3% and specificity 97.4% vs. 96.8%. A similar study conducted by Cheng et al.⁽²⁵⁾ found that DCNN (Deep Convolutional Neural Network) achieved an accuracy of 91% sensitivity and 98% specificity. Recognition of hip fractures using DCCN could be performed with less than one hour of perceptual training.⁽²⁶⁾

Most hip fractures occur among elderly people. They are usually brought to the Emergency Department where orthopedic surgeons may be unavailable at that time. To detect fractures using radiographs or occult hip fractures, the diagnostic problems of hip fractures could result from inexperienced physicians leading to delayed treatment, increasing both complications and mortality rate. Application of AI to assist young and inexperienced physicians to diagnose hip fractures using plain radiographs could help these physicians be confident with rapid diagnosis of hip fractures decreasing adverse events at the process of diagnosis.

Methods

Study population

The study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Medical Department, Royal Thai Army (approval number S015h/63_EXP). A retrospective diagnostic study design was conducted from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2019. Patients, undergoing both operative and nonoperative treatments, received a diagnosis of hip fracture and were admitted at Ananthamahidol Hospital.

The sample size was calculated from the prevalence of 17% osteoporosis and the sensitivity of AI to detect hip fractures conducted by Urakawa et al.⁽²⁴⁾ A total of 524 radiograph images of hip fractures and nonhip fractures were used in this study.

Definition

Hip fracture is a bone fracture from the edge of the femoral head to 5 cm below the lesser trochanter of the femur.

Criteria

The inclusion criteria included patients aged more than 50 years having a diagnosis of osteoporosis or hip fractures from accidents, i.e., slipping, falling or vehicle accidents. The exclusion criteria comprised patients having a diagnosis of bone tumor, periprosthetic hip fractures, nonfractured hip side without instruments, i.e., cement, screw, nail and prosthesis.

Compiled ortho pelvis and anterior-posterior (AP) films from the diagnosis of hip fractures were performed using 541 images which were divided to 120 images for AI training procedures and 421 images for test procedures. The performance of the AI program was compared with one orthopedic surgeon who reviewed the same images. The accuracy, sensitivity and specificity of the diagnosis of hip fractures between the orthopedic surgeon and AI program were analyzed.

Radiographs using deep learning techniques. the AI model comprised the VGG16, which is a public model and was used in this study. The VGG model was created in 2014 for which the model VGG16 has advantages of a design architecture with conv2D 3x3 pixels, 1 stride same padding and max pooling 2x2 pixels, 2 strides and hyperparameter. The VGG16 has 16 layers with a large network and hyperparameters encompassing about 138 million units.

Procedure

Preprocessing images

The 120 ortho pelvis radiograph images were provided for training procedures while 421 images were used for test procedures. Images were taken from digital film photographs and input to Picture Archiving Communication Systems (PACS) and all image data were recorded in the Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine (DICOM). The DICOM was changed to JPG and adjusted by histogram equalization to brighten adjustment, reduce noise, and rotate and crop images as shown in **Figure 1**.



Figure 1. Preprocessing image



Figure 2. Training procedures

Training Procedures

Images for training using the VGG16 were classified in two groups: nonhip fracture and hip fracture. The size of each image was 200x200 pixels, then the images were input to the Image Data Generator by keras preprocessing that was used in the preprocessing process. The Image Data Generator adjusted the size, rotation and zoom of the images before training procedures. CPU Intel Core i5 Generation 11 and GPU NVIDIA RTX3060 were used for the training procedures involving VGG16 use 50 times as shown in **Figure 2**.

Test Procedures

The 421 Ortho Pelvis radiograph images were changed from DICOM to JPEG and adjusted using histogram equalization to reduce noise, rotate and crop images, then the preprocessing was repeated using the Image Data Generator I of VGG16. This process took less than 2 minutes to analyze the data of 421 images (**Figure 3**).



Figure 3. Training procedures

	number	%
Sex		
Male	56	25.8
Female	161	74.2
Age		
Mean± SD	76.89±10.6	
Median (min-max)	80 (50-93)	
Sideding		
Left	116	53.5
Right	101	46.5
Area		
Intertrochanteric fracture	108	49.8
Neck of femur fracture	102	47.0
Subtrochanteric fracture	6	2.7
Femeral head fracture	1	0.5

Table 2. Analysis of interpreted radiographics by AI

Gold Standard	Positive	Negative	Total
Abnormal	194	23	217
Normal	56	148	204
Total	250	171	421
		95%CI	
Sensitivity (%)	89.40	84.50	93.20
Specificity(%)	72.50	65.90	78.50

Gold Standard	Positive	Negative	Total
Positive Predictive Value (%)	77.60	71.90	82.60
Negative Predictive Value (%)	86.50	80.50	91.30
Accuracy (%)	81.24	77.17	84.85

Table 2. (Continued)

 Table 3. Analysis of interpreted radiographics by the orthopedic surgeon

Gold standard	Positive	Negative	Total
Abnormal	196	21	217
Normal	6	198	204
Total	202	219	421
		95%CI	
Sensitivity (%)	90.30	85.60	93.90
Specificity(%)	97.10	93.70	98.90
Positive Predictive Value (%)	97.00	93.60	98.90
Negative Predictive Value (%)	90.40	85.70	94.00
Accuracy (%)	93.59	90.80	95.73

Results

In total, 217 patients were enrolled in this study. Of these, 56 (28.5%) were male and 161 (74.2%) female. Areas of hip fractures were as follow: intertrochanteric (108, 49.8%), femoral neck (102, 47.0%), subtrochanteric (6, 2.7%) and femoral head (1, 0.5%) as shown in **Table 1**. The orthopedic surgeon and AI program revealed accuracy of 93.59% (95% CI 90.8-95.73) vs. 81.24% (95% CI 77.17-84.85), sensitivity of 90.30% (95% CI 85.60-93.90) vs. 89.40% (95% CI 84.50-93.20), and specificity of 97.10% (95% CI 93.60-98.90) vs. 72.5% (95% CI 65.90-78.50), respectively (**Tables 2 and 3**).

Discussion

The AI model (VGG16) used in this study revealed an accuracy of 81.24% which was less than that reported by Takaaki et al. (95.5%).⁽²⁴⁾ However, the accuracy of the orthopedic surgeon was similar between the two studies (93.59% vs. 92.22%). The difference resulted from the quality of images such as shooting distances, brightness, clearance, noise and size of images. In this study, among 217 images of hip fractures, 21 (9.7%) were occult hip fractures of which the incidence of the occult hip fracture was 3 to 10 %^(18, 19): this could confound the accuracy of AI. The accuracy of AI used in this study could not detect the occult hip fracture to the same degree as those of the orthopedic surgeon. Preprocessing of images is an important procedure resulting in the accuracy of AI. In addition, the number of images, which were used for training AI procedures could have affected the accuracy of AI. In this study, 120 images (60 images of hip and 60 images of nonhip fractures) were used for the step of training procedures. Other related studies (24, 25) could provide more images for this step than our study. Takaaki et al. (24) used 2,678 images for training procedures of AI images (1,408 images of hip and 1,270 images of nonhip fractures) while Cheng et al. (25) used 3,605 images for training procedures of AI images (1,975 images of hip and 1,630 images of nonhip fractures). Additionally, the area of hip fractures used in

the study of Takaaki et al. was specific at the intertrochanteric area of the femur while those in the study of Cheng et al. was specific at the neck and intertrochanteric area of the femur. Compared with our study, the areas of hip fractures starting from the head to the subtrochanteric area of the femur were used covering larger areas than those of related studies. Different areas had varieties of bone architectures and artifacts that reduced the accuracy of AI. Thus, one advantage of our study was being able to detect overall areas of the hip fractures.

The competence of AI for detecting hip fractures using plain radiographs was reliable as a screening tool to diagnose hip fracture because the sensitivity did not significantly differ from the performance of the orthopedic surgeon, 89.40% (95%CI= 84.50-93.20) vs. 90.30% (95% CI =85.60-93.90), respectively. Further studies to develop the competence of AI are required using more images for the AI training step as well as improving qualities of images in the preprocessing image. In the future, multihospital assessment of hip fractures would also be required to validate the developed AI model.

Conclusion

Our results showed that the AI model (VGG16) showed a sensitivity of 89.40% vs. 90.30% obtained from the orthopedic surgeon. However, improvement in the accuracy of AI software, both sensitivity and specificity, is further required. In the future, AI models have the potential to be a useful tool for emergent screening and evaluation of patients with hip fractures using plain radiographs, especially in the Emergency Department where orthopedic surgeons may not be readily available.

References

- Johnell O, Kanis JA. An estimate of worldwide prevalence and disability associated with osteoporotic fractures. Osteoporos Int 2006; 17: 1726-33.
- Gullberg B, Johnell O, Kanis JA. Worldwide projections for hip fracture. Osteoporos Int 1977; 7: 407-13.

- 3. Guzon-Illecas O, Fernandez EP, Villarias NC, Donate FJQ, Pena M, Alonso-Blas C, et al. Mortality after osteoporotic hip fracture: incidence, trends and associated factors. J. Orthop Surg Res 2019; 14: 1-9.
- 4. CL Daugaard, HL Jorgensen, T Riis, JB Lauritzen, BR Duss, SVD Mark. Is mortality after hip fracture associated with surgical delay or admission during weekend and public holidays? Acta Orthop 2012; 83: 609-13.
- 5. Ricci G, Longaray MP, Goncalves RZ, Neto ASU, Manente M, Barbosa LBH. Evaluation of the mortality rate one year after hip fracture and factors relating to diminished survival among elderly people. Rev Bras Orthop 2012; 47: 304-09.
- 6. Downey C, Kelly M, Quinland JF. Changing trends in the mortality rate at 1-year post hip fracture-a systematic review. World J Orthop 2019; 10: 166-75.
- Cui Z, Feng H, Meng X, Zhuang S, Liu Z, Ye K, et al. Age-specific 1-year mortality rate after hip fracture based on populations in mainland China between the year 2000 and 2018. Arch Osteoporos 2019; 14: 1-10.
- 8. Chow SKH, Qin JH, Wong RMY, Yuen WF, Ngai WK, Tang N, et al. One year mortality in displaced intracapsular hip fracture and associated risk: a report of Chinese-based fragility fracture registry. J Orthop Surg Res 2018; 13: 1-6
- Seung-Ju Kim, Hyundai-Soo Park, Dong-Woo Lee. Outcome of nonoperative treatment for hip fractures in elderly patients: A systematic review of recent literature. J Orthop Surg 2020; 28: 1-8
- Moran CG, Wenn RT, Taylor AM, Sikand M. Early mortality after hip fracture: is delay before surgery important? JBJS Am 2005; 87: 483-89
- 11. Shiga T, Wajima Z, Ohe Y. Is operative delay associated with increased mortality of hip fracture patients? Systemic review, meta-analysts and meta-regression. Can J Anesth 2008; 55: 146-54.
- 12. Klestil T, Roder C, Stotter C, Winkler B, Nehrer S, Lutz, M, et al. Impact of timing of surgery in elderly hip fracture patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 1-15

- Sobolev B, Guy P, Sheehan KJ, Kuramoto L, Sutherland JM, Levy AR, et al. Mortality effects of timing alternative for hip fracture surgery. CMAJ 2018; 190: 923-32.
- 14. Matisson L, Bojan A, Enocson A. Epidemiology, treatment and mortality of trochanteric and subtrochanteric hip fracture:data from the Swedish fracture register. BMC Muscoskel Disord 2018; 19: 1-8.
- 15. Sa-Ngasoonsong, Kulachote N, Sirisreetreerax N, Chanplakorn P, Laohajaroensombat S, Seeraprom J, et al. Outcome of early hip fracture surgery in elderly patients in Ramathipbodi Hospital. Rama Med J 2013;36: 3-12.
- MW Kirby, C Spritzer. Radiographic detection of hip and pelvic fractures in the Emergency Department. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2010; 194: 1054-60.
- 17. Dominquez S, Lui P, Roberts C, Mendell M, Richman PB. Prevalence of traumatic hip and pelvic fractures in patients with suspected hip fracture and negative initial standard radiographs. Acad Emerg Med 2005; 12: 366-70.
- 18. Je S, Kim H, Ryu S, Cho S, Oh S, Kang T, et al. The consequence of delayed diagnosis of occult hip fracture. J Trauma Inj 2015; 28: 91-97.
- 19. Sodozai Z, Davies R, Warner J. The sensitivity of CT scan in diagnosis occult femoral neck fractures. Injury Int J 2016; 47: 2769-71.

- 20. Yun BJ, Hunink M, Prabhakar AM, Heng M, Lui SW, Qudsi R, et al. Diagnosis imaging stratigies for occult hip fractures. Acad Emerg Med 2016; 23: 1161-69.
- 21. Raval P, Mayne AIW, PM Yeap, Oliver TB, Jirawala A, Sripada S. Outcome of MRI detected occult neck of femur fracture: Do they represent a less severe injury with improved outcomes? Hip Pelvis 2019; 31: 18-22.
- 22. Foex BA, Russell A. CT versus MRI for occult hip fracture. Emerg Med J 2018; 35: 645-47.
- 23. Trenton T. Kellock, Bharti Khurana, Jacob C. Mandell. Diagnostic performance of CT for occult proximal femoral fractures. A systematic review and meta-analysis. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2019; 213: 1324-30.
- 24. Urakawa T, Tanaka Y, Goto S, Matsuzawa H, Watanabe K, Endo N. Detecting intertrochanteric hip fracture with orthopedist level accuracy using a deep convolutional neural network. Skeletal Radiol 2019; 48: 239-44.
- 25. CT Cheng, TY Ho, TY Lee, CC Chang, CC Chou, CC Chen, et al. Application of a deep learning algorithm for detecting and visualization of hip fracture on plain radiographs. Eur Radiol 2019; 29: 5469-77.
- 26. Adams M, Chen W, Holcdorf D, McCusker MW, Howe PDL, Gaillard F. Deep learning versus perceptual training for the detection of neck of femur fracture. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 2019; 63: 27-32.

CORRELATION BETWEEN CLINICAL AND PATHOLOGIC FEATURES OF DIABETIC NEPHROPATHY

Paramat Thimachai, Nichamon Suttitossatam, Naowanit Nata, Ouppatham Supasyndh, Bancha Satirapoj

Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, Phramongkutklao Hospital and Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand

Background: Diabetic nephropathy is the most common cause of end stage renal disease in Thailand. Renal biopsy remains the gold standard investigation to diagnose and classify diabetic nephropathy.

Objectives: In this study, we aimed to evaluate the correlation between clinical parameters and renal pathology classification among patients with type 2 diabetic and nephropathy.

Methods: We conducted an observational study and enrolled 63 patients undergoing renal biopsy between 1 January 2014 and 31 December 2018. Pathologic classification established by the Renal Pathology Society was used to assess the severity of histologic lesions in diabetic nephropathy. Clinical parameters including age, sex, duration, presence of diabetic retinopathy, blood urea nitrogen, creatinine, urine protein creatinine ratio, fasting plasma glucose and hemoglobin A1C were collected.

Results: At the time of biopsy, mean age was 50.25 ± 11.46 years. Median duration of diabetes mellitus was 10 years with interquartile range (IQR) 3.75-12.00 years, mean serum creatinine was 2.44 ± 1.31 mg/dL and estimated glomerular filtration rate was 22.41 ± 12.16 mL/min/1.73 m². Based on the glomerular classification, 1 patient (1.6%) was in class I, 16 (25.3%) in class II, 25 (39.7%) in class III and 21 (33.3%) in class IV. Using multivariate analysis, class IV was associated with rising serum creatinine compared with class II [adjusted odds ratio (AOR)= 2.58; 95% CI= 1.13-5.89]. Patients with interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy (IFTA) <25%, 25-50% and >50% were observed in 10, 27 and 22 patients, respectively. Patients with IFTA >50% were significantly associated with duration of diabetes (OR=1.27; 95%CI=1.21-1.57), serum creatinine (OR=3.92; 95%CI=1.34-11.48) and urine protein (OR= 1.25; 95%CI=1.01-1.55) compared with patients with IFA<25%. Using multivariate analysis, only serum creatinine (AOR=3.48; 95%CI=1.23-12.65) was confirmed as independently correlated to IFTA >50% compared with IFTA <25%. A univariate analysis revealed no significant correlation between vascular indexes and renal function.

Conclusion: The results revealed that advanced glomerular lesions and high IFTA >50% correlated with impaired renal function in type 2 diabetic nephropathy.

Keywords: Diabetic nephropathy, Arteriolar hyalinosis, Interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy, Renal function

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6:e0113 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.113

Correspondence to:

Satirapoj B, 315, Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, Phramongkutklao Hospital and Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok,10400 Thailand. Email: satirapoj@yahoo.com

Received: 7 December 2021 Revised: 31 January 2022 Accepted: 10 February 2022

Introduction

Almost 40% of patients with type 2 diabetes in a nationwide cross-sectional study in Thailand presented impaired glomerular filtration rate.⁽¹⁾ Diabetic nephropathy is the major cause of end stage renal disease worldwide and exhibits a higher risk of mortality, mostly from cardiovascular complications.⁽²⁾ Renal complications reflect a complex pathophysiology, whereby various genetic and environmental factors determine susceptibility and progression to end stage renal disease.⁽³⁾ Renal pathology and structure defect are detected even at the onset of diabetes mellitus and further development of renal changes in advanced stages of diabetic nephropathy.⁽⁴⁾ Renal biopsy remains the gold standard investigation to diagnose and classify diabetic nephropathy. Patients with type 2 and advanced nodular glomerulosclerosis have structuralfunctional relationships similar to type 1, and tubulointerstitial and mesangial expansion correlates with renal function.⁽⁵⁾

The Research Committee of the Renal Pathology Society developed a consensus classification of diabetic nephropathy. The classification is based on glomerular, tubulointerstitial and vascular lesions. This classification showed good interobserver agreement, improved problematic definitions of diabetic glomerulopathy and was easy to use in clinical practice.⁽⁶⁾ One study documented that renal pathologic diagnosis showed a good predictor for renal prognosis in type 2 diabetes, (7) but limited studies have yet elucidated the correlation between renal pathologic and clinical parameters according to this classification system.⁽⁸⁾ In this study, we aimed to identify the correlation between evidence-based clinical factors and renal pathologic findings according to Tervaert's pathologic classification among patients with diabetic nephropathy.⁽⁶⁾

Methods

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Institute Review Board, Royal Thai Army. We collected patients with biopsyconfirmed diabetic nephropathy from January 2014 to December 2018 at Phramongkutklao Hospital. Enrolment criteria consisted of patients with type 2 diabetes as defined by the American Diabetes Association criteria ⁽⁹⁾ and documented diabetic nephropathy were enrolled in the study. The sample size was calculated at 82 patients to reach statistical power of 80% with a type I error of 5.⁽¹⁰⁾ Exclusion criteria included other glomerular diseases and inadequate tissue biopsy with less than eight glomeruli. The study was conducted under the provisions of the Declaration of Helsinki and the protocol was approved by the local ethics committee. Informed consent was obtained at the time of registry enrollment.

Baseline clinical and laboratory data were collected at the time of biopsy. Clinical data were recorded for each patient at the time of biopsy including age, sex, weight, duration of disease and diabetic retinopathy. Laboratory variables including fasting plasma glucose, hemoglobin A1C (HA1C), urine examination, serum creatinine and urine protein creatinine ratio, were measured at the time of renal biopsy.

All histologic diagnoses were sent to a single renal pathologist, unaware of patients' clinical data, to evaluate the biopsies according to Tervaert's pathologic classification.⁽⁶⁾ The glomerular classification was as follows: class I, only glomerular basement membrane (GBM) thickening; class II, mesangial expansion; class III, nodular sclerosis and class IV, global glomerulosclerosis in more than 50% of glomeruli. Interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy (IFTA) scores were classified as follows: 0, absent; 1, less than 25; 2, 25 to 50% and 3, greater than 50% of the total area. Interstitial inflammation was scored as follows: 0, absent; 1, inflammation only in relation to IFTA and 2, inflammation in areas without IFTA. Arteriolar hyalinosis was scored as follows: 0, absent; 1, hyalinosis present in a minimum of one arteriole; and 2, more than one arteriole present in the total area. Arteriosclerosis was scored in the most severely affected artery as follows: 0, no intimal thickening; 1, intimal thickening less than the thickness of the tunica media and 2, intimal thickening greater than the thickness of the tunica media. For every patient, the histologic slides included hematoxylin and eosin, periodic acid-Schiff, Masson trichrome and periodic acid methenamine silver stains for light microscopy.

The study exclusively analyzed morphologic data; however, immunofluorescence (IgG, IgA, IgM, C3, C1q, fibrinogen, kappa and lambda light chains) was always performed to confirm the central diagnosis.

Statistical analysis

Descriptive data with mean \pm standard deviation and median with interquartile range (IQR) were expressed on the histologic and clinical data collected at the time of biopsy. The Chi-square was used for categorical variables comparing renal histologic groups. The independent t-test, one-way analysis of variance, Mann-Whitney U and Kruskal-Wallis tests were used for continuous variables comparing renal histologic groups. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses were performed to identify clinical factors associated with severity of renal pathologic changes in diabetic nephropathy. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS Software (SPSS, Version 20, Chicago, IL, USA).

Table 1.	Characteristics	of enrolled	patients
----------	-----------------	-------------	----------

All tests were two-sided with a significance level of 0.05.

Results

A total of 63 patients with biopsy-proven diabetic nephropathy were enrolled in the study. The patients were male (n=22, 34.9%), mean age at renal biopsy was 50.25±11.46 years and the median onset of type 2 diabetes preceding the time of renal biopsy was 10 years with IQR 3.75 to 12.00 years. The baseline renal profiles included urine protein creatinine ratio of 7.3 with IQR 4.7-11.3 g/gCr, BUN of 32.85±16.50 mg/dL, serum creatinine of 2.44±1.31 mg/dL and HA1C of 7.83±2.16%. The glomerular and IFTA classification, 33.3, 39.7, 25.3 and 1.6% of patients comprised classes IV, III, II and I, respectively and 34.9, 42.9 and 15.9% had IFTA <25%, 25 to 50% and >50, respectively. For one patient in glomerular class I, electron microscopy confirmed GBM thickening according to Tervaert's pathologic classification. The baseline clinical characteristics are summarized in Table 1.

Clinical characteristic	n = 63
Male	22 (34.9%)
Age <u>+</u> SD (years)	50.25±11.46
Median duration of DM (years)	10 (3.75 to 12.00)
Diabetic retinopathy	45 (71.4%)
BUN (mg/dL)	32.85±16.50
Creatinine (mg/dL)	2.44±1.31
Estimated glomerular filtration rate (mL/min/1.73 m ²)	22.41±12.16
Median urine protein creatinine ratio (g/g Creatinine)	7.3 (4.7 to 11.3)
Fasting plasma glucose (mg/dL)	165.6±82.1
Hemoglobin A1C (%)	7.83±2.16
Diabetic nephropathy	
Class I	1 (1.6%)
Class II	16 (25.4%)
Class III	25 (39.7%)
Class IV	21 (33.3%)
Interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy (IFTA) (N=59)	
< 25%	10 (16.9%)
25-50%	27 (45.7%)
> 50%	22 (37.2%)

e 0113	
---------------	--

Clinical characteristic	n = 63
Interstitial inflammation (N=59)	
Absent	1 (1.6%)
Infiltration only relation to IFTA	57 (96.6%)
Infiltration in areas without IFTA	1 (1.6%)
Arteriolar hyalinosis (N=63)	
Absent	2 (3.2%)
At least one area of arteriolar hyalinosis	12 (19.0%)
More than one area of arteriolar hyalinosis	34 (54.0%)
Inadequate tissue diagnosis	15 (23.8%)
Presence of large vessels arteriosclerosis (n=63)	
No intimal thickening	6 (9.5%)
Intimal thickening less than thickness of media	13 (20.6%)
Intimal thickening greater than thickness of media	15 (23.8%)
Not present	29 (46.0%)

Table 1. Characteristics of enrolled patients (Continued)

Data presents as mean±SD, median with IQR and percentage

Comparisons of pathologic findings among the groups according to glomerular lesions are shown in Table 2. Significant differences were found in BUN and serum creatinine between IFTA<25%, 25 to 50% and >50% (Table 3). No significant differences were found regarding age, serum creatinine, urinary protein excretion rate or clinical factors between patients with and without arteriolar hyalinosis (Table 4). A significant difference was found in age and HA1C between patients with and without large vessel arteriosclerosis (Table 5). Overall, no clinical findings differed among class II, III and IV groups, except serum creatinine was significantly higher in class IV (3.4 with IQR=2.0-4.7) than those in class III (1.80 with IQR=1.49-2.75) and class II (1.93 with IQR=1.47-2.75) groups (p=0.003). The initial step using univariate analysis for all clinical factors associated with the glomerular classification was analyzed. On univariate analysis, and compared with glomerular class II, glomerular class IV was found to be significantly associated with serum creatinine (OR=2.37; 95%CI=1.21-4.65). Univariate analysis indicated that duration of type 2 diabetes (OR=1.27; 95%CI=1.03-1.57), serum creatinine (OR= 3.92; 95%CI=1.34-11.48) and urine protein creatinine ratio (OR=1.25; 95%CI=1.01-1.55) were associated with severity of IFTA >50

compared with IFTA<25%. (**Table 6**). However, concerning univariate analysis, presence of large vessels arteriosclerosis was found to be insignificantly associated with any clinical findings. (**Table 6**). Using multivariate analysis, only serum creatinine[adjustedOR(AOR)=3.48; 5%CI=1.23 to 12.65]wasconfirmedasindependentlycorrelated with IFTA >50% compared with IFTA <25 after adjusting for age, duration of type 2 diabetes, serum creatinine and urine protein creatinine ratio (**Table 7**).

Discussion

Renal biopsy is considered the gold standard to evaluate histologic findings and assess severity of diabetic nephropathy lesions. Renal pathology could provide additional information concerning patient outcomes. However, the relationship between clinical parameters and renal histologic findings remain controversial regarding the definitions of Tervaert's pathologic classification and limiting its use in clinical practice. The main finding in our study confirmed that advance glomerular lesions in class IV and high tubulointerstitial fibrosis scores (>50) were independently related factors to impaired renal function among Thai patients with diabetic nephropathy.

	Class II (n=16)	Class III (n=25)	Class IV (n=21)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	52.31±15.24	48.84±9.62	50.57±10.72	0.264
Gender, male, N (%)	6 (37.5)	8 (32.0)	8 (38.1)	0.894
Duration of DM (years)	10.0 (5.0-18.0)	7.0 (1.0 -10.5)	10.0 (5.2 -12.0)	0.256
BUN (mg/dL)	26.0 (17.2-35.6)	28.0 (21.5 - 43.5)	40.0 (25.7 - 44.5)	0.099
Creatinine (mg/dL)	1.93 (1.47-2.75)	1.80 (1.49 -2.75)	3.4 (2.0-4.7)*	0.003
Urine protein creatinine ratio (g/gCr)	6.74 (4.32 -7.62)	7.26 (4.85-12.65)	8.4 (5.7 -14.0)	0.189
Fasting plasma glucose (mg/dL)	154.0 (112.0-221.5)	137.0 (115.0 -175.0)	158.0 (103.0-212.0)	0.901
Hemoglobin A1C (%	7.6 (7.0-8.3)	6.85 (6.4 - 8.2)	7.3 (6.8-8.8)	0.490
Diabetic retinopathy, N (%)	9 (56.3)	20 (80.0)	16 (76.2)	0.143

Table 2. Clinical findings according to glomerular classification

Data presents as mean±SD, median with IQR and percentage. *p < 0.05 versus class II.

	IFTA <25% (n=10)	IFTA 25-50% (n=27)	IFTA >50% (n=22)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	54.10±11.63	50.63±12.03	47.95±10.14	0.688
Gender, male, N (%)	1 (10)	11 (40.7)	8 (36.4)	0.205
Duration of DM (years)	4.5 (0.9 -10.0)	10.0 (2.0-12.5)	10.0 (6.7-12.2)	0.118
BUN (mg/dL)	20.6 (11.5-37.2)	25.7 (20.5-40.0)*	39.4 (25.3-45.5)*	0.038
Creatinine (mg/dL)	1.28 (0.81-2.08)	1.80 (1.60-2.60)*	2.96 (2.07-4.66)*	0.001
Urine protein creatinine ratio (g/gCr)	5.60 (1.17-7.57)	7.30 (5.50-12.90)	8.96 (5.59-13.2)	0.093
Fasting plasma glucose (mg/dL)	173.5 (120.5-208.7)	145.0 (121.0-183.0)	127.5 (103.2-205.7)	0.367
Hemoglobin A1C (%	7.65 (6.77-9.80)	7.10 (5.95-8.07)	7.30 (6.67-7.97)	0.564
Diabetic retinopathy, N (%)	5 (50)	19 (70.4)	18 (81.8)	0.222

Table 3. Clinical findings according to interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy

Data presents as mean±SD, median with IQR and percentage. *p < 0.05 versus IFTA<25%.

	Absent arteriolar hyalinosis (n=2)	At least one area (n=12)	More than one area (n=34)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	52.00±8.48	51.42±13.05	49.41±11.43	0.617
Gender, male, N (%)	1 (50.0)	4 (33.3)	11 (32.4)	1.000
Duration of DM (years)	4.0-7.0	10.0 (2.0-14.0)	7.5 (2.0-10.0)	0.376
BUN (mg/dL)	8.8-14.9	26.4 (20.2-35.5)	33.5 (23.0 - 45.5)	0.271
Creatinine (mg/dL)	1.1-1.4	1.80 (1.19-2.78)	2.25 (1.67-3.34)	0.202
Urine protein creatinine ratio (g/gCr)	2.80-5.91	6.87 (5.35-12.19)	7.5 (5.42-12.92)	0.680
Fasting plasma glucose (mg/dL)	104.0 -146.0	175.0 (130.7-210.2)	152.0 (113.7-201.2)	0.341
Hemoglobin A1C (%	6.9 -8.0	8.0 (5.6-11.0)	7.2 (6.4 -8.3)	0.663
Diabetic retinopathy, N (%)	1 (50.0)	6 (50.0)	25 (73.5)	0.410

Table 4. Clinical findings according to arteriolar hyalinosis

Data presents as mean±SD, median with IQR and percentage. Compared between arteriolar hyalinosis at least one area and arteriolar hyalinosis more than one area

	No intimal thickening (n=6)	Intimal thickening less than thickness of media (n=13)	Intimal thickening greater than thickness of media (n=15)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	42.33±11.69	51.54±12.34*	50.33±7.45*	0.027
Gender, male, N (%)	1 (16.7)	2 (15.4)	5 (33.3)	0.488
Duration of DM (years)	8.5 (6.2-12.0)	3.0 (1.0-12.2)	7.0 (3.0-10.0)	0.427
BUN (mg/dL)	40.0 (17.9 -55.3)	28.0 (20.2-39.4)	31.5 (24.0-47.0)	0.639
Creatinine (mg/dL)	2.68±1.61	$1.90{\pm}0.88$	2.68±1.65	0.401
Urine protein creatinine ratio (g/gCr)	8.90 (6.40-9.03)	9.35 (6.25-13.90)	7.10 (4.41-11.29)	0.437
Fasting plasma glucose (mg/dL)	174.5 (118.2-251.0)	162.0 (151.0-195.0)	136.0 (103.0-212.0)	0.685
Hemoglobin A1C (%	6.0 (5.4-7.2)	7.0 (6.8-8.1)	8.1 (7.6-9.8)*	0.012
Diabetic retinopathy, N (%)	4 (66.7)	6 (46.2)	11 (73.3)	0.605

Table 5. Clinical findings according to large vessels arteriosclerosis

Data presents as mean±SD, median with IQR and percentage. p < 0.05 versus no intimal thickening

	Class IV vs. class II (OR with 95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value	IFTA >50% vs IFTA <25% (OR with 95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value	Arteriolar hyalinosis more than one area vs. at least one area (OR with 95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	0.99 (0.94 to 1.04)	0.676	0.95 (0.88 to 1.02)	0.144	0.99 (0.93 to 1.04)	0.609
Gender, male, N (%)	1.03 (0.27 to 3.92)	0.970	5.14 (0.55 to 48.37)	0.152	0.96 (0.24 to 3.87)	0.950
Duration of DM (years)	0.96 (0.86 to 1.07)	0.420	1.27 (1.03 to 1.57)*	0.027	0.93 (0.83 to 1.04)	0.207
BUN (mg/dL)	1.06 (0.99 to 1.12)	0.056	1.06 (0.99 to 1.12)	0.084	1.04 (0.98 to 1.07)	0.485
Creatinine (mg/dL)	2.37 (1.21 to 4.65)*	0.012	3.92 (1.34 to 11.48)*	0.013	2.06 (0.99 to 1.09)	0.154
Urine protein creatinine ratio (g/gCr)+	1.19 (0.99 to 1.43)	0.061	1.25 (1.01 to 1.55)*	0.040	0.99 (0.86 to 1.14)	0.900
Fasting plasma glucose (mg/dL)	0.99 (0.59 to 12.02)	0.318	0.99 (0.99 to 1.00)	0.165	0.99 (0.99 to 1.01)	0.666
Hemoglobin A1C (%)	1.00 (0.72 to 1.39)	0.993	0.81 (0.55 to 1.19)	0.291	0.92 (0.69 to 1.21)	0.538
Diabetic retinopathy, N (%)	2.67 (0.59 to 12.02)	0.202	4.80 (0.79 to 28.90)	0.087	2.38 (0.52 to 10.86)	0.263

Table 6. Univariate analysis of clinical factors associated with severity of glomerular class, IFTA and arteriolar hyalinosis

< 0.05 versus control group p

Table 7. Multivariate analysis of clinical factors associated with severity of glomerular class, IFTA and arteriolar hyalinosis

	Class IV vs. class II (OR with 95%CI)	Class IV vs. class II (Adjusted OR with 95%CI) ^a	IFTA >50% vs IFTA <25% (OR with 95% CI)	IFTA >50% vs IFTA <25% (Adjusted OR with 95% CI) ^a
Age (years)	0.99 (0.94-1.04)		0.95 (0.88-1.02)	
Duration of DM years)	0.96 (0.86-1.07)		1.27 (1.03-1.57)*	
BUN (mg/dL)	1.06 (0.99-1.12)		1.06 (0.99-1.12)	
Creatinine (mg/dL)	2.37 (1.21-4.65)*	2.58 (1.13-5.89)*	3.92 (1.34-11.48)*	3.48 (1.23-12.65)*
Urine protein creatinine ratio (g/gCr)	1.19 (0.99-1.43)		1.25 (1.01-1.55)*	

*p < 0.05 versus control group

^a adjusted for age, duration of type 2 diabetes, serum creatinine and urine protein creatinine ratio

The impact of clinical renal involvement on long term prognosis in type 2 diabetes has been described in several studies. Our results demonstrated that serum creatinine levels in glomerulopathic class IV were significantly greater than those in other glomerular classes in type 2 diabetes. These results agreed with several cross-sectional studies demonstrating the relationship of renal histologic lesions with clinical features among patients with diabetes and nephropathy.^(11, 12) Nevertheless, one study showed no significant differences in renal survival rates between glomerular classes.⁽⁸⁾ However, advanced diabetic glomerulosclerosis in class IV exhibited the lowest estimated glomerular filtration rate and the worst five-year renal survival rate among patients with type 2 diabetes.⁽⁷⁾ Several studies indicated an association between the severity of renal histological injury and renal prognosis.(13-15) Thus, quantitative scoring of glomerulosclerosis according to Tervaert's pathologic classification might be beneficial in determining worsening renal outcomes.

Nodular glomerulosclerosis reflected an advanced stage of nephropathy. Patients with type 2 diabetes and Kimmelstiel-Wilson nodules or at least glomerular class III according to Tervaert's pathologic classification revealed elevated serum creatinine compared with patients without nodular glomerulosclerosis.⁽¹⁶⁾ Our results did not demonstrate significantly increased serum creatinine levels in glomerular class III, compared with glomerular class II. Similar to one study, the nodular glomerulosclerosis index did not correlate to renal function and proteinuria.⁽¹⁷⁾ Nodular glomerulosclerosis might be a weaker predictor of renal progression than established indicators such as IFTA score. Moreover, several patients showed that the severity of interstitial lesions did not correlate with glomerular lesions (18) and the classification of nodular glomerulosclerotic lesions might have been influenced by sampling bias due to the number of glomeruli obtained by renal biopsy. Further studies are needed to determine the pathophysiologic change and clinical significance of nodular glomerulos clerosis in type 2 diabetes.

Abnormalities in tubulointerstitial lesions are important when assessing the outcome of patients

with type 2 diabetes.⁽¹⁹⁻²¹⁾ Tervaert's pathologic classification focuses on tubular atrophy and interstitial fibrosis in diabetic nephropathy. The majority of patients (87.8%) included in our study had IFTA >25%; this renal chronicity score related to poor renal function and high proteinuria. The findings were consistent with related prospective studies that identified a correlation between the degree of tubulo-interstitial injury with renal function ⁽²²⁾ and interstitial lesions as a predictor for renal prognosis among patients with type 2 diabetes and overt proteinuria.⁽⁸⁾ Early identification of ITFA among patients with type 2 diabetes could prompt more therapeutic interventions.

Arteriosclerosis manifests itself as a lesion of the intimal layer of the arterial wall and accumulation of plaque ⁽²³⁾ and develops as a result of a multistep process ultimately leading to cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes. ⁽²⁴⁾ Several studies have documented the development of atherosclerosis related to aging and chronic hyperglycemia. ^(25, 26) Our study also confirmed that a significant difference was found in aging and uncontrolled glycemic with renal vessel arteriosclerosis.

The main limitation encountered was the relatively small sample size. In addition, a single-center prospective study of clinical and histopathologic lesions among patients with type 2 diabetes, indicated our study may have been underpowered to detect meaningful histopathologic lesions and subjects might not be representative of all populations in type 2 diabetes. Second, only the cross-section study was evaluated. A further study of renal pathologic scores with main renal outcomes including double serum creatinine and long term renal replacement therapy is needed. Third, a high percentage of inadequate tissue diagnosis for vascular lesion and a limited sample regarding the interstitial inflammation were found in this study. Therefore, they could have resulted from assessing the correlation of vascular and interstitial pathological lesions and clinical findings. More clinical studies based on renal biopsy are needed to clarify the correlation between vascular lesions and tubulointerstitial inflammation in diabetic nephropathy.

Conclusion

In conclusion, advanced diabetic glomerulosclerosis (class IV) and high percentage of IFTA (>50%) according to Tervaert's pathologic classification were significantly associated with impaired renal function among patients with type 2 diabetes and overt proteinuria. These results indicated that the advanced glomerular and IFTA pathologic classification correlated with renal outcome in type 2 diabetic nephropathy.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the contributions of the staff, Division of Nephrology and Division of Pathology, Phramongkutklao Hospital.

Disclosures

All authors report no conflicts of interest associated with the study.

References

- Nata N, Rangsin R, Supasyndh O, Satirapoj B. Impaired Glomerular Filtration Rate in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Subjects: A Nationwide Cross-Sectional Study in Thailand. J Diabetes Res 2020; 2020: 6353949.
- Umanath K, Lewis JB. Update on Diabetic Nephropathy: Core Curriculum 2018. Am J Kidney Dis 2018; 71: 884-95.
- Satirapoj B, Adler SG. Comprehensive approach to diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Res Clin Pract 2014; 33: 121-31.
- Mogensen CE, Christensen CK, Vittinghus E. The stages in diabetic renal disease. With emphasis on the stage of incipient diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes 1983; 32 (Suppl 2): 64-78.
- 5. White KE, Bilous RW. Type 2 diabetic patients with nephropathy show structural-functional relationships that are similar to type 1 disease. J Am Soc Nephrol 2000; 11: 1667-73.
- 6. Tervaert TWC, Mooyaart AL, Amann K, Cohen AH, Cook HT, Drachenberg CB, et al. Pathologic classification of diabetic

nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol 2010; 21: 556-63.

- Oh SW, Kim S, Na KY, Chae DW, Kim S, Jin DC, et al. Clinical implications of pathologic diagnosis and classification for diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2012; 97: 418-24.
- Okada T, Nagao T, Matsumoto H, Nagaoka Y, Wada T, Nakao T. Histological predictors for renal prognosis in diabetic nephropathy in diabetes mellitus type 2 patients with overt proteinuria. Nephrology (Carlton) 2012; 17: 68-75.
- American Diabetes A. 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2021. Diabetes Care 2021; 44: S15-S33.
- Sahay M, Mahankali RK, Ismal K, Vali PS, Sahay RK, Swarnalata G. Renal histology in diabetic nephropathy: A novel perspective. Indian J Nephrol 2014; 24: 226-31.
- Suzuki Y, Ueno M, Hayashi H, Nishi S, Satou H, Karasawa R, et al. A light microscopic study of glomerulosclerosis in Japanese patients with noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: the relationship between clinical and histological features. Clin Nephrol 1994; 42: 155-62.
- 12. Matsumae T, Jimi S, Uesugi N, Takebayashi S, Naito S. Clinical and morphometrical interrelationships in patients with overt nephropathy induced by non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. A light- and electron-microscopy study. Nephron 1999; 81: 41-8.
- Ruggenenti P, Gambara V, Perna A, Bertani T, Remuzzi G. The nephropathy of non-insulindependent diabetes: predictors of outcome relative to diverse patterns of renal injury. J Am Soc Nephrol 1998; 9: 2336-43.
- Bohle A, Wehrmann M, Bogenschutz O, Batz C, Muller CA, Muller GA. The pathogenesis of chronic renal failure in diabetic nephropathy. Investigation of 488 cases of diabetic glomerulosclerosis. Pathol Res Pract 1991; 187: 251-9.
- 15. Osterby R, Gall MA, Schmitz A, Nielsen FS, Nyberg G, Parving HH. Glomerular structure and function in proteinuric type 2

(non-insulin-dependent) diabetic patients. Diabetologia 1993; 36: 1064-70.

- 16. Schwartz MM, Lewis EJ, Leonard-Martin T, Lewis JB, Batlle D. Renal pathology patterns in type II diabetes mellitus: relationship with retinopathy. The Collaborative Study Group. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1998; 13: 2547-52.
- 17. Okada T, Matsumoto H, Nakao T, Nagaoka Y, Yamada C, Shino T, et al. Relationship of renal lesions with urinary protein excretion in patients with overt diabetic nephropathy. Nihon Jinzo Gakkai Shi 1999; 41: 475-85.
- 18. An Y, Xu F, Le W, Ge Y, Zhou M, Chen H, et al. Renal histologic changes and the outcome in patients with diabetic nephropathy. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2015; 30: 257-66.
- 19. Taft JL, Nolan CJ, Yeung SP, Hewitson TD, Martin FI. Clinical and histological correlations of decline in renal function in diabetic patients with proteinuria. Diabetes 1994; 43: 1046-51.
- 20. Ueno M, Kawashima S, Nishi S, Shimada H, Karasawa R, Suzuki Y, et al. Tubulointerstitial lesions in non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. Kidney Int Suppl 1997; 63: S191-4.

- 21. Satirapoj B. Tubulointerstitial Biomarkers for Diabetic Nephropathy. J Diabetes Res 2018; 2018: 2852398.
- 22. Afroz T, Sagar R, Reddy S, Gandhe S, Rajaram KG. Clinical and histological correlation of diabetic nephropathy. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl 2017; 28: 836-41.
- 23. Katakami N. Mechanism of Development of Atherosclerosis and Cardiovascular Disease in Diabetes Mellitus. J Atheroscler Thromb 2018; 25: 27-39.
- 24. Poznyak A, Grechko AV, Poggio P, Myasoedova VA, Alfieri V, Orekhov AN. The Diabetes Mellitus-Atherosclerosis Connection: The Role of Lipid and Glucose Metabolism and Chronic Inflammation. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21.
- 25. Dahl-Jorgensen K, Larsen JR, Hanssen KF. Atherosclerosis in childhood and adolescent type 1 diabetes: early disease, early treatment? Diabetologia 2005; 48: 1445-53.
- 26. Holman RR, Paul SK, Bethel MA, Matthews DR, Neil HA. 10-year follow-up of intensive glucose control in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2008; 359: 1577-89.

RADIOLOGIC CHARACTERISTICS OF COMPUTERIZED TOMOGRAPHY ATTENUATION IN RENAL CELL CARCINOMA

Satit Siriboonrid*, Waraporn Pongmorakot*, Chatwadee Limpaiboon**, Nattapong Binsri*, Sarayut Kanjanatarayon*, Weerayut Wiriyabanditkul*, Vittaya Jiraanankul*

*Division of Urology, Department of Surgery, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand ** Department of Radiology, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand

Background: Renal cell carcinoma (RCC) is the most common kidney cancer in adults. Computed Tomography (CT) with contrast study is used to diagnose RCC. The enhancement in the nephrogenic phase more than 15 Hounsfield units (HU) is suspected of RCCs. However, this threshold HU shows 15-20% false positive results for RCCs.

Objectives: This study aimed to determine RCC enhancement in CT that was below the standard threshold and to analyze the attenuation range of RCCs in noncontrast CT.

Methods: Patients with pathological RCC and undergoing CT with contrast study were retrospectively reviewed. An average of attenuation values of three regions of interest (ROI) were measured in noncontrast and nephrogenic phases, by avoiding foci of calcification and peritumoral region. ROI values were calculated for enhancement and range of attenuation values in the noncontrast CT.

Results: A total of 152 pathologically RCCs were included in the study. Mean \pm SD attenuation values were 32.54 ± 8.02 HU (range 13.3-57.23 HU) and 71.26 ± 33.1 HU (range 16.87-202.8 HU) for noncontrast and contrast CT, respectively. Thirty-one (20.4%) of RCCs did not reach 15 HU enhancement. Using multivariate analysis, significant differences among subtypes (p<0.001) and renal mass less than 7 cm (p<0.001) were observed. In noncontrast CT, using a range of 20-60 HU, 129 (84.9%) RCCs were entirely within this range. To improve the accuracy of RCC diagnosis, the combined use of both non-contrast attenuation group (<20 HU and >20 HU) and enhancement >15 HU could increase the accuracy to 96.7%.

Conclusion: One-fifth of RCCs did not reach the standard enhancement threshold that were mostly found in nonclear cell subtype. Especially, when the mass was larger than 7 cm or involved nonclear cell RCCs, the enhancement threshold >15 HU must be carefully used for diagnosis. Using a noncontrast phase regardless HU combined with enhancement >15 HU could improve the accuracy of RCC diagnosis.

Keywords: renal cell carcinoma, attenuation, Hounsfield unit, kidney, cancer

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6 (1):e0117 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.117

Correspondence to: Jiraanankul V, Division of Urology, Department of Surgery, Phramongkutklao Hospital, 315 Ratchaviti Road, Ratchatewi, Bangkok, Thailand 10400 Email: jiraanankul_v@pmk.ac.th

Received: 15 March 2022 Revised: 17 May 2022 Accepted: 23 May 2022
Introduction

Renal cell carcinoma (RCC), the most common kidney cancer in adults, comprises approximately 90% of kidney cancers.⁽¹⁾ Incidence of RCC is 3.8 cases per 100,000 populations, while the incidence in Thailand is 1.6%.⁽²⁾ Since 1971, incidence of renal mass has significantly increased due to increase use of Computed Tomography (CT) scan to diagnose other symptoms⁽³⁾, particularly unenhanced CT has been increasingly used for kidney stones and CT colonography.⁽⁴⁾

CT scan with contrast study has been extensively recognized as a potential tool for diagnosis of RCC. Renal mass that is enhanced in nephrogenic phase on CT more than 15 Hounsfield units (HU) should be suspected of RCC.⁽⁵⁾ Currently, many studies illustrated that an enhancement level above 15 HU indicated a false negative result for RCC diagnosis. A Canadian study found that around 17.2% of RCCs did not reach the 15 HU enhancement on CT studies.⁽⁶⁾ Another study found that 15% of more than 15 HU enhancements in surgically resected renal masses were benign lesions.⁽⁷⁾ Unenhanced CT has been increasingly used to evaluate other conditions, especially in patients who have chronic kidney diseases or allergy to contrast. Many studies concerning the noncontrast CT have suggested the range of HU more than 70 HU or less than 20 HU indicated benign lesion and required no further workup.⁽⁸⁻¹⁰⁾

This study aimed to determine whether RCC enhanced in CT is below the standard enhancement threshold and to analyze the HU range of RCC using the noncontrast CT where possible malignancy should be considered.

Methods

This retrospective descriptive study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Royal Thai Army Medical Department and acquisition of consent was waived (R041h/60). Using the Urology Department's database, Thai patients with renal cell carcinoma who were operated on, both radical and partial nephrectomy, at Phramongkutklao Hospital from January 2007 to December 2017 were enrolled in this study. The inclusion criteria included patients with pathologically proven RCCs with the size of renal lesion more than 1 cm. A related study has shown that renal lesions of less than 1 cm were too small to adequately characterize.⁽¹¹⁾ To reduce misunderstanding between each RCC and CT imaging, patients who had more than one mass in each kidney, polycystic kidney disease or von Hippel Lindau disease were excluded. The demographic data presenting symptoms and cell type of RCC were collected.

CT technique and interpretation

All patients were imaged with CT scanner (Brilliance CT 64, Phillips) after an intravenous bolus of 120 mL of contrast material with rate 3 mL/sec. Four phases of CT scan were acquired: unenhanced, corticomedullary, nephrographic and delayed phase. The CT studies were reviewed by a radiologist who was specialized in genitourinary imaging and was blinded to the final diagnosis. Renal masses were measured by placing similarly sized regions of interest (ROI), between 25 to 100 mm2 and avoiding areas of focal calcification and extreme periphery of the tumor to minimize effects from surrounding normal tissue. The mean HU were corrected in each ROI in the noncontrast and nephrogenic phase systematically as shown in Figure 1.

Statistical analysis

Mean HU in the noncontrast, contrast and enhancement were collected. Fisher's exact test was used to identify the affecting factor of the attenuation enhancement more and or less than 15 HU. Using logistic regression to analyze the factors that affected enhancement more than 15 HU, McNemar's test was used to see differentiation of sequence using HU between the noncontrast and enhancement in RCCs. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS Software, Version 16.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

A total of 152 patients with pathologically proven RCC included 37 women and 115 men, ages ranging from 31 to 89 years with mean age of 61 years. Of these, 66 patients (43.4%) had incidental findings including 130 (85%) clear cell RCC, 17 (11%) papillary RCC, 2 (1%) chromophobe RCC and 3 (2%) other types. The attenuation values, mean±SD, were 32.54±8.02 HU in the noncontrast CT, 71.26±33.10 HU in the contrast CT and 38.72±30.82 for the enhancement as shown in **Table 1**.



Figure 1. shows the regions of interest measurement (ROI) with separate renal mass in 3 parts by coronal image. Picture A: region of interest 1 is the mid part of renal mass. ROI was measured in Hounsfield attenuation in the noncontrast axial image. Picture B: region of interest 2 is midway between the middle and cranial margin. ROI was measured in Hounsfield attenuation in the noncontrast axial image. Picture C: region of interest 3 is midway between the middle and caudal margin. ROI was measured in the noncontrast axial image. Picture C: region of interest 3 is midway between the middle and caudal margin. ROI was measured in the noncontrast axial image. ROI was measured in Hounsfield attenuation in the noncontrast axial image. ROI was measured in Hounsfield attenuation of three measurements were recorded for each tumor.

	Characteristics	n = 152 (%)	
Age (years)	Mean±SD	61.0±12.4	
Gender	Male	115 (75.7)	
	Female	37 (24.3)	
Symptoms	Yes	86 (56.6)	
	No	66 (43.4)	
Histologic	Clear cell RCC	130 (85.5)	
	Papillary RCC	17 (11.2)	
	Chromophobe RCC	2 (1.3)	
	Others	3 (2.0)	
Location	Right	70 (46.0)	
	Left	82 (54.0)	
Size	<4 cm	35 (23.0)	
	4 - 7 cm	38 (25.0)	
	>7 cm	79 (52.0)	

Table 1. Clinical and pathological characteristics of patients

	Characteristics	n = 152 (%)
Mass calcification	Yes	40 (26.3)
	No	112 (73.7)
Mass characteristic	Homogenous	40 (26.3)
	Heterogenous	112 (73.7)
Pattern	Endophytic	34 (22.4)
	Exophytic	118 (77.6)
Non-contrast HU	Mean±SD	32.54±8.02
	Median (min, max)	32.00 (13.30, 57.23)
Contrast HU	Mean±SD	71.26±33.10
	Median (Min, Max)	62.48 (16.87, 202.80)
Enhancement HU	Mean±SD	38.72±30.82
	Median (Min, Max)	32.12 (-3.20, 156.97)

Table 1. Clinical and pathological characteristics of patients (Continued)

*SD – standard deviation, RCC – renal cell carcinoma, HU – Hounsfield unit

We found that 31 RCCs did not reach the enhancement threshold at >15 HU. As a result, 20.4% of the RCCs could not be diagnosed because of no enhancement in the nephrogenic phase. Both cell type and size of tumor that affected enhancement were statistically significant (p < 0.001). Using multiple logistic regression, enhancement of clear cells had 25 times greater than that of non-clear cells (AOR = 25.71, 95%CI=6.23-101.1). The size of tumor less than 7 cm also had 11 times greater enhancement. (AOR=11.52, 95% CI=2.846.6) after having adjusted with clear cell histologic subtype. (Table 2). Significant differences in proportion of different subtypes of RCC that did not reach the 15 HU enhancement threshold were observed, namely, 100% chromophobe RCC, 58.8% papillary RCC and 13.1% clear cell RCC (p<0.001). Using HU cut points in the noncontrast study, no significant differences between cell type groups were observed. (Table 3)

This study also analyzed the attenuation range of RCCs in the noncontrast CT. The minimum and maximum attenuations were 13.30 and 57.23 HU, respectively $(32.54\pm8.02$ HU). Minimum attenuation less than 20 HU was 23 (15%) of the tumor, and no tumor had a maximum attenuation greater than 60 HU. CT attenuation between 20 and 60 HU accounted for 84.9% of the RCCs. Accuracy of the standard 15 HU enhancement threshold was 79.6% while 20 to 60 HU in the noncontrast CT was 84.9%. The 20 to 60 HU attenuation gave more accuracy for RCC diagnosis than that of the standard contrast enhancement (**Table 4**).

DISCUSSION

Due to increased use of CT, more RCCs have been detected. Related studies have proposed where enhancement thresholds of 15 HU might lead to 17.2% misdiagnosis of RCCs especially in papillary RCC.⁽⁶⁾ Therefore, this study aimed to evaluate the accuracy of the criteria set by enhancement of more than 15 HU of pathologically proven RCCs in Thai patients. The result was similar to the related study that 20.4% of RCCs did not reach 15 HU enhancement.

The classification of RCC is based on histopathology. Histological subtype is related to different tumor characteristics and cancer prognosis. Several studies found that attenuation values can differentiate RCC subtypes, especially in clear cells and other subtypes.⁽¹⁴⁾ This study found that clear cell RCC appeared to be better enhanced than nonclear cell RCC. Due to high vascular supply and alveolar structure of histologic studies, the clear cell subtype showed higher enhancement of HU when compared with other subtypes.^(15,16)

	Enhancement <15 HU (%)	Enhancement ≥15HU (%)	<i>p</i> -value	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years) (mean±SD)	60.3±13.6	61.2±12.1	0.702		
Sex					
Male	21 (18.3)	94(81.7)	0.250		
Female	10 (27.1)	27 (72.9)			
Symptoms					
Yes	21 (24.5)	65 (75.5)	0.160		
No	10 (15.2)	56 (84.8)			
Histologic type					
Clear cell RCCs	17 (13.1)	113 (86.9)	<0.001	25.17 (6.23-101.1)	<0.001
Non clear cell RCCs	14 (63.6)	8 (36.4)			
Location					
Right	17 (24.3)	53 (75.7)	0.296		
Left	14 (17.1)	68 (82.9)			
Size					
< 7 cm	6 (9.2)	67 (91.8)	<0.001	11.52 (2.8-46.6)	0.001
\geq 7 cm	25 (31.6)	54 (68.4)			
Size					
< 4 cm	4 (11.4)	31 (88.6)	0.133		
\geq 4 cm	27 (23.1)	90 (76.9)			
Mass Calcification					
No	21 (28.8)	91 (81.2)	0.701		
Yes	10 (25.0)	30 (75.0)			
Mass characteristic					
Homogenous	6 (15.0)	34 (85.0)	0.324		
Heterogenous	25 (23.1)	87 (76.9)			
Pattern					
Endophytic	3 (8.8)	31 (91.2)	0.057		
Exophytic	28 (23.7)	90 (76.3)			

Table 2. Multiple logistic regression for factors of enhancement attenuation

*SD - standard deviation, RCCs - renal cell carcinoma, HU - Hounsfield unit

	Cell ty	pe (%)		
Clear cell RCC	Papillary RCC	Chromophobe RCC	Others	<i>p</i> -value*
				<0.001
17 (13.1)	10 (58.8)	2 (100.0)	2 (66.7)	
113 (86.9)	7 (41.2)	0	1 (33.3)	
				0.457
21 (16.2)	1 (5.9)	0	1 (33.3)	
109 (83.8)	16 (94.1)	2 (100.0)	2 (66.7)	
	RCC 17 (13.1) 113 (86.9) 21 (16.2)	Clear cell RCC Papillary RCC 17 (13.1) 10 (58.8) 113 (86.9) 7 (41.2) 21 (16.2) 1 (5.9)	RCC Papillary RCC RCC 17 (13.1) 10 (58.8) 2 (100.0) 113 (86.9) 7 (41.2) 0 21 (16.2) 1 (5.9) 0	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

Table 3. Attenuation and en	hancement of Hounsfi	eld unit in subtype	of renal cell carcinoma
Tuble 5. I fitterituation and en		loid ann in Subtype	

*Fisher's exact test

Table 4. Accuracy of using attenuations between noncontrast and enhancement in RCC

	Enhancement>15(%)	Enhancement<15(%)	Total
Non-contrast>20	103 (67.8)	26 (17.1)	129 (84.9)
Non-contrast<20	18 (11.8)	5 (3.3)	23 (15.1)
Total	121(79.6)	31 (20.4)	152 (100.0)

McNemar's test=0.291

Other significant affecting factors enhancing threshold less than 15 HU was the tumor size. Tumor size less than 7 cm also had 11 times greater enhancement. Some studies have shown that pseudo-enhancement increases with smaller masses.^(17, 18) Inversely, when the mass is larger than 7 cm or non-clear cell RCC, the use of enhancement threshold>15 HU must be carefully used for diagnosis.

The noncontrast CT has been used more frequently to diagnose disease in urologic and nonurologic conditions, in situations when patients have contraindication for contrast media. Incidental finding of renal mass is the most common extracolonic cancer identified in CT studies.⁽¹⁹⁾ The role of HU in RCCs involving noncontrast CT studies has not been specified in other literature. However, several studies have shown that the mean attenuation of RCCs of noncontrast CT are within the range of 20 to 70.^(20, 21) Homogenous renal mass with HU less than 20 HU or more than 70 HU can be considered benign without need for further investigation.(8-10, 22) Therefore, we used the lower range of attenuation between 20 to 60 HU in the noncontrast CT as a threshold to identify the length of pathologically

proven RCC in Thai patients. Our study found that pathologically proven RCC in this range was 84.9%, similar to the study of Dustin Pooler et al.⁽¹³⁾ Surprisingly, the results showed more accuracy than the standard enhancement (>15HU) in the nephrogenic phase at 79.6%. However, our study encountered limitations, not including the benign lesion of kidneys such as oncocytoma and angiomyolipoma in the study. As the result, we cannot conclude that the use of non-contrast with HU >20 was more accurate than enhancement in the nephrogenic phase.

Our study found that 15% of RCCs had an attenuation less than 20 HU. A related study showed that a few solid RCCs had attenuation like the water (-10 to 20 HU) on the noncontrast study, but all were clear cell subtypes with heterogeneous mass.⁽¹²⁾ None of the RCCs had attenuation more than 60 HU which was similar to the results of the study by Jonisch et al.⁽⁹⁾ We concluded that renal mass with an attenuation of 60 HU or higher of the noncontrast CT had a greater chance of representing a high attenuation cyst and not RCC. This study showed that most RCCs in this series could be measured at values between 20 and 60 HU with the noncontrast CT.

An unenhanced renal mass containing this range of attenuation should be carefully evaluated because of malignancy risk.

Accuracy of the standard 15 HU enhancement threshold and 20 to 60 HU in the non-contrast CT were 79.6% and 84.9%, respectively. Altogether 20 to 60 HU attenuation gave more accuracy for RCC diagnosis than the standard contrast enhancement. To improve the accuracy of RCC diagnosis, the combined use of both noncontrast attenuation group (<20 HU and >20 HU) and enhancement >15 HU could increase the accuracy to 96.7%.

In clinical practices, when malignancy from an imaging study is unsuspected (<20 HU or enhancement <15 HU), an active surveillance strategy was used to follow up the patient. As a result, tissue diagnosis from this group of patients could not be obtained. In this study, only one radiologist reviewed the CT scans. Thus, no inter-observers were used to examine the results of HU. Finally, our study only showed lower enhanced HU in nonclear cells compared with clear cell subtype of RCC. In future studies, comparison of HU among noncontrast, corticomedullary and nephrogenic phases could help differentiate subtypes of RCCs.

Conclusion

One fifth of RCCs did not reach the standard enhancement threshold (>15 HU). Clear cell RCCs and small renal mass (<7 cm) had more chance to receive enhancement of HU than those of the other groups. Inversely, when the mass was >7 cm or nonclear cell RCC, the use of enhancement threshold >15 HU must be carefully used for diagnosis. The renal lesion in the noncontrast CT for which attenuation ranged from 20 to 60 HU should be carefully evaluated because of malignancy risk. Using a noncontrast phase regardless HU combined with enhancement >15 HU could improve the accuracy of RCC diagnosis.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the staff of the Department of Radiology, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Thailand who participated in this study. This work was financially supported by the Department of Surgery, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Thailand.

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Ljungberg B, Albiges L, Abu-Ghanem Y, Bensalah K, Dabestani S, Fernández-Pello S, etal.EuropeanAssociationofUrologyGuidelines on renal cell carcinoma: The 2019 Update. Eur Urol. 2019; 75: 799-810.
- SEER Cancer Stat Facts: Kidney and renal pelvis cancer, Bethesda, MD: National cancer Institute; Available at: http://seer.cancer. gov/statfacts/html/kidrp.html. Accessed May 17, 2022.
- Gudbjartsson T, Thoroddsen A, Petursdottir V, Hardarson S, Magnusson J, Einarsson GV. Effect of incidental detection for survival of patients with renal cell carcinoma: results of population-based study of 701 patients. Urology 2005; 66: 1186-91.
- Pickhardt PJ, Hanson ME, Vanness DJ, Lo JY, Kim DH, Taylor AJ, et al. Unsuspected extracolonic findings at screening CT colonography: clinical and economic impact. Radiology 2008; 249: 151-9.
- Campbell SC, Lane BR. Malignant renal tumors. In: Wein AJ, Kavoussi LR, Partin AW, Peters CA editors. Campbell-Walsh Urology. 11th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2016. p.1315-64.
- Harbi FA, Tabatabaeefar L, Jewett MA, Finelli A, O'Malley M, Atri M. Enhancement threshold small (<4 cm) solid renal masses on CT. Am J Roentgenol 2016; 206: 554-8.
- Corcoran AT, Russo P, Lowrance WT, Asnis-Alibozek A, Libertino JA, Pryma DA, et al. Review of contemporary data on surgically resected renal masses--benign or malignant? Urology 2013; 81: 707-13.
- Israel GM, Bosniak MA. An update of the Bosniak renal cyst classification system. Urology 2005; 66: 484–8.
- 9. Jonisch AI, Rubinowitz AN, Mutalik PG, Israel GM. Can high-attenuation renal cysts be differentiated from renal cell carcinoma

at unenhanced CT? Radiology 2007; 243: 445–50.

- Silverman SG, Israel GM, Herts BR, Richie JP. Management of the incidental renal mass. Radiology 2008; 249:16–31.
- 11. Willatt J, Francis IR. Imaging and management of the incidentally discovered renal mass. Cancer Imaging 2009; 9 (Spec No A): S30–7.
- Schieda N, Vakili M, Dilauro M, Hodgdon T, Flood TA, Shabana WM. Solid renal cell carcinoma measuring water attenuation (-10 to 20 HU) on unenhanced CT. Am J Roentgenol 2015: 1215-21.
- 13. Pooler BD, Pickhardt PJ, O'Connor SD, Bruce RJ, Patel SR, Nakada SY. Renal cell carcinoma: Attenuation values on unenhanced CT. Am J Roentgenol 2012; 198: 1115-20.
- 14. Sheir KZ, El-Azab M, Mosbah A, El-Baz M, Shaaban AA. Differentiation of renal cell carcinoma subtypes by multi slice computerized tomography. J Urol 2005; 174: 451-5.
- 15. Reuter VE, Presti Jr JC. Contemporary approach to the classification of renal epithelial tumors. Semin Oncol 2000; 27: 124.
- 16. Fujimoto H, Wakao F, Moriyama N, Tobisu K, Sakamoto M, Kakizoe T. Alveolar architecture of clear cell renal carcinomas (<or=5.0 cm) show high attenuation on dynamic CT scanning. Jpn J Clin Oncol 1999; 29:198.

- 17. Abdulla C, Kalra MK, Saini S, Maher MM, Ahmad A, Halpern E, et al. Pseudoenhancement of simulated renal cysts in a phantom using different multidetector CT scanners. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2002; 179: 1473-6.
- 18. Wang ZJ, Coakley FV, Fu Y, Joe BN, Prevrhal S, Landeras LA, et al. Renal cyst pseudoenhancement at multidetector CT: what are the effects of number of detectors and peak tube voltage? Radiology 2008; 248: 910-6.
- Pickhardt PJ, Kim DH, Meiners RJ, Wyatt KS, Hanson ME, Barlow DS, et al. Colorectal and extracolonic cancers detected at screening CT colonography in 10,286 asymptomatic adults. Radiology 2010; 255: 83-8.
- Song C, Min GE, Song K, Kim JK, Hong B, Kim CS, et al. Differential diagnosis of complex cystic renal mass using multiphase computerized tomography. J Urol 2009; 181: 2446-50.
- Zhang J, Lefkowitz RA, Ishill NM, Wang L, Moskowitz CS, Russo P, et al. Solid renal cortical tumors: differentiation with CT. Radiology 2007; 244: 495-504.
- 22. O'Connor SD, Pickhardt PJ, Kim DH, Oliva MR, Silverman SG. Incidental renal masses at unenhanced CT: prevalence and analysis of features for guiding management. Am J Roentgenol 2011; 197: 139–45.

CORRELATION BETWEEN RETICULOCYTE HEMOGLOBIN EQUIVALENT AND IRON STATUS IN PEDIATRIC CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE

Pacharin Mungklarat, Chantida Subun

Department of Pediatrics, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Ratchawithi Road, Ratchathewi, Bangkok, Thailand

Abstract

Background: Anemia is a major complication of pediatric chronic kidney disease (CKD). Iron deficiency is one of the most common causes of anemia. Conventional markers of iron deficiency anemia, transferrin saturation (TSAT) and serum ferritin could be interfered with various factors. in CKD. Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent (Ret-He) is useful for assessing iron status among these patients.

Methods: A descriptive cross-sectional study enrolling children with CKD stage 3 and above was conducted between April and November 2021. Demographic information was also collected. Correlation of Ret-He, anemia indices and markers of iron status were analyzed.

Results: Among 50 participants, we found moderate positive correlations between Hb and Ret-He (r=0.518; p < 0.001), Hct and Ret-He (r=0.403; p=0.004), and MCHC and Ret-He (r=0.667; p<0.001); a modest negative correlation between RDW and Ret-He (r=-0.616; p<0.001) and strong correlations between MCV and Ret-He (r=0.747; p<0.001) including MCH and Ret-He (r=0.865; p<0.001). No correlations between TSAT and Ret-He, serum ferritin and Ret-He, TSAT and Hb, or TSAT and Hct were observed. In addition, weak negative correlations between serum ferritin and Hb (r=-0.307; p=0.032) and between serum ferritin and Hct (r=-0.305; p=0.033) were detected. The median Ret-He was 28.42 ± 3.37 pg. Twenty-seven participants (54%) met the criteria for iron deficiency anemia (cut-off value <29 pg) of which 2 (4%) had absolute iron deficiency and 9 (18%) had functional iron deficiency defined by conventional markers.

Conclusion: Ret-He is a relevant marker of iron status among pediatric patients with CKD and correlates well with anemia indices which could help identify more patients with iron deficiency.

Keywords: Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent (Ret-He), Pediatric, Chronic kidney disease (CKD), Anemia, Iron deficiency

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6(1):e0118 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.118

Correspondence to: Mungklarat P, Department of Pediatrics, Phramongkutklao Hospital, 315 Ratchawithi Road, Ratchathewi, Bangkok 10400, Thailand. Email: pacharinmungklarat@gmail.com

Received: 19 March 2022 Revised: 26 June 2022 Accepted: 29 July 2022

Introduction

The worldwide prevalence of chronic kidney disease (CKD) is estimated to be 8 to 16% and continues to grow, driven by aging populations and increasing rates of obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus.⁽¹⁾ Prevalence of 1.5 to 3.0 per 1,000,000 was found among children younger than 16 years old. The most common causes of CKD among children are urologic abnormalities (30-33%), glomerulopathies(25-27%),hereditarynephropathies (16%) and renal hypoplasia/ dysplasia (11%).⁽²⁾ CKD affects children in many aspects such as growth, bone mineral density, hypertension, cardiovascular events and anemia.⁽³⁾

Anemia is one of the most common complications in pediatric CKD causing cognitive decline, decreased quality of life, cardiovascular risks, hospitalization and mortality. (4-7) Among adults, the National Kidney Foundation (NKF) has been working to improve patient outcomes by developing, disseminating and implementing the Dialysis Outcomes Quality Initiative (DOQI) Clinical Practice Guidelines (KDOQI), defining anemia as hemoglobin (Hb) <13.5 g/dL among males and <12 g/dL among females.⁽⁸⁾ The most recent NKF-KDOQI clinical practice guidelines employed reference data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III cite normative values among children to and recommended initiating an evaluation for anemia when Hb levels fall below the age- and sex-specific 5th percentile value, although Hb differences by race are still not considered. Data from the North American Pediatric Renal Trials and Collaborative Studies (NAPRTCS) have demonstrated that the prevalence of anemia among children was 73% at stage 3 CKD, 87% at stage 4 and higher than 93% at stage 5.⁽⁹⁾ Anemia in CKD can be caused by erythropoietin deficiency, iron deficiency, increased hepcidin and iron-restricted erythropoiesis.^(1, 3, 10, 11) Therefore, to evaluate iron status in CKD is important to manage properly.

Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) recommended measuring serum ferritin and transferrin saturation (TSAT) to evaluate iron status and commencing oral iron or intravenous iron among patients undergoing hemodialysis (HD) when TSAT is <20% and ferritin is $\leq 100 \text{ ng/ml}$ ($\leq 100 \text{ µg/l}$).⁽¹²⁾ However, interpreting serum ferritin and TSAT among patients with CKD as both measurements are confounded by inflammation and several other factors such as malnutrition, liver disease, and malignancy can give rise to high serum ferritin. TSAT is not actually measured but derived from measurement of serum iron and total iron binding capacity (TIBC). TIBC concentration in plasma is reduced by inflammation as it constitutes a negative acute-phase reactant. These implicate poor reliability of TSAT and serum ferritin in assessing iron status in CKD and end stage kidney disease (ESKD) exhibiting numerous confounding factors.^(11, 13) Therefore, alternative measures were proposed to estimate available iron to incorporate in emerging erythrocytes. Reticulocyte hemoglobin content (CHr) is a measure using the Siemen blood count analyzer (Siemen ADVIA, Siemens Bayer Diagnostics, Tarrytown, NY, USA). As reticulocytes develop into erythrocytes within a few days, and hemoglobin production depends on available iron, the hemoglobin content of reticulocytes would represent short term changes in available iron for erythropoiesis. Another measure to assess iron bioavailability for emerging erythrocytes is reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent (Ret-He), which is available using the Sysmex blood analyzers (Sysmex XN-series, Sysmex, Kobe, Japan). In this method, fluorescent markers were used to identify cellular RNA of red blood cell, reticulocytes and platelets. The reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent (Ret-He) is calculated from a combination of fluorescence and forward scatter.⁽¹¹⁾ Both CHr and Ret-He are appropriate markers for assessing iron status among children with CKD as they measure a short half-life element that is dependent on availability of iron.

Among patients undergoing hemodialysis (HD), Brugnara et al. found that Ret-He is a reliable marker of cellular hemoglobin content and can be used to identify the presence of iron - deficient states. ⁽¹⁴⁾ Ret-He has been used as a marker of iron availability for erythropoiesis among adults on HD, although the cut-off values as well as specificity and sensitivity vary. ⁽¹⁵⁾

Garzia et al. described an excellent diagnostic efficiency of Ret-He in evaluating patients needing iron support and demonstrated a strict correspondence between the classic CHr and the new Ret-He.⁽¹⁶⁾ El-Halim et al. found that a statistically significant increase in Ret-He was observed after IV iron supplementation compared with baseline values. (17) The British Committee for Standards in Haematology guidelines for the laboratory diagnosis of functional iron deficiency 2013⁽¹⁸⁾ and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) anemia guidelines 2015 update⁽¹⁹⁾ recommended measuring CHr and Ret-He for diagnosis of iron deficiency. Analysis of CHr and Ret-He is performed on the same EDTA blood sample used for complete blood count; hence, this would require less blood sampling and reduce costs compared with traditional measures.⁽¹¹⁾ In CKD, absolute iron deficiency is likely to be present when TSAT is $\leq 20\%$ and serum ferritin concentration is ≤ 100 ng/mL in predialysis and among patients on peritoneal dialysis (PD) or ≤200 ng/mL among patients undergoing hemodialysis.⁽²⁰⁾ Functional iron deficiency is usually characterized by TSAT $\leq 20\%$ with elevated ferritin levels.⁽²⁰⁾

Most studies of Ret-He were conducted among adults with CKD; however, studies in the pediatric population remain limited. Related studies of Ret-He among pediatric patients with CKD were conducted by Davidkova et al. ⁽¹⁵⁾ and Pinto et al. ⁽²¹⁾ In this study, we aimed to investigate the relationship between Ret-He and the currently-used traditional markers of iron and erythropoiesis among pediatric patients with CKD. We hypothesized that Ret-He could be a clinically useful tool to evaluate iron status in this population.

Methods

Study design and settings

A descriptive cross-sectional study of children with chronic kidney disease from stage 3 and above was conducted under the care of Phramongkutklao Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand. CKD classification was based on the KDIGO international guidelines.⁽²²⁾ This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Institutional Review Board, Royal Thai Army Medical Department; approval number R034h/64.

Participants

Between April and November 2021, children aged 6 months to 18 years with a diagnosis of CKD stages 3 to 5, as well as patients of post kidney transplant with impaired GFR (3T-5T) at the Division of Pediatric Nephrology, Phramongkutklao Hospital were enrolled in this study. Exclusion criteria included the presence of underlying diseases requiring regular blood transfusion, transfusion-dependent thalassemia, aplastic anemia, previous blood transfusion within three months, hemolytic anemia and chronic blood loss. Informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Data collection

Patients underwent history-taking, physical examination and laboratory tests. Data regarding age, sex, weight, height, causes of CKD, stage of CKD, mode of renal replacement therapy, history of kidney transplantation, thalassemia and hemoglobinopathy, erythropoietin use and iron supplement were collected. Anemia and iron status indices including Hb, hematocrit (Hct), serum iron, TIBC, serum ferritin, reticulocyte count, corrected reticulocyte count, mean corpuscular volume (MCV), mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (MCHC), mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH), red cell distribution width (RDW), c-reactive protein (CRP), serum albumin, serum creatinine (SCr), blood urea nitrogen (BUN) and Ret-He were measured. TSAT was calculated as $TSAT = (serum iron divided by TIBC) \times 100.$ ⁽²⁰⁾ Glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was calculated among all patients using Schwartz formula.⁽²³⁾

Statistical analysis

Data were processed using SPSS Software, Version 21. Descriptive statistical analysis was performed; data with normal distribution was reported as mean \pm standard deviation. Pearson's correlation coefficient was used to analyze relationships between Ret-He and Hb, Hct, serum iron, TIBC, serum ferritin, reticulocyte count, corrected reticulocyte count, MCV, MCHC, MCH, RDW, CRP, SCr, BUN and TSAT, as well as correlations between TSAT and Hb, TSAT and Hct, serum ferritin and Hb, and serum ferritin and Hct. The prevalence of iron deficiency anemia (IDA) was calculated using the percentage of participants having Ret-He below 29 pg according to NICE anemia guidelines 2015 update.⁽¹⁹⁾ Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis was used to determine the performance of Ret-He in diagnosing iron deficiency. Results with p < 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

Results

Patient characteristics

Fifty patients were enrolled in the study, and their characteristics are summarized in **Table 1**. The majority of participants were male (64%) with a mean age of 12.52 ± 5.18 years. The most

Table 1: Demographic and clinical characteristics of study population

Characteristics	Ν	%
Gender		
- Male	32	64
- Female	18	36
Age (yrs)		
- Mean \pm SD	12.52	± 5.18
Weight (kg)		
- Mean \pm SD	35.61	± 20.07
Height (cm)		
- Mean \pm SD	130.71	± 28.46
Cause of CKD		
- CAKUT	17	34
- Glomerular disease	11	22
- Unknown	11	22
- Ischemia	3	6
- Other	8	16
CKD stage		
- 3	9	18
- 3T	16	32
- 4	8	16
- 4T	4	8
- 5	11	22
- 5T	2	4
Dialysis		
- Yes	12	24
- Hemodialysis	2	4
- Peritoneal dialysis	10	20
Transplantation		
- Yes	22	44

Characteristics	Ν	%
Thalassemia		
- Hb E trait	3	6
- HbH disease	1	2
- No thalassemia	10	20
- Not tested	36	72
Erythropoietin		
- Receiving treatment	13	26
- Dose of erythropoietin (u/kg/week)	207.23	± 142.74
Iron supplement		
- Receiving treatment	26	52
- Dose of oral iron supplement (mg/kg/day)	3.09	± 1.70
- Route of administration		
o Oral	25	50
o IV	1	2

 Table 1: Demographic and clinical characteristics of study population (Ext.)

SD=standard deviation, yrs=years, kg=kilogram, cm=centimeter, CKD=chronic kidney disease, CAKUT= congenital anomalies of urinary tract and kidney, Hb= hemoglobin, u= unit, mg= milligram, IV= intravenous

common cause of CKD was CAKUT (34%). Most participants were in CKD stage 3T (32%). Twelve participants had undergone renal replacement therapy, two had hemodialysis, and ten had peritoneal dialysis. Twenty-two participants had undergone kidney transplantation (44%). Most patients were not tested for thalassemia (72%) and most were not receiving erythropoietin (74%). More than one-half of the patients received iron replacement therapy (52%), mostly via the oral route.

Anemia and iron status

Table 2 illustrated laboratory parameters of the participants. Mean Hb was 11.37 ± 2.12 g/dL; mean Hct was 35.24 ± 6.22 %.

Median Ret-He was 28.42 ± 3.37 pg. When applying a Ret-He threshold of 29 according to NICE anemia guidelines 2015 update ⁽¹⁹⁾, 27 participants (54%) met the criteria of IDA. On the other hand, when using conventional markers, two participants (4%) had absolute iron deficiency and nine (18%) had functional iron deficiency. One participant had TSAT <20% but lacked the data of serum ferritin. Thereby, a higher number of patients with iron deficiency could be identified with the use of Ret-He compared with conventional measures.

Linear regression analysis revealed moderate positive correlations between Hb and Ret-He (r=0.518; p <0.001) (Figure 1), Hct and Ret-He (r=0.403; p=0.004) (Figure 2), and MCHC and Ret-He (r=0.667; p<0.001) (Figure 3). A modest negative correlation between RDW and Ret-He (r=-0.616; p<0.001) was depicted (Figure 4). We also found strong correlations between MCV and Ret-He (r=0.747; p<0.001) (Figure 5) and between MCH and Ret-He (r=0.865; p<0.001) (Figure 6). On the other hand, no correlations were found between TSAT and Ret-He (r=0.170; p=0.239) or serum ferritin and Ret-He (r=-0.021; p=0.887). Weak negative correlations between serum ferritin and Hb (r=-0.307; p=0.032), and serum ferritin and Hct (r=-0.305; p=0.033) were observed. However, no correlations between TSAT and Hb (r=-0.011; p=0.940) or TSAT and Hct (r=-0.030; p=0.838) were detected.

ROC analysis was performed to determine

Parameters	n	Mean \pm SD
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	50	11.37 <u>+</u> 2.12
Hematocrit (%)	50	35.24 <u>+</u> 6.22
Serum iron (µg/dL)	50	78.50 ± 42.84
TIBC (µg/dL)	50	235.16 ± 54.35
Serum ferritin (ng/mL)	49	377.18 <u>+</u> 347.59
Reticulocyte count (%)	50	1.79 ± 0.81
Correct reticulocyte count (%)	50	1.73 ± 0.75
TSAT (%)	50	33.93 ± 20.12
MCV (fl)	50	80.60 ± 8.08
MCHC (g/dL)	50	32.22 ± 1.39
MCH (pg)	50	26 ± 3.08
RDW (%)	50	14.54 ± 2.96
CRP (mg/L)	45	4.47 ± 8.19
Albumin (g/dL)	43	4.22 ± 0.69
SCr (mg/dL)	50	3.00 ± 2.84
eGFR (mL/min/1.73m ²)	50	31.74 ± 18.54
BUN (mg/dL)	50	36.07 ± 24.06
Ret-He (pg)	50	28.42 ± 3.37
- Ret-He below 29 pg		27 (54%)

Table 2. Laboratory parameters

TIBC = total iron binding capacity, TSAT = transferrin saturation, MCV = mean corpuscular volume, MCHC = mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration, MCH = mean corpuscular hemoglobin, RDW = red cell distribution width, CRP = c-reactive protein, SCr = serum creatinine, eGFR= estimated glomerular filtration rate, BUN = blood urea nitrogen, Ret-He = reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent



Figure 1. Correlation between hemoglobin and Ret-He



Figure 2. Correlation between hematocrit and Ret-He



Figure 3. Correlation between mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration and Ret-He



Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent (pg)

Figure 4. Correlation between red cell distribution width and Ret-He



Figure 5. Correlation between mean corpuscular volume and Ret-He



Figure 6. Correlation between mean corpuscular hemoglobin and Ret-He



Figure 7. ROC curve of reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent (Ret-He) to detect absolute and functional iron deficiency

the diagnostic performance of Ret-He against traditional diagnostic markers of iron deficiency, both functional and absolute iron deficiency. The area under the curve (AUC) was 0.68 (**Figure 7**). The ROC analysis demonstrated that a cut-off value of Ret-He was ≤ 25.9 pg detected iron deficiency with 92.11% sensitivity and 54.44% specificity.

Discussion

Anemia is an important problem among children with CKD. Lower glomerular filtration rates (GFR) are associated with lower levels of hemoglobin and become more pronounced when GFR falls below 60 mL/min per 1.73 m² among adults.⁽²⁴⁾ This study investigated the use of Ret-He as an indicator of iron deficiency in pediatric CKD, particularly in the low clearance group, namely CKD 3 and above. We identified

a higher prevalence of iron deficiency anemia (54%) based on Ret-He criteria compared with those of 4 and 18% for absolute and functional iron deficiency, respectively, diagnosed using traditional markers, namely, serum ferritin and TSAT. The result was comparable with that of the related study by Pinto et al. among children on hemodialysis, reporting the incidence of absolute iron deficiency being 13% when using traditional markers and 44% when using Ret-he with a cut-off point 29 pg.⁽²¹⁾

Before correcting anemia, accurate measurement of iron status is required to avoid unnecessary supplement. The widely-used markers in CKD are TSAT and serum ferritin, although they are known to have limited reliability in assessing iron availability among patients with CKD. Our present study demonstrated that Ret-He had moderate positive correlations with Hb (r=0.518; p < 0.001), Hct (r=0.403; p=0.004)and MCHC (r=0.667; p<0.001), which was consistent with related studies. Davikova et al. conducted a study among children on chronic dialysis, exhibiting a modest positive correlation between Ret-He and Hb (r=0.22, p<0.001).⁽¹⁵⁾ A study among children on hemodialysis from Pinto et al. also found a weak positive correlation between Hb and Ret-He (r=0.35, p<0.001).⁽²¹⁾ Moreover, a moderate negative correlation between RDW and Ret-He (r=-0.616; p<0.001) and strong correlations between Ret-Hb and MCV (r=0.747; p<0.001) and MCH (r=0.865; p < 0.001) were demonstrated. Therefore, this could imply that Ret-He had strong correlations with RBC indices.

Davikova et al. showed a modest relationship between Ret-He and TSAT (r=0.34, p<0001) and a poor correlation between Ret-He and ferritin (r=0.09, p=0.04).⁽¹⁵⁾ However, Pinto et al. reported a significant positive correlation between TSAT and Ret-He (r=0.52, p<0.001).⁽²¹⁾ In adult studies, Rovani et al. observed significant correlations between Ret-He and TSAT (r=0.416, p=0.019) among adult patients with CKD.⁽²⁵⁾ Dalimunthe et al. also found significant correlations between Ret-He and serum ferritin (r = 0.499, p< 0.0001) and TSAT (r = 0.592, p<0.0001) among adult patients on hemodialysis.⁽²⁶⁾ We were unable to find correlations between Ret-He and TSAT (r=0.170; p=0.239) or serum ferritin (r=-0.021; p=0.887); this could have been due to the small sample size.

Our study was concordant with the study from Pinto et al.⁽²¹⁾, in which neither study found correlations between TSAT and Hb (r=-0.011; p=0.940), or Hct (r=-0.030; p=0.838, in contrast to the study from Davidkova et al. that demonstrated a weak positive correlation between Ret-He and Hb (r=0.12, p=0.007).⁽¹⁵⁾ This could have resulted from inflammation that confounded the measurements. In the context of systemic inflammation, reduction in TIBC leads to a higher level of TSAT independent on the patient's iron status. Therefore, inflammation is implicated in the poor reliability of TSAT as a measure of iron status in CKD.⁽¹¹⁾

Weak negative correlations between serum ferritin and Hb (r=-0.307; p=0.032), and Hct (r=-0.305; p=0.033) were demonstrated in this study, which was consistent with findings from related studies.^(15,21)Ferritin is an intracellular iron storage protein, and its concentration is influenced by several factors, such as intracellular iron stores. Serum ferritin is also an inflammatory marker and plays a key role in diagnosing systemic inflammatory processes such as macrophage activation syndrome⁽¹¹⁾ and also affects the patient's nutritional status, as observed among patients on adult hemodialysis.⁽²⁷⁾ Given various confounding influences, the use of ferritin as a marker of iron status among patients with kidney disease has been questioned.

From ROC analysis, we found that a cut-off value of Ret-He was ≤ 25.9 pg with 92.11% sensitivity and 54.44% specificity. The cut-off value was lower than that of the study of Davikova et al., conducted among children undergoing chronic dialysis demonstrating a cut-off value of 28.9 pg to detect absolute iron deficiency anemia with 90% sensitivity and 75% specificity, and a cut-off value of 27.7 pg to detect functional iron deficiency anemia with 55% sensitivity and 83% specificity.⁽¹⁵⁾ In addition, our cut-off value was lower than the standard guidelines, and and the NICE anemia guidelines 2015 update, recommending using Ret-He below 29 pg in chronic kidney disease in diagnosing iron deficiency. ⁽¹⁹⁾ These could be due to the interference of baseline hemoglobinopathies among our patients due to the high prevalence of thalassemia in Thai populations. ⁽²⁸⁾

The major limitation encountered in this study was the small sample size due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Most patients avoided traveling and preferred to have blood work done at nearby hospitals, affecting the Ret-He investigation. We did not achieve the calculated sample size of 62 that could have affected the results of this study. Another challenge was that we could not check thalassemia among all participants. In Southeast Asia, hemoglobinopathies such as α-thalassemia, β-thalassemia, hemoglobin (Hb) E and Hb Constant Spring (CS) are highly prevalent.⁽²⁸⁾ Therefore, interpreting Ret-He in this population should be done with caution. Kadegasem et al. conducted a school-based study among Thai children to determine Ret-He in various groups: Ret-He of patients in the thalassemia trait group (26.7 ± 2.4 pg), iron deficiency group $(29.0 \pm 2.9 \text{ pg})$, iron deficiency anemia group $(25.4 \pm 2.7 \text{ pg})$, iron deficiency+ thalassemia trait group (26.6 ± 2.8 pg), and iron deficiency anemia + thalassemia trait group $(24.6 \pm 2.3 \text{ pg})$ were significantly lower than those in the normal control group $(30.8 \pm 1.7 \text{ pg}; p < 0.001,$ 0.01, 0.006, 0.002 and < 0.001, respectively.⁽²⁹⁾ Chaipokam et al. conducted a study among adults over 18 years of age having MCV <80 fl and treated at King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital, Thailand. They found that CHr among patients with IDA and thalassemia disease were significantly less than those among patients with anemia of inflammation and thalassemia trait (p < 0.001), who in turn had lower CHr compared with normal controls (p < 0.001).⁽³⁰⁾ emphasized that hemoglobinopathies This could interfere with Ret-He level, especially in Thai populations which are known to be highly prevalent with thalassemia.

In this study, we were able to display a moderate positive correlation between Hb and Ret-He among pediatric patients with CKD. This could give confidence to the use of Ret-He in evaluating iron status that would not be inferior to conventional markers. In fact, we could possibly diagnose a greater number of patients and provide prompt treatment. Furthermore, additional advantages included less blood sampling and reduced costs by 78% when compared with conventional measures.

Conclusion

Ret-He had significant moderate correlations with Hb, Hct and MCHC, a moderate negative correlation with RDW and strong positive correlations with MCV and MCH among pediatric patients with CKD. Thus, Ret-He is a relevant marker to assess iron status among pediatric patients with CKD and correlates well with anemia indices. Ret-He could identify more patients with iron deficiency than those of conventional markers. Ret-He value ≤ 25.9 pg had 92.11% sensitivity and 54.44% specificity in pediatric chronic kidney disease. Further studies with a larger sample size are still needed.

Acknowledgments We thank Dr. Adisorn Lumpaopong, Phramongkutklao Hospital for laboratory collaboration; Dr. Konggrapun Srisuwan and Dr. Apichat Photi-A for their expertise and advice on our study; Dr. Chanchai Traivaree and Dr. Kitti Torcharus for advice regarding statistical analysis. This work was funded by the Children's Foundation, Phramongkutklao Hospital under Her Royal Highness Princess Bajrakitiyabha.

Disclosure: The authors declare they have no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Palaka E, Grandy S, van Haalen H, McEwan P, Darlington O. The impact of CKD anaemia on patients: incidence, risk factors, and clinical outcomes-a systematic literature review. Int J Nephol 2020; 2020: 1-21.
- 2. Whyte D, Fine R. Chronic kidney disease in children. Pediatr Rev 2008; 29: 335-42.
- 3. Becherucci F, Roperto R, Materassi M, Romagnani P. Chronic kidney disease in children. Clin Kidney J 2016; 9: 583-91.
- 4. Mitsnefes MM, Kimball TR, Kartal J.

e0118

Progression of left ventricular hypertrophy in children with early chronic kidney disease: 2-year follow-up study. J Pediatr 2006; 149: 671–75.

- 5. Tamura MK, Vittinghoff E, Yang J, Go AS, Seliger SL, Kusek JW, et al. Anemia and risk for cognitive decline in chronic kidney disease. BMC Nephrol 2016; 17: 1-7.
- 6. Gerson A, Hwang W, Fiorenza J, Barth K, Kaskel F, Weiss L, et al. Anemia and healthrelated quality of life in adolescents with chronic kidney disease. Am J Kidney Dis 2004; 44: 1017–23.
- Dahlinghaus EK, Neu AM, Atkinson MA, Fadrowski JJ. Hemoglobin level and risk of hospitalization and mortality in children on peritoneal dialysis. Pediatr Nephrol 2014; 29: 2387–94.
- KDOQI: National Kidney Foundation. KDOQI clinical practice guidelines and clinical practice recommendations for anemia in chronic kidney disease. Am J Kidney Dis 2006; 47 (Suppl 3): S11–S145.
- Atkinson MA, Furth SL. Anemia in children with chronic kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol 2011; 7: 635–41.
- Atkinson MA, Martz K, Warady BA, Neu AM. Risk for anemia in pediatric chronic kidney disease patients: a report of NAPRTCS. Pediatr Nephrol 2010; 25: 1699–1706.
- Hayes W. Measurement of iron status in chronic kidney disease. Pediatr Nephrol 2019; 34: 605-613.
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). Anemia Work Group (2012) KDIGO clinical practice guideline for anemia in chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int (Suppl 2) 2012: 279–335.
- Ratcliffee LEK, Thomas W, Glen J, Paghi S, Pordes BAJ, Wonderling D, et al. Diagnosis and management of iron deficiency in CKD: a summary of the NICE guideline recommendations and their rationale. Am J Kidney Dis 2016; 67: 548-58.
- 14. Brugnara C, Schiller B, Moran J. Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent (Ret-He) and assessment of iron-deficient states. Clin Lab Haem 2006; 28: 303-08.
- 15. Davidkova S, Prestidge TD, Reed PW, Kara

T, Wong W, Prestidge C. Comparison of reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent with traditional markers of iron and erythropoiesis in pediatric dialysis. Pediatr Nephrol 2016; 31: 819-26.

- 16. Garzia M, Mario AD, Ferraro E, Tazza L, Rossi E, Luciani G, et al. Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent: an indicator of reduced iron availability in chronic kidney disease during erythropoietin therapy. Lab Hematol 2017; 13: 6-11.
- 17. El-Halim AFA, Soliman JSA, Abdelhamid MG. Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent (RET-He) as a predictor of response to intravenous iron in hemodialysis patients: a hospital bases analytical study. Life Sci J 2018; 15: 10-16.
- Thomas DW, Hinchliffe RF, Briggs C, Macdougall IC, Littlewood T, Cavill I. British Committee for Standards in Haematology (2013) Guideline for the laboratory diagnosis of functional iron deficiency. Br J Haematol 2013; 161: 639–48.
- 19. National Institute for health and Care Excellence (NICE). Chronic kidney disease: managing anaemia [Internet]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng203.
- 20. Gafter-Gvili A, Schechter A, Rozen-Zvi B. Iron deficiency anemia in chronic kidney disease. Acta Haematol 2019; 142: 44-50.
- 21. Pinto DD, Pax M, Adragna M, Lopez L. Clinical usefulness of reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent in children on hemodialysis. Arch Argent Pediatr 2020; 118: 411-17.
- 22. Kidney disease: Improving global outcomes (KDIGO) CKD work group. KDIGO 2012 clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int (Suppl) 2013; 3: 1-150.
- 23. Schwartz GJ, Munoz A, Schneider MF, Mak RH, Kaskel F, Warady BA, et al. New equations to estimate GFR in children with CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol 2009; 20: 629-37.
- 24. Koshy SM, Geary DF. Anemia in children with chronic kidney disease. Pediatr Nephrol 2008; 23: 209-19.
- 25. Rovani F, Nurulita A, Arif M. Analysis of Ret-He in chronic kidney disease patients at Dr.Wahidin Sudirohusodo Hospital,

Makassar. IJCPML 2018; 25: 7-10.

- 26. Dalimunthe NN, Lubis AR. Usefulness of reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent in management of regular hemodialysis patients with iron deficiency anemia. Rom J Intern Med 2016; 54: 31-36.
- 27. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Rodriguez RA, Humphreys MH. Association between serum ferritin and measures of inflammation, nutrition and iron in haemodialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004; 19: 141–49.
- 28. Fucharoen S, Winichagoon P. Haemoglobin-

opathies in southeast Asia. Indian J Med Res 2011; 134: 498-506.

- 29. Kadegasem P, Songdej D, Lertthammakiat S, Chuansumrit A, Paisooksantivatana K, Mahaklan L, et al. Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent in a thalassemia-prevalent area. Pediatr Int 2019; 61: 240-45.
- 30. Chaipokam J, Nakorn TN, Ponlapat R. Diagnostic accuracy of reticulocyte hemoglobin content in Thai patients with microcytic red cells as a test for iron deficiency anemia. Asian Biomed 2017; 10 (suppl 1): s31-s37.

PULMONARY TUBERCULOSIS MORTALITY AND ITS RISK FACTORS AMONG PATIENTS WITH TYPE 2 DIABETES AND PULMONARY TUBERCULOSIS IN FOUR COMMUNITY HOSPITALS, CENTRAL THAILAND

Sethapong Lertsakulbunlue^{*}, Passawith Kunsuwan^{**}, Ram Rangsin^{***}, Boonsub Sakboonyarat^{***}

*Department of Pharmacology, Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand **Fort Wachirawut Hospital, Nakhon Si Thammarat, Thailand

***Department of Military and Community Medicine, Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand

Abstract

Background: Tuberculosis (TB), a communicable disease, is currently a significant health problem in Thailand. Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is an indicator of poor TB outcomes; however, data according to specific antihyperglycemic use and tuberculosis outcomes in community hospital settings in Thailand remain limited. We aimed to determine TB mortality as well as explore the demographic and clinical risk factors among patients with pulmonary TB and underlying T2D.

Methods: A retrospective cohort study was conducted between January 1, 2013, and December 31, 2020, to determine tuberculosis mortality and its risk factors among patients with T2D and pulmonary TB visiting three community hospitals, in central Thailand. T2D and pulmonary TB were determined according to the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision codes presented in medical records. TB mortality data were reviewed and retrieved from the tuberculosis treatment cards. Patients were classified as "dead" when they died before completing treatment regardless of the causes. Multivariable cox proportional regression analysis was performed to obtain the adjusted hazard ratios (AHR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) of factors related to TB mortality.

Results: A total of 133 patients with T2D and pulmonary TB were enrolled in the present study; 74 (55.6%) participants were males. At baseline, the average age of participants was 57.29 ± 12.51 years. During the study period, the TB mortality rate was 15.74 (95% CI 8.13-27.50) deaths per 100 person-years. The independent risk factors for TB mortality included age \geq 70 years (AHR 5.45, 95% CI; 1.36-21.84), use of insulin (AHR 4.62, 95% CI; 1.11-19.21), and positive sputum test result at 1st follow-up (AHR 16.10, 95% CI; 2.10-123.40).

Conclusion: TB mortality among patients with T2D should be emphasized. Insulin use may be a proxy indicator for poor glycemic control associated with mortality. Additionally, elderly patients should be closely observed for successful treatment as well as monitoring for any adverse events.

Keywords: Tuberculosis, Mortality, Diabetes, Community Hospital, Thailand J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6(1):e0120 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.120

Correspondence to:

Sakboonyarat B, Department of Community and Military Medicine, Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok,10400 Thailand. Email: boonsub1991@pcm.ac.th

Received: 22 March 2022 Revised: 4 July 2022 Accepted: 11 July 2022

Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) is a communicable disease, and currently, a significant health problem in Thailand, securing one of the top ten causes of death worldwide and the leading cause of death from a single infectious agent (ranking above HIV/AIDS).⁽¹⁾ The World Health Organization (WHO) announced TB as an emergency health problem worldwide, in which Thailand was included in one of the 22 high TB burden countries in 2016.⁽¹⁾ Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is one of the most common noncommunicable diseases, developed in more than 10% of the Thai population, aged 30 to 60 years old.^(2,3) Patients with poorly controlled diabetes develop complications such as diabetic retinopathy, diabetic nephropathy, coronary vascular diseases, and chronic wound ulcers.^(2, 4-6) Furthermore, poorly controlled diabetes was also found to be associated with poor innate and adaptive immune response and worsened TB outcomes.(7-10) Several studies reported that diabetes was associated with TB treatment outcome failure and increased morbidity and mortality, especially in pulmonary TB.^(11–13)

Several systematic reviews demonstrated an increased mortality rate and TB relapse among patients with TB and underlying diabetes compared with patients with only TB.⁽¹⁰⁾ Patients with poorly controlled diabetes were also found to develop TB more easily compared with a well-controlled diabetic group.⁽¹⁰⁾ The prevalence of TB was also significantly higher among patients with T2D, and a recent meta-analysis found that the prevalence of T2D among patients with TB was about 21% in South Asian countries. where the prevalence is quite diverse.⁽⁹⁾ We are interested in studying patients with pulmonary TB and underlying T2D due to its controversies, potential for diabetic treatment, and improved pulmonary tuberculosis outcomes. Although T2D is an indicator of poor TB outcomes, data according to specific antihyperglycemic and TB outcomes remain limited, especially in community hospital settings in Thailand. Rising socioeconomic status as well as lowering rural area socioeconomic status causes relatively inadequate health literacy, difficulty in accessing

health care services, and a complicated specialist consultation system.⁽¹⁴⁾ The persistence of TB in this setting presents a challenge for controlling tuberculosis.^(15, 16) Therefore, in the present study, we aimed to determine TB mortality and explore demographics and clinical risk factors among patients with T2D and pulmonary TB in community hospitals.

Methods

Study design and subjects

A retrospective cohort study was conducted between January 1, 2013, and December 31, 2020, to determine TB mortality and its risk factors among patients with T2D and pulmonary TB attending Thai community hospitals. In Thailand, the number of hospitals under the Ministry of Public Health (MoPH) totaled 833, including 33 regional, 83 general, and 717 community hospitals, of which 86% were community hospitals.⁽¹⁷⁾ In the present study, we enrolled three community hospitals (F2 level; 60 to 90 beds) located in Lopburi Province and one community hospital (M2 level; 120 beds) in Chachoengsao Province. Eligible participants comprised patients with T2D receiving a diagnosis of pulmonary TB, aged at least 15 years, attending Sanam Chai Khet Hospital, Chachoengsao Province and Pattananikom Hospital, Ta Luang Hospital, and Ta Wung Hospital in Lopburi Province. A total of 133 individuals with T2D and pulmonary TB were enrolled in the present study.

Data collection

After obtaining permission from the directors of the enrolled hospitals, we retrieved data from medical records. Baseline characteristics of participants were collected including sex, age, comorbidities, smoking status, and alcohol consumption. We also collected TB diagnosis, treatment, and outcome information including a history of previous TB, sputum AFB examination, and chest x-ray. In addition, fasting plasma glucose (FPG), hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), and antihyperglycemic medication use were collected at the start of treatment. Pulmonary TB and T2D were determined according to the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision (ICD- 10) codes A15.0 to A19.9, and sputum AFB positive test results with underlying diabetes diagnosed by ICD10 codes E10.0 to E15.0 presented in the medical records. In addition, mortality data were reviewed and retrieved from the tuberculosis treatment card. Patients were classified as 'dead' when they died before completing treatment regardless of causes.^(18,19)

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using StataCorp 2021, Stata Statistical Software: Release 17, College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC. We analyzed baseline characteristics using descriptive statistics. Continuous data were presented as mean and standard deviation (SD), while categorical data were presented as a percentage. We calculated the person-time of observation for each participant as the duration between the participant's baseline data and the date at which death, complete treatment, or loss-to-follow up took place, whichever occurred first⁽²⁰⁾. We calculated the TB mortality rate with 95% confidence intervals (CI) per 100 person-years of observation. The Kaplan-Meier estimator was used to describe survival patterns, and we computed the log-rank test to compare survival across age groups. Validity of the proportional-hazards assumption was assessed; then Cox proportional hazard regression analysis was used to investigate risk factors for TB death. The magnitude of associations, including unadjusted and adjusted hazard ratios (HR) with 95% confidence intervals

were presented. A two-sided p-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Ethics consideration

The study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board, RTA Medical Department (M002h/64_Exp) in compliance with international guidelines including the Declaration of Helsinki, the Belmont Report, CIOMS Guidelines, and the International Conference on Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use-Good Clinical Practice (ICH-GCP). Due to using secondary data, a waiver of documentation of informed consent was used, and the waiver for informed consent was granted by the Institutional Review Board, RTA Medical Department.

Results

Baseline characteristics

Baseline characteristics are presented in **Table 1**. A total of 133 patients with T2D and diagnosed pulmonary TB were followed up for a mean of 209.2 days, ranging from 11 to 675 days. Of these, 67 (50.4%) participants came from the M2 level hospital. In all, 74 (55.6%) were male. The average age of participants was 57.3 \pm 12.5 years. In terms of comorbidities, the participants had HT, and CKD accounting for 27.1%, and 6.0%, respectively. The average fasting plasma glucose of participants at baseline was 203.2 \pm 112.6 mg/dL while the mean HbA1c was 9.7 \pm 3.0%. In all, 35 (26.3%) participants used insulin, while 89 (66.9%) individuals used metformin.

Characteristics	n (%)
Sex	
Male	74 (55.6)
Female	59 (44.4)
Age (years)	
mean±SD	57.3±12.5
median (max-min)	58 (26-85)
<70	110 (82.7)

Table 1 Baseline characteristics of participants (N=133)

Characteristics	n (%)
≥70	23 (17.3)
Hospital level	
Middle level (M2; 120 beds)	67 (50.4)
First level (F1; 60-90 beds)	66 (49.6)
HIV positive	2 (1.5)
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	4 (3.0)
Chronic kidney disease	8 (6.0)
Hypertension	36 (27.1)
Current smoker	46 (34.6)
Current alcohol use	36 (27.1)
Fasting plasma glucose (mg/dL)	
mean±SD	203.2±112.6
median (min-max)	162.5 (82-655)
80-130	32 (24.1)
>130	101 (75.94)
HbA1c (%)	
mean±SD	9.7±3.0
median (min-max)	8.9 (4.9-21.3)
<7	17 (18.7)
≥7	74 (81.3)
Metformin use	89 (66.9)
Pioglitazone use	4 (3.0)
Glipizide use	51 (38.3)
Insulin use	35 (26.3)
History of the previous TB	19 (14.3)
Clinical manifestation at diagnosis	
Typical	121 (91.0)
Atypical	12 (9.0)
Sputum grading at diagnosis	
≤2+	108 (81.2)
>2+	25 (18.8)
Chest x-ray at diagnosis	
One or no lung lesion	12 (9.0)
Multiple lung lesion	121 (91.0)

Table 1 Baseline characteristics of participants (N=133) (Cont.)

Characteristics	n (%)
1 st Follow-up sputum	
Negative	104 (78.2)
Positive	29 (21.8)
Direct observational therapy	74 (61.2)
Treatment regimen	
Standard	98 (73.7)
Extended	32 (24.1)
Multidrug	3 (2.3)

Table 1 Baseline characteristics o	participants	(N=133)	(Cont.)	
------------------------------------	--------------	---------	---------	--

Pulmonary TB mortality rate among patients with T2D

A total of 12 (9.0%) participants died from pulmonary TB, representing an incidence rate of 15.7 (95% CI 8.1 to 27.5) per 100 person-years. The mortality rates among males and females were 14.1 (95% CI 5.0 to 30.6) per 100 personyears and 17.9 (95% CI 6.6 to 39.0) per 100 person-years, respectively. **Figures 1 to 4** show the Kaplan–Meier survival curves of pulmonary TB death overall, by age group, insulin use, and 1st follow-up sputum, respectively.



Figure 1. Kaplan-Meier survival curve of pulmonary TB mortality



Figure 2. Kaplan–Meier survival curve of pulmonary TB mortality by age group



Figure 3. Kaplan-Meier survival curve of pulmonary TB mortality by insulin use



Figure 4. Kaplan–Meier survival curve of pulmonary TB mortality by 1st follow-up sputum AFB

Risk factors for pulmonary TB mortality among patients with T2D

Univariate and multivariate cox regression analysis of risk factors for pulmonary TB mortality are presented in **Tables 2 and 3**. After mutually adjusting for demographics and clinical characteristics, the mortality rate was higher for participants aged \geq 70 years (HR 5.45; 95% CI 1.36-21.84), using insulin (HR 4.62; 95% CI 1.11-19.21) and having sputum AFP positive test results at first follow-up (HR 16.10; 95% CI 2.10-123.40).

Table 2. Univariable analysis of the association between demographics and clinical factors and TB mortality among patients with T2D

Factors	No. of death	Person- days of observation	Mortality rate / 100 person- years	Unadjusted Hazard Ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Total	12	27823	15.74			
Sex						
Male	6	15584	14.06	1		
Female	6	12239	17.91	1.14	0.37-3.57	0.817
Age (years)						
<70	6	23079	9.50	1		
≥70	6	4744	46.20	4.59	1.42-14.79	0.011
Hospital level						
Middle level (M2; 120 beds)	3	13491	8.12	1		
First level (F1; 60-90 beds)	9	14332	22.94	2.38	0.63-9.07	0.203

Factors	No. of death	Person- days of observation	Mortality rate / 100 person- years	Unadjusted Hazard Ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
HIV positive			jeuro			
No	12	417	15.99	1		
Yes	0	27406	0	N/A	N/A	N/A
Chronic obstructive						
pulmonary disease No	12	26917	16.28	1		
Yes	0	906	0	N/A	N/A	N/A
Chronic kidney disease	0	200	0	11/11	11/11	11/11
No	10	1739	14.00	1		
Yes	2	26084	42.01	2.47	0.53-11.58	0.250
Hypertension		20001	12.01	2.17	0.55 11.50	0.230
No	7	19945	12.82	1		
Yes	, 5	7878	23.18	1.56	0.52-5.17	0.830
Current smoker	5	/0/0	23.10	1.50	0.52-5.17	0.050
No	9	17690	18.58	1		
Yes	3	10133	10.30	0.57	0.15-2.11	0.401
Current alcohol use	5	10133	10.01	0.57	0.13-2.11	0.401
No	9	19874	16.54	1		
Yes	3	7949	10.34 13.78	0.85	0.23-3.14	0.806
		7949	13.70	0.05	0.25-5.14	0.000
Fasting plasma glucose (80-130	_iiig/uLj 5	6456	28.29	1		
>130	5 7	19090	28.29 11.48	0.43	0.13-1.41	0.163
	/	19090	11.40	0.43	0.15-1.41	0.105
HbA1c (%) <7	0	3831	0			
				NI / A	NI / A	NI / A
≥7	6	15017	14.59	N/A	N/A	N/A
Metformin use	C	0700	25 10	1		
No	6	8702	25.18	1	0 1 2 1 20	0 1 2 5
Yes	6	19121	11.46	0.41	0.13-1.28	0.125
Pioglitazone use	11	27064	1405	1		
No	11	27064	14.85	1	0 41 26 75	0.250
Yes	1	759	48.12	3.33	0.41-26.75	0.258
Glipizide use	0	1((20)		1		
No	8	16639	17.56	1	0.00.0.05	0 500
Yes	4	11184	13.06	0.68	0.20-2.27	0.533
Insulin use	-	24252	10.00	4		
No	7	21259	12.03	1	0.04.0.00	0.000
Yes	5	6564	27.82	2.80	0.84-9.29	0.093
History of the previous 7						
No	8	23567	12.40	1		
Yes	4	4256	34.33	2.63	0.77-8.94	0.122

Table 2. Univariable analysis of the association between demographics and clinical factors and TB mortality among patients with T2D (Cont.)

Factors	No. of death	Person- days of observation	Mortality rate / 100 person- years	Unadjusted Hazard Ratio	95% CI	p-value
Clinical manifestation at			¥			
diagnosis Typical	12	24938	17.58	1		
Atypical Sputum grading at diagnosis	0	2885		N/A	N/A	N/A
≤2+	9	22325	14.72	1		
>2+	3	5498	19.93	1.31	0.35-4.85	0.684
Chest x-ray at diagnosis						
One or no lung lesion	1	2668	13.69	1		
Multiple lung lesion	11	25155	15.97	1.06	0.13-8.35	0.959
1st Follow-up sputum						
Negative	4	22225	6.57	1		
Positive	8	5598	52.2	7	2.09-23.45	0.002
Direct observational ther	ару					
No	9	15557	21.13	1		
Yes	3	10156	10.79	0.32	0.09-1.10	0.071
Drug regimen						
Standard	9	17594	20.34	1		
Extended	1	8990	4.06	0.12	0.01-1.07	0.057
Multidrug	1	1239	29.48	0.47	0.04-5.01	0.530

Table 2. Univariable analysis of the association between demographics and clinical factors and TB mortality among patients with T2D (Cont.)

Table 3. Multivariable analysis of the association between demographics and clinical factors and the TB mortality among patients with T2D

Factors	Adjusted Hazard Ratio	95% CI	<i>p-</i> value
Sex			
Male	1		
Female	0.91	0.24-3.52	0.897
Age (years)			
<70	1		
≥70	5.45	1.36-21.84	0.017
Hospital level			
Middle level (M2; 120 beds)	1		
First level (F1; 60-90 beds)	0.38	0.05-3.06	0.364
Chronic kidney disease			
No	1		
Yes	0.14	0.08-2.57	0.144

Factors	Adjusted Hazard Ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Insulin use			
No			
Yes	4.62	1.11-19.21	0.035
History of the previous TB			
No			
Yes	6.18	0.85-44.77	0.072
1st Follow-up sputum			
Negative			
Positive	16.1	2.10-123.4	0.007
Sputum grading at diagnosis			
≤2+			
>2+	0.38	0.11-1.76	0.245
Direct observational therapy			
No			
Yes	0.44	0.11-1.76	0.245

Table 3. Multivariable analysis of the association between demographics and clinical factors and the TB mortality among patients with T2D (Cont.)

Discussion

This study demonstrated pulmonary TB mortality among patients with T2D attending community hospitals in central Thailand. In addition, we found that demographics and clinical characteristics were associated with pulmonary TB death. The present study reported that pulmonary TB mortality was 9.0%, comparable to a related study in Texas, USA (10.3%).⁽²⁰⁾ Compared with another study in California, USA (13.1%),⁽²¹⁾ the pulmonary TB mortality in the present study was relatively low.

Our finding reported that the pulmonary TB mortality rate among participants aged \geq 70 years was higher than that among those aged <70 years which was compatible with recent evidence from Japan indicating that patients aged \geq 75 years with pulmonary TB experienced increased mortality related to TB during treatment.⁽²²⁾ However, another report in Thailand presented that older patients were not associated with unsuccessful pulmonary TB outcomes including death, default, treatment failure, and transfer due to multidrug-resistant TB.⁽²³⁾

We found that individuals with first follow-up sputum AFB positive had a higher mortality rate

when compared with those with first follow-up sputum AFB negative. This observation was likely due to the well-documented positive relationship between unsuccessful pulmonary TB treatment and previously treated TB.^(23–25) This finding may explain that previous treatment outcomes could be used to predict the development of drug-resistant TB.⁽²⁴⁾

In terms of antihyperglycemic medication use, we observed that metformin use was also found as a protective factor for TB outcomes in several studies.⁽²⁷⁻²⁹⁾ Metformin was found to inhibit intracellular growth of mycobacteria by inducing mitochondrial reactive oxygen species and facilitating phagolysosome fusion. Metformin can also modify the function of different biological pathways, such as downregulating type I IFN pathways interfering with IFN-y-mediated activation of macrophages, which are known to be associated with active TB improving the outcome of anti-TB therapy among patients with TB-infected DM.⁽²⁹⁻³²⁾ However, the findings were not significant in our study possibly due to the small sample size.

Our finding reported that the pulmonary TB mortality rate among patients with T2D using

insulin was higher than that among those not using it. According to Thai Clinical Practice Guidelines of Diabetes 2017, insulin therapy would be initiated when fasting plasma glucose exceeds 300 mg/dL or HbA1c exceeds 11% with hyperglycemic symptoms or are currently treated with oral antihyperglycemic drugs.⁽²⁾ In other words, insulin therapy could be an indicator of poor glycemic control leading to macrovascular and microvascular complications as well as increased mortality.^(4, 5, 33) Insulin initiation tends to be delayed and irreversible complications can already be present by the time it starts especially when specialists are unavailable, in rural areas. Therefore, insulin use may also function as a marker for advanced disease and could affect hospitalization infection risk as well as outcomes.^(34, 35) A global overview with a particular focus on the situation in Asian countries with high TB-DM burden also showed that patients with TB-DM with tight HbA1C control of lower than 7% had better outcomes regarding TB treatment(12) and an extensive systematic review and meta-analysis also showed that diabetes was related to increased mortality rate among patients with TB compared with those with TB without diabetes.⁽⁹⁾ Our finding suggested that improving glycemic control should be encouraged among patients with T2D and pulmonary TB; additionally, individuals using insulin should be closely monitored for treatment and further complications.

Our study encountered several limitations. Firstly, according to a retrospective cohort study, some variables were collected very broadly. For example, we did not have detailed data on the number of alcoholic beverages consumed daily. Similarly, we did not have details of the smoking history, such as the current number of cigarettes smoked daily. Secondly, the present study comprised a small sample size; thus, the association between the well-known risk factors such as HIV co-infection and multiple lung lesions could not be presented.^(9, 10) Third, the analysis did not include unmeasured confounders such as body mass index, anti-TB drug allergy, and diabetic complications, including macrovascular and microvascular complications. Another limitation was missing data, such as HbA1c, leading to the

difficulty of including HbA1C in the analysis. Finally, the result of our study may not be generalized to the whole country but may reflect the situation of patients with T2D receiving a diagnosis of pulmonary TB in a community hospital setting in Thailand.

Conclusion

Mortality among patients with TB-DM should be emphasized. Insulin use may be a proxy indicator for poor glycemic control which was associated with mortality in this study population. Additionally, elderly patients should be closely observed for successful treatment as well as monitoring for any adverse events.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to express thanks to the Directors of Sanam Chai Khet Hospital, Chachoengsao Province, Pattananikom Hospital, Ta Luang Hospital, and Ta Wung Hospital, Lopburi Province. The authors would like to thank Dr. Trin Sethaudom, Dr. Sonphet Chirasuthat, Dr. Kanokwan Oopakarn, Dr. Patcha Janenopparkarnjana, and Dr. Tanapong Nongnuan for their support in completing this study. Finally, the authors thank all the staff members of the Department of Military and Community Medicine, Phramongkutklao College of Medicine for their support in completing this study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare they have no conflict of interest.

References

- World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2020 [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Mar 15]. Available from: https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/9789240013131
- 2. Diabetes Association of Thailand under The Patronage of Her Royal Highness Princess Maha Chakri Sirindhorn, Endocrine Society of Thailand, Department of Medical Services, Ministry of Public Health, Office NHS. Clinical Practice Guideline for Diabetes 2017. Bangkok, Thailand; 2017.

- Wichai Aekplakorn. Thai National Health Examination VI (NHES VI) [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 Jan 12]. Available from: https:// online.fliphtml5.com/bcbgj/znee/#p=187
- Sakboonyarat B, Rangsin R. Prevalence and associated factors of ischemic heart disease (IHD) among patients with diabetes mellitus: a nation-wide, cross-sectional survey. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2018; 18: 151.
- 5. Euswas N, Phonnopparat N, Morasert K, Thakhampaeng P, Kaewsanit A, Mungthin M, et al. National trends in the prevalence of diabetic retinopathy among Thai patients with type 2 diabetes and its associated factors from 2014 to 2018. PLoS One 2021; 16: e0245801.
- Wittayatechakul P, Hanyos P, Rangsin R, Sakboonyarat B. Incidence and risk factors of diabetic retinopathy among patients with type 2 diabetes in a community hospital, central Thailand. J Southeast Asian Med Res 2021; 5: 11–20.
- Workneh MH, Bjune GA, Yimer SA. Prevalence and associated factors of tuberculosis and diabetes mellitus comorbidity: A systematic review. PLoS One 2017; 12: 4
- 8. Zheng C, Hu M, Gao F. Diabetes and pulmonary tuberculosis: a global overview with special focus on the situation in Asian countries with high TB-DM burden. Glob Health Action 2017; 10: 1-11.
- 9. Gautam S, Shrestha N, Mahato S, Nguyen TPA, Mishra SR, Berg-Beckhoff G. Diabetes among tuberculosis patients and its impact on tuberculosis treatment in South Asia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 1-2.
- Baker MA, Harries AD, Jeon CY, Hart JE, Kapur A, Lönnroth K, et al. The impact of diabetes on tuberculosis treatment outcomes: A systematic review. BMC Med 2011; 9: 1-5.
- 11. Heo EY, Choi NK, Yang BR, Koo BK, Hwang SS, Lee CH, et al. Tuberculosis is frequently diagnosed within 12 months of diabetes mellitus. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2015; 1: 1098-101.
- 12. Kamper-Jørgensen Z, Carstensen B, Norredam M, Bygbjerg IC, Andersen PH, Jørgensen ME.

Diabetes-related tuberculosis in Denmark: Effect of ethnicity, diabetes duration and year of diagnosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2015; 19: 1169-75.

- 13. Kumpatla S, Sekar A, Achanta S, Sharath BN, Kumar AM v., Harries AD, et al. Characteristics of patients with diabetes screened for tuberculosis in a tertiary care hospital in South India. Public Health Action 2013; 3: 23-8.
- 14. Aungkulanon S, Tangcharoensathien V, Shibuya K, Bundhamcharoen K, Chongsuvivatwong V. Area-level socioeconomic deprivation and mortality differentials in Thailand: Results from principal component analysis and cluster analysis. Int J Equity Health 2017; 16: 1-12.
- 15. Pengpid S, Peltzer K, Puckpinyo A, Tiraphat S, Viripiromgool S, Apidechkul T, et al. Knowledge, attitudes, and practices about tuberculosis and choice of communication channels in Thailand. J Infect Dev Ctries 2016; 10: 694-703.
- 16. Cai J, Wang X, Ma A, Wang Q, Han X, Li Y. Factors associated with patient and provider delays for tuberculosis diagnosis and treatment in Asia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0120088.
- 17. Sakboonyarat B, Rangsin R, Kantiwong A, Mungthin M. Prevalence and associated factors of uncontrolled hypertension among hypertensive patients: A nation-wide survey in Thailand. BMC Res Notes 2019; 12: 1-8.
- Charoensakulchai S, Lertpheantum C, Aksornpusitpong C, Trakulsuk P, Sakboonyarat B, Rangsin R, et al. Six-year trend and risk factors of unsuccessful pulmonary tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Thai Community Hospital. BMC Res Notes 2021; 14: 89.
- Bureau of Tuberculosis D of DCM of PHT. National Tuberculosis Control Programme Guidelines, Thailand 2018. 1st ed. Aksorn Graphic and Design Publishing Limited Partnership; 2018, 76.
- 20. Nguyen DT, Graviss EA. Diabetic trends and associated mortality in tuberculosis patients in Texas, a large population-based analysis.

Tuberculosis 2019; 116: 59-65.

- 21. Nguyen CH, Pascopella L, Barry PM. Association between diabetes mellitus and mortality among patients with tuberculosis in California, 2010-2014. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2018; 22: 1269-76.
- 22. Hase I, Toren KG, Hirano H, Sakurai K, Horne DJ, Saito T, et al. Pulmonary Tuberculosis in Older Adults: Increased Mortality Related to Tuberculosis Within Two Months of Treatment Initiation. Drugs Aging 2021; 38: 807-15.
- 23. Charoensakulchai S, Limsakul M,Saengungsumalee I, Usawachoke S, Udomdech A, Pongsaboripat A, et al. Characteristics of Poor Tuberculosis Treatment Outcomes among Patients with Pulmonary Tuberculosis in Community Hospitals of Thailand. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2020; 102: 553–61.
- 24. Dooley KE, Lahlou O, Ghali I, Knudsen J, Elmessaoudi MD, Cherkaoui I, et al. Risk factors for tuberculosis treatment failure, default, or relapse and outcomes of retreatment in Morocco. BMC Public Health 2011; 11: 1-7.
- 25. Anunnatsiri S, Chetchotisakd P, Wanke C. Factors associated with treatment outcomes in pulmonary tuberculosis in northeastern Thailand. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 2005; 36: 324-30.
- 26. Ma Y, Pang Y, Shu W, Liu YH, Ge QP, Du J, et al. Metformin reduces the relapse rate of tuberculosis patients with diabetes mellitus: experiences from a 3-year follow-up. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2018; 37: 1259-63.
- 27. Marupuru S, Senapati P, Pathadka S, Miraj SS, Unnikrishnan MK, Manu MK. Protective effect of metformin against tuberculosis infections in diabetic patients: an observational study of south Indian tertiary healthcare facility. Braz J Infect Dis 2017; 21: 312-16.

- 28. Degner NR, Wang JY, Golub JE, Karakousis PC. Metformin Use Reverses the Increased Mortality Associated with Diabetes Mellitus during Tuberculosis Treatment. Clin Infect Dis 2018; 66: 198-205.
- 29. Teles RMB, Graeber TG, Krutzik SR, Montoya D, Schenk M, Lee DJ, et al. Type I interferon suppresses type II interferon-triggered human anti-mycobacterial responses. Science 2013; 339: 1448-53.
- 30. Lienard J, Movert E, Valfridsson C, Sturegård E, Carlsson F. ESX-1 exploits type I IFN-signalling to promote a regulatory macrophage phenotype refractory to IFN γ mediated autophagy and growth restriction of intracellular mycobacteria. Cell Microbiol 2016; 18: 1471-85.
- 31. Berry MPR, Graham CM, McNab FW, Xu Z, Bloch SAA, Oni T, et al. An interferon-inducible neutrophil-driven blood transcriptional signature in human tuberculosis. Nature 2010; 466: 973-7.
- Oglesby W, Kara AM, Granados H, Cervantes JL. Metformin in tuberculosis: beyond control of hyperglycemia. Infection 2019; 47: 697-702.
- 33. Sakboonyarat B, Pima W, Chokbumrungsuk C, Pimpak T, Khunsri S, Ukritchon S, et al. National trends in the prevalence of glycemic control among patients with type 2 diabetes receiving continuous care in Thailand from 2011 to 2018. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 14260.
- 34. Home P, Riddle M, Cefalu WT, Bailey CJ, Bretzel RG, Prato S del, et al. Insulin therapy in people with type 2 diabetes: Opportunities and challenges. Diabetes Care 2014; 37: 1495-1508.
- 35. Donnelly JP, Nair S, Griffin R, Baddley JW, Safford MM, Wang HE, et al. Association of diabetes and insulin therapy with risk of hospitalization for infection and 28-day mortality risk. Clin Infect Dis 2017; 64: 435-42.

PREVALENCE OF METHICILLIN-RESISTANT *STAPHYLOCOCCUS AUREUS* AND OTHER STAPHYLOCOCCAL NASAL CARRIAGES AMONG HEALTH-CARE WORKERS, PHRAMONGKUTKLAO HOSPITAL

Sudaluck Thunyaharn*, Tanit Boonsiri**, Unchalee Visawapoka***, Wichai Santimaleeworagun****, Sirachat Nitchapanit**, Adisak Noonai***, Arunee Suvarnajata**, Piyanate Kesakomol**, Sawayot Rianmanee*****, Nitchatorn Sungsirin**

*Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Nakhon Ratchasima College, Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand ** Department of Microbiology, Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand *** Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Pathumthani University, Pathumthani, Thailand ****Department of Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Silpakorn University, Nakhon Pathom, Thailand

*****Department of Otolaryngology, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand

Abstract

Background: Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) is a group of *S. aureus* strains containing the SCC*mec* gene causing beta-lactam antibiotic resistance. MRSA is common in healthcare settings and can cause serious problems.

Objective: The study aimed to investigate the prevalence of MRSA nasal colonization among privates of the Medical Private Company, Phramongkutklao Hospital, including antibiotic susceptibility pattern of *S. aureus* isolates and risk factors of *S. aureus* nasal carriage.

Methods: Nasal swabs were obtained from the anterior nares of 170 privates. Staphylococcal isolates were identified using a catalase test, tube coagulase test and matrix-assisted laser desorption/ ionization time of flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS). MRSA detection was screened using cefoxitin disk diffusion and confirmed using the *mecA* gene detection and SCC*mec* typing. Antibiotic susceptibility patterns of *S. aureus* were examined using the disk diffusion method. A questionnaire was collected from the subjects to determine risk factors for *S. aureus* nasal carriage.

Results: Of 170 subjects, 157 (92.35%) revealed staphylococcal positive, yielding 161 staphylococcal isolates. The prevalence of MRSA, methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus epidermidis* (MRSE), and methicillin-susceptible *Staphylococcus aureus* (MSSA) nasal carriage was 0.59, 1.18 and 8.82%, respectively. The MRSA isolate carried *mecA* revealing SCC*mec* type II. The MSSA isolates indicated low resistance to tetracycline (13.3%), whereas the MRSA isolate resisted ciprofloxacin, clindamycin, erythromycin, gentamicin, oxacillin and tetracycline. Using multiple logistic regression analysis, a significant risk factor for *S. aureus* nasal carriage was utensil sharing (adjusted odds ratio=4.41; 95% CI=1.33-14.61).

Conclusion: Healthcare-associated MRSA existed among privates of the Medical Private Company. An associated risk factor for acquiring *S. aureus* was utensil sharing which could be used to help improve prevention and control management among privates.

Keywords: MRSA, MALDI-TOF MS, Staphylococcus epidermidis, MSSA, mecA gene, SCCmec
J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6:e0122 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.122 Correspondence to: Sungsirin N, Department of Microbiology, Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Ratchathewi, Bangkok 10400, Thailand Email: nitchatorn@pcm.ac.th

Received: 12 May 2022 Revised: 17 September 2022 Accepted: 21 October 2022

Introduction

Staphylococci are gram-positive bacteria in the genus Staphylococcus, under the bacterial family Staphylococcaceae.⁽¹⁾ Fifty-nine species of staphylococci are widespread in nature.⁽²⁾ Their significant natural habitats are mammals' skin and mucous membranes, including humans.⁽³⁾ Staphylococcal species generally associated with human infections are S. aureus, S. epidermidis and S. saprophyticus.⁽⁴⁾ Others may also be related to human diseases such as S. haemolyticus, S. hominis, S. simulans and S. warneri.⁽⁵⁾ S. aureus, one of the most important bacterial pathogens among causes various diseases ranging humans. from mild skin and soft tissue infections (SSTIs) to severe life-threatening diseases such as complicated SSTIs, osteomyelitis, bacteremia, infective endocarditis and toxic shock syndrome.⁽⁶⁾ Among humans, it commonly inhabits the nasal cavity and skin surface.⁽⁷⁾ Most strains of S. aureus have developed antibiotic resistance, creating a serious problem for treatments, especially those that resist methicillin (methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus or MRSA).⁽⁸⁾

Since the first MRSA report in 1961, MRSA has been one of the essential causative pathogens of healthcare-associated infections (HAIs) affecting patients and healthcare systems worldwide.^(9, 10) MRSA infections are capable of causing severe infections such as osteomyelitis, endocarditis, pneumonia and sepsis, all of which could ultimately lead to mortality.⁽¹¹⁾ MRSA is multidrug-resistant (MDR), not only resists beta-lactams such as penicillin and cephalosporins but also resists nonbeta-lactam antibiotics such as macro-lides, lincosamides, quinolones, tetracyclines and

aminoglycosides.⁽¹²⁾ According to a recent study, MRSA was susceptible to vancomycin (100%), mupirocin and rifampicin (99.2%), followed by chloramphenicol (82.3%) and gentamicin (76%).⁽¹³⁾ Thus, vancomycin injection is the first drug of choice for MRSA infections; mupirocin nebulization is a widely used treatment for MRSA nasal colonization.

The methicillin-resistance mechanism is the production of an altered penicillin-binding protein (PBP) from PBP-2 turning into PBP-2a, and decreasing affinity to betalactams. The mecA gene encodes this protein on a mobile genetic element named Staphylococcal Cassette Chromosome mec (SCCmec).⁽¹⁴⁾ To date, 13 different SCCmec types (I-XIII) have been identified.⁽¹⁵⁾ In Thailand, most SCCmec were IIIA and IIA types.⁽¹⁶⁾ On the other hand, other staphylococci can also carry this SCCmec and have the property of being methicillin-resistance such as methicillin-resistant S. epidermidis (MRSE), which is a kind of methicillin-resistant coagulase-negative staphylococci (MRCoNS). For this reason, MSSA can become MRSA upon obtaining the SCCmec from MRSA or MRCoNS.⁽¹⁷⁾

Hospital-acquired MRSA (HA-MRSA) is generally defined as those that develop infections within 48 hours of discharge from a hospital, clinic or healthcare facility. Community-acquired MRSA (CA-MRSA) among healthy individuals stems from those who have not been hospitalized or had a medical procedure within the past year.⁽¹⁸⁾ CA-MRSA typically causes skin infections, and 40 to 90% of CA-MRSA strains are accompanied by an exotoxin named Panton-Valentine leukocidin (PVL).⁽¹⁹⁾ Regarding the molecular aspect, HA-MRSA and CA-MRSA are distinguished by mecA types. The HA-MRSA usually presents mecA gene types I, II or III,(15) while the CA-MRSA regularly shows mecA gene types IV or V.⁽²⁰⁾ MRSA has been found in Thailand for more than 40 years.⁽²¹⁾ Occasionally, MRSA outbreaks are incident, especially in hospitals.⁽²²⁾ MRSA possesses increased; risk factors enhancing MRSA prevalence are antibiotic use, prolonged hospitalization, intravascular intervention and hospitalization in an intensive care unit.(23) MRSA is usually spread by skin-to-skin contact. At-risk populations of MSRA carriers include groups such as dormitory dwellers, healthcare workers, military privates or conscripts, prisoners and those living in crowded conditions. Among healthcare workers (HCWs), the prevalence of MRSA nasal colonization has been estimated to be 4.6% in non-outbreak settings in Europe and the United States.⁽²⁴⁾ In Thailand, the prevalence of MRSA in HCWs was 1% to 7.36%.(25, 26) This MRSA colonization is potentially transmitted from HCWs to patients. It consequently causes serious problems with a significant concern of MRSA carriage among HCWs. The incidence of MSRA isolates from clinical specimens of Phramongkutklao Hospital has been increasing, including coagulase-negative staphylococci and Escherichia coli. Moreover, vancomycin-intermediate resistance S. aureus (VISA) and vancomycin-resistant S. aureus (VRSA) have been reported in Thailand.^(27,28) Routinely, MRSA screening among physicians and nurses of Phramongkutklao Hospital also revealed the continuous incidence of MRSA. However, an interesting group for screening MRSA comprised privates of the Medical Private Company, a group of HCWs working in the hospital. Thus, this study aimed to investigate the prevalence of MRSA nasal carriage, determine antibiotic resistance patterns in S. aureus isolates, and determine risk factors of S. aureus nasal carriages among privates of the Medical Private Company, Phramongkutklao Hospital.

Methods

Study design

A cross-sectional study was conducted to evaluate the prevalence of MRSA and *S. aureus* nasal carriage among privates of the Medical Private Company, Phramongkutklao Hospital. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB), Royal Thai Army Medical Department (approval no. RF08_2555). Informed consent was obtained before collecting specimens. The study included 170 privates; the number of subjects was based on sample size calculation at a 95% reliability level using Yamane's formula.⁽²⁹⁾

Sample collection

This study was conducted in the Medical Private Company of Phramongkutklao Hospital in 2015. The details of this study were informed to the subjects. A nasal swab was applied to collect specimens with a rotating technique neatly in both anterior nares of the subjects. All swabs were transported within Amies's transport media and then streaked on MRSA chromogenic agar and mannitol salt with egg-yolk agar, incubated at 35°C as a screening culture method. The bacterial growth was examined after 24 to 48 hours.

Isolation and identification

For all bacterial isolated colonies, macroscopic and microscopic examination using gram stain was performed for preliminary identification. All gram-positive cocci were confirmed by catalase test, and then all staphylococci were examined using the tube coagulase test. Furthermore, species were identified using the matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-time of flight (MALDI-TOF). For staphylococci isolates, MRSA was detected using cefoxitin disk diffusion. Therefore, this study could also recover MRSE and MSSA as an outgrowth.

Molecular characterization for MRSA

The MRSA isolates were detected for the *mecA* gene using the Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR). The isolates were inoculated in tryptic soy broth (TSB) at 35°C overnight. The culture was diluted

in 0.5 McFarland standards (approximately 1.5 x 10^8 CFU/mL) and extracted for DNA using the Pure-gene Yeast/Bact. Kit B (Qiagen, Germany). To detect the *mecA* gene, specific primers were used to amplify the 310-bp of the *mecA* gene according to a method described by McClure,⁽³⁰⁾ and SCC*mec* typing was determined by amplifying the *mec* and *ccr* gene complex.⁽³¹⁾

Antibiotic susceptibility pattern

According to the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) guidelines, all MRSA and MSSA isolates were tested for antibiotic susceptibility patterns, including cefoxitin, chloramphenicol, ciprofloxacin, clindamycin, erythromycin, fosfomycin, fusidic acid, gentamicin, linezolid, tetracycline and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole using the disk diffusion method of Kirby-Bauer according to CLSI guidelines.⁽³²⁾ *S. aureus* (ATCC29213) was the control strain used for the susceptibility test.

Questionnaire for risk factors

A questionnaire was provided to collect data from the subjects. Demographic data were collected, including age, sex, hometown and occupation, before entering the military draft. Behavioral data included handwashing habits with and without soap, bathing, utensil sharing, nose-picking, smoking and a history of alcohol consumption. Health data included a history of skin infection, previous hospitalization, underlying disease, antibiotic use within the last two months, and history of surgery. Finally, operations while working in the hospital included touching patients, touching medical equipment, glove-wearing and mask-wearing.

Statistical analysis

The *S. aureus* positive samples were statistically analyzed using the data of independent factors possibly contributing to *S. aureus* nasal carriage. The crude odds ratio (OR) was determined using bivariate analysis with 95% confidence intervals (CI). All *p*-values were two-sided, with a p < 0.05 considered a significant correlation. The statistically significant factors were analyzed for adjusted odds ratio (AOR) using Cochran's and Mantel-Haenszel's multiple logistic regression analysis. All analyses were performed using IBM SPSS, Version 22.0.

Results

Prevalence of MRSA, MSSA, MRSE and other staphylococci

A total of 185 isolates were recovered from 170 samples, of which 157 were staphylococci (92.35%), including 161 staphylococcal isolates. Of 157 samples, 27 were coagulase-positive staphylococci (CoPS) (15.88%), and 131 were coagulase-negative staphylococci (CoNS) (77.06%). Of 27 CoPS, 16 were S. aureus (9.41%), and 11 were for S. intermedius (6.47%). Of 16 samples of S. aureus, one was MRSA (0.59%), and 15 were MSSA (8.82%). Of 131 CoNS, 103 were S. epidermidis (60.59%), and 32 were other CoNS (18.82%). Of 103 samples of S. epidermidis, 2 were MRSE (1.18%), and 101 were methicillinsensitive S. epidermidis (MSSE) (59.41%). The prevalence of MRSA, MSSA, and MRSE nasal carriage were 0.59, 8.82, and 1.18%, respectively (Figure 1).

Isolation of bacterial strain

Of 185 bacterial isolates, 12 species were confirmed using the MALDI-TOF. The predominant one was *S. epidermidis* (55.68%), followed by *Corynebacterium* sp. (8.65%), *S. aureus* (8.65%), *S. hominis* (8.11%), *S. intermedius* (5.95%), *S. warneri* (3.24%), *Micrococcus* sp. (2.70%) and *S. saccharolyticus* (2.16%). Others were *Corynebacterium accolens*, *S. capitis*, *S. caprae*, and *S. haemolyticus*, at 1.08% each (**Table 1**).



Figure 1. Prevalence of staphylococci nasal carriage among 170 privates of the Medical Private Company, Phramongkutklao Hospital

Table 1. Bacterial species were identified among 185 bacterial isolates from privates of the l	Medical
Private Company, Phramongkutklao Hospital	

Bacterial species	Number of isolates	%
Gram-positive cocci		
Staphylococci		
CoPS		
S. aureus	16	8.65
S. intermedius	11	5.95
CoNS		
S. epidermidis	103	55.68
S. hominis	15	8.11
S. warneri	6	3.24
S. saccharolyticus	4	2.16
S. capitis	2	1.08
S. caprae	2	1.08
S. haemolyticus	2	1.08
Micrococci		
Micrococcus sp.	5	2.70
Gram-positive bacilli		
Corynebacterium sp.	16	8.65
Corynebacterium accolens	2	1.08

Antibiotic susceptibility pattern for S. aureus

The cefoxitin disk diffusion test for the 16 isolates of S. aureus revealed that only one isolate was MRSA. The MRSA isolate showed resistance to ciprofloxacin, clindamycin, erythromycin, gentamicin and tetracycline. On the other hand, the isolate was susceptible to chloramphenicol, fosfomycin, fusidic acid, linezolid and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole. In addition, the MSSA isolates were 13.33% resistant to tetracycline. Nevertheless, the isolates were 100% suscepchloramphenicol, ciprofloxacin, tible to clindamycin, erythromycin, fosfomycin, fusidic acid, gentamicin, linezolid, cefoxitin and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole.

MRSA genotyping

Of 185 isolates, only one isolate was suspected of MRSA by phenotypic investigation.

The existence of the *mecA* and *ccrA2* genes in an MRSA isolate was observed. The SCC*mec* typing was SCC*mec* type II, as shown in **Table 2**.

Risk factors associated with S. aureus nasal carriage

A total of 170 subjects were privates, male, aged 20 to 23 years, and residing together in dormitories in a military camp of the Medical Private Company, Phramongkutklao Hospital. Using bivariate analysis, utensil sharing (OR: 3.92; 95% CI=1.21-12.72) and antibiotic use within the last two months (OR: 4.85; 95% CI=1.12-21.00) were significantly associated with *S. aureus* nasal carriage as shown in **Table 3**. However, using multiple logistic regression analysis, utensil sharing was independently associated with *S. aureus* nasal carriage (AOR= 4.41; 95% CI=1.33-14.61)

Table 2. PCR amplification of the mecA and ccr genes for SCCmec type using the MRSA isolate

Gene amplification	PCR	Result
<i>mecA</i> (310 bp)	Positive	Methicillin-resistant isolate
<i>ccrA1</i> (415 bp)	Negative	
<i>ccrA2</i> (937 bp)	Positive	Type II of SCCmec
<i>ccrA3</i> (518 bp)	Negative	

Table 3. Bivariate analysis and multiple logistic regression analysis for possible factors associated with *S. aureus* nasal carriage

Factor	<i>S. aureus</i> nasal carriage (%)		Bivariate analysis		Multiple log regression an	
Factor	positive	negative	OR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value	<i>v</i> -value AOR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value
	(n=16)	(n=154)	OR (5570CI)	p value		
Personal behavior						
Handwashing	14 (87.50)	147 (95.45)	3.00 (0.57-15.85)	0.1958		
Handwashing with soap	15 (93.75)	145 (94.16)	1.07 (0.13-9.07)	0.9477		
Bathing habit at least	15 (93.75)	146 (94.81)	1.22 (0.14-10.40)	0.8578		
twice/day						
Utensil sharing	5 (31.25)	16 (10.39)	3.92 (1.21-12.72)	0.0229*	4.41 (1.33-14.61)	0.016*
Nose-picking	14 (87.50)	115 (74.68)	1.02 (0.31-3.34)	0.2667		
Smoking	13 (81.25)	105 (68.18)	2.02 (0.55-7.42)	0.2885		
Alcohol consumption	12 (75.00)	109 (70.78)	1.24 (0.38-4.05)	0.7232		

Ester	<i>S. aureus</i> nasal carriage (%)		Bivariate analysis		Multiple log regression an	
Factor	positive (n=16)	negative (n=154)	OR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value	AOR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value
Health information						
History of skin infection	3 (18.75)	17 (11.04)	1.86 (0.48-7.19)	0.3687		
Previous hospitalization	1 (6.25)	7 (4.55)	1.40 (0.16-12.16)	0.7603		
Underlying disease	1 (6.25)	13 (8.44)	0.72 (0.09-5.92)	0.7624		
Antibiotic use within	3 (18.75)	7 (4.55)	4.85 (1.12-21.00)	0.0349*	3.077 (0.85-18.07)	0.079
the last two months						
History of surgery	0 (0.00)	13 (8.44)	0.32 (0.02-5.60)	0.7840		
Operation in hospital						
Touching patients	1 (6.25)	12 (7.79)	0.79 (0.10-6.50)	0.8255		
Touching medical	2 (12.50)	13 (8.44)	1.55 (0.32-7.57)	0.5886		
equipment						
Glove-wearing	4 (25.00)	37 (24.03)	0.95 (0.29-3.12)	0.9309		
Mask-wearing	11 (68.75)	107 (69.48)	1.03 (0.34-3.14)	0.9519		

Table 3. Bivariate analysis and multiple logistic regression analysis for possible factors associated with *S. aureus* nasal carriage (Cont.)

*Significantly different (p-value <0.05), OR: crude odds ratio, AOR: adjusted odds ratio, CI: confident interval

Discussion

This study showed a low prevalence (0.59%) of MRSA nasal carriage among privates working in the hospital, which was less than other studies. In this study, MRSA genotyping was performed using only the cefoxitin-resistant S. aureus isolates, which might have revealed less MRSA prevalence. In addition, PCR amplification of all S. aureus isolates would be very helpful in determining the true prevalence of MRSA nasal carriage. However, in this study, PCR was used only for bacterial genotyping. Many reports showed a high MRSA prevalence, ranging from 0.67 to 36.06% among healthcare workers. Most healthcare workers could have acquired MRSA after contact with MRSApositive patients. (33, 34) In Thailand, related studies showed that the prevalence of MRSA nasal carriage was 1% among medical sciences students in the north ⁽²⁵⁾ and 7.36% among medical students in the central region.⁽²⁶⁾ As mentioned, a wide range of prevalence could be due to different sensitivities of methods used for the study. For this reason, a study not recovering MRSA did not imply that MRSA would be absent. ⁽³⁵⁾

In this study, the risk factor constituted utensil sharing, similar to a related study in which risk factors for MRSA and *S. aureus* were personal hygiene, especially sharing items between household individuals.⁽³⁶⁾ These results support that this MRSA isolate was likely to be CAMRSA. However, the MRSA-positive subject confirmed the *mecA* DNA fragment⁽³⁷⁾ and SCC*mec* typing.⁽³⁸⁾ The result revealed type II of SCC*mec* at 937 bp of the *ccrA2* gene. Therefore, this MRSA isolate might be HA-MRSA which commonly carries SCC*mec* type II ⁽¹⁸⁾. However, whole genome sequencing of the MRSA isolate should be further performed to distinguish between HA-MRSA and CA-MRSA.

For MSSA, our result was similar to related studies indicating 15.0 and 20.25%, respectively, the MSSA nasal colonization among medical science students and medical students.^(25, 26) These data emphasized that the establishment of MSSA could be generally seen as nasal colonization among healthcare workers. Our result

showed 13.3% tetracycline-resistant MSSA isolates, differing from that of medical science students (23.3%).⁽³⁹⁾ MSSA from nasal colonization among medical science students resisted penicillin, clindamycin and erythromycin at 88.4, 39.5, and 37.2%, respectively, revealing higher resistance than our results.⁽³⁹⁾

In this study, management of the private identified as the nasal carriage of MRSA was treated with the proper antibiotic. Methicillin-resistant horizontal transmission hypotheses suggested that MSSA obtained *mecA* DNA fragments transferred from MRSE or MRCoNS into itself and then became MRSA.⁽⁴⁰⁾ Our study also showed various species of CoNS indicating the potential for exchanging the *mecA* gene among staphylococcal species.

Conclusion

The study confirmed the existence of MRSA in a group of privates working as HCWs in a hospital. A risk factor of healthcare-associated MRSA was utensil sharing, likely to occur when they resided in the same accommodation. Therefore, infection control measures in hospitals should be realized for the transmission of MRSA, even from HCWs. However, MRSA screening would be more reliable when using molecular techniques for confirmation.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the staff of the Department of Microbiology for their support and the Medical Private Company of Phramongkutklao Hospital for allowing specimen collection.

References

- 1. Euzéby JP. List of bacterial names with standing in nomenclature: a folder available on the internet. Int J Syst Bacteriol 1997; 47: 590-92.
- NCBI Taxonomy browser. Staphylococcus. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Taxonomy/ Browser/wwwtax.cgi?mode=Info&id=1279 &lvl=3&p=has_linkout&p=blast_url&p=ge-

nome_blast&lin=f&keep=1&srchmode=1& unlock. Accessed 31 March 2021.

- 3. Chessa D, Ganau G, Mazzarello V. An overview of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *Staphylococcus aureus* with a focus on developing countries. J Infect Dev Ctries 2015; 9: 547-50.
- Janda WM, Ristow K, Novak D. Evaluation of RapiDEC Staph for Identification of *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Staphylococcus epidermidis*, and *Staphylococcus saprophyticus*. J Clin Microbiol 1994; 32: 2056-59.
- 5. Szemraj M, Grazul M, Balcerczak E, Szewczyk1 EM. Staphylococcal species less frequently isolated from human clinical specimens-are they a threat to hospital patients? BMC Infect Dis 2020; 20: 128.
- 6. Backx M, Healy B. Serious staphylococcal infections. Clin Med 2008; 8: 535-38.
- Von Eiff C, Becker K, Machka K, Stammer H, Peters G. Nasal carriage as a source of *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteremia. Study Group. N Engl J Med 2001; 344: 11-6.
- Chambers HF, Deleo FR. Waves of resistance: *Staphylococcus aureus* in the antibiotic era. Nat Rev Microbiol 2009; 7: 629-41.
- Barber M. Methicillin-resistant staphylococci. J Clin Pathol 1961; 14: 385-93.
- 10. Chiang CH, Pan SC, Yang TS, Matsuda K, Kim H, Choi Y, et al., Healthcare-associated infections in intensive care units in Taiwan, South Korea, and Japan: Recent trends based on national surveillance reports. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control 2018; 7: 129.
- Ippolito G, Leone S, Lauria FN, Nicastri E, Wenzel RP. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*: The superbug. Int J Infect Dis 2010; 14(Suppl4): 7-11.
- Polyzou A, Slavakis A, Pournaras S, Maniatis AN, Sofianou D, Tsakris A Predominance of a methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* clone susceptible to erythromycin and several other non-β-lactam antibiotics in a Greek hospital. J Antimicrob Chemother 2001; 48: 231-34.
- Benrabia I, Hamdi TM, Shehata AA, Neubauer H, Wareth G. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) in poultry

species in Algeria: Long-term study on prevalence and antimicrobial resistance. Vet Sci 2020; 7: 54.

- Malachowa N, Deleo FR. Mobile genetic elements of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Cell Mol Life Sci 2010; 67: 3057-71.
- Yamaguchi T, Ono D, Sato A. Staphylococcal Cassette Chromosome *mec* (SCC*mec*) analysis of MRSA. Methods Mol Biol 2020; 2069: 59-78.
- 16. Chongtrakool P, Ito T, Ma XX, Kondo Y, Trakulsomboon S, Tiensasitorn C, et al. Staphylococcal cassette chromosome mec (SCCmec) typing of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* strains isolated in 11 Asian countries: a proposal for a new nomenclature for SCCmec elements. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006; 50: 1001-12.
- Mollema FP, Richardus JH, Behrendt M, Vaessen N, Lodder W, Hendriks W, et al., Transmission of methicillin-resistant *Staphy-lococcus aureus* to household contacts. J Clin Microbiol 2010; 48: 202-07.
- Vandenesch F, Naimi T, Enright MC, Lina G, Nimmo GR, Heffernan H, et al., Communityacquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* carrying Panton-Valentine leukocidin genes: worldwide emergence. Emerg Infect Dis 2003; 9: 978-84.
- 19. Ito T, Katayama Y, Asada K, Mori N, Tsutsumimoto K, Tiensasitorn C, et al., Structural comparison of three types of staphylococcal cassette chromosome *mec* integrated in the chromosome in methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2001; 45: 1323-36.
- 20. Ma XX, Ito T, Tiensasitorn C, Jamklang M, Chongtrakool P, Boyle-Vavra S, et al., Novel type of staphylococcal cassette chromosome mec identified in community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* strains. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2002 46: 1147-52.
- 21. Aswapokee N, Chokecharoenrat S, Aswapokee P, Khongsamran S, Trisanananda M. Prevalence of methicillin-resistant staphylococci in a university hospital. J Med Assoc Thai 1982; 65: 28-32.

- 22. Jamulitrat S, Thongpiyapoom S, Varindsathien P, Ngo U, Promplook S. An outbreak of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in a university hospital. J Infect Dis Antimicrob Agents 1988; 5: 103-10.
- 23. Al-Dahbi and Al-Mathkhury. Distribution of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in Iraqi patients and healthcare workers. Iraqi J Science 2013; 54: 293-300.
- 24. Dulon M, Peters C, Schablon A, Nienhaus A. MRSA carriage among healthcare workers in non-outbreak settings in Europe and the United States: A systematic review. BMC Infect Dis 2014; 14: 363.
- 25. Kitti T, Boonyonying K, Sitthisak S. Prevalence of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* among university students in Thailand. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 2011; 42: 1498-504.
- 26. Imwattana K, Bhumiwat P, Vorathongchai T, Kongurai W, Kiratisin P. High prevalence of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* nasal colonization among Thai medical students. J Med Assoc Thai 2019; 102: 489-92.
- 27. Lulitanond A, Engchanil C, Chaimanee P, Vorachit M, Ito T, Hiramatsu K. The first vancomycin-intermediate*Staphylococcusaureus* strains isolated from patients in Thailand. J Clin Microbiol 2009; 47: 2311-16.
- 28. Phongsamart W, Srifeungfung S, Tiensasitorn C, Vanprapar N, Chearskul S, Chokephaibulkit K. The first pediatric case of *Staphylococcus aureus* with heterogenous resistant to vancomycin endocarditis in Thailand. J Med Assoc Thai 2005; 88(Suppl8): 264-68.
- 29. Yamane T. Statistics: An introductory analysis (2nd ed). New York: Harper and Row; 1967.
- 30. McClure JA, Conly JM, Lau V, Elsayed S, Louie T, Hutchins W, et al., Novel multiplex PCR assay for detection of the staphylococcal virulence marker Panton-Valentine leukocidin genes and simultaneous discrimination of methicillin-susceptible from resistant staphylococci. J Clin Microbiol 2006; 44: 1141-44.
- Chatreewattanakul T, Thunyaharn S, Samosornsuk W, Visawapoka U, Samosornsuk S. SCC*mec* type and antimicrobial susceptibility

pattern of MRSA isolated from blood stream infection in Phramongkutklao Hospital. Arch AHS 2015; 27(2): 152-61.

- 32. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing; twenty second informational supplement 2012; 32: M100-S22.
- Blok HE, Troelstra A, Kamp-Hopmans TE, Gigengack-Baars AC, Vandenbroucke-Grauls CM, Weersink AJ, et al., Role of healthcare workers in outbreaks of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*: A 10-year evaluation from a Dutch university hospital. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2003; 24: 679-85.
- 34. Giri S, Ghimire A, Mishra A, Acharya K, Kuikel S, Tiwari A, et al. Prevalence of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* carriage among healthcare workers in South Asia in non-outbreak settings: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Infect Control 2022; 10: S0196-6553(22)00474-6.
- 35. Treesirichod A, Hantagool S, Prommalikit O. Nasal carriage and antimicrobial susceptibility of *Staphylococcus aureus* among medical students at the HRH Princess Maha Chakri Sirindhorn Medical Center, Thailand: A cross-sectional study. J Infect Public Health 2013; 6: 196-201.

- 36. Turabelidze G, Lin M, Wolkoff B, Dodson D, Gladbach S, Zhu BP. Personal hygiene and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. Emerg Infect Dis 2006; 12: 422-27.
- 37. Ito T, Katayama Y, Hiramatsu K. Cloning and nucleotide sequence determination of the entire *mec* DNA of premethicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* N315. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1999; 43: 1449-58.
- 38. Ito T, Ma XX, Takeuchi F, Okuma K, Yuzawa H, Hiramatsu K. Novel type V Staphylococcal Cassette Chromosome *mec* driven by a novel cassette chromosome recombinase, ccrC. Antimicrobial Agents Chemother 2004; 48: 2637-51.
- 39. Masmalai T, Kasitibodinchai M, Chanawong A, Sribenjalux P, Sinlapasorn S, Sungkeeree S, et al. Survey of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus among students in the Faculty of Associated Medical Sciences, Khon Kaen University. J Med Tech Phy Ther 2016; 28: 1-8.
- 40. Bloemendaal AL, Brouwer EC, Fluit AC. Methicillin resistance trancsfer from *Staphylococcus epidermidis* to methicillin-susceptible *Staphylococcus aureus* in a patient during antibiotic therapy. PLoS One 2010; 5: e11841.

DIFFERENTIATION BETWEEN ALLERGIC AND NON-ALLERGIC RHINITIS IN CHILDREN WITH CHRONIC RHINITIS, ALLERGY CLINIC, PHRAMONGKUTKLAO HOSPITAL

Tanuntorn Songchitsomboon****, Anupong Sirisungreung***, Yiwa Suksawat*

*Division of Allergy and Immunology, Department of Pediatrics, Phramongkutklao Hospital and Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand **Department of Pediatrics, Uthong Hospital, Suphanburi, Thailand ***Department of Military and Community Medicine, Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand

ABSTRACT

Background: Chronic rhinitis in children is a common problem. Investigation to diagnose allergic rhinitis (AR) using a skin prick test for aeroallergens requires a specialist doctor, which is not simply performed in primary health care facilities. Therefore, diagnosing patients with AR and non-allergic rhinitis (NAR) is based on clinical symptoms essential for treatment planning. This study compared clinical symptoms between AR and NAR, comorbidities, disease severity, and common aeroallergen sensitization.

Methods: A retrospective descriptive study was conducted among participants aged between 2-18 years with chronic rhinitis who were treated at the Department of Allergy and Immunology, Division of Pediatrics, Phramongkutklao Hospital, between 2014 and 2018. The medical records were reviewed on clinical symptoms, allergic test results, environmental data, and the severity according to Allergic Rhinitis and its Impact on Asthma (ARIA) classification. If the patient tested positive for aeroallergen, the allergist diagnosed AR. NAR is characterized by the same symptoms but with a negative skin prick test.

Results: Three hundred and seven participants were included. Among these patients, 226 (73.6 %) were categorized as AR, and 81 (26.4%) were NAR. The AR group had a higher percentage of males than the NAR group. Nasal pruritus and ocular symptoms were more commonly found in AR than in NAR. Regarding comorbidities, both groups had similar snoring, sinusitis, asthma, and atopic dermatitis. The most common aeroallergens among AR patients were *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus* (82.7%), *Dermatophagoides farinae* (81.4%), followed by American cockroaches (38.1%), and German cockroaches (37.6%). Cat owners were associated with cat sensitization in AR patients (OR =2.77; 95% CI = 1.27-5.88).

Conclusions: In this study, the proportion of AR was higher than NAR. Nasal pruritus, ocular symptoms, or both strongly supported AR. The most common aeroallergen sensitization was house dust mites, followed by cockroaches. Initial treatment with antihistamine and other drugs can improve the severity of the disease.

Keywords: Chronic rhinitis, Allergic rhinitis, Non-allergic rhinitis, Thai children, Aeroallergen

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6(1):e0125 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.125

Correspondence to:

Suksawat Y, Division of Allergy and Immunology, Department of Pediatrics, Phramongkutklao Hospital and Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok 10400, Thailand Email: yiwasuksawat@gmail.com

Received: 16 May 2022 Revised: 8 July 2022 Accepted: 20 July 2022

Introduction

Any inflammatory illness of the nasal mucosa is referred to as rhinitis. The development of one or more symptoms: rhinorrhea, sneezing, nasal itching, and nasal blockage, is clinically characterized as rhinitis.⁽¹⁾ Chronic rhinitis in children is a common problem in pediatric practice. The results of ISAAC Phase Three in Thai children revealed a significant increase in rhinitis symptoms in Bangkok and Chiang Mai.⁽²⁾ Due to the prolonged period of this disease, it can affect daily activities such as academic performance, ability to work, and quality of life, leading to several indirect costs. Although allergic rhinitis (AR) is the most often recognized cause of chronic rhinitis in children, an alternative cause unrelated to allergic or infectious agents is known as non-allergic rhinitis (NAR). AR is caused by immunologic sensitization to aeroallergens resulting in the synthesis of specific IgE, which causes inflammatory processes leading to nasal symptoms. NAR is a chronic condition of the nasal mucosa with no evidence of allergic sensitization through skin prick tests (SPT) or specific IgE for aeroallergens.

A study of 660 children (aged 1 to 18 years) with chronic rhinitis in Singapore showed that AR was identified in 75.9 percent of cases, and NAR accounted for 24.1 percent of the total.⁽³⁾ Previous research has shown that NAR patients would acquire more symptoms such as nasal obstruction and postnasal drip⁽⁴⁾; however, distinguishing between AR and NAR is less defined in children. Allergists will do further testing to diagnose allergic rhinitis using a skin prick test or specific IgE; however, it is difficult to carry out in primary care settings. As a result, diagnosing allergic rhinitis and non-allergic rhinitis by clinical symptoms before

making treatment selections is essential. Gender disparities in the prevalence of atopic diseases are observed in many epidemiological studies. However, little is known about whether sex is more common among children and adolescents with rhinitis. A recent meta-analysis found sex-related differences in rhinitis prevalence, switching from a male to a female predominance around puberty. The male predominance from childhood seemed to persist in adolescence only in Asia⁽⁵⁾. This study aimed to describe the clinical profile of AR and NAR among children with chronic rhinitis diagnosis who visited a tertiary hospital's allergy clinics and had a skin prick test result. Furthermore, to evaluate the clinical difference and general characteristics between AR and NAR, the association between skin prick test results and area of residence, as well as how direct exposure as a pet owner contributes to the development of pet sensitization in allergic rhinitis patients.

Methods

The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board, Royal Thai Army Medical Department (R045h/62). Data were collected retrospectively from patients aged 2-18 years diagnosed with chronic rhinitis between January 2014 to December 2018 at the Allergy and Immunology Clinic, Department of Pediatrics, Phramongkutklao Hospital. Diagnosis of chronic rhinitis was defined when patients had two or more of the following symptoms: rhinorrhea, nasal congestion, sneezing, or nasal itching that were present on most days for ≥ 4 weeks in the past year. Those who previously used some medications that could induce rhinitis symptoms were also excluded from the study. Patients with confirmed sinonasal disorders (such as a nasal polyp, sinusitis, or nasal septum deviation that seriously impaired nasal cavity airflow) or pregnancy were excluded. All patients with neither contraindication for SPT nor active skin diseases were indicated for aeroallergen skin testing. SPT using stainless steel lancet was performed on all patients. Standard aeroallergen extracts including house dust mite [Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus (Dp), Dermatophagoides farinae (Df)], American cockroaches, German cockroaches, cat dander, dog epithelia, Alternaria spp., Cladosporium spp., mixed Aspergillus spp., Curvularia spp., Bermuda grass, Johnson grass, careless weeds, and acacia as well as positive and negative controls (histamine and saline, respectively) (ALK-Abello Pharmaceuticals Inc., Canada) were evaluated. An immediate reaction (wheal and erythema) was read after 15 minutes. The result of SPT was considered positive when the allergen wheal size was 3 mm or larger than the negative control. The allergists diagnosed a patient with AR if the test was positive for an aeroallergen. The same set of symptoms defined NAR but with a negative SPT.

The number of patients who participated in this study and underwent an aeroallergen SPT is shown in **Figure 1.** When the patients visited the Allergy Clinic, a symptom-based questionnaire adapted from ARIA guidelines was used to inquire about their symptoms and documented in the medical records. Age, sex, age at onset, family history of any atopic diseases, living area, and environmental data (presence of household pets and smoking) were collected. Patients' charts were reviewed for rhinitis symptoms (rhinorrhea, nasal congestion, nasal and eye itching or sneezing) and physician-diagnosed comorbidities; the severity of rhinitis according to ARIA classification and SPT result were recorded.

Statistical analysis

Continuous variables were summarized using mean and standard deviation, and categorical variables were summarized using counts and percentages. The association between allergic rhinitis status and baseline characteristics, including demographic data, clinical features, and comorbidities, were analyzed based on the distribution and expected values of data. Continuous data were assessed using Student's t-test, and categorical data were evaluated using the chi-square test and Fisher's exact test. Bivariate logistic regression was performed to estimate the association between aeroallergen sensitization profiles and living areas (Bangkok vs. other provinces). The association between pet sensitization test results and history of pet exposure was also explored using multivariable logistic regression adjusted by type of pet



Figure 1. Number of patients who were assessed for chronic rhinitis and underwent skin prick test

exposure (cat, dog, others), age (years) at first diagnosis, and sex of patients. We assumed that age and sex were potential confounders between pet sensitization and history of pet exposure since age and sex are associated with allergy⁽⁵⁻⁷⁾ and potentially related to pet exposure history. All analyses were performed using R version 4.0.2 software (R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing [Internet]. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2020. Available from: http://www. R-project.org/).

Results

Characteristics of children with rhinitis

During the study, 402 children with rhinitis were assessed for symptoms of chronic rhinitis in the Pediatric Allergy Clinic, Phramongkutklao Hospital. Three hundred and seven patients had undergone SPT for aeroallergen. Among these patients with SPT results, 226 (73.6 %) were classified as AR, and 81 (26.4%) were NAR. Most of them were living in Bangkok (69.7%). The mean age of onset for patients was not different between AR and NAR; however, the mean age at first diagnosis for patients with AR was older than NAR (mean ages 7.53 vs. 6.39 years, p=0.012 (Table 1). Most patients in the AR group were male (65.0%), which differed from the NAR group in that males and females were equal. Most patients had no other medical conditions (72.6%), although we observed that 8% had attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) before they were diagnosed with AR or NAR. Patients with NAR were more likely to clean the house every week than those with AR (p=0.005) (Table 1); however, there was not enough evidence to conclude the differences in the history of allergic disease in the family, passive smoking, presence of household pets, and rhinitis severity between AR and NAR patients.

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of allergic rhinitis and non-allergic rhinitis patients in the pediatric allergy clinic, Phramongkutklao Hospital, 2014–2018

Characteristics	Total (n = 307)	NAR (n = 81)	AR (n = 226)	<i>p</i> -value
Age of onset (years)				
Mean (SD)	5.36 (3.16)	5.06 (3.47)	5.47 (3.04)	0.308 a
Age at first diagnosis (years)				
Mean (SD)	7.23 (3.50)	6.39 (3.27)	7.53 (3.54)	0.012 ª
Sex, n (%)				
Male	186 (60.6)	39 (48.1)	147 (65.0)	$0.011^{\ b}$
Family history of atopic diseases,				
n (%)	122 (39.7)	35 (43.2)	87 (38.5)	
No family history	153 (49.8)	40 (49.4)	113 (50.0)	0.793 °
Allergic rhinitis	21 (6.8)	4 (4.9)	17 (7.5)	0.795
Asthma	11 (3.6)	2 (2.5)	9 (4.0)	
Others †	11 (5.0)	2 (2.3)) (1.0)	
Passive smoking, n (%) ‡	67 (22.2)	12 (15.2)	55 (24.7)	0.113 ^b
Household pets, n (%) ‡	92 (30.4)	20 (25.0)	72 (32.3)	0.283 ^b
Frequency of house cleaning,				
n (%)				
Every one week	169 (58.1)	55 (73.3)	114 (52.8)	0.005 ^b
Every two weeks	85 (29.2)	16 (21.3)	69 (31.9)	
Longer than two weeks	37 (12.7)	4 (5.3)	33 (15.3)	

Characteristics	Total (n = 307)	NAR (n = 81)	AR (n = 226)	<i>p</i> -value
Severity of disease at baseline,				
n (%)				
Mild intermittent	20 (6.5)	8 (9.9)	12 (5.3)	0.059 ^b
Mild persistent	195 (63.5)	57 (70.4)	138 (61.3)	0.039
Moderate to severe intermittent	2 (0.6)	1 (1.2)	1 (0.4)	
Moderate to severe persistent	90 (29.3)	16 (19.8)	74 (32.9)	
Living area, n (%)				
Bangkok	214 (69.7)	60 (74.1)	154 (68.1)	0.392 ь

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of allergic rhinitis and non-allergic rhinitis patients in the pediatric allergy clinic, Phramongkutklao Hospital, 2014–2018 (Cont.)

† Other family history included: atopic dermatitis, food allergy, chronic urticaria

‡ Missing passive smoking (n=5); missing household pet (n=4)

Statistical tests for p-value: a) t-test, b) chi-square, c) Fisher's exact

Clinical characteristics and comorbid disease

Table 2 shows the comparison of nasal symptoms between the two groups. The most prevalent symptom in both NAR and AR was rhinorrhea, followed by nasal congestion. The AR group had a higher proportion of nasal itching (52.2% vs 37.0%; p = 0.027) and ocular symptoms (50.9% vs 28.4%; p = 0.027) than NAR group.

The proportions of rhinorrhea, nasal congestion, and sneezing were not different between the NAR and AR groups. Snoring and acute sinusitis were the most common comorbidities; nevertheless, comorbidities including snoring, acute sinusitis, asthma, and atopic dermatitis seemed to be similar between the two groups.

Clinical symptoms and comorbidities	NAR (n = 81)	AR (n = 226)	Chi-square <i>p</i> -value
Clinical symptoms, n (%)			
Rhinorrhea	70 (86.4)	193 (85.4)	0.968
Nasal congestion	57 (70.4)	160 (70.8)	1.000
Sneezing	39 (48.1)	125 (55.3)	0.328
Nasal itching	30 (37.0)	118 (52.2)	0.027
Ocular symptoms	23 (28.4)	115 (50.9)	0.001
Comorbidities, n (%)			
Snoring	19 (23.5)	50 (22.1)	0.927
Acute sinusitis	18 (22.2)	39 (17.3)	0.412
Asthma	11 (13.6)	41 (18.1)	0.443
Atopic dermatitis	2 (2.5)	22 (9.7)	0.065

Table 2. Clinical symptoms and comorbidities between allergic rhinitis and non-allergic rhinitis patients

 in the pediatric allergy clinic, Phramongkutklao Hospital, 2014–2018

NAR = non-allergic rhinitis, AR = allergic rhinitis

Aeroallergen sensitization profile in children with allergic rhinitis

The number of patients who lived in Bangkok was 214 (69.7%). **Figure 1** shows the prevalence of aeroallergen sensitization (based on SPT results) classified by patients who lived in Bangkok and other parts of Thailand. During the 4-year study period, Dp and Df were the most common aeroallergens sensitization (82.7% and 81.4%, respectively), followed by American cockroaches (38.1%), German cockroaches (37.6%), cat (24.3%), Bermuda grass (18.1%), dogs (15.9%), Johnson grass (12.8%), *Cladosporium* spp. (6.6%), acacia (5.8%), *Alternaria* spp. (5.3%), careless weed (3.5%), *Curvularia* spp. (3.5%), and mixed *Aspergillus* spp. (2.2%). Patients who

lived outside of Bangkok seemed to have a higher chance of Bermuda grass sensitization (OR = 1.22; 95% CI = 0.61-2.46) than those who lived in Bangkok, similar to Johnson grass sensitization (OR = 1.71; 95% CI = 0.78-3.75), although their 95% CI were compatible with the null. On the other hand, patients who lived in Bangkok appear to have higher odds of aeroallergen sensitization profiles than those who lived outside Bangkok, for instance, *Cladosporium* (OR = 2.94; 95% CI = 0.79-19.07), *Alternaria* (OR = 2.23; 95% CI = 0.57-14.7), Mixed *Aspergillus* spp. (OR = 1.75; 95% CI = 0.25-34.53), German cockroaches (OR = 1.74; 95% CI = 0.99-3.17) and *Curvularia* spp. (OR = 1.31; 95% CI = 0.30-9.07) (**Figure 2**).



Dp = Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus, Df = Dermatophagoides farinae; could not determine odds ratio and 95% confidence interval for Careless weed due to sparse data.

Figure 2. Odd ratios and 95% confidence intervals for associations between aeroallergen sensitization profiles and area of living (Bangkok vs. other provinces)

	Skin prick test positive n (%)	Skin prick test negative n (%)	Adjusted OR†	95% CI†	<i>p</i> -value
Cat sensitization	55	252			
Cat ownership	14 (25.5)	25 (9.9)	2.77	1.27 - 5.88	0.009
Dog ownership	10 (18.2)	44 (17.5)	1.01	0.44 - 2.14	0.975
Dog sensitization	36	271			
Cat ownership	5 (13.9)	34 (12.5)	1.15	0.37 - 3.06	0.787
Dog ownership	9 (25.0)	45 (16.6)	1.63	0.67-3.67	0.254

Table 3. Association between household pets and pet allergen sensitizations among allergic rhinitis patients in the pediatric allergy clinic, Phramongkutklao Hospital, 2014–2018

 \dagger OR = adjusted odds ratio, CI = confidence interval

Multivariable model logistic regression models included: type of pet ownership (cat, dog, others), age (years) at first diagnosis, and sex of patients

History of pet exposure in household and pet allergen sensitization

In this study, 30.4% of allergic rhinitis patients had pets in their houses. The proportion of cat sensitization (55/307=17.9%) was higher than dog sensitization (36/307=11.7%). The association between household pets and pet sensitization is shown in **Table 3**. After adjusting for type of pet exposure, age at first diagnosis, and sex of patients, the odds of sensitization to cats among rhinitis patients who were cat owners were 3.11 times that of those who did not own a cat. Using this statistical model, a plausible range of values for the odds ratio was 1.46 to 6.43 (95%CI=1.46-6.43).

Discussion

This study described the clinical characteristics of children with chronic rhinitis attending Phramongkutklao Hospital. The patients were divided into two groups: AR and NAR. The results revealed that children with AR were more common than NAR, similar to the findings of Vichyanond et al. ⁽⁸⁾, Visitsunthorn et al. ⁽⁹⁾, and Lee et al. ⁽¹⁰⁾ while differing from Westman et al. ⁽¹¹⁾ and Lee et al.⁽¹²⁾ However, our study could have a higher prevalence of AR than the general population because the patients were recruited from a pediatric specialist clinic. Since the symptoms of NAR were more severe than those of AR⁽¹³⁾, patients with NAR went to see the doctor earlier. As a result, patients with NAR had a significantly lower age at first diagnosis than those with AR. Boys were shown to be more likely than girls to have AR in the children's age group, comparable to adulthood with chronic rhinitis, when men were also less likely to have NAR than females.⁽¹⁴⁾ There were sex differences in the prevalence of AR over the life span, with boys having a greater frequency than girls during childhood, followed by an equal distribution in adolescence.⁽¹⁴⁾

Nasal itching and ocular symptoms were more frequent in AR than in NAR, similar to the study by Vichyanond et al. ⁽⁸⁾; however, rhinorrhea, nasal congestion, and sneezing between the two groups were not different. Our study found that snoring was the most common comorbidity in children with AR and NAR. Snoring in these groups of patients might be due to adenoid hypertrophy or nasal congestion, affecting sleep quality. Patients with nasal congestion were more likely to have moderate to severe obstructive sleep apnea than allergic patients without nasal congestion.⁽¹⁵⁾ Unfortunately, our questionnaires might be insufficient to assess sleep disorders, and objective testing such as polysomnography should have been used to evaluate sleep disturbance accurately in the following study. Similar asthma prevalence in children with allergic and nonallergic rhinitis was consistent with previous studies.⁽¹⁶⁾ Asthma was common comorbidity in children and adults with allergic rhinitis. Treatment for AR could reduce asthma symptoms; therefore, the clinician should look for other comorbidities and proper management if a patient presents with either AR or asthma symptoms.

House dust mites were shown to be the most frequent aeroallergen sensitization from studies in children with AR who lived in Bangkok⁽⁹⁾ and Chiangmai Province⁽¹⁷⁾, accounting for 80% of cases, similar to our study. House dust mite sensitization is relatively high because Thailand is located in a tropical environment. The temperature is generally warm and humid, favorable for mite proliferation. American cockroaches (P. americana) and German cockroaches (B. germanica) are common cockroach species found in people's homes, and their allergens can induce atopic diseases, particularly allergic rhinitis. In 2004, Tungtrongchitr et al. found that P. americana was the predominant cockroach species in the house of people who lived in Bangkok, followed by B.germanica.⁽¹⁸⁾ We found more prevalence of German cockroach sensitization than American cockroach sensitization in children who lived in Bangkok, which differed from previous studies in Thailand.^(9, 17) Furthermore, in this study, approximately 35% of children with AR in Bangkok were only sensitized to the German cockroach. A higher prevalence of German cockroach sensitization might be due to the increasing number of this type of cockroaches in Bangkok. We know that exposure to pet allergens is a significant risk factor for developing allergic sensitization and respiratory allergic diseases such as allergic rhinitis or allergic asthma. The presence of a pet at home is commonly regarded as the most significant risk factor for allergic sensitization. In previous studies, the association between cat ownership and sensitization to cats

has remained questionable⁽¹⁹⁾; however, dog ownership was preventative for sensitization to dogs.⁽²⁰⁾ Our findings showed that cat ownership was strongly associated with cat sensitization in children with allergic rhinitis, opposite to dog ownership, which was not associated with dog sensitization. The timing of exposure, duration of the pets exposure, level of pet allergen exposure, or genetic risk seem to modify or induce pet sensitization.⁽²¹⁾

A strength of this study was the use of symptom-based questionnaires to collect medical data and SPT for aeroallergens, which were performed in most patients with chronic rhinitis to classify them into AR and NAR. However, a retrospective review was a significant limitation of this study; this data collection could not be as complete as in a prospective study. Patients with local allergic rhinitis (LAR) would have been indistinguishable in this study because NAR was differentiated from AR based only on rhinitis symptoms and the absence of negative SPT results. A systematic review of studies subjected to nasal allergen provocation tests (NAPT) has recently demonstrated local allergen reactivity in 16.1% of children previously considered NAR. (22) It is essential to use NAPT to evaluate rhinitis to identify LAR patients. The development of systemic atopy is not a common situation in LAR individuals. Nevertheless, LAR worsens rapidly with progressive rhinitis severity and impairment in quality of life. Therefore, a more accurate diagnostic test to define the type of chronic rhinitis is warranted to optimize patient management.

Conclusion

This study describes clinical characteristics between AR and NAR among children with chronic rhinitis. The proportion of AR was higher than NAR. The most common aeroallergen sensitization was house dust mites, followed by cockroaches. This information could benefit children who visit primary care for initial management and appropriate common allergen avoidance. Nasal pruritus or ocular symptoms strongly supported AR, of which additional allergy testing in those children may be required.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare they have no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to express gratitude to the patients and their families participating in this study. This study was supported by a Research Unit Grant from the Department of Pediatrics, Phramongkutklao Hospital and Phramongkutklao College of Medicine.

References

- Dykewicz MS, Wallace DV, Amrol DJ, Baroody FM, Bernstein JA, Craig TJ, et al. Rhinitis 2020: A practice parameter update. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2020; 146: 721-67.
- 2. Trakultivakorn M, Sangsupawanich P, Vichyanond P. Time trends of the prevalence of asthma, rhinitis and eczema in Thai children-ISAAC (International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood) Phase Three. J Asthma 2007; 44: 609-11.
- 3. Chiang WC, Chen YM, Tan HK, Balakrishnan A, Liew WK, Lim HH, et al. Allergic rhinitis and non-allergic rhinitis in children in the tropics: prevalence and risk associations. Pediatr Pulmonol 2012; 47: 1026-33.
- 4. Mastin T. Recognizing and treating noninfectious rhinitis. J Am Acad Nurse Pract 2003; 15: 398-409.
- 5. Pinart M, Keller T, Reich A, Fröhlich M, Cabieses B, Hohmann C, et al. Sex-related allergic rhinitis prevalence switch from childhood to adulthood: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2017; 172: 224-35.
- Collin SM, Granell R, Westgarth C, Murray J, Paul E, Sterne JA, et al. Pet ownership is associated with increased risk of non-atopic asthma and reduced risk of atopy in childhood: findings from a UK birth cohort. Clin Exp Allergy 2015; 45: 200-10.
- Goldhahn K, Bockelbrink A, Nocon M, Almqvist C, DunnGalvin A, Willich SN, et al. Sex-specific differences in allergic sensitization to house dust mites: a meta-analysis. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2009; 102: 487-94.

- Vichyanond P, Suratannon C, Lertbunnaphong P, Jirapongsananuruk O, Visitsunthorn N. Clinical characteristics of children with nonallergic rhinitis vs with allergic rhinitis. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 2010; 28: 270-4.
- Visitsunthorn N, Chaimongkol W, Visitsunthorn K, Pacharn P, Jirapongsananuruk O. Great flood and aeroallergen sensitization in children with asthma and/or allergic rhinitis. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 2018; 36: 69-76.
- 10. Lee KS, Yum HY, Sheen YH, Park YM, Lee YJ, Choi BS, et al. Comorbidities and phenotypes of rhinitis in Korean children and adolescents: a cross-sectional, multicenter study. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res 2017; 9: 70-8.
- 11. Westman M, Stjärne P, Asarnoj A, Kull I, van Hage M, Wickman M, et al. Natural course and comorbidities of allergic and nonallergic rhinitis in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2012; 129: 403-8.
- Lee SH, Choi JH, Suh JD, Chung S, Hong SC, Kim JK, et al. Natural course of allergic and nonallergic rhinitis after 2 years in Korean children. Clin Exp Otorhinolaryngol 2016; 9: 233-7.
- La Mantia I, Andaloro C. Demographics and clinical features predictive of allergic versus non-allergic rhinitis in children aged 6-18 years: A single-center experience of 1535 patients. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2017; 98: 103-9.
- 14. Fröhlich M, Pinart M, Keller T, Reich A, Cabieses B, Hohmann C, et al. Is there a sex-shift in prevalence of allergic rhinitis and comorbid asthma from childhood to adulthood? A meta-analysis. Clin Transl Allergy 2017; 7: 44.
- 15. Young T, Finn L, Kim H. Nasal obstruction as a risk factor for sleep-disordered breathing. The University of Wisconsin Sleep and Respiratory Research Group. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99: S757-62.
- Chawes BL, Bønnelykke K, Kreiner-Møller E, Bisgaard H. Children with allergic and nonallergic rhinitis have a similar risk of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010; 126: 567-73.e1-8.

- Waithayawongsakul K, Lao-Araya M. Time trends of skin prick test reactivity to inhalant allergens among allergic children in Chiang Mai. Chiang Mai Med J 2021; 60: 475-86.
- 18. Tungtrongchitr A, Sookrung N, Munkong N, Mahakittikun V, Chinabut P, Chaicumpa W, et al. The levels of cockroach allergen in relation to cockroach species and allergic diseases in Thai patients. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 2004; 22: 115-21.
- 19. Simpson A, Custovic A. Pets and the development of allergic sensitization. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2005; 5: 212-20.
- 20. Van Gysel D, Govaere E, Verhamme K, Doli E, De Baets F. Exposure to pets and the association with sensitization and allergic disease in Belgian schoolchildren. Allergy 2009; 64: 663-4.
- 21. Kim HY, Shin YH, Han MY. Determinants of sensitization to allergen in infants and young children. Korean J Pediatr 2014; 57: 205-10.
- 22. Hamizan AW, Rimmer J, Alvarado R, Sewell WA, Kalish L, Sacks R, et al. Positive allergen reaction in allergic and nonallergic rhinitis: a systematic review. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol 2017; 7: 868-77.

DIAGNOSIS OF IRON DEFICIENCY ANEMIA IN THAI FEMALE ADOLESCENTS USING RETICULOCYTE HEMOGLOBIN EQUIVALENT

Natthawadi Thimthong^{*}, *Apichat Photi-a*^{**}, *Chanchai Traivaree*^{**}, *Dollapak Apipongrat*^{***}, *Oytip Nathalang*^{*}

*Graduate Program in Medical Technology, Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Thammasat University, Pathumthani, Thailand

**Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Phramongkutklao Hospital and Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand

***Division of Hematology, Department of Medicine, Phramongkutklao Hospital and Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand

Abstract

Background: Female adolescents aged 10 to 19 years are at remarkable risk of iron deficiency anemia (IDA). Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent (Ret-He) is an initial indicator of iron incorporation in red blood cells (RBCs) hemoglobin and reflects the iron functional availability in the RBCs.

Objective: This study aimed to assess the diagnostic performance of Ret-He to identify IDA and determine a specific cut-off value for Thai female adolescents.

Methods: Blood samples of 191 Thai female adolescents, ages ranging from 12 to 18 years, were included. Patients underwent complete blood count, reticulocyte count, Ret-He, serum iron (SI), total iron-binding capacity (TIBC), and transferrin saturation (TSAT). The correlation of Ret-He with other parameters and the diagnostic performance to identify IDA were evaluated.

Results: Among 191 patients, 89 and 102 were defined as IDA and non-IDA groups. Ret-He value in the IDA group was significantly lower than that in the non-IDA group (p<0.001). Strong positive correlations were observed between Ret-He and RBC indices and SI and TSAT (p<0.001). A Ret-He value of \leq 27.0 pg could distinguish IDA from non-IDA with a sensitivity of 91.2% and a specificity of 100.0% (area under the curve, AUC of 0.99, 95% CI: 0.98-0.99; p<0.001).

Conclusion: This study confirmed that Ret-He is a cost-effective parameter representing an advantage over other traditional iron markers. A specific Ret-He cut-off value of ≤ 27.0 pg is suitable for distinguishing IDA from non-IDA with excellent diagnostic performance among Thai female adolescents.

Keywords: Iron deficiency anemia, Reticulocyte, Hemoglobin, Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent, Thai female adolescents

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6(1):e0126 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.126

Correspondence to: Nathalang O, Graduate Program in Medical Technology, Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Thammasat University, Pathumthani 12120, Thailand Email: oytipntl@hotmail.com

Received: 26 May 2022 Revised: 11 August 2022 Accepted: 14 August 2022

Introduction

Iron deficiency anemia (IDA) is the most common cause of disorders of nutritional anemia, especially among reproductive-age women and people with low iron intake. Untreated iron deficiency (ID) can affect growth and development, especially in children.^(1,2) Because of rapid growth, menstrual blood loss, and inadequate iron intake, female adolescents aged 10 to 19 years are at remarkable risk of iron ID.⁽³⁾ Patients with IDA may experience effects on cognitive function, audiovisual reaction time, physical capacity, and work performance. In clinical practice, symptoms improve promptly with iron supplementation.^(3,4)

Laboratory testing consisting of hemoglobin (Hb) and mean corpuscular volume (MCV) is used to screen for anemia owing to its widespread availability and ease of interpretation. According to the high prevalence of thalassemia in Thailand and Southeast Asian countries, further testing such as iron study, Hb typing, and molecular studies to identify mutations of globin genes are required to differentiate between IDA and thalassemia. (5,6) Conventional biomarkers such as serum ferritin (SF), serum iron (SI), total iron-binding capacity (TIBC), and transferrin saturation (TSAT) are used to define the iron status of clinically anemic individuals. However, those biomarkers are influenced by several factors of diurnal variation and dietary intake. (7,8)

Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent (Ret-He) is a reticulocyte-derived parameter available on Sysmex-XN series analyzers. It constitutes an initial indicator of iron incorporation in red blood cells (RBCs) Hb and reflects the iron functional availability in the RBCs.⁽⁹⁾ Related studies have demonstrated the applications of Ret-He in IDA and various clinical settings.⁽¹⁰⁻¹⁶⁾ Notably, Ret-He provided speedy results to indicate iron status and was not affected by other chronic diseases. Therefore, Ret-He is convenient in the diagnosis and follow-up treatment of IDA among infants, pregnant women, and patients with chronic renal failure.⁽¹⁷⁻¹⁹⁾

Recently, the diagnostic performance using Ret-He cut-off values to identify IDA and non-IDA among various Thai populations has been reported.⁽²⁰⁻²²⁾ However, the information on Ret-He levels and a specific cut-off value among Thai female adolescents is currently unavailable. This study aimed to assess the diagnostic performance of Ret-He to identify IDA and determine the cut-off value for Thai female adolescent populations.

Methods

This study was approved by the Committee of the Institutional Review Board, Royal Thai Army Medical Department, Bangkok, Thailand (IRBRTA 984/2564), and the Human Research Ethics Committee of Thammasat University (HREC-TUSc) Pathumthani, Thailand (COE No. 018/2564).

The cross-sectional study enrolled female adolescents, ages ranging from 12 to 18 years attending the Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Phramongkutklao Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand, from September 2021 to February 2022, were recruited. The sample size calculation was based on a single proportion formula, this study was based on the prevalence of anemia in Thai female adolescents of 25.2%,⁽²³⁾ with a confidence interval of 95% and a margin of error of 6.5%. The calculated sample size of 191 participants was sufficient to meet the study objective. The subjects were categorized into two groups; IDA and non-IDA. Anemia was defined as a Hb concentration <12.0 g/dL.⁽²⁴⁾ IDA was defined as serum iron (SI) <50.0 mg/dL and/or TSAT <16.0%.⁽²⁵⁾ Informed consent forms were signed by the subjects' parents. Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and clotted blood samples were collected and analyzed at the Laboratory of Hematology, Department of Pathology, Phramongkutklao Hospital, to perform laboratory tests. The laboratory has received International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 15189:2012 and ISO 15190:2003 certifications.

Complete blood count (CBC), reticulocyte count, and Ret-He were analyzed using a Sysmex XN-9000 automated hematology analyzer (Sysmex Corporation, Kobe, Japan). Serum from clotted blood samples was analyzed for iron markers, including SI and unsaturated iron-binding capacity (UIBC) using COBAS INTEGRA Iron Gen.2 reagent (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Germany) and COBAS INTEGRA UIBC reagent and analyzed by a Cobas 8000 series c502 Chemistry Analyzer (Roche Diagnostics Ltd., Rotkreuz, Switzerland). TIBC was calculated as a sum of SI and UIBC. In addition, a transferrin saturation (TSAT) was calculated using the formula; TSAT (%) = (SI/TIBC) × 100. All blood samples were assessed within two hours after collecting blood. In addition, quality control samples were run daily to ensure adequate functionality of the analyzers.

Statistical analysis

The IBM SPSS software for Windows, Version 20.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) and GraphPad Prism, Version 9 (GraphPad Software, CA, USA) were used for statistical analysis. Demographic characteristics were analyzed using descriptive statistics, and continuous variables were presented as mean and standard deviation (SD). The comparison between the study groups was carried out using the Student's t-test. The correlation (r) between the Ret-He and other blood parameters was evaluated using Pearson's correlation coefficient with a 95% confidence interval (95% CI). The diagnostic performance of RET-He to detect IDA was determined, including sensitivity, specificity, predictive values, and the area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve (AUC), and compared with the reference assays, SI and TSAT. A p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

The study population included 191 female participants, 89 IDA, and 102 non-IDA patients.

No difference was found between the two groups regarding age and body mass index (BMI). The RBC parameters and iron biomarkers included in this study are summarized in **Table 1**. All red blood cell indices, including Hb, Hct, and RBC indices, except RDW, in the IDA group, were significantly lower than those of the non-IDA group (p<0.001). For iron biomarkers, lower SI and TSAT and higher TIBC were observed in the IDA group (p<0.001). There is no significant difference in the reticulocyte count between the two groups (p>0.05). However, Ret-He was significantly lower than that in the non-IDA group (p<0.001) (**Figure 1**).

In the IDA group, the baseline Ret-He level was positively correlated with baseline Hb level (r=0.72, p<0.001), MCV level (r=0.84, p<0.001), MCH level (r=0.88, p<0.001) and MCHC level (r=0.45, p<0.001) (**Figure 2**). In addition, the baseline Ret-He level was correlated with SI level (r=074, p<0.001) and TSAT (r=0.71, p<0.001).

The reference iron biomarkers to define IDA, SI < 50.0 mg/dL, and TSAT < 16.0% and the ROC analysis among female adolescents with Hb levels of less than 12.0 g/dL is shown in Figure 3. The sensitivity and specificity of those biomarkers were calculated (Table 2). By ROC analysis, the optimal Ret-He cut-off for IDA detection was generated using the best combination of sensitivity and specificity. The ROC curve revealed the area under the curve of 0.99 (95% CI: 0.98-0.99; *p*<0.001) at cut-off ≤27.0 pg (Figure 3), at which IDA was distinguished with a sensitivity of 91.2%, a specificity of 100.0% specificity, a positive predictive value (PPV) of 92.0%, and a negative predictive value (NPV) of 100.0% (Table 2).

Variable	IDA (n= 89)	Non-IDA (n=102)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	14.83±2.10	15.20±2.32	0.258
BMI (kg/m ²)	22.46±5.70	21.74±5.50	0.373
RBC (×10 ⁶ /L)	4.51±0.85	4.84±2.70	0.262
Hb (g/dL)	9.35±1.94	12.60±1.77	< 0.001
HCT (%)	30.71±5.53	38.53±5.30	< 0.001
MCV (fL)	68.94±8.33	84.71±5.98	< 0.001
MCH (pg)	21.11±3.59	27.72±2.08	< 0.001
MCHC (g/dL)	30.36±2.18	32.32±3.11	< 0.001
RDW (%)	19.23±4.75	16.11±18.60	0.125
Reticulocyte (%)	1.48±2.43	2.06±2.71	0.213
Ret-He (pg)	21.03±4.19	30.40±3.52	< 0.001
SI (µg/dL)	22.86±10.49	78.87±28.95	< 0.001
TIBC (µg/mL)	300.24±113.92	78.73±28.84	< 0.001
TSAT (%)	8.50±4.16	29.10±12.42	< 0.001

Table 1. Demographics and clinical findings of the patients

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; Hb, hemoglobin; HCT, hematocrit; IDA, iron deficiency anemia; MCH, mean corpuscular hemoglobin; MCHC, mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration; MCV, mean corpuscular volume; Ret-He, reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent; SI, serum iron; TIBC, total iron-binding capacity; TSAT, transferrin saturation.



Figure 1. Differences in the Ret-He level among IDA and non-IDA patients



Figure 2. Relationship of Ret-He and Hb, MCV, MCH, MCHC, SI, and TSAT



Figure 3. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analyses of Ret-He, SI, and TSAT to determine IDA among female adolescents

Table 2. Diagnostic performance of Ret-He, SI and TSAT to determine IDA

Parameter	Cut-off	AUC	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	PPV (%)	NPV (%)
Ret-He (pg)	≤27.0	0.99	91.18	100.00	92.00	100.00
SI (mg/dL)	<50.0	0.98	91.18	96.63	85.00	96.00
TSAT (%)	<16.0	0.99	99.18	100.00	98.87	100.00

Abbreviations; AUC, area under the curve; NPV, negative predictive value; PPV, positive predictive value; Ret-He, reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent; SI, serum iron; TSAT, transferrin saturation.

Discussion

Measurement of Ret-He has been implemented to detect changes in iron status. This marker is beneficial in monitoring the response to both iron-replacement therapy and bone marrow response after starting treatment.⁽²⁶⁾ Related studies revealed that Ret-He constitutes a capable parameter for detecting the early stages of IDA. The reference intervals for Ret-He have already been determined in different patient populations, ranging from 29.8 pg to 38.2 pg.⁽²⁷⁾ The proposed 31.2 pg cut-off value of Ret-He was used to differentiate IDA from non-IDA patients.(28) In Thailand, the differences in Ret-He among school-aged children were evaluated, and the Ret-He cut-off ≤27.0 pg was suggested to identify IDA in a thalassemia-prevalent area.⁽²¹⁾ Additionally, the diagnostic performance of the Ret-He has been implemented in different Thai patient populations, and the optimal cut-off >30.0 pg could signify a non-IDA state.⁽²²⁾ Because the Ret-He cut-off value varies in study populations, the specific cut-off value should be determined before clinical applications.

A total of 191 female adolescents were included in this study. According to their Hb levels, SI, and TSAT, they were divided into two groups, IDA and non-IDA. Ret-He was significantly lower in the IDA group compared with that of the non-IDA group. A positive correlation between Ret-He and CBC parameters, including Hb levels, MCV, MCH, and MCHC found in the target population, was concordant with related studies.^(21,22,29,30) Notably, Ret-He exhibited a strong positive correlation with MCV and MCH, corresponding to the Hb of the young RBCs entirely released from the bone marrow. Hence, Ret-He provides real-time information on the functional availability of iron for effective erythropoiesis and changes in iron status earlier than the Hb content of mature RBCs. In addition, a strong positive correlation between Ret-He and SI and TSAT was also observed.

Concerning Ret-He diagnostic performance assessment among Thai female adolescents (12 to 18 years), a Ret-He value of 27.0 pg and below could distinguish IDA from non-IDA with a sensitivity of 91.2% and a specificity of 100.0%. This result was supported by a recent study in which a Ret-He cut-off value of 27.0 pg was found to predict IDA with a sensitivity of 91.7% and a specificity of 81.0% among school-aged Thai children.⁽²¹⁾ In addition, the diagnostic performance of Ret-He was comparable to SI and TSAT. Therefore, Ret-He constitutes a practical parameter to diagnose IDA. Presently, the advanced hematology analyzer provides information on reticulocyte (RET) and Ret-He, which allows clinicians to determine the quality and quantity of the young RBCs fraction. The test is fast, inexpensive, and practical to perform within two hours after collecting blood.

Even though SI and SF levels and TSAT were routinely used to assess IDA, in this study, only SI levels and TSAT were used as reference methods because SF levels can alter by other non-physiological changes, such as inflammatory disorders and infections.(31) The disadvantages of using SI and TSAT included increased patient expenses and required additional blood specimens. Further, the limitation of this study involved using the population at a single center in a high thalassemia-prevalent area. Unfortunately, hemoglobin typing and molecular studies were not performed among all subjects. Also, only 12-18-year-old females were included. Hence, the results cannot be generalized to other populations. A larger population study is recommended. Our results clearly showed that Ret-He constitutes a helpful marker in diagnosing IDA and non-IDA among female adolescents. Further multi-center studies in different geographical regions are suggested.

Conclusion

Ret-He constitutes a parameter included in reticulocyte testing using automated analyzers. Its use is cost-effective and does not require more sample collection, illustrating an advantage over other conventional biomarkers. This study was the first to use a Ret-He cut-off value of \leq 27.0 pg to distinguish IDA from non-IDA with excellent diagnostic sensitivity and specificity among Thai female adolescents.

Disclosures

The authors declared they have no conflicts of interest.

References

- Ennis KM, Dahl LV, Rao RB, Georgieff MK. Reticulocyte hemoglobin content as an early predictive biomarker of brain iron deficiency. Pediatr Res 2018; 84: 765-79.
- Speeckaert MM, Speeckaert R, Delanghe JR. Biological and clinical aspects of soluble transferrin receptor. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 2010; 47: 213-28.
- 3. Murray-Kolb LE, Beard JL. Iron treatment normalizes cognitive functioning in young women. Am J Clin Nutr 2007; 85: 778-87.
- 4. Devaki PB, Chandra RK, Geisser P. Effects of oral iron (III) hydroxide polymaltose complex supplementation on hemoglobin increase, cognitive function, affective behavior and scholastic performance of adolescents with varying iron status: A single centre proscentere placebo controlled study. Arzneimittelforschung 2009; 59: 303-10.
- Fucharoen S, Winichagoon P, Siritanaratkul N, Chowthaworn J, Pootrakul P. Alpha- and beta-thalassemia in Thailand. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1998; 850: 412-4.
- Kittisares K, Palasuwan D, Noulsri E, Palasuwan A. Thalassemia trait and G6PD deficiency in Thai blood donors. Transfus Apher Sci 2019; 58: 201-6.
- Viprakasit V, Ekwattanakit S. Clinical classification, screening and diagnosis for thalassemia. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 2018; 32: 193-211.
- Munkongdee T, Chen P, Winichagoon P, Fucharoen S, Paiboonsukwong K. Update in laboratory diagnosis of thalassemia. Front Mol Biosci 2020; 7: 74.
- 9. Brugnara C, Schiller B, Moran J. Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent (Ret He) and assessment of iron-deficient states. Clin. Lab. Haematol 2006; 28: 303-8.
- 10. Dalimunthe NN, Lubis AR. Usefulness of reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent in management of regular hemodialysis patients

with iron deficiency anemia. Rom J Intern Med 2016; 54: 31-6.

- 11. Toki Y, Ikuta K, Kawahara Y, Niizeki N, Kon M, Enomoto M et al. Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent as a potential marker for diagnosis of iron deficiency. Int J Hematol 2017; 106: 116-25.
- 12. Auerbach M, Staffa SJ, Brugnara C. Using reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent as a marker for iron deficiency and responsiveness to iron therapy. Mayo Clin Proc 2021; 96: 1510-9.
- Sanyoto A, Suega K, Adnyana L, Bakta IM. Diagnostic test equivalent hemoglobin reticulocyte in iron deficiency anemia. Indones Biomed J 2017; 9: 143.
- 14. Sunkara A, Kotta D. Evaluation of red cell indices and reticulocyte maturity indices including reticulocyte haemoglobin concentration in iron deficiency anaemia adult female population. J Evid Based Med Healthc 2016; 3: 5315-8.
- Davidkova S, Prestidge TD, Reed PW, Kara T, Wong W, Prestidge C. Comparison of reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent with traditional markers of iron and erythropoiesis in pediatric dialysis. Pediatr Nephrol 2016; 31: 819-26.
- 16. Miwa N, Akiba T, Kimata N, Hamaguchi Y, Arakawa Y, Tamura T. et al. Usefulness of measuring reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent in the management of haemodialysis patients with iron deficiency. Int J Lab Hematol 2010; 32: 248-55.
- 17. Semmelrock M, Raggam R, Amrein K, Avian A, Schallmoser K, Lanzer G. et al. Reticulocyte hemoglobin content allows early and reliable detection of functional iron deficiency in blood donors. Clinica Chimica Acta 2012; 413: 678-82.
- Brugnara C, Zurakowski D, DiCanzio J, Boyd T, Platt O. Reticulocyte hemoglobin content to diagnose iron deficiency in children. JAMA 1999; 281: 2225-30.
- Wirawan R, Tedja AT, Henrika F, Lydia A. Concordance between reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent and reticulocyte hemoglobin content in CKD patients undergoing

hemodialysis. Acta Medica Indonesiana 2017; 49: 34-40.

- 20. Chaipokam J, Na Nakorn T, Rojnuckarin P. Diagnostic accuracy of reticulocyte hemoglobin content in Thai patients with microcytic red cells as a test for iron deficiency anemia. Asian Biomed 2017; 10(s1): s31-7.
- Kadegasem P, Songdej D, Lertthammakiat S, Chuansamrit A, Paisooksantivatana K, Mahaklan L. et al. Reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent in a thalassemia-prevalent area. Pediatr Int 2019; 61: 240-5.
- 22. Chinudomwong P, Binyasing A, Trongsakul R, Paisooksantivatana K. Diagnostic performance of reticulocyte hemoglobin equivalent in assessing the iron status. J Clin Lab Anal 2020; 34: e23225.
- 23. Ekplakorn W. The 6th Thai people's health survey by physical examination (2013). Health Systems Research Institute (HSRI). http://www.thaincd.com/document/file/info/ non-communicable-disease.AccessedonJune 20, 2020.
- 24. World Health Organization. Iron deficiency anaemia: Assessment, prevention, and control. In: A guide for programme managers. Geneva: WHO/NHD/01.3; 2001; 2001
- Beutler E, Hoffbrand AV, Cook JD. Iron deficiency and overload. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2003:40-61

- 26. Schoorl M, Schoorl M, van der Gaag D, Bartels PCM. Effects of iron supplementation on red blood cell hemoglobin content in pregnancy. Hematol Rep 2012; 4: e24.
- 27. Bó SD, Fragoso ALR, Farias MG, Hubner DPG, de Castro SM. Evaluation of RET-He values as an early indicator of iron deficiency anemia in pregnant women. Hematol Transfus Cell Ther 2021: S2531-1379(21)00089-4.
- Levy S, Schapkaitz E. The clinical utility of new reticulocyte and erythrocyte parameters on the Sysmex XN 9000 for iron deficiency in pregnant patients. Int J Lab Hematol 2018; 40: 683-90.
- 29. Uçar MA, Falay M, Dağdas S, Ceran F, Urlu SM, Özet G. The importance of RET-He in the diagnosis of iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia and the evaluation of response to oral iron therapy. J Med Biochem 2019; 38: 496-502.
- 30. Salam S, Hassane B, Koulidiati J, Koumpingnin N, Abou C, Abdoul-Guaniyi S. et al. Added-value of reticulocyte haemoglobin equivalent in the early diagnosis of iron deficiency states among blood donors: A pilot study in Burkina Faso. Health Sci Dis 2020; 21: 1-8.
- Knovich MA, Storey JA, Coffman LG, Torti SV, Torti FM. Ferritin for the clinician. Blood Rev 2009; 23: 95-104.

EFFECT OF AGOMELATINE AND SERTRALINE ON PATIENTS WITH MAJOR DEPRESSIVE DISORDERS AND CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE: A RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL

Fadhil A-Hamad Saleh-Arong^{*}, Nattaphon Chokemaitree^{**}, Naowanit Nata^{*}, Pamila Tasanavipas^{*}, Narittaya Varothai^{*}, Bancha Satirapoj^{*}

*Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, Phramongkutklao Hospital and Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand

**Department of Psychiatry and Neurology, Phramongkutklao Hospital and Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand

ABSTRACT

Background: Depression is highly prevalent and is well known to affect patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD). Agomelatine exerts psychotropic effects upon mood and anxious states. There is limited data on agomelatine treatment among patients with CKD.

Methods: Patients with CKD stage 3-5 with DSM-5-defined major depressive disorder (MDD) were randomly assigned to receive 25 mg/day of agomelatine or sertraline 50 mg/day for eight weeks at Phramongkutklao Hospital. Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS) score and concerning adverse events were measured at baseline and the end of the study. Efficacy assessment compared the improvements in clinical response and remission between the agomelatine and placebo groups.

Results: Of 53 enrolled patients, 27 were assigned to the agomelatine group and 26 to the sertraline group. The mean age was 64.8 ± 13.4 years. Baseline characteristics were comparable across treatment groups. After eight weeks, agomelatine-treated showed reductions in HDRS score from baseline (-15.6 with 95% CI -18.6 to -12.5). A significant difference was observed in the reduced HDRS scores between agomelatine and sertraline groups (-12.4; 95% CI -18.4 to -6.5). Over the 6-week treatment period, clinical response (55.0 vs. 9.0%, *p* <0.001) and remission (45.0 vs. 17.4%, *p* =0.049) improved significantly more with agomelatine than with sertraline. Both agomelatine and sertraline were well-tolerated during the treatment period.

Conclusion: Agomelatine showed superior antidepressant efficacy over sertraline in treating CKD patients with depression after eight weeks, with a good tolerability profile.

Keywords: Major depressive disorders, Chronic kidney disease, Depression, Agomelatine, Sertraline

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6(1):e0127 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.127

Correspondence to:

Satirapoj B, 315, Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, Phramongkutklao Hospital and Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok,10400 Thailand. Email: satirapoj@yahoo.com

Received: 27 May 2022 Revised: 21 August 2022 Accepted: 27 August 2022

Introduction

Quality of life and functional health are influenced by physical, cognitive, and emotional factors among patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD).⁽¹⁾ Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a common disorder, and its prevalence is 3-4 times more among patients with CKD than in other chronic diseases.⁽²⁾ MDD is associated with an increased risk of adverse clinical outcomes, including rapid decline in renal function, dialysis therapy initiation, death, or hospitalization among patients with CKD.⁽³⁻⁵⁾ Potential mechanisms of depression might differ in CKD versus normal populations, and intervention regarding the type and dose of antidepressant medications might vary between patients with and without renal impairment. Future studies should examine interventions to prevent and treat depression in CKD populations.

Antidepressant drugs are effective in the general population, but pharmacokinetics might vary among patients with renal impairment. The evidence on the effectiveness of antidepressants among patients with CKD is insufficient, and further clinical trials are greatly needed.⁽⁶⁾ Current guidelines suggest selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors to treat depression among patients undergoing dialysis, but evidence regarding these medications for these patients is sparse and inconclusive.⁽⁷⁾ Agomelatine is a potent agonist of melatonin receptors (MT1 and MT2) with 5-HT2C antagonist properties and is effective in treating depression. Agomelatine is well-tolerated, exhibits few serious side effects, and may provide a useful alternative antidepressant drug among patients with CKD.⁽⁸⁾ One randomized controlled trial indicated that agomelatine had significantly better efficacy in treating depressive and anxiety symptoms among patients with CKD with low and transient adverse events.⁽⁹⁾ Presently, no studies have yet been conducted to compare the efficacy and acceptability of agomelatine versus sertraline in treating depressive symptoms among patients with CKD. The initial study aimed to demonstrate the efficacy and safety of agomelatine versus sertraline in treating MDD among patients with CKD.⁽¹⁰⁾

Methods

Study designs

This study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board, the Royal Thai Army Medical Department, Bangkok, Thailand, approval number (IRB Number R011h/62). The study was registered on the Thai Clinical Trials Registry (TCTR20200319005) on 19 March 2020. The study constituted a randomized controlled trial comparing the efficacy of agomelatine and sertraline treatment among MDD patients with CKD. The study was conducted among MDD patients with CKD treated at Phramongkutklao Hospital between 1 June 2019 and 28 February 2020, with all subjects selected using inclusion criteria. The study was conducted per good clinical practice guidelines and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. All subjects provided their informed consent before they were enrolled.

Subjects

Psychiatrists evaluated patients for MDD using the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5).⁽¹¹⁾ The inclusion criteria included age 18 years or older, MDD, Thai Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS) $\geq 8^{(12)}$, nondialysis CKD stages 3-5, and stable glycemic and blood pressure control at least three months before enrolling. The exclusion criteria comprised severe depression or suicidal ideation, other psychiatric conditions, active infections, advanced liver disease, advanced malignancy, renal transplant recipient, history of hypersensitivity to agomelatine or sertraline, and use of antidepressants or psychotherapy before randomization.

Patients were randomized in a 1:1 ratio using blocks of four randomizations based on a computerized random-number generator and allocation concealment, then divided into two groups, as shown in **Figure 1**. Assuming similar standard deviations (SD) from a previous study of the efficacy of agomelatine on depressive symptoms in patients with major depressive disorder, ⁽¹³⁾ a t-test comparison using a 2-sided α of .05 was estimated to be able to detect an effect size of 0.5 with 80% power in a sample of 70 participants (35 per group). One group consisted of 27 patients treated with oral agomelatine 25 mg/day before bedtime. In contrast, the other group consisted of 26 patients treated with oral sertraline 50 mg/day before bedtime for eight weeks. All subjects typically continued their normal daily activities during both treatments and were instructed to adhere to the disease throughout the study. *Data collection*

Data relating to demographics, medical and psychiatric history, and CKD treatment were reviewed from medical records before and after the study. At baseline and weeks 4 and 8, the depressive symptoms of patients were assessed using HDRS and Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) score.⁽¹⁴⁾ The HDRS is used as a clinician-administered depression assessment scale, and the HDRS contains 17 items about symptoms of depression experienced over the past week. The response was defined as a 50% reduction in HDRS scores, and remission was described as an HDRS score \leq 7. At baseline and week 8, the World Health Organization Quality of Life-BREF (WHOQOL-BREF) was also used to assess four domains of quality of life (QOL): physical health, psychological health, social relationships, and environment.⁽¹⁵⁾ Signs related to drug reactions and medication compliance were closely monitored every four weeks. Drug tolerability was defined as the percentage of complete medical prescriptions during the study. All subjects underwent routine laboratory blood tests at baseline and eight weeks at the end of the study.

Clinical outcomes

The primary outcome of the present study was a change in the HDRS score. The secondary outcome measures were the response rate, remission rate, and WHOQOL-BREF score. Adverse events that were or were not considered related to treatment were monitored every four weeks. The patients were systematically questioned about their experiences concerning adverse events during the previous four weeks.

Statistical analysis

Using the intention-to-treat principle, participants were analyzed in the groups to which they were randomized. Data analysis was performed using SPSS 19.0. Descriptive statistics were used to summarize demographics and baseline characteristics, including percentages, averages, and SD in the case of normally distributed continuous data. The Chi-square or Fisher's exact test was used for discrete or categorical variables. Paired-sample t-tests were used for continuous variables. Differences in HDRS and WHOQOL-BREF between the two groups were established by independent t-test and Mann-Whitney U test and presented using the relative risk of 95% confidence intervals. All results were considered significant when p was <0.05.

Results

From the screening, of a total of 986 patients with CKD in the outpatient clinic, 931 were ineligible. The main reasons for ineligibility were current antidepressant medication or psychologic therapy, medical and other psychiatric problems, and a decline to consent. A total of 53 patients with a mean age of 64.8±13.4 years and male (41%) were eligible according to the entry criteria in Figure 1. In all, 27 patients were assigned to the agomelatine group and 26 to the sertraline group. Forty-three (81%) patients completed the trial: 20 (74%) in the agomelatine group and 23 (88%) in the sertraline group. Characteristics of the study population are shown in Table 1. The baseline and laboratory characteristics were not different in both groups. Over 80% had at least one comorbidity, with type 2 diabetes and hypertension being the most common. Of the 53 patients, 27.9% had CKD stage 3, 16.2%, stage 4; and 55.8%, stage 5. The mean (SD) baseline score on the HDRS of 25.3 (5.0) in the agomelatine group and 22.5 (4.4) in the sertraline group were included in the study.

Efficacy Outcomes

Over eight weeks, the HDRS score was significantly decreased at -15.6 (95% CI -18.6 to -12.5) from baseline in the agomelatine group (p<0.05) but was not significantly changed from baseline in the sertraline group (-3.1; 95% CI -8.4 to 2.1). A significant difference was observed in the reduced HDRS scores between agomelatine and sertraline groups. (-12.4; 95% CI -18.4 to -6.5) (**Figure 2**).



Figure 1. Flow chart of study



Figure 2. Mean change of HDRS after eight weeks of treatment. Significant between-group differences were noted in the mean change of HDRS (p < 0.001).

Characteristics	Agomelatine (N=20)	Sertraline (N=23)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years±SD)	64.7±13.6	64.9±14.1	0.944
Male, N (%)	9 (45)	9 (39)	0.697
Etiology of kidney disease, (N (%)			
Type 2 diabetes	17 (85)	10 (43.5)	0.050
Hypertension	1 (5)	7 (30.4)	0.050
Chronic glomerulonephritis	2 (10)	2 (8.7)	1.000
Others	0 (0)	4 (17.4)	0.111
HDRS score	25.3±5.0	22.5±4.4	0.059
PHQ-9 score	14.4±5.7	12±4.8	0.124
WHOQOL-BREF score	72.5±12.4	70.7±9.9	0.607
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	10.2±2.1	10.7±1.5	0.354
BUN (mg/dL)	41.9±26.3	36.8±14.8	0.447
Serum creatinine (mg/dL)	5.2±3.4	4.3±2.6	0.388
Estimated GFR (mL/min/1.73 m ²)	18.9±17.6	19.7±15.5	0.679
Sodium (mEq/L)	138.8±2.5	138.7±2.9	0.914
Potassium (mEq/L)	$4.4{\pm}0.7$	$4.4{\pm}0.7$	0.862
Chloride (mEq/L)	99.9±3.9	100.3±5.3	0.775
Bicarbonate (mEq/L)	24.6±2.9	23.6±3.4	0.284
AST (U/L)	18.3±6.1	23.6±12.9	0.172
ALT (U/L)	12.7±7.9	18.9±10.7	0.098
Albumin (g/dL)	3.8±0.5	3.7±0.8	0.593
HemoglobinA1C (%)	7.4±1.8	7.1±2.1	0.655

 Table 1. Baseline characteristics of patients

Data presented as mean ± SD or number with a percentage. GFR; glomerular filtration rate, HDRS; Hamilton Depression Rating Scale, PHQ-9; Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9), WHOQOL-BREF; World Health Organization Quality of Life-BREF

Similarly, the proportion with remission, defined as a 50% reduction in HDRS score, was 55% in the agomelatine group and 9% in the sertraline group (p<0.001) (**Figure 3**). The proportion of patients with a treatment response defined as an HDRS score \leq 7 was 45% in the agomelatine group and 17.4% in the sertraline group (p=0.049) (**Figure 3**). No significant difference was found in change in patient-reported overall health on the WHOQOL-BREF between groups (p=1.640), and no differences were observed in quality-of-life components from baseline to the end of the study (**Figure 4**). The percentage of medication adherence ascertained by pill count was 95% in the agomelatine group and 43.5% in the sertraline group (p < 0.001) (Figure 4). At the end of the study, no statistically significant differences were noted between the two groups in body weight, hemoglobinA1C, hemoglobin, and estimated glomerular filtration rate. *Adverse events*

Nausea or vomiting was the most commonly reported at 60.9% in the sertraline group compared with 0% in the agomelatine group (p<0.001), and headaches related to treatment were 21.7% vs. 0%, respectively (p=0.051;**Table 2**). Finally, no deaths or drug-related serious adverse events were reported in both groups. These results indicated that agomelatine was well-tolerated in the study.



Figure 3. Response and remission rate after eight weeks of treatment. Significant between-group differences were noted in response and remission rates (p < 0.001).



Figure 4. Mean change of WHOQOL-BREF and percentage of drug tolerability after eight weeks of treatment. Significant between-group differences were noted in drug tolerability (p<0.001).

Adverse effects, N (%)	Agomelatine (n=20)	Sertraline (n=23)	<i>p</i> -value
Nausea and vomiting	0 (0)	14 (60.9)	0.001
Headache	0 (0)	5 (21.7)	0.051
Dizziness	1 (5)	4 (17.4)	0.351
Dry mouth	0 (0)	5 (21.7)	0.051
Sleepiness	5 (25)	2 (8.7)	0.222
Fatigue	0 (0)	2 (8.7)	0.491
Anxiety	2 (10)	3 (13)	1.000
Increased appetite	1 (5)	1 (4.3)	1.000
Insomnia	1 (5)	1 (4.3)	1.000
Irritability	0 (0)	2 (8.7)	0.491
Agitation	0 (0)	3 (13)	0.236
Decreased libido	1 (5)	2 (8.7)	1.000
Erectile dysfunction	0 (0)	1 (4.3%)	1.000

 Table 2. Adverse events reported in patients

Data are presented as the number with a percentage.

Discussion

The present study constituted a randomized controlled trial of the effect of agomelatine on depression score and drug tolerability among patients with advanced CKD. Treatment with agomelatine improved depressive symptoms and medication adherence among patients with CKD at stages 3-5 and decreased adverse effects compared with sertraline treatment. The risk of serious adverse events was not higher among patients receiving agomelatine vs. sertraline, but those treated with agomelatine experienced a significantly lower incidence of gastrointestinal adverse effects. This constitutes the first randomized controlled trial to provide evidence concerning MDD treatment with agomelatine among patients with advanced CKD compared with standard therapy.

Depression is common among patients with CKD but is often unrecognized, and few studies have investigated effective methods for treating depression among patients with CKD.⁽¹⁶⁾ Additionally, data on the benefits and risks of antidepressants in this setting remain limited. Generally, patients with MDD are initially treated with antidepressant monotherapy, often serotonin reuptake inhibitors or sertraline. In randomized control trials, treatment with sertraline did not

significantly improve depressive symptoms among patients with CKD.^(17.18) A higher withdrawal rate was observed in the sertraline group due to gastrointestinal adverse events. Patients with CKD were at a higher risk for antidepressant adverse events due to the potential accumulation of toxic metabolites, increased risk of drug-drug interactions, and already prone to uremic symptoms such as nausea and vomiting. Initial studies found that agomelatine had advantages over standard antidepressants in treating depressive symptoms and glycemic control among patients with type 2 diabetes.^(19,20) Additionally, clinical data supported that agomelatine exhibited good antidepressant efficacy, favorable tolerability profile, and fewer cases of discontinuation syndrome.(21-23) The findings indicated that agomelatine might be a promising agent in treating depression among patients with CKD.

One study demonstrated that agomelatine had significantly better efficacy in treating depressive and anxiety symptoms among patients with CKD than paroxetine, but the. Still, remission rates were nonsignificantly higher in the agomelatine group.⁽⁹⁾ Our study also supported that agomelatine yielded better efficacy in treating depressive symptoms than sertraline. It might be mainly due to the following reasons: patients at stages 3-5 CKD versus patients at stage 2-4 CKD and agomelatine compared with sertraline versus agomelatine compared with paroxetine. However, results in a related randomized control trial among patients without CKD also followed higher response rates for agomelatine than sertraline. ⁽²⁴⁾ A published pooled analysis of head-to-head studies also confirmed that a significant reduction of depressive symptoms and better response rates were observed with agomelatine than with other antidepressants.⁽²⁵⁾

Approximately 75-90% of patients completed the study. Adherence to the medication assessed by pill counts seems adequate in the agomelatine treatment group at 95%. Overall, the findings in this study were much higher than in other antidepressant trials involving patients with CKD, comparable with large trials among participants without CKD. A multicenter observational study also observed good adherence to agomelatine treatment in clinical practice.⁽²⁶⁾ This satisfactory adherence could be explained by the low relapse rate among patients receiving agomelatine.⁽²⁷⁾

Several limitations were associated with the present study, particularly the small sample size. Recruitment was complex and constrained by the exclusion of a high number of patients already receiving treatment for depression and that declined to participate. A short-term study of sertraline improved depressive symptoms among patients with CKD. However, this study could not assess long-term efficacy and safety effects among patients with CKD. No proof was evident that the decreasing HDRS score with antidepressive agents would have long-term effects on clinical endpoints. Additional research is needed to confirm the results and determine long-term clinical outcomes. Finally, the study was an open-label randomized controlled design. The study's strength stemmed from measuring subjective scores, including HDRS and WHOQOL-BREF.

Conclusions

The present study indicated that treatment with agomelatine compared with sertraline for eight weeks significantly improved depressive symptoms among nondialysis patients with CKD. These findings supported the use of agomelatine to treat MDD among patients with CKD. Future long-term clinical studies are needed further to explore agomelatine's efficacy and safety in CKD populations.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the help of the nurses and clinical studies officers at the Division of Nephrology and Biomedical Clinical Research Center, Phramongkutklao Hospital. We also thank Dr. Jadsada Yingwiwattanapong for his valuable support.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Availability of data and materials

Data supporting this study are available upon request. All authors contributed substantially to the conception and design of the study, the acquisition of data, the analysis and interpretation of data, drafting of the article or critical revision for important intellectual content, and final approval of the submitted version.

References

- 1. Seidel UK, Gronewold J, Volsek M, Todica O, Kribben A, Bruck H, et al. Physical, cognitive and emotional factors contributing to quality of life, functional health and participation in community dwelling in chronic kidney disease. PLoS One 2014; 9: e91176.
- Shirazian S, Grant CD, Aina O, Mattana J, Khorassani F, Ricardo AC. Depression in Chronic Kidney Disease and End-Stage Renal Disease: Similarities and Differences in Diagnosis, Epidemiology, and Management. Kidney Int Rep 2017; 2: 94-107.
- 3. Hedayati SS, Minhajuddin AT, Afshar M, Toto RD, Trivedi MH, Rush AJ. Association between major depressive episodes in patients with chronic kidney disease and initiation of dialysis, hospitalization, or death. JAMA. 2010; 303: 1946-53.
- 4. Tsai YC, Chiu YW, Hung CC, Hwang SJ, Tsai JC, Wang SL, et al. Association of

symptoms of depression with progression of CKD. Am J Kidney Dis. 2012; 60: 54-61.

- 5. Kop WJ, Seliger SL, Fink JC, Katz R, Odden MC, Fried LF, et al. Longitudinal association of depressive symptoms with rapid kidney function decline and adverse clinical renal disease outcomes. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2011; 6: 834-44.
- Nagler EV, Webster AC, Vanholder R, Zoccali C. Antidepressants for depression in stage 3-5 chronic kidney disease: a systematic review of pharmacokinetics, efficacy and safety with recommendations by European Renal Best Practice (ERBP). Nephrol Dial Transplant 2012; 27: 3736-45.
- Palmer SC, Natale P, Ruospo M, Saglimbene VM, Rabindranath KS, Craig JC, et al. Antidepressants for treating depression in adults with end-stage kidney disease treated with dialysis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016; 23: CD004541.
- Guaiana G, Gupta S, Chiodo D, Davies SJ, Haederle K, Koesters M. Agomelatine versus other antidepressive agents for major depression. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013; 17: CD008851.
- 9. Chen JW, Xie SQ. Agomelatine versus paroxetine in treating depressive and anxiety symptoms in patients with chronic kidney disease. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 2018; 14: 547-52.
- A-Hamad Saleh-Arong F, Trisukon W, Chokemaitree N, Rungprai D, Chaiprasert A, Nata N, et al. Effect of Agomelatine and Sertraline on Major Depressive Disorders among Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease: a Randomized Controlled Trial. Nephrology (Carlton). 2021;26:23.
- 11. Wakefield JC. DSM-5: proposed changes to depressive disorders. Curr Med Res Opin 2012; 28: 335-43.
- 12. Satthapisit S, Posayaanuwat N, Sasaluksananont C, Kaewpornsawan T, Singhakun S. The comparison of Montgomery and Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS thai) to diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM) and to Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HRSD):

validity and reliability. J Med Assoc Thai 2007; 90: 524-31.

- 13. Kennedy SH, Avedisova A, Belaidi C, Picarel-Blanchot F, de Bodinat C. Sustained efficacy of agomelatine 10 mg, 25 mg, and 25-50 mg on depressive symptoms and functional outcomes in patients with major depressive disorder. A placebo-controlled study over 6 months. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2016; 26: 378-89.
- 14. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001; 16: 606-13.
- Naumann VJ, Byrne GJ. WHOQOL-BREF as a measure of quality of life in older patients with depression. Int Psychogeriatr 2004; 16: 159-73.
- 16. Hedayati SS, Yalamanchili V, Finkelstein FO. A practical approach to the treatment of depression in patients with chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease. Kidney Int 2012; 81: 247-55.
- 17. Hedayati SS, Gregg LP, Carmody T, Jain N, Toups M, Rush AJ, et al. Effect of Sertraline on depressive symptoms in patients with chronic kidney disease without dialysis dependence: the CAST randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2017; 318: 1876-90.
- 18. Friedli K, Guirguis A, Almond M, Day C, Chilcot J, Da Silva-Gane M, et al. Sertraline versus placebo in patients with major depressive disorder undergoing hemodialysis: a randomized, controlled feasibility trial. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2017; 12: 280-6.
- 19. Kang R, He Y, Yan Y, Li Z, Wu Y, Guo X, et al. Comparison of paroxetine and agomelatine in depressed type 2 diabetes mellitus patients: a double-blind, randomized, clinical trial. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 2015; 11: 1307-11.
- 20. Karaiskos D, Tzavellas E, Ilias I, Liappas I, Paparrigopoulos T. Agomelatine and sertraline for the treatment of depression in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Int J Clin Pract 2013; 67: 257-60.
- Gahr M. Agomelatine in the treatment of major depressive disorder: an assessment of benefits and risks. Curr Neuropharmacol 2014; 12: 287-398.
- 22. Plesnicar BK. Efficacy and tolerability of agomelatine in the treatment of depression. Patient Prefer Adherence 2014; 8: 603-12.
- 23. Ghosh A, Hellewell JS. A review of the efficacy and tolerability of agomelatine in the treatment of major depression. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 2007; 16: 1999-2004.
- 24. Kennedy SH, Rizvi SJ. Agomelatine in the treatment of major depressive disorder: potential for clinical effectiveness. CNS Drugs 2010; 24: 479-99.
- 25. Kasper S, Corruble E, Hale A, Lemoine P, Montgomery SA, Quera-Salva MA. Antidepressant efficacy of agomelatine versus SSRI/SNRI: results from a pooled analysis of

head-to-head studies without a placebo control. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 2013; 28: 12-9.

- 26. Gorwood P, Benichou J, Moore N, Wattez M, Secouard MC, Desobry X, et al. Agomelatine in Standard Medical Practice in Depressed Patients: Results of a 1-Year Multicentre Observational Study In France. Clin Drug Investig 2020; 40: 1009-20.
- 27. Geddes JR, Carney SM, Davies C, Furukawa TA, Kupfer DJ, Frank E, et al. Relapse prevention with antidepressant drug treatment in depressive disorders: a systematic review. Lancet 2003; 361: 653-61.

DETERMINING STRESS AND ASSOCIATED FACTORS IN A RURAL COMMUNITY DURING COVID-19 PANDEMIC USING THE COVID STRESS SCALE

Kavinthra Teerakathiti^{*}, Arin Jaisin^{*}, Phasittha Pongsapan^{*}, Nattapas Wanaporn^{*}, Phakhajee Rattanalertpaiboon^{*}, Supisa Chantanawanichwong^{*}, Sopittar Kittipavara^{*}, Supicha Sroythong^{*}, Nutchaphon Kanchan^{*}, Phasit Hongpromyati^{*}, Yotsakorn Chuaychoo^{*}, Raweeroj Uengpitugpun^{*}, Poopan Kiraniponpan^{*}, Witchakorn Trisukon^{**}, Mathirut Mungthin^{***}, Sakarn Charoensakulchai^{***}

*Department of Military and Community Medicine, Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand

**Department of Psychiatry, Phramongkutklao Hospital and Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand

***Department of Parasitology, Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok, Thailand

Abstract

Background: The COVID-19 pandemic has affected people worldwide, both physically and mentally. Stress is one of the burdens being faced, especially in the working class. Therefore, this study aimed to explore and compare associated stress factors during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown among adults in a rural community in Thailand using the COVID stress scale.

Methods: This cross-sectional study was conducted from December 2021 to March 2022 in Chachoengsao Province. It included adults aged 20 to 60 years old. The questionnaire included demographic data and the Thai COVID stress scale (T-CSS) version. The data were collected using face-to-face interviews. Associated factors of stress were assessed using linear regression.

Results: Data were compared with their counterparts, illiteracy (adjusted β =18.4, 95% CI 5.9-30.1) and agriculturists (adjusted β =13.2, 95% CI 3.1-23.4). At the same time, age 51-60 (adjusted β =-11.1, 95% CI 3.9-27.3) and vaccination with \geq 3 doses of COVID-19 vaccine (adjusted β =-8.9, 95% CI -16.4 to -1.5) were associated with decreased stress level.

Discussion: Illiteracy and agriculturists were associated with higher stress scores. COVID-19 vaccination doses might affect stress levels due to the efficacy of preventing infection and severe illness. Older people had less stress due to better experience in stress management. Limitations included that T-CSS cannot determine the cut-off point of stress and nonstress in the population due to multiple factors. However, it might be possible to imply that outlier scores from a normal distribution are likely to be most stressful during the COVD-19 pandemic.

Keywords: Stress, COVID-19, COVID-stress scale, Rural

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6(1):e0133 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.133

Correspondence to: Charoensakulchai S, Department of Parasitology, Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, Bangkok 10400, Thailand Email: karn.skch@gmail.com

Received: 12 July 2022 Revised: 12 September 2022 Accepted: 27 September 2022

Introduction

Currently, the incidence of coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19), which the World Health Organization (WHO) has declared the epidemic of the new coronavirus to be a "pandemic" after the outbreak, has spread to various countries and territories around the world.⁽¹⁾

In Thailand, the pandemic started in January 2020. As of April 2022, there have been five significant pandemic waves with varying virus strains.^(2, 3) Distribution of COVID-19 vaccines was not ready until February 2021 with two major vaccines, CoronaVac and Oxford-Astra Zeneca COVID-19.^(4, 5) However, CoronaVac's weak efficacy against the Delta strain shifted the mRNA and viral vector vaccine regimens by October 2021.⁽⁵⁾ Therefore, by the beginning of the Omicron outbreak in late 2021 to early 2022, people, especially vulnerable groups, were encouraged to take booster doses due to its effect in preventing severe COVID-19.⁽⁶⁾

The pandemic resulted in problems involving many aspects, including health and the economy. The situation generated impacts including problems in self-isolation at home, follow-up visits to patients with underlying medical conditions and the lack of opportunities for patients with other diseases to receive treatment due to the COVID-19 pandemic.⁽⁷⁻¹¹⁾ Stress might have accumulated from lifestyle changes, altered working patterns, social distancing, lack of daily supplies and consumption supplies, and being informed about the COVID-19 outbreak and lockdowns.⁽¹⁰⁻¹³⁾

These health, economic and social problems affected all groups, families and institutions up to the national level, as well as the mentality of people in the country, especially the working class. Adults in the working class were most likely to be affected by outbreak situations and lockdowns during the COVID-19 pandemic, which can be stressful events.⁽¹⁴⁾

Previous studies have reported depression and stress in rural areas before the pandemic.⁽¹⁵⁻¹⁷⁾ However, vulnerabilities due to inadequate logistic supplies and infrastructures, poor socioeconomic status, insufficient healthcare coverage and lower support combined with the pandemic situation, might have affected stress among people living in rural areas. Therefore, this study aimed to determine the associated factors of stress during the COVID-19 pandemic among adults in a rural community in Thailand.

Methods

Study design and subjects

A cross-sectional study was carried out to address the associated stress factors during the COVID-19 pandemic among participants residing in Baan Nayao, Chachoengsao, Thailand, from December 2021 to March 2022. Individuals eligible for this study were adults aged 20 to 60 years old and living in Baan Nayao, Chachoengsao, Thailand, during the study. The study focused on working-age people due to the possible impacts of COVID-19 on work and economic status. Participants were excluded if they had difficulties answering the questionnaire, such as people with visual or auditory disabilities and those with psychiatric conditions. Subjects were randomly selected.

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Royal Thai Army Medical Department. The approval number was M027q/64. Consent was appropriately obtained from all participants.

Baan Nayao is a rural community in Chachoengsao Province in eastern Thailand, located 145 km east of the capital city of Bangkok. The total population is approximately 4200, comprising 1152 households in this area. Of these, 85% are agriculturists. An aging population pyramid represents the population structure.⁽¹⁵⁾

Questionnaire and data collection

The questionnaire of this quantitative study included two parts, namely, demographic data and the 5-Likert Thai version of the COVID stress scale (T-CSS).⁽¹⁸⁾ The COVID stress scale was translated and modified to Thai. The translators of this questionnaire comprised two linguistic experts. The translation process included translating the questionnaire to Thai by the first translator; the second translator re-translated the Thai questionnaire back to English. The content of the original English language questionnaire and re-translated English questionnaire were compared. The corrections on discrepancies between the two English versions were made on the Thai questionnaire. Finally, the content of the Thai questionnaire was examined by three psychiatrists from the Department of Psychiatry, Phramongkutklao Hospital.

Demographic data included age, sex, marital status, educational level, tobacco and alcohol use, health issues and comorbidities, living status and COVID-19 vaccine reception. Apart from the original five parts of the COVID stress scale, T-CSS comprised six parts by adding COVID fear of contamination. The six parts included COVID 1) danger, 2) socioeconomic consequences, 3) xenophobia, 4) fear of contamination, 5) traumatic stress, and 6) compulsive checking. Items in each aspect were rated on a 5-point scale ranging from 0 (not at all) to 4 (extremely). Three experts confirmed the validity. Item Objective Congruence (IOC) was more than 0.5. All parts and overall reliability were examined using Cronbach's alpha coefficient, which had values greater than 0.8. Results were then generated to stress scores according to the COVID stress scale.

The questionnaire was carried out using face-to-face interviews, and data were collected on paper and online using Google Forms. Age, sex and marital status were collected from the individual's identity card. In addition, educational level, tobacco and alcohol use, health issues and comorbidities and living status were interviewed. COVID-19 vaccination history was collected via the Moh Prompt application, which stores each person's online vaccination card. Responses from participants were held on Google Sheets.

Operational definition

This study used smoking and alcohol consumption definitions from The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and World Health Organization (WHO). CDC defines smoking as the following: a current smoker can be defined as an adult who has smoked 100 cigarettes in his/ her lifetime and who currently smokes cigarettes. A former smoker was an adult who had smoked at least 100 cigarettes in his/her life time but quit smoking at the time of the interview.⁽¹⁹⁾ WHO defined alcohol consumption as the followings: a former drinker is an adult (15+ years) in a given population who did not consume alcohol in the last 12 months but did previously. A current drinker comprises those having consumed a drink containing alcohol in the previous 12 months.⁽²⁰⁾

Statistical analysis

STATA 17.0 (Stata Corporation, College Station, TX, USA) was used for statistical analysis. Regression diagnosis found linear relationships between the predictors and the outcome and homogeneity of variance. General characteristics were calculated using descriptive statistics. Associated factors of increased stress score were assessed using linear regression with univariate analysis. Statistically significant factors, p < 0.20 and previously significant in other studies, were eligible for multivariate analysis. The final model included sex, age, education level, occupation, alcohol consumption, smoking, diabetes mellitus and COVID-19 vaccine doses. We used the β -coefficient and 95% confidential interval to represent the relationship between variables and outcomes. Statistical significance was considered at $p \leq 0.05$ at a 95% confidential interval.

Results

Demographic data

Participants' demographic data are shown in **Table 1**. The average age of participants was 47.8 ± 0.7 years. Most participants were female (61.0%), married and living with a partner (77.5%), educated to at least a primary level (56.6%), agriculturist (38.7%), had no comorbidities (47.2%), living with family or partner (89.2%), non-smokers (76.3%), non-drinkers (57.5%), vaccinated with two doses of COVID-19 vaccine (80.5%), and received CoronaVac $(1^{st} dose)$ and Oxford-AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccine $(2^{nd} dose)$ vaccination regimen (52.8%).

Characteristic	n	%
Sex		
Female	260	61.0
Male	166	39.0
Age (year)		
Mean S.D.	47.77 ± 0.65	
≤30	56	13.2
31-40	65	15.3
41-50	104	24.4
51-60	201	47.1
Marital status		
Married/living with a partner	330	77.5
Single	55	12.9
Widowed/Divorce/Separated	41	9.6
Education level		
Illiterate	36	8.5
Primary school	241	56.6
Secondary school and higher	149	35.0
Occupation		
Agriculturist	165	38.7
Business owner	135	31.7
Employee	65	15.3
Unemployed	50	11.7
Government officer	11	2.6
Comorbid illnesses		
Hypertension	84	19.7
Dyslipidemia	57	13.4
Diabetes mellitus	44	10.3
Cardiovascular disease	16	3.8
Chronic kidney disease	10	2.4
Asthma	6	1.4
Emphysema	4	0.9
Cancer	4	0.9
No comorbidities	201	47.2
Living status		
Living with family/partner	380	89.2
Living alone	46	10.8
Smoking		
Non-smoker	325	76.3
Ex-smoker	40	9.4
Current smoker	61	14.3
Alcohol consumption		
Nondrinker	245	57.5
Former drinker	78	17.3
Current drinker	103	24.2

Table 1. Demographic data among adults in Baan Nayao Village, Chachoengsao, 2022

Characteristic	n	%
COVID-19 Vaccine dose		
0 dose	12	2.8
1 dose	13	3.1
2 doses	343	80.5
3 doses	58	13.6
COVID-19 Vaccine regimen		
Unvaccinated	12	2.8
Incomplete vaccination ^A	13	3.1
SV+SV	13	3.1
SV+AZ	225	52.8
SP+PF	4	0.9
AZ+AZ	35	8.2
SP+SP	3	0.7
SP+AZ	13	3.1
PF+PF	3	0.7
AZ+PF	33	7.8
MDN+MDN	13	3.1
SV+SV+AZ	4	0.9
SV+SV+PF	7	1.6
SV+SV+MDN	6	1.4
SV+AZ+PF	22	5.2
SV+AZ+MDN	3	0.7
SV+AZ+AZ	10	2.4
AZ+AZ+PF	10	2.4

Table 1. Demographic data among adults in Baan Nayao Village, Chachoengsao, 2022 (Cont.)

SV = CoronaVac; SP = Sinopharm BIBP COVID-19 vaccine; AZ = Oxford-AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccine;

PF = Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine; MDN = Moderna COVID-19 vaccine

^AAn incomplete vaccination was for individuals receiving only one of any provided

COVID-stress scale

The mean overall score and standard deviation for the COVID-stress scale were 53.8 ± 31.8 . The mean score and standard deviation in each domain included COVID danger (10.5±6.6), COVID socioeconomic consequences (5.9±6.9), COVID xenophobia (12.5±8.6), COVID fear of contamination (12.5±6.6), COVID fraumatic stress (3.9±6.1), and COVID compulsive checking (8.7±6.3). As shown in **Figure 1**, the histogram of the overall mean score was right-skewed. Associated factors of increased and decreased stress score

Associated factors for increased stress during the COVID-19 pandemic were illiteracy (adjusted β =18.4, 95% CI 5.9 to 30.1) and agriculturists (adjusted β =13.2, 95% CI 3.1 to 23.4) compared to their counterparts. At the same time, age 51 to 60 (adjusted β =-11.1, 95% CI 3.9 to 27.3) and vaccination with \geq 3 doses of COVID-19 vaccine (adjusted β =-8.9, 95% CI -16.4 to -1.5) were associated with decreased stress level. Results are summarized in **Table 2**.



Figure 1. The overall mean score of T-CSS

Table 2. Univariate and multivariate analysis identified the factors that independently affect the T-CSS in Baan Nayao, Chachoengsao, Thailand, 2022

Characteristic	Univariate analysis		Multivariate analysis	
	Crude β (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	Adjusted β (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value
Sex				
Male (as reference)				
Female	7.8(1.6-14.0)	0.013	6.9(-0.6-14.3)	0.070
Age (year)				
≤ 30 (as reference)				
31-40	-9.6(-21.5-2.4)	0.116	-10.1(-22.0-1.8)	0.095
41-50	-4.6(-15.3-6.1)	0.401	-9.3(-20.7-2.0)	0.107
51-60	-5.4(-15.1-4.3)	0.275	-11.1(-22.20.3)	0.049*
Marital status				
Single (as reference)				
Married/living with a part-				
ner	-4.8(-13.8-4.3)	0.305		
Widowed/Divorce/Separated	6.8(-6.1-19.6)	0.301		
Education level				
Secondary school and higher (as reference)				
Primary school	-0.8(-7.2-5.6)	0.801	-1.2(-8.9-6.3)	0.761
Illiterate	21.2(9.8-32.7)	< 0.001	18.4(5.9-30.8)	0.004*
Occupation	())	
Unemployed (as reference)				
Agriculturist	12.2(2.2-22.2)	0.017	13.2(3.1-23.4)	0.011*
Business owner	-0.7(-10.9-9.5)	0.895	-1.3(-11.5-9.0)	0.808
Employee	9.6(-2.0-21.2)	0.104	9.6(-2.1-21.3)	0.109
Government officer	6.0(-14.7-26.5)	0.569	5.7(-15.4-26.8)	0.596

	Univariate analysis		Multivariate analysis	
Characteristic	Crude β (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	Adjusted β (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value
Alcohol consumption				
Nondrinker (as reference)				
Former drinker	-7.4(-15.5-0.7)	0.074	-6.1(-14.4-2.2)	0.151
Current drinker	-6.4(-13.7-0.9)	0.086	-3.3(-11.2-4.7)	0.418
Smoking				
Non-smoker (as reference)				
Former smoker	-1.2(-11.7-9.2)	0.817	3.0(-8.4-14.4)	0.607
Current smoker	-9.0(-17.70.2)	0.044	-3.5(-13.8-6.8)	0.504
Living status				
Living with family/partner (as reference)				
Living alone	-0.5(-10.3-9.3)	0.920		
Comorbid illnesses	× ,			
Diabetes mellitus No (as reference)				
Yes	-7.3(-17.2-2.7)	0.152	-7.4(-17.5-2.8)	0.153
Dyslipidemia				
No (as reference)				
Yes	-2.3(-11.2-6.6)	0.613		
Hypertension				
No (as reference)				
Yes	0.6(-7.0-8.2)	0.879		
Cardiovascular disease No (as reference)				
Yes	4.0(-12.0-19.9)	0.626		
Chronic kidney disease No (as reference)	11 4(21 4 9 ()	0.264		
Yes	-11.4(-31.4-8.6)	0.264		
Respiratory disease No (as reference)	10 1(22 5 12 2)	0 272		
Yes	-10.1(-32.5-12.2)	0.373		
Cancer No (as reference)				
Yes	-12.2(-43.6-19.3)	0.447		
COVID-19 vaccine doses	(
Unvaccinated (as reference)				
2 doses of vaccination	-3.4(-14.1-7.3)	0.533	-4.4(-14.8-6.1)	0.413
\geq 3 doses of vaccination	-9.6(-17.22.0)	0.013	-8.9(-16.41.5)	0.019*
* Statistically significant at <i>p</i> <0.05	2.0(17.2 2.0)	0.015	0.9(10.1 1.3)	0.017

Table 2. Univariate and multivariate analysis identified the factors that independently affect the T-CSS in Baan Nayao, Chachoengsao, Thailand, 2022 (Cont.)

* Statistically significant at p < 0.05

Discussion

The study identified the associated stress factors during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown among adults in a rural community in Thailand. Our results showed that the factors associated with stress during the COVID-19 lockdown were illiteracy, working as a farmer and vaccination with COVID-19 vaccine regimens other than CoronaVac (1st dose) and Oxford-AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccine (2nd dose).

Related studies have addressed varying populations' stress, anxiety and depression during the COVID-19 pandemic.⁽²¹⁻²⁵⁾ Related studies were conducted in China and in Paraguay, using the Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale (DASS-21) to classify depression, anxiety and stress levels as normal, mild, moderate, severe and highly severe.^(21, 25) Stress levels are affected by multiple factors, such as varying severity of situations and measurements.^(21, 25) This issue was already considered using the original COVID stress scale as the cut-off point was difficult to determine and the mean score on the scales changed throughout the COVID-19 pandemic.(18, 26) As a result, the cut-off points of 'stress' and 'non-stress' were not absolute and should be interpreted along with the response of a given population to the pandemic at a given time.⁽²⁶⁾ The higher the score, the higher the stress an individual may exhibit. According to this information, this study collected the total scores of the studied population as continuous data and stratified them on the histogram; the chart was right-skewed. As those with a score over 100 points were outliers from a normal distribution, we assumed they were more likely to be affected by stress than those in the normal distribution.

According to the COVID-stress scale, increased stress levels were strongly associated with illiteracy. Related studies suggest that people with lower educational levels are more likely to experience stress and anxiety.^(21, 27, 28) However, other studies showed that during the COVID-19 pandemic, people with higher literacy were more affordable with expenses, had a healthier diet, performed more physical activities, could better use health resources obtained on the Internet, and had better adjustment capabilities.^(29, 30) This study also hypothesized that due to uncertainty of pandemic development and public health measures, people with higher literacy could better perceive news from reliable resources than those with lower literacy.

The agriculturist occupation was found to have a relationship with elevated stress levels during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown. The reason might be that farmers were more pessimistic about income loss.⁽³¹⁾ However, farmers also tended to be affected by many factors, including problems in marketing goods, problems in transportation and a lack of financial support from the government.⁽³²⁾

Increasing age was associated with less pandemic-related stress. A related study also reported a similar result.⁽³³⁾ Gerontologic theories suggest that older people cope with stress better than younger people.⁽³⁴⁾ The related study hypothesized that the already lonely nature of older people might make them feel less socially isolated than younger individuals who may have experienced a sudden reduction in their social contact due to social distancing measures.⁽³³⁾ Our study also hypothesized that older people were less likely to be affected by the loss of employment during the COVID-19 pandemic than younger, working-age adults; thus, resulting in less stress.

This study discovered that three and more doses of the COVID-19 vaccine influenced lowering stress during the COVID-10 pandemic. Most of the 'booster' dose of COVID-19 in Thailand was the mRNA vaccine. According to related studies comparing the efficacy of vaccine regimens, other vaccine regimens, including mRNA vaccines as second or booster doses, enhance immunogenicity very well.^(6, 35, 36) Therefore, it could be possible that people receiving booster doses had lower stress levels during the COVID-19 pandemic because of participants' confidence in vaccine efficiency against infection and severe illness.

The study encountered several significant limitations. First, the questionnaire of this study did not include diagnostic assessments such as DSM-V or ICD-10, which would have helped evaluate the prevalence of stress. Second, 13 interviewers were involved during data collection. The questionnaire results could be influenced differently because each interviewer had different verbal and nonverbal communication skills. Third, enrolled participants had limited age group variety, with 47.2% of participants in the age group 51 to 60 years. The study was conducted during the Omicron outbreak, two years after the first COVID-19 outbreak. Stress levels could be lower than in the previous waves since the Omicron outbreak in Thailand was less severe, and people might be able to adapt to a new normal lifestyle. Finally, this study's generalizability and external validity might be limited due to the small number of subjects, and being conducted in a single area might not represent the whole country.

The strength of this study was that the COVID stress scale was translated to Thai and tested for validity and reliability. It constituted the first to be used in the epidemiology field. In further studies, T-CSS might be able to be used as a brief measurement of COVID-19-related stress if compared with a standard stress scale or structured diagnostic assessment. The COVID stress scale is recommended to be used in future studies. Total scores should be collected as continuous data and stratified for distribution to determine the stress level of the studied population due to the lack of absolute cut-off point of 'stress' and 'nonstress' because of pandemic situation dynamics.

The COVID-19 pandemic is seemingly a long-run even though the outbreak's status will be shifted from pandemic to endemic in the future. Therefore, health education, financial support and social support for rural communities should be implemented to prevent mental illnesses in this vulnerable group. In addition, government priorities should alleviate burdens on people during the pandemic, such as control of prices of customer products, inexpensive and simple accessibility to healthcare services, adequate distribution of vaccines and clear public communication.

Conclusion

this study showed associated factors of

stress levels during the COVID-19 pandemic in a rural community in Thailand. According to the COVID-stress scale, the stress level was significantly affected by age, illiteracy, farmer occupation, and COVID-19 vaccine doses. Overall mean stress score showed some outlying individuals with high-stress scores, which could be associated with other mental illnesses such as depression and anxiety. For healthcare practitioners and organizations, T-CSS can serve to aid in identifying individuals at risk for adverse emotional events during the COVID-19 pandemic and can be used as a brief measure of COVID-related stress.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the staff of the Department of Military and Community Medicine, Phramongkutklao College of Medicine, local authorities and public health volunteers of Ban Nayao Community, Chachoengsao Province.

References

- 1. Cucinotta D, Vanelli M. WHO declares COVID-19 a pandemic. Acta Bio Medica: Atenei Parmensis 2020; 91: 157.
- Kunno J, Supawattanabodee B, Sumanasrethakul C, Wiriyasivaj B, Kuratong S, Kaewchandee C. Comparison of different waves during the COVID-19 pandemic: retrospective descriptive study in Thailand. Adv Prev Med 2021; 2021.
- 3. Kuai Y-H, Ser H-L. COVID-19 Situation in Thailand. Prog Biophys Mol 2021; 4.
- 4. Thanapluetiwong S, Chansirikarnjana S, Sriwannopas O, Assavapokee T, Ittasakul P. Factors associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy in Thai seniors. Patient Prefer Adherence 2021; 15: 2389.
- Yoda T, Suksatit B, Tokuda M, Katsuyama H. Analysis of people's attitude toward COVID-19 vaccine and Its information sources in Thailand. Cureus 2022; 14.
- 6. Sritipsukho P, Khawcharoenporn T, Siribumrungwong B, Damronglerd P, Suwantarat N, Satdhabudha A, et al. Comparing real-life effectiveness of various COVID-19 vaccine regimens during the delta variant-dominant

pandemic: a test-negative case-control study. Emerg Microbes Infect 2022; 11: 585-92.

- Shadmi E, Chen Y, Dourado I, Faran-Perach I, Furler J, Hangoma P, et al. Health equity and COVID-19: global perspectives. Int J Equity Health 2020; 19: 1-16.
- Ghosh A, Gupta R, Misra A. Telemedicine for diabetes care in India during COVID19 pandemic and national lockdown period: Guidelines for physicians Diabetes Metab Syndr 2021; 14: 273-76.
- Intawong K, Olson D, Chariyalertsak S. Application technology to fight the COVID-19 pandemic: Lessons learned in Thailand. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2021; 534: 830-36.
- Khan N, Jones D, Grice A, Alderson S, Bradley S, Carder P, et al. A brave new world: the new normal for general practice after the COVID-19 pandemic. BJGP open 2020; 4.
- 11. Nguyen HC, Nguyen MH, Do BN, Tran CQ, Nguyen TT, Pham KM, et al. People with suspected COVID-19 symptoms were more likely depressed and had lower health-related quality of life: the potential benefit of health literacy. J Clin Med 2020; 9: 965.
- 12. Yan Y, Malik AA, Bayham J, Fenichel EP, Couzens C, Omer SB. Measuring voluntary and policy-induced social distancing behavior during the COVID-19 pandemic. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2021; 118.
- 13. Mongkhon P, Ruengorn C, Awiphan R, Thavorn K, Hutton B, Wongpakaran N, et al. Exposure to COVID-19-related information and its association with mental health problems in Thailand: nationwide, cross-sectional survey study. J Med Internet Res 2021; 23: e25363.
- 14. Wang C, Tee M, Roy AE, Fardin MA, Srichokchatchawan W, Habib HA, et al. The impact of COVID-19 pandemic on physical and mental health of Asians: A study of seven middle-income countries in Asia. PLoS One 2021; 16: e0246824.
- 15. Charoensakulchai S, Usawachoke S, Kongbangpor W, Thanavirun P, Mitsiriswat A, Pinijnai O, et al. Prevalence and associated

factors influencing depression in older adults living in rural Thailand: A cross-sectional study. Geriatr Gerontol Int 2019; 19: 1248-53.

- 16. Seangpraw K, Auttama N, Kumar R, Somrongthong R, Tonchoy P, Panta P. Stress and associated risk factors among the elderly: A cross-sectional study from rural Thailand. F1000Research 2019; 8.
- 17. Chiu E. Epidemiology of depression in the Asia Pacific region. Australas Psychiatry 2004; 12: S4-S10.
- 18. Taylor S, Landry CA, Paluszek MM, Fergus TA, McKay D, Asmundson GJ. Development and initial validation of the COVID Stress Scales. J Anxiety Disord 2020; 72: 102232.
- 19. Tobacco glossary: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; [Available from: https:// www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/tobacco/tobacco_ glossary.htm.
- 20. The Global Health Observatory: World Health Organization; 2022 [Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/indicator-metadata-registry.
- 21. Khademian F, Delavari S, Koohjani Z, Khademian Z. An investigation of depression, anxiety, and stress and its relating factors during COVID-19 pandemic in Iran. BMC Public Health 2021; 21: 1-7.
- 22. Torales J, Ríos-González C, Barrios I, O'Higgins M, González I, García O, et al. Self-perceived stress during the quarantine of COVID-19 pandemic in Paraguay: an exploratory survey. Front Psychiatr 2020; 11: 1155.
- Nwachukwu I, Nkire N, Shalaby R, Hrabok M, Vuong W, Gusnowski A, et al. COVID-19 pandemic: age-related differences in measures of stress, anxiety and depression in Canada. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17: 6366.
- 24. Kowal M, Coll-Martín T, Ikizer G, Rasmussen J, Eichel K, Studzińska A, et al. Who is the most stressed during the COVID-19 pandemic? Data from 26 countries and areas. Appl Psychol Health Well-Being 2020; 12: 946-66.
- 25. Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, Ho CS, et al. Immediate psychological responses

and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17: 1729.

- 26. Taylor S. COVID stress syndrome: clinical and nosological considerations. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2021; 23: 1-7.
- 27. Liang L, Ren H, Cao R, Hu Y, Qin Z, Li C, et al. The effect of COVID-19 on youth mental health. Psychiatr Q 2020; 91: 841-52.
- 28. Monima LA, Usman IM, Kasozi KI, Aigbogun Jr EO, Bassey VA, Ifie J, et al. COVID-19 related mental health burdens: Impact of educational level and relationship status among low income earners of Western Uganda. Front Public Health 2020; 9: 739270.
- 29. Do BN, Nguyen P-A, Pham KM, Nguyen HC, Nguyen MH, Tran CQ, et al. Determinants of health literacy and its associations with health-related behaviors, depression among the older people with and without suspected COVID-19 symptoms: a multi-institutional study. Front Public Health 2020; 8: 694.
- 30. Yang BX, Xia L, Huang R, Chen P, Luo D, Liu Q, et al. Relationship between eHealth literacy and psychological status during COVID-19 pandemic: A survey of Chinese residents. J Nurs Manag 2021; 29: 805-12.

- 31. Sapbamrer R, Chittrakul J, Sirikul W, Kitro A, Chaiut W, Panya P, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on daily lives, agricultural working lives, and mental health of farmers in northern Thailand. Sustainability 2022; 14: 1189.
- 32. Chitra A, Gopinath R. A Study On Causes Of Stress To The Farmers During COVID-19 Pandemic. Int J Aquatic Sci 2021; 12: 773-82.
- 33. Birditt KS, Turkelson A, Fingerman KL, Polenick CA, Oya A. Age differences in stress, life changes, and social ties during the COVID-19 pandemic: Implications for psychological well-being. Gerontologist 2021; 61: 205-16.
- 34. Charles ST, Carstensen LL. Social and emotional aging. Annu Rev Psychol 2010; 61: 383-409.
- 35. World Health Organization. Interim recommendations for heterologous COVID-19 vaccine schedules: interim guidance, 16 December 2021. World Health Organization; 2021.
- 36. Yorsaeng R, Suntronwong N, Phowatthanasathian H, Assawakosri S, Kanokudom S, Thongmee T, et al. Immunogenicity of a third dose viral-vectored COVID-19 vaccine after receiving two-dose inactivated vaccines in healthy adults. Vaccine 2022; 40: 524-30.

PROPOSAL FOR A MANDATORY HEALTHCARE PROGRAM FOR SURROGATES IN SURROGACY ARRANGEMENTS

Jutharat Attawet

Faculty of Health, Charles Darwin University, George Street, Haymarket, NSW Australia 2000

Abstract

Background: Surrogacy is controversial. The issue of surrogates' exposure to legal, ethical, health and social risks has been globally debated, and most literature explores policies and regulations that could be crafted or reconsidered to protect surrogates from such hazards. However, a discussion is lacking on the need for surrogacy healthcare programs (SHPs), although surrogacy has been possible for over four decades.

Objectives: This paper aimed to examine the existence (or lack) of SHPs and identify healthcare program needs to protect surrogates from risks in building surrogacy arrangements.

Methods: An interdisciplinary, nonsystematic literature review and media content analysis were conducted. Medline (Ovid) and PubMed were searched for articles published between 2012 and 2022. In addition, three search engines, Google, Bing and Yahoo, were used to identify high-profile and land-mark cases to supplement the literature review.

Results: Seventy-eight articles were retrieved, but only 2 were reviewed. Using the 3 search engines, 53 cases were identified; however, 42 were duplicates, and only 11 were analyzed. The results suggested that SHPs do not exist. High-profile and landmark cases demonstrate a need to educate prospective surrogates.

Conclusion: SHPs should be compulsory for prospective surrogates to promote their well-being, and proposals for such programs should be further studied and implemented in healthcare policies.

Keywords: Surrogacy, Surrogacy arrangement, Surrogates, Education, Educational program, Healthcare

J Southeast Asian Med Res 2022: 6:e0134 https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v6i0.134

Correspondence to: Attawet J., Faculty of Health, Charles Darwin University, 815 George Street, Haymarket NSW, 2000, Australia Email: jutharat.attawet@cdu.edu.au

Received: 11 August 2022 Revised: 26 November 2022 Accepted: 6 December 2022

Introduction

Surrogacy arrangements have been conducted since the 1980s; however, the possibility of creating surrogacy healthcare programs (SHPs) has never been thoroughly examined.⁽¹⁾ Surrogates, who commit to carrying a baby for intended parents, comprise a vulnerable population sector; they are at risk of exploitation, and their voices are often overridden in forming surrogacy arrangements.⁽²⁾ Due to the lack of SHPs, surrogates may misunderstand their rights or not comprehend the potential risks involved in the treatment process. Consequently, surrogates are exposed to greater than normal legal, ethical, health and social risks.^(3,4)

Several studies have investigated surrogates' health-related risks and advocated to protect their health at policy and regulation levels. For example, in some countries, such as the US, where commercial surrogacy is legal, firm policies and regulations (P&R) are in place to protect surrogates. Surrogates must receive legal advice and counseling and be provided their fully informed consent before conception.⁽⁵⁾ In Australia, where altruistic surrogacy is allowed, strong policies are in place to protect the surrogate's health and optimize perinatal outcomes, such as a single embryo transfer (SET) policy for gestational surrogacy to prevent multiple pregnancies.⁽⁶⁻⁸⁾ However, in countries where P&R are not established, laying the groundwork for surrogates' understanding of health-related facts and promoting their well-being is necessary. Education is one strategy for implementing health promotion programs for the target population.⁽⁹⁾ Health education offers learning experiences on related health topics, including health benefits and threats. One broad purpose

of health education is to increase individuals' knowledge and ensure their well-being by addressing and supporting P&R.⁽¹⁰⁾ Health education builds individual health literacy and empowers patients. This paper aims to review the existence (or lack) of SHPs and to identify gaps in education for further development.

Methods

An interdisciplinary, nonsystematic literature review and media content analysis were conducted (**Figure 1**). Journal and original research articles and high profile and landmark cases published in English between 2012 and 2022 were identified. In addition, the author queried key search terms on Medline (Ovid) and PubMed, including surrogates, surrogate mothers, surrogacy, gestational surrogates, educational programs and healthcare programs.

The review centered on articles that discussed surrogacy education or SHPs. The literature was restricted to: (1) articles about the bioethical components of surrogacy, or arguments for/against it, that did not mention educational or healthcare programs and (2) studies on surrogacy arrangements and outcomes.

To supplement information found in the literature, the review also included sources from media such as news, reports, government agency websites and surrogacy agency websites. Three search engines (Google, Bing and Yahoo), which are considered the top three search engines in the world (updated in 2022),⁽¹¹⁾ were searched to further identify high profile and landmark cases. The media search was performed in January 2022 using the following phrases: high profile surrogacy cases and landmark surrogacy cases. Examining both the peer-reviewed literature and media content allowed the author to identify gaps in knowledge about healthcare program needs.



Figure 1: Search results

Results

Results from search strategies

The Medline (Ovid) search produced three articles, one of which was reviewed. The search of PubMed generated 75 articles, of which only one met the criteria for review, but it comprised a duplicate of the article identified through Medline (Ovid). The search Google led to 34 cases, Bing produced 9 cases and Yahoo generated 10 cases. The surrogacy cases identified by Bing and Yahoo were duplicated in Google. (**Figure 1.**)

The review identified one article about a healthcare program and 11 that covered high profile and landmark surrogacy cases. The findings suggested that SHPs were not practically implemented at policy and regulation levels. However, many studies and government agencies highlighted the importance of education to protect surrogates from health-related risks. Some surrogacy agency businesses^(12, 13) provide education to surrogates through consultations before they enter a surrogacy arrangement; however, this could indicate a conflict of interest. Importantly, SHPs should be emphasized in surrogacy P&R. Countries' health departments and services could play a vital role in delivering educational programs to prospective surrogates to raise their awareness of risks, as well as to deepen their knowledge of surrogacy, identify their beliefs and opinions and enhance their self-efficacy and personal power.

Based on the above, two major themes emerged from the review:(1) building health literacy and (2) autonomy and self-knowledge.

Building health literacy

Health literacy is critical when using a health-related service and understanding the information needed to make appropriate decisions. Health literacy has been put forward as the pathway to education and health outcomes. In addition, education level is associated with the ability to comprehend health information, affecting one's capacity to maintain or improve one's health.⁽¹⁴⁾ Hence, it would be unsurprising that people with low education may have poor health outcomes.⁽¹⁴⁾

In surrogacy, several high profile cases suggested that surrogates typically have low income and uneducated status.^(15,16) Reflecting on education level, surrogates have less knowledge of surrogacy and the health risks involved, including the physical dangers from complications of resulting embryo transfer, pregnancy and delivery modes, as well as psychological, psychosocial and legal risks. For example, Tanderup and colleagues⁽¹⁷⁾ found that none of the 14 surrogates they investigated could explain or understand the complications of multiple embryo transfer (MET) and multiple births. An interview by Attawet and peers⁽¹⁸⁾ also supported the notion that surrogates are at risk during the surrogacy process:

I had three cycle attempts for embryo implantation. In each cycle, I received a triple embryo transfer. I became pregnant in the third embryo transfer cycle. At week 8 of my gestation, I had a regular check-up, and the doctor could not detect the baby's heartbeat. I was informed that I had to undergo a D&C [dilatation and curettage] procedure. The procedure was really painful, and I took a while to recover. I received less payment because I could not get through the pregnancy and delivery process. I received only 30,000 THB [approximately USD 960]. This was not worthwhile, and I swore I would not be a surrogate again. (p. 5)

From this perspective, less health literacy knowledge could have been a barrier to the surrogate's ability to access or understand the health information affecting her regarding the health-related risks she might encounter. Research (19) suggests that people with limited health literacy are less likely to ask clinicians questions or to seek further information. Although education level is associated with the pathway of health literacy and health outcomes, healthcare systems should take proactive steps to promote people's well-being. Providing appropriately targeted health education programs using universal health literacy precautions is a clear strategy to improve people's understanding of health information, regardless of their literacy level or education.⁽²⁰⁾

Autonomy and self-knowledge

The surrogacy context often involves informed information and consent. In surrogacy practice, the philosophy of autonomy has been revisited many times and its application among surrogates is ethically debated. Inadequately informed consent coercion, and dependence on decision-making often happen in surrogacy arrangements, especially in commercial surrogacy.^(2, 17) Referring to philosophical autonomy, consent can be obtained through three standard approaches, namely, (1) the subjective standard: what an individual would need to know and understand for informed decision-making; (2) the reasonable patient standard: the information needed for patients to decide on their treatment and (3) the reasonable physician standard: a clinician's explanation of the procedure's nature to aid a patient's decision.⁽²²⁾ One of these approaches requires an assessment of the patient's understanding of the treatment procedure, including benefits and risks.⁽²¹⁾ Therefore, the exercise of autonomy in the surrogacy process is needed for the surrogate's full knowledge and understanding of the treatment.

The healthcare provider must provide clear information to support patients' self-determination in their treatment. This depends on drawing the patient's attention to the fact that her selfknowledge is connected to her use of autonomy and could effectively support self-decision-making in the treatment. Thus, building surrogates' health literacy can bridge the gap between their autonomy and self-decision-making.

Discussion

The content analysis of the themes revealed a lack of health promotion for surrogates and SHPs. This issue should be brought forward and established in the healthcare system in the same way as other available programs for health promotion. In addition, government agencies should offer mandatory SHPs at the policy and regulation levels.

Although many theories exist concerning applying pedagogy in education, this paper does not discuss the form or approach that the education of surrogates should take. Instead,

the author argues for the urgent need for SHPs. To date, no healthcare programs have been available to educate surrogates to help them better understand surrogacy arrangements, treatment and potential risks. In addition, although information about surrogacy is available on the Internet, some information might not be reliable.⁽²²⁾ The most accessible information comes from the recruiting agencies offering surrogacy services to intended parents.⁽²²⁾ Such information mainly focuses on the benefits of becoming a surrogate, but information about risks is largely lacking.⁽²²⁾ Some government websites-such as that of Australia's Victorian Assisted Reproductive Treatment Authority (VARTA)(23)—offer reliable information. However, they might not be easily accessible or be of limited use to surrogates whose first language differs from the website.

To ensure optimal use of the surrogate's autonomy and to avoid the influence of interested parties in the surrogate's decisions, the risks involved in the surrogacy process should be proposed in an educational context as discussed below.

1. Health risks, such as MET, multiple pregnancies, and cesarean section (C-section) In one study, almost 80% of surrogates were likely to receive MET, resulting in 30% of the women birthing multiple children.⁽²⁶⁾ MET is an incentive for surrogates who accept to carry multiple pregnancies.^(15, 16) Hence, before accepting the incentive model, surrogates should fully understand the risks of multiple pregnancies for themselves and their babies. Such surrogacy education could also help to formulate P&R in the future to protect surrogates from the risk of MET and possible exploitation by the surrogacy industry.

C-sections should also be included in the program. C-sections are commonly forced on surrogates to suit intended parents who are foreigners and must fly back to their countries on a preferred date.⁽²⁴⁾ Therefore, educating surrogates on the pros and cons of C-sections is necessary for them to make informed choices about their bodies and to discuss the matter with healthcare professionals. Further, this would help surrogates in their preparation and awareness of self-care.

2. The risk of legal aspects when surrogates move across borders

As is well known, surrogates frequently move across borders in response to efforts by the commercial surrogacy industry to avoid having to comply with local surrogacy laws. Unfortunately, this has increased surrogates' exposure to legal risk in the country of the transfer. For instance, after Cambodia banned commercial surrogacy in 2016, 33 surrogates were imprisoned in that country in a high-profile case and charged with human trafficking⁽²⁵⁾. Therefore, before entering (commercial) surrogacy, in the context of education, potential surrogates should be aware of the legal risks involved in protecting their rights. This education would benefit surrogates and possess the advantage of framing international regulations to prevent cross-border surrogacy.

3. Understanding the context of psychosocial risks

Taking on the role of surrogate motherhood is problematic. Parental attachment and responsibility are likely to arise and cause complications in a surrogate's obligations. Although surrogates can address their psychological well-being regarding baby attachment when coping with relinquishment. (26-28) There have been cases of surrogates bonding with the baby. For example, Baby Carmen was born to a Thai surrogate who changed her mind about delivering the baby to the intended gay parents; however, the intended parents later won the case as the surrogate failed to return to court.⁽²⁹⁾ Although the surrogate had claimed to be a victim of human trafficking, the fact was that she wished to keep the baby in Thailand, and the true reason for her wish was not known. The issue of baby attachment and relinquishment often becomes delicate and has been well discussed in the literature;^(26, 30) surrogates should be educated on this point to help them prepare mentally.

The scandal of Baby Gammy, who was left with his Thai surrogate mother when his intended Australian parents abandoned him, is another example of parent attachment and responsibility. In this case, the surrogate willingly accepted responsibility for Baby Gammy as one of her children after he was left in Thailand. The facts later clarified that at some point, the surrogate grew very attached Baby Gammy and his female twin, and she decided to keep Baby Gammy.^(31, 32) As such, what would happen if a baby were left with a surrogate who was not physically or financially capable of raising the baby? Who would be responsible for this matter? Would the surrogate's pregnancy become a stigma?

Accordingly, education on managing psychosocial problems should be provided to raise the awareness of surrogates. These issues demonstrate the complexity of surrogacy treatment and highlight many matters that could go wrong that need to be addressed to develop regulations to cover all parties.

4. Understanding the context of surrogacy contracts and the signers' rights

The surrogacy contract is one of the most important documents in the surrogacy process. Before starting the surrogacy process, surrogates must fully understand and accept the conditions for their obligations.⁽³³⁾ While potential surrogates in the US receive mandatory legal counseling before deciding, in Southeast Asian countries, such as India and Thailand, no such process to supports surrogates.^(34, 35) Reportedly, the rights of surrogates in India and Thailand have often been taken away. Indian surrogates had to reside in restricted areas provided by the surrogacy agency or fertility clinic.⁽²⁾ Likewise, according to news reports, Cambodian surrogates had to live in a hostel provided for the duration of their pregnancy.⁽²⁵⁾ The worst part of this process was that the surrogates had to stay away from their families, which could cause psychological harm. In addition, they did not have access to insurance, postnatal counseling or other services.⁽³⁴⁾ Apart from the legal and ethical matters involved, surrogates should seriously consider other risks, such as health, financial and emotional hazards, along with potential irregularities in the legal contract. Yet, suppose surrogates are unable to understand a comprehensive contract. In that case, they could be misled and remain unaware of the risks, with the outcome that they fail to speak up for their rights and unintentionally accept the risks by signing the contract. In the

context of not receiving legal counseling, an educational program is critical to support surrogates' understanding of the contract. Not only do educational programs need to address this issue, but international policies or regulations should frame it so as to protect surrogates' rights.

This proposal for an educational program is a recommendation from the standpoint of public health to improve surrogates' well-being. This paper initially proposed an SHP to address problems with surrogacy at the individual and interpersonal levels. Evidence exists that surrogates have limited knowledge and understanding of the risks involved in surrogacy treatment.^(2, 17) Many strategies are available to build surrogates' knowledge, but this paper proposes education in the form of a compulsory SHP before starting the process. However, this paper only reviewed knowledge and issues arising from high-profile cases without critically examining surrogates' education level. To move toward a more comprehensive health perspective, one recommendation is that research or surveys seeking support from the public and healthcare organizations for SHPs be included as an operable part of planning.

Conclusion

To protect surrogates' health and advocate for them, all governments should adopt SHPs in their P&R. This paper suggests that SHPs be made compulsory for women who want to become surrogates before starting the process. A complete understanding of surrogacy treatment and potential risks can ensure the optimal use of surrogates' autonomy in making decisions and enhance their perspectives on health.

Declaration of conflicting interests

The author declared no potential conflicts of interest for this article's research, authorship, and publication.

References

- Goli M, Kohan S, Oloonabadi SMA, Farajzadegan Z, Heidari Z. A reproductive health-care program for surrogate mothers: A mixed methods study. J Educ Health Promot 2022; 11: 250.
- 2. Saravanan. An ethnomethodological approach to examine exploitation in the context of capacity, trust and experience of commercial surrogacy in India. Philos Ethics Humanit Med 2013; 8: 1-12.
- 3. Caamano JM. International, commercial, gestational surogacy through the eyes of children born to surrogates in Thailand: a cry for legal attention. Boston Univ Law Rev 2016; 96: 571-607.
- 4. Crockin SL. Growing families in a shrinking world: legal and ethical challenges in ccross-border surrogacy. Reprod Biomed Online 2013; 27: 733-41.
- Tsai S, Shaia K, Woodward J, Sun M, Muasher S. Surrogacy laws in the United States. Obstet Gynecol 2020; 135: 717-22.
- Farquhar C, Bhattacharya S, Repping S, Mastenbroek S, Kamath MS, Marjoribanks J, et al. Female subfertility. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2019; 5: 1-21.
- 7. Fitzgerald O, Paul RC, Harris K, Chambers GM. Assisted reproductive technology in Australia and New Zealand 2016. Sydney: National Perinatal Epidemiology and Statistics Unit, University of New South Wales; 2018.
- Reproductive Technology Accreditation Committee. Code of practice for assisted reproductive technology units. Victoria: Fertility Society of Australia; 2017.
- 9. Rural Information Hub. Health education USA: Rural information hub; 2019. Available from:https://www.ruralhealthinfo.org/toolkits/ health-promotion/2/strategies/healtheducation.
- World Health Organization (WHO). Health education: theoretical concepts, effective strategies and core competencies. WHO; 2012: 1–82.

- 11. Chris A. Top 10 search engines in the world (2022 Update): Reliablesoft 2021 Available from:https://www.reliablesoft.net/top-10-search-engines-in-the-world/.
- IVF Conceptions. (2022, November 18). Blog.
 IVF conceptions. Available from: https:// www.ivfconceptions.com.
- Surrogacy Australia. (2022, November 18). Webinars. Surrogacy Australia. https://www. surrogacyaustralia.org
- 14. van der Heide I, Wang J, Droomers M, Spreeuwenberg P, Rademakers J, Uiters E. The relationship between health, education, and health literacy: results from the Dutch adult literacy and life skills survey. J Health Commun 2013; 18: 172-84.
- 15. Arvidsson A, Vauquline P, Johnsdotter S, Essen B. Surrogate mother- praiseworthy or stigmatized: a qualitative study on perceptions of surrogacy in Assam, India. Glob Health Action 2017; 10: 1-10.
- Hibino Y, Shimazono Y. Becoming a surrogate online: "message board" surrogacy in Thailand. Asian Bioeth Rev 2013; 5: 56-72.
- Tanderup M, Reddy S, Patel T, Nielsen BB. Informed consent in medical decisionmaking in commercial gestational surrogacy: a mixed methods study in New Delhi, India. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2015; 94: 465-72.
- Attawet J, Wang A, Sullivan E. "Womb for work" experiences of Thai women and gestational surrogacy practice in Thailand. Hum Fertil (Camb) 2021: 1-12.
- 19. Menendez ME, van Hoorn BT, Mackert M, Donovan EE, Chen NC, Ring D. Patients with limited health literacy ask fewer questions during office visits with hand surgeons. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2017; 475: 1291-7.
- 20. Paterick TE, Patel N, Tajik AJ, Chandrasekaran K. Improving health outcomes through patient education and partnerships with patients. Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent) 2017; 30: 112-3.

- 21. Gossman W, Thornton I, Hipskind JE. Informed consent 2019. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK430827/#_NBK430827_pubdet_.
- 22. Gezinski LB, Karandikar S, Levitt A, Ghaffarian R. "We want to offer you peace of mind": Marketing of transnational commercial surrogacy services to intended parents. Health Mark Q 2017; 34: 302-14.
- Victorian Assisted Reproductive Treatment Authority (VARTA). (2022, November 18). Resources and support. VARTA. Available from: https://www.varta.org.au.
- 24. Parliament of Australia. Baby lust—Surrogate children are desperately wanted. Is it worth the pain? Australia: Parliament of Australia; n.d. Available from: https://www.aph.gov.au/ About_Parliament/House_of_Representatives/ About_the_House_Magazine/Baby.
- 25. Handley E. Cambodia: 33 pregnant women found in raid on child surrogacy ring. Australia: The Guardian; 2018.
- 26. Jadva V, Imrie S, Golombok S. Surrogate mothers 10 years on: a longitudinal study of psychological well-being and relationships with the parents and child. Hum Reprod 2015; 30: 373-9.
- 27. Söderström-Anttila V, Wennerholm U, Loft A, Pinborg A, Aittomaki K, Romundstad V, et al. Surrogacy: outcomes for surrogate mothers, children and the resulting families – a systematic review. Hum Reprod Update 2016; 22: 260-76.
- Riggs DW, Due C, Power J. Gay men's experiences of surrogacy clinics in India. JFPRHC 2015; 41: 48-53.
- 29. Sullivan M. Outside the womb: life of the law; 2015 Available from: https://www.life ofthelaw.org/2015/07/outside-the-womb/.
- Imrie S, Jadva V. The long-term experiences of surrogates: relationships and contact with surrogacy families in genetic and gestational surrogacy arrangements. Reprod Biomed Online 2014; 29: 424-35.

- 31. ABC News. Baby Gammy: Surrogacy row family cleared of abandoning child with Down syndrome in Thailand Australia: ABC News; 2016. Available from: https://www. abc.net.au/news/2016-04-14/baby-gammytwin-must-remain-with-family-wa-court-rules/ 7326196.
- 32. Campbell J. The Baby Gammy case. Australia: Forte Family Lawyers; 2016. p. 775-9.
- 33. Attawet J. The nexus between self-perception and behavioural responses of gestational

surrogates' risk experiences. Hum Fertil 2021: 1-11.

- 34. Whittaker A. From "Mung Ming" to "Baby Gammy": a local history of assisted reproductive in Thailand. Reprod Biomed Soc Online 2016; 2: 71-8.
- 35. Saxena P, Mishra A, Malik S. Surrogacy: ethical and legal issues. Indian J Community Med 2012; 37: 211-3.

JOURNAL OF SOUTHEAST ASIAN MEDICAL RESEARCH

J Southeast Asian Med Res; 2022

www.jseamed.org

ISSN 2586-8241